Meeting of the Governing Body

To be held on Tuesday 19 May 2020, 2.15pm.
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY DUE TO THE
CURRENT HEALTH SITUATION
AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Introduction
I Pattison, chair

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declarations of Interest

4.

Minutes of the previous meeting held on 24 March
2020

Enclosure

4.1

Matters arising from the minutes and action log

Enclosure

5.

Notification of Items of Any other business

6.

Covid 19 specific activity

6.1

Covid 19 Response and Recovery Activity Overview
A Fox

7.

Items of Quality and Safety

7.1

Patient Story
A Fox

Enclosure

7.2

Minutes from the Integrated Assurance Committee
meeting held on 21 April 2020
P Harle

Enclosure

8.

Items of Governance and Assurance

8.1

Performance Report
S Watson

Enclosure

8.2

Financial report – year ending
D Chandler

Enclosure

8.3

Annual Accounts 2019/20
D Chandler

Enclosure

Enclosure
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8.4

Financial Management Arrangements
D Chandler

Enclosure

8.5

Sub-committee end of year reviews
D Cornell

Enclosure

8.6

CCG Annual Report 2019/20 including
 Annual Governance Statement
N O’Brien

Enclosure

8.7

Management letter of representation
N O’Brien

Enclosure

8.8

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
D Chandler

Enclosure

8.9

Audit Completion Report
C Waddell

Enclosure

8.10

Approval of annual accounts and annual report
I Pattison

Verbal

8.11

Governing Body Assurance Framework 2020-21
D Cornell

Verbal

For approval
9.
9.1

Northern CCG Joint Committee terms of reference
Dr N O’Brien

Enclosure

9.2

All Together Better update
S Watson

Verbal

Items for sub-committee assurance
10.
Minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on
3 March 2020

Enclosure

10.1

Minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on
7 April 2020

Enclosure

10.2

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting
held on 19September 2019

Enclosure

10.3

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting
held on 19 December 2019

Enclosure

10.4
11.

Items for Information Only

11.1

Chief Officer’s Report
Dr N O’Brien

Enclosure

11.2

Minutes of the Northern CCG Joint Committee
meeting held on 9 January 2020

Enclosure
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12.

Any other business

12.

Date of next meeting
Tuesday 28 July 2020, TBC.
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Item: 4
Did

GOVERNING BODY
Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 24 March 2020, by Virtual Video
Conferencing
Minutes
Present:

Dr Ian Pattison, Clinical Chair
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Lay Member, PPI
Dr Derek Cruickshank, Secondary Care Clinician
Mrs Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Office on behalf of Mr David
Chandler, Chief Finance Officer & Deputy Chief Officer
Mrs Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer,
Dr Karthik Gellia, Elected GP Member
Dr Fadi Khalil, Elected GP Member
Dr Tracy Lucas, Elected GP Member
Mr Chris Macklin, Chair and Lay Member Audit
Dr Saira Malik, Elected GP Member

In Attendance:
Dr Claire Bradford, Medical Director
Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs
Mrs Pat Harle, Lay Member Primary Care Commissioning
Mr Eric Harrison, Lead Practice Manager
Mrs Clare Nesbit, Director of People and Primary Care
Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and Informatics,
Mrs Jan Thwaites, minutes
2020/21

Welcome and Introductions
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and informed those
present that the meeting would be recorded. This was to support
administrative accuracy and for robust governance. There were no
objections to the use of the recording device.
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The Chair noted that there would be no questions from the public
section as this meeting was being held virtually due to the Covid-19
situation.
The Chair gave thanks on behalf of the Governing Body to Mr
Gallagher for all the work he had carried out for the CCG and
Sunderland and wished him well in his new role as Accountable
Officer in Teeside.
2020/22

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Dr Raj Bethapudi, Elected
GP Member, Mr David Chandler, Chief Finance Officer & Deputy
Chief Officer, Mrs Gillian Gibson, Director of Public Health,
Sunderland City Council and Mrs Fiona Brown, Executive Director of
Neighbourhoods, Sunderland City Council.
The Chair confirmed that the meeting was quorate.

2020/23

Declaration of Interest
Mrs Harle declared that she holds a post as a lay member at South
Tyneside CCG. The Chair accepted the declaration and noted this
should be a standard item on the agenda going forward.

2020/24

Minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2020
Subject to a minor amendment the minutes of the meeting held on 28
January were APPROVED as an accurate record.

2020/25

Matters arising from the minutes and action log
There were no matters arising from the minutes.
Action log
The only item on the action log had been completed.

2020/26

Notifications of items of any other business
A discussion on Covid-19 current situation.

2020/27

Report from the Quality and Safety Committee (QSC)
Minutes from 10 December 2019

Page 2 of 11

Item: 4

NHS Official

An update was given from the meeting held in February in regard to
the quality and safety risks on the risk register. A mapping exercise
had been completed and the risks were all up to date.
In regard to the All Together Better (ATB) quality and safety
governance arrangements an update had been given to the
committee. The process for the development of the ATB quality report
for all programmes and an overarching report for ATB Executive
Group had been developed. A briefing would be given at the next
meeting as the committee had concerns that no gaps appeared going
forward, this would be achieved by the triangulation of data.
The Governing Body RECEIVED the report for assurance.
2020/28

Scheme of Reservation and Delegation
The purpose of the report was to provide an updated scheme of
reservation and delegation and seek approval for the proposed
amendments.
The functions delegated to the Governing Body had been updated;
these had been picked up through audit and review of the scheme.
In regard to the Accountable Officer appointment process it was
explained that this had not been changed and it was still reserved for
the membership.
It was confirmed that the Directors delegated limits were to sign off
invoices coming into the system not about new expenditure.
It was noted that 3 of the Directors delegated limits would be changed
to £20m instead of £200m.
Action: Mrs Lake to look at the 3 Directors delegated limits and
change on the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation from £200m to
£20m.
The Chair of the Audit Committee approved this amendment.
In regard to the financial section of the scheme changes had been
made including the ATB approval limits. The Governing Body
approved these changes.
In regard to the ATB delegated limits it was noted that the Director of
Finance should be added to the section on ATB Executive Group.
Action: Mrs Lake to amend the section on item 5.5 to include the
Director of Finance.
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The Governing Body REVIEWED the proposed changes and
AGREED the increased limits for ATB were appropriate; APPROVED
the updated full scheme of reservation and delegation, including the
further change to the financial scheme of delegation.
2020/29

External Audit Contract
The purpose of the report was to request approval for the
recommendation from the Auditor Panel to extend the contract for
external audit services from 1 April 2020 for the CCG.
Further considerations were made in relation to having this contract
for a number of years.
It was confirmed that following a conversation with Mazars it was
agreed that if CCGs merged in future there would be no binding
contract. The current contract had built in an additional level of
assurance in this regard.
The Governing Body APPROVED the recommendation arrangements
for external audit services from the 1 April 2020 following
consideration at Auditor Panel.

2020/30

All Together Better Financial Framework
The purpose of the report was to gain approval of the All Together
Better (ATB) financial framework for implementation from 1 April
2020.
The framework had been through a number of versions including the
ATB Executive Group, finance sub group and the audit chair.
In regard to the business case process the detail on this would be
appreciated to ensure the PPI perspective was included. It was noted
there seemed to be a lot of responsibility on the Director of Finance
and had this been considered in regard to future arrangements.
Action: Mrs Lake to circulate the business case process to the
Governing Body.
In terms of picking up the additional responsibility and the impact on
capacity it was agreed with the executive group that Mrs Lake would
take on this responsibility for the next 12months.
It was noted that the financial governance and assurance processes
also applied to ATB.
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The Governing Body commented on the draft proposed ATB financial
framework; APPROVED the ATB financial framework for
implementation from 1 April 2020

2020/31

All Together Better – next steps
The purpose of the report was to seek approval and endorsement on
the next steps for ATB.
This report followed on from previous discussions with the Governing
Body. The report outlined suggested next steps and key strands of
work with associated leads for each strand.
It was agreed that for those members who had not received the report
that pending any issues the report would be approved.
Action: Mrs Burnicle and Dr Cruickshank to feedback any issues on
the report to Ms Cornell.
Post meeting note: Mrs Burnicle had no issues with the report.
The Governing Body NOTED the content of the report; CONFIRMED
their formal agreement to the creation of an ATB directorate;
AGREED next steps; ENDORSED the parallel initiatives.

2020/32

Performance Report
The purpose of the report was to provide an exception report in
relation to the current position for the CCG against the NHS single
oversight framework requirements for 2019/20.
It was explained that given the current situation all planned activity
including routine electives and out-patient appointments were to be
postponed.
It was suggested it may be more helpful to have a live update
following the A&E meeting for example on bed availability and to not
lose sight of the recovery position in the future.
In terms of other CCGs performance and learning from this it was
noted that at a recent A&E summit best practice had been shared.
Have co-located urgent treatment centres etc. what was making them
effective at the time has been overshadowed by current situation.
It was suggested that Mrs Fox pick up the children’s mental health
services issues with her team and report back to the Governing Body
members on the current position for assurance. Mrs Fox would link in
with the contracting team if required.
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The Governing Body NOTED the position and progress against each
indicator in the NHS single oversight framework.

2020/33

Financial Report
The purpose of the report was to present a summary of the financial
position of the CCG as at month 11 (for the period ending 29 February
2020).
The CCG was on track to deliver its financial duties. Guidance had
been received on an extension to the final account submission (3
days) and it was noted that the team had capacity to deliver this.
Conversations had been had with the Local Authority and were
ongoing in regard to additional support of £1.3m for CHC reforms.
This aligns with the CCG approach to partnership working.
A request had been received from NHS England to seek approval to
increase the surplus, as a region the CCGs were off track to deliver
the financial control total. If this was delivered as an ICS this would
secure £28m into the ICS. Sunderland would normally exceed its
surplus by £200k this could be increase to £500k for this year, this
would be given back in 2021/22. Drawdown had been secured for
2021 of £4.5m and £4.5m for 2021/22 this would secure a resource of
£5m in 2021/22. This was more than manageable and would secure
significant t resource for the region. This proposal was acceptable to
the Audit Chair.
Further detailed guidance around responding to Covid 19 had been
received with the usual request to have standard financial
governance. There was significant detail in the letter in regard to how
CCGs could be reimbursed in regard to Covid-19 expenditure.
In regard to the delay around community equipment reforms it was
explained that the finance team had focussed on the wheelchair issue
as this service had some performance issues which they were trying
to resolve. The service had now been able to stockpile some
community equipment which had eased the pressures they were
facing.
Mr Gallagher declared an interest in regard to his new role in NHS
Tees Valley CCG as Accountable Officer. The Chair accepted the
declaration but noted there was no direct conflict.
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The Governing Body NOTED the financial position of the CCG as at
29 February 2020; APPROVED funding the 2019/20 Local Health
Economy (LHE) risk share to South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust (STSFT).

2020/34

Draft Annual financial plan 2020/21
The purpose of the report was to delegate the responsibility for the
production of the financial plan to the Chief Finance Officer.
2020/21 budgets would need to change to reflect contract values that
would be determined centrally for the first 4 months of the financial
year. It was proposed to bring a further budget paper which would
include any variations required at a future point in time following the
detailed guidance received.
The report highlighted assumptions and risks to delivery and some of
the system wide financial planning that was being carried out.
It was noted that good financial control and governance was
expected.
The Governing Body APPROVED the draft budgets for 2020/21;
CONSIDERED the financial aspects of the refreshed Five Year
Strategic Plan and CONSIDERED the financial aspects of delivering
the mental health investment standard.

2020/35

Operational Plan
The purpose of the report was to provide assurance to the Governing
Body on progress in the delivery of the transformation programmes in
Sunderland CCG’s 2019/20 operational plan.
A further paper would be brought to the May Governing Body meeting
which would close off the full financial year. The report noted a risk in
regard to the trailblazer bid; this had been submitted on time and was
now closed.
It was proposed that if there were any queries in regard to the report
that they be taken offline and responded to.
The Governing Body NOTED the update on progress against the
2019/20 plan on a page.

2020/36

GP Elections Outcome
The purpose of the report was to provide the Governing Body with the
outcome of the recent GP appointment process.
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An appointment process had been carried out in line with the CCG
Constitution for three of the CCG Executive posts. The panel met and
agreed that the candidates that applied were eligible to apply. As
there were only three candidates there was no need for a ballot and
the candidates were appointed.
The Chair gave his congratulations to the three candidates that were
re-appointed.
The Governing Body NOTED the outcome of the appointment
process.
2020/37

Audit Strategy memorandum 2019/20
The purpose of the report was to summarise the audit approach,
highlight significant audit risks and areas of key judgements.
It was noted that the report was similar to last year’s report. The CCG
had negotiated a reduction in the fee and the extension of the
contract.
There had been two areas of risk: management override of controls
and the prescribing estimate, these were similar for all CCGs.
The plan had been to the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) for
approval.
The Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee agreed this was a
standard approach and had been given approval by the ARC
committee.
The Governing Body APPROVED the audit strategy memorandum
2019/20.

2020/38

Minutes from the Primary Care Commissioning Committee
meeting held on 12 December 2019
The minutes of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee meeting
held on 12 December 2019 were RECEIVED.

2020/39

Minutes from the Executive Committee meeting held on 14
January 2020
The minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on 14 January
2020 were RECEIVED.
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2020/40

Minutes from the Executive Committee meeting held on 4
February 2020
The minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on 4 February
2020 were RECEIVED.

2020/41

Chief Officers Report
The Chief Officers report was RECEIVED.

2020/42

Minutes from the Northern CCG Joint meeting held on 9 January
2020
The minutes of the Northern CCG Joint committee meeting held on 9
January 2020 were RECEIVED.

2020/43

Covid-19 discussion
The CCG were in level 4 incident management command and control,
this had been co-ordinated at a local level via ICS.
A strategic health command group met twice a week chaired by Alan
Foster and included ICP leads, North East Ambulance Service and
Health Education England. Dr Bradford attended as SRO for central
ICP.
There was an ICP level meeting that was working as an information
sharing group that met weekly. A lot of the work was being carried out
at a locality/CCG level. Issues were around data, testing levels and
PPE availability.
If anyone had any specific examples of specific organisations that were
not receiving PPE equipment to let Dr Bradford know and she will
report this forward. It was noted that the pace seems to be challenging
at the moment. The teams were looking at ways of providing assurance
to the Governing Body without the need for papers/reports being
produced
In regard to surge arrangements the following was highlighted:








There was a process to escalate issues to ICP through surge
arrangements and ATB
Discharges to clear beds in progress
Shielding arrangements issues in identifying patients
Commissioning in relation to home visiting and self-isolating
INR management
Resilience in general practice re hot and cold clinics
PCNs in a strong position in terms of activity
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Incident control centre set up – this would move to a virtual set-up
Re-deployment of approximately 80% of CCG staff across the
system NEAS, CNTW, General Practice, PCNs and the Local
Authority
Quality issues would be managed by exception via surge
arrangements in regard to the Continuing Healthcare team
Need to be able to track where patients are and ensure a safe
discharge

In regard to elective capacity this should be completed by the end of
the week with no routine planned care or electives. The Patient
Transport Service (PTS) would cease by the end of the day and only
convey urgent cases. A private provider was in place to carry patients
for example to chemotherapy appointments.
In regard to general practice resilience had been increase due to the
re-deployment of CCG staff. Assurance was given around the
communication and volume of email traffic being received. There was
now a mechanism in place whereupon one set of communications
would come out to practices.
Work had been ongoing on the command and control structure to align
with surge group etc. A Covid inbox had been developed to manage
email traffic and a tracker to be monitored as to what was happening,
who controlling and outcomes.
From a staffing perspective a risk analysis had been carried out before
they were re-deployed. The back office functions were also supporting
various areas.
The Chair had taken part in a cross city clinical leaders meeting with
PCNs and the GP Alliance in attendance. Rapid actions had been
agreed with GP Alliance (GPA) taking on a leadership role in
mobilisation.
A question was raised on who was leading on care home provision,
visiting, end of life etc. In response it was noted that this should be
escalated to the surge group. I t was noted that care homes were being
tested due to the fragile nature of the residents.
Action: Mrs Fox to escalate the issue of care home provision to Philip
Foster to take to the surge group.
Concerns were noted that the local authority might have arrangements
in place for the provider perspective but not the health perspective It
was noted that South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
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(STSFT) as the provider and should link up with the local authority and
ensure some directive goes out to the care homes.
It was confirmed that all CCG staff had been asked to work from home
where possible and that Pemberton House would be closed for the
meantime. It was noted that the CCG had invested in laptops which
enabled staff and GPs to work remotely
A question was raised by a lay member as to looking into co-ordinating
time and provision to assist from staff with capacity to help in the
community. It was confirmed that staff had been re-deployed into
primary care and if other members wished to volunteer they may
enquire with voluntary third sector partners or could look to offer their
services in general practice.
It was noted that the STSFT had increased ventilation capacity and
were expecting more in the future. The challenge was to train staff from
other areas and re-train staff to use the equipment.
Recognition was given to Mr Fenwick for displaying excellent
leadership and a tight system of command and control.
It was noted that staff testing was a vital issue and should be escalated
as soon as possible. It was noted that there were variations across the
UK as to who was being tested and the issue was around the reagent
availability.
The Chair summarised the meeting stating that a robust discussion had
taken place, actions were being put in place, there were challenges
ahead and the CCG were working at pace. Thanks were given to all
CCG staff for all the hard work that was going on at the moment.
PPI Committee terms of reference – it was agreed that the terms of
reference would be agreed virtually. The committee would be formally
established once the current Covid situation had eased.
2020/44

Date of next meeting
Tuesday 19 May 2020, 1.45pm – 4.15pm
Venue to be confirmed.
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NHS Sunderland CCG Governing Body Action Log 24 March 2020

Minute Reference
2020/28

Action Point
Mrs Lake to look at the 3 Directors delegated limits
and change on the Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation from £200m to £20m.

Lead
Mrs Lake

Timescale
Following the meeting

Mrs Lake to amend the section on item 5.5 to
include the Director of Finance

Following the meeting

2020/30

Mrs Lake to circulate the business case process to
the Governing Body

Following the meeting

2020/31

Mrs Burnicle and Dr Cruickshank to feedback any
issues on the ATB next steps report to Ms Cornell.
.

Post meeting note: Mrs
Burnicle had no issues
with the report

2020/32

Mrs Fox to pick up the children’s mental health
services issues and report back to the Governing
Body for assurance
Mrs Fox to escalate the issue of care home
provision to Philip Foster to take to the surge group

Following the meeting

2020/43

1
NHS SCCG Governing Body Action Log

Following the meeting

Official Item: 6.1

CATEGORY OF PAPER
Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only




GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020

Report Title:

COVID-19 Response and Recovery
Activity Overview

Purpose of report
To provide the Governing Body with an overview of the CCG’s response and recovery in relation to
the Covid pandemic in Sunderland.
Key points
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the CCG utilised its emergency powers and provisions for
urgent decisions as set out in its Constitution to make temporary changes to its governance
structure to facilitate decision-making and maintain a robust hold on statutory and essential
functions during this period. This temporary change has enabled the CCG to manage its capacity
during the pandemic response whilst maintaining robust assurance processes as part of a
streamlined governance structure.
NHS England declared the pandemic a level 4 incident as set out in its major incident plan and
detailed in its EPRR framework published in 2015 which describes how it will discharge its
responsibilities under the Civil Contingency Act. The framework defines a level 4 incident as an
incident that requires national command and control to support the NHS response, meaning that
NHS England will coordinate the NHS response in collaboration with local commissioners at a
tactical level.
The attached paper provides an overview of the CCG’s response and recovery activity in relation to
Covid pandemic and the activity recovery planning now underway and includes the following
sections.
 Legal framework and NHS England EPRR framework
 CCG Governance during Covid
 Local surge arrangements
 Quality and safety
 Workforce
 Specific responses to Covid (e.g. acute, primary care, mental health etc)
 Safeguarding

Official





Care homes
Continuing healthcare and Complex Healthcare
Finance
Recovery assurance and planning

The paper aims to provide the Governing Body with assurance on the robustness of the CCG’s
response to the pandemic and demonstrate the partnership working across the health and care
system in Sunderland and across the wider system both at ICP and ICS levels.
Risks and issues
A number of risks have been identified specifically in relation to Covid and a copy of the latest risk
register is embedded below for information:

C-19 Risks as at 13
May 2020.pdf

Assurances
Audit and Risk Committee review of the revised governance proposals at its meeting on 7 April and
recommended approval to the Governing Body. The Governing Body approved the revised
governance arrangements via email on 14 April.
A CCG Covid Incident Command Cell was established to manage the Covid information and
required actions and an Covid Executive team and Daily director calls were put in place during the
peak of the pandemic.
Local surge arrangements were established in All Together Better and a CCG director attended the
Silver Command at South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust; the ICP Tactical Group
and the ICS Strategic Health Command Group.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to receive the report for assurance purposes.
Sponsor/approving directors
Report authors

A Fox, Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and
Safety
D Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs
H Steadman, Head of Strategy, Planning and
Reform
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)


CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services
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CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities



CO6: Develop the CCG localities



CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund



CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues

Civil Contingencies Act 2006, Coronavirus Directions March 2020, NHS England EPRR Framework
2015; CCG Constitution and Standing Orders
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Yes

No

N/A



Yes

No

N/A



If yes, please specify
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)
Quality impact assessment
undertaken
(please tick)

If no, please specify yes, please specify

Are additional resources
required?
Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

Key implications
Yes – COVID 19 specific financial process in place
Yes – via Governing Body members
N/A – internal process only
Assurance that the CGG is responding swiftly to the current
pandemic whilst retaining appropriate corporate governance
arrangements.
N/A – enactment of Governing Body emergency powers and
urgent decisions as set out in the CCG’s Constitution.
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COVID-19 Activity Overview
1.

Introduction

1.1

The situation concerning the current Covid pandemic and the national guidance
on how NHS organisations need to respond continues to change rapidly. As a
result the CCG needed to adapt its internal decision-making processes to ensure
it can continue to respond appropriately and effectively.

1.2

The CCG utilised its emergency powers and provisions for urgent decisions as
set out in its Constitution to make temporary changes to its governance structure
to facilitate decision-making and maintain a robust hold on statutory and essential
functions. This temporary change has enabled the CCG to manage its capacity
during the pandemic response whilst maintaining robust assurance processes as
part of a streamlined governance structure.

2.

Legal Framework

2.1

Emergency preparedness and response

2.1.1

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 specifies that responders to a national incident
will be either Category 1 (primary responders) or Category 2 responders
(supporting agencies).
Category 1 responders are those organisations at the core of emergency
response and are subject to the full set of civil protection duties. Category 1
responders for health are:
 Department of Health on behalf of the Secretary of State
 NHS England
 Acute service providers
 Ambulance service providers
 Public Health England
 Local authorities

2.1.2 CCGs are Category 2 responders for health. As such, they are expected to
provide support to NHS England in relation to the coordination of their local
health economy. Under section 2(1) of the Act, Category 1 responders must,
amongst other things, maintain plans for the purpose of ensuring that if an
emergency occurs or is likely to occur the person or body is able to perform its
functions so far as necessary or desirable for the purpose of —
(i) preventing the emergency,
4
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(ii) reducing, controlling or mitigating its effects, or
(iii) taking other action in connection with it.
2.1.3

Under regulations issued pursuant to the Act, Category 2 responders must cooperate with relevant general Category 1 responders in connection with the
performance by those Category 1 responder of duties under section 2(1) of the
Act.

2.1.4 By section 252A of the NHS Act 2006, NHS England may take such steps as it
considers appropriate for facilitating a co-ordinated response to an emergency by
CCGs and relevant service providers.
2.1.5 By section 253 of the NHS Act, the Secretary of State may make directions if he
considers that by reason of an emergency it is appropriate to do so. Pursuant to
this power, the Exercise of Commissioning Functions by the National Health
Service Commissioning Board (Coronavirus) Directions 2020 came into effect on
20th March 2020. These directions provide that:
(1) The Secretary of State directs the Board to exercise the following functions
of clinical commissioning groups, in accordance with paragraph (2) (a) functions under section 3 of the Act (duties of clinical commissioning
groups as to commissioning certain health services);
(b) functions under section 3A of the Act (power of clinical commissioning
groups to commission certain health services)
(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) must be exercised by the Board
during the period ending on 31st December 2020 (a) for the purposes of commissioning health services from independent
providers, and
(b) as the Board deems appropriate, for the purposes of directly or
indirectly supporting the provision of services by NHS bodies to address
coronavirus and coronavirus disease.
2.2

NHS England Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPPR)
Framework

2.1.1 NHS England published its EPRR framework published in 2015 which describes
how it will discharge its responsibilities under the Civil Contingency Act. The
framework defines a level 4 incident as an incident that requires national
command and control to support the NHS response, meaning that NHS England
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will coordinate the NHS response in collaboration with local commissioners at a
tactical level.
2.1.2 In the light of the framework above and being in a level 4 command and control
situation, the following applies:


The CCG is under a duty to cooperate with NHS England in respect of NHS
England’s plans for reducing and/or mitigating the effects of the Covid
pandemic



NHS England has the legal power to take such steps as it considers
appropriate for facilitating a co-ordinated response to the pandemic by CCGs
and relevant service providers



The Secretary of State has directed NHS England to exercise CCGs’
commissioning functions until 31st December 2020 for the purposes of
directly or indirectly supporting the provision of services to address the
pandemic



NHS England National Command and Control will determine priorities for
allocating available resources during a level 4 incident.

3.

CCG Governance during Covid

3.1

Emergency powers and urgent decisions – Governing Body and subcommittees

3.1.1 The Standing Orders contained within the CCG Constitution allow for emergency
powers and urgent decisions to be taken – relevant clause below:
(Extract from CCG’s Constitution: Appendix 6 Standing Orders, section 3.6):
Emergency powers and urgent decisions
The powers which are reserved to the governing body within the scheme of
delegation may in emergency or for an urgent decision be exercised by the Chair
and the Accountable Officer after having consulted with at least two other
members which will include one of the Lay members. The exercise of such
powers by the Chair and the Accountable Officer shall be reported to the next
formal meeting of the governing body in public session for formal ratification. If
the exercise of the function relates to a matter which is not in the public interest,
the exercise of the powers will be reported in private to the governing body.
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3.1.2 These arrangements contained within the CCG’s Standing Orders apply also to
sub-committees within the CCG’s committee structure, with Chair’s action
allowing for urgent decisions to be taken outwith agreed meeting structures
(where circumstances demand it), with the resulting action and decision recorded
and ratified at the next meeting of that sub-committee. These include Executive
Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee,
Quality and Safety Committee and Patient and Public Involvement Committee
(when formally established).

3.2

Implications for Governing Body/Committee meetings

3.2.1 The letter from NHSE&I of 28 March 2020 set out how Trusts and CCGs could
reduce the burden on their workforce and release capacity, both clinical and nonclinical wherever possible. A copy of the letter is embedded below for
information.

C0113 28 March
2020 Reducing burden

3.2.2 Following this, the CCG reviewed its committee meetings and agreed the
following structure for an intial period of three months (April to June).


Governing Body - all meetings to remain as they are and held virtually.
Agendas to be split into COVID-19 specific activity and essential CCG
business. Any urgent decisions required in the intervening period will be
reported at the following Governing Body as part of the Accountable Officer
update.



Audit and Risk Committee - all meetings to remain as they are and held
virtually to enable close down of the annual report and accounts



Remuneration Committee – these meetings are scheduled only when
needed. If a meeting is needed, this will be held virtually.

 Executive Committee – all meetings to remain as they are and held
virtually. A weekly COVID Executive Team Meeting will also be held
virtually comprising of the full committee membership.
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 Quality and Safety/Primary Care Commissioning/Patient and Public
Involvement Committee - temporarily stepped down and combined into
one temporary Integrated Assurance Committee (IAC)
 Temporary Integrated Assurance Committee - meetings to be held
virtually on a monthly basis. The membership comprises of the minimum
quoracy needed for each formal sub-committee highlighted above. The
agendas cover special matters relating to COVID as well as essential
business for each of the committees.

3.3

CCG Scheme of Delegation

3.3.1 The CCG’s scheme of delegation sets out the approval levels for each post within
the organisation. The updated list was approved by the Governing Body at its
meeting on 24 March and includes some additional contingencies levels for
directors due to the current situation. These will be reviewed once the current
situation has eased.
3.3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the current scheme of delegation at its
meeting on 7 April 2020 and agreed there were sufficient contingencies in place
to in terms of authorisation levels to ensure business contingency if key
individuals are absent or engaged in other necessary work.

4.

Local Surge arrangements

4.1

The CCG and All Together Better (ATB) Alliance delegated the responsibility of
the co-ordination of the Sunderland operational response (out of hospital
services) to regional and central information relating to Covid to the ATB Surge
Group.

4.2

The purpose of the Surge Group is to assist in the operational delivery of a range
of measures and actions to support the delivery of the key performance
measures connected to urgent and emergency care. This includes implementing
action to manage ‘surge’ in demand across the health and social care system
and to assist in the delivery of the 4 hour ED performance target.

4.4

The main responsibilities of the Surge Group are to ensure:
 That patients access safe, timely and clinically effective A&E services,
reducing waiting times and delays and improving quality
8
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That recovery and improvement plans are in place and that agreed priorities
are being implemented, in accordance with evidence based practice and
national requirements
That clinical, managerial and organisational issues which impact on the
delivery of urgent and emergency care delivery are resolved and make
decisions to both recover A&E performance and ensure continuous
improvement, utilising the evidence base and national policy requirements
Improve interagency collaboration on urgent and emergency care delivery
performance and develop the cultures, relationships and processes for
sustainable improvement and accountability.
Contribute to and manage the operational delivery of any escalation
process across the system.

4.5

The Group in normal circumstances meets formally on a weekly basis,
informally/operationally on a daily basis and is supported by a Covid Project
Group to help manage and cascade information on its behalf. The Group has
been an essential part of the CCG’s response to Covid and has provided a
collaborative platform to facilitate and support system-wide working across
Sunderland.

5.

Quality and Safety

5.1

A combined assurance report has been prepared for the Integrated Assurance
Committee with an overview of how statutory and business critical processes are
being undertaken to sustain safe delivery of care and ensure statutory
compliance during the Pandemic whilst normal working arrangements are
restricted.

5.2

The report outlines key changes to statutory and business critical processes in
order to support both commissioners and providers to effectively ensure
continued services to the population of Sunderland during this unprecedented
period and maintain statutory compliance. The CCG is working collaboratively
with partners, providers, the independent sector and NHSE to support the wider
system and some key areas of focus are highlighted in the following sections.

5.3

Mortality

5.3.1 There have been concerns raised through the command structures regarding the
number of deaths reported regionally and in particular the number of reported
Covid deaths at South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT)
due to 3 significant spikes observed in early April. It would appear that there is
9
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regional variation in how deaths are both being recorded and reported, i.e. the
difference between deaths occurring as a direct result of Covid against deaths
where Covid was diagnosed, but not the cause.
5.3.2 The Trust’s analysis showed that it has the highest number of patients with Covid
within the North East and Cumbria. On one day alone the Trust saw a significant
increase in the number of Covid positive inpatients with 79 reported inpatients
diagnosed with Covid, compared with a daily average of 30 newly diagnosed
patients per day since that point.
5.3.3 As of 29 April 2020, 110 deaths have been reviewed by the Trust’s Medical
Director and none were deemed avoidable and no clinical issues were identified.
All patient notes reviewed had co-morbidities and were seen by a consultant. The
Medical Director has no clinical concerns regarding the cases reviewed to date.
5.3.4 The North East Quality Observatory Service (NEQOS) is working with the Trust
to produce a survival analysis and to provide a more detailed mortality report.
The process that was followed for each review was the standard Trust stage 1
mortality review assigning a National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome
and Death (NCEPOD) score for quality of clinical care and a HOGAN score for
preventability of death. In accordance with national guidance STSFT’s mortality
lead is also in the process of quality assuring 20% of the cases.
5.3.5 In addition there are a range of other analyses being undertaken by NHSE/I,
Public Health England and the Office for National Statistics (ONS). Early analysis
by ONS shows high a correlation with deprivation as to be expected.

5.4

Specialised Quality Surveillance Programme

5.4.1 In response to Covid and to support the release of clinical and administrative
capacity in organisations a number of quality surveillance processes have been
suspended these are:
 The annual self-declaration process for 2020/21 will be postponed until
further notice
 The specialised and cancer peer-review programme for 2020/21 will be
postponed until further notice
 The SSQD clinical dashboard submission process will continue a voluntary
only basis and governance around approvals for submission will be
relaxed.
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5.4.2 The ongoing monitoring and quality surveillance will continue to be reduced until
the end of June 2020 to minimise the burden on providers.
5.4.3 The National Quality Board Executive Quality Group has shared principles for the
monitoring of quality during this pandemic period which includes regional
decisions on levels of quality surveillance in place, including those under the
auspices of improvement boards and risk summits.
5.4.4 During the pandemic, quality and safety functions need to be delivered in a
proportionate manner that supports the focus on the response to COVID-19 while
at the same time ensures the oversight of quality is maintained.
5.4.5 In response a regional weekly hotspot quality surveillance and risk work stream
has been developed as part of the clinical advisory cell of the Incident
Coordination Centre. This work stream will act as an escalation mechanism for
quality monitoring by exception during this time, with a particular focus on those
areas of greatest risks and vulnerability.
5.4.6 It is recognised that local quality monitoring is continuing in varying forms at
place level and therefore, rather than cause duplication, it has been proposed
that a weekly return is sent to NHS England (NHSE) to raise any concerns by
exception only.
5.4.7 In addition, any Trusts that remain in an enhanced quality surveillance process
including risk summits and improvement boards they will now be part of an
enhanced monitoring arrangement which will include a 2-weekly meeting with the
relevant trust executives to monitor and assess progress against improvement
requirements. This meeting will include Care Quality Commission (CQC) and
lead CCGs.
5.5

Personal Protective Equipment

5.5.1 Personal protective equipment (PPE) continues to dominate the news headlines
with regards to supply and demand. Many industries and public sector
organisations continue to reach out to help produce products to support the NHS
and discussions take place daily (weekdays) across the ICS to support what is
required and where the ICS can source supplies. Large orders are
predominantly running through the Newburn hub and items are shared across
the ICPs on receipt.
5.5.2 Within primary and social care, all providers including primary care, adult social
care, dentists, pharmacies, third sector, adult care homes and hospices are
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instructed to continue to order PPE from their wholesalers. The national intention
was that Local Resilience Forums (LSFs) would be supplied with PPE products
to support GPs and social care providers according to local need. However the
LRFs are finding that their supplies do not necessarily meet the needs of all their
services and stock is being managed on an emergency supply basis.
5.5.3 To support pressures at a local level the ICP established a PPE hub at
Pemberton purely to supply emergency mutual aid. The hub continues to operate
and provide emergency mutual aid supplies to GPs, local Trusts and hospices
across the area. Local Authority partners continue to supply PPE to the social
care sector including care homes via LRF supplies.
5.5.4 Regionally NHSE/I primary care commissioning colleagues manage a process
for dentists, optometrists and pharmacists were they can contact a dedicated
email address for mutual aid. Although NHSE/I have direct conversations
regarding usage and quantities with these 3 services, the actual stock is supplied
and dispensed from Pemberton which is placing further pressure on the PPE
situation. Nationally the move to a status of sustained transmission of Covid
further increased demand on PPE but as the health care system moves into the
recovery phase the demand on PPE is likely to increase.
5.5.5 A further challenge with PPE is how it should be used and when. The PPE team
at Pemberton offer advice and guidance to providers regarding their appropriate
usage and contact with suppliers so that it is clear that we are operating an
emergency facility and not perceived as a stock room. PPE guidance as and
when it is received is shared through established communication channels.
5.5.6 The introduction of a specialist infection prevention and control nurse to support
the care home sector will positively address positively the use of PPE in the care
home and domiciliary care environments
5.3

Testing

5.3.1 Testing for Covid is a rapidly changing situation and is now available to people in
the North East at a range of locations. Testing sites can be accessed by anyone
who is an eligible essential worker, including health and social care staff only
(including the independent and voluntary sectors).
5.3.2 Testing is available for:
 all eligible essential workers,
 anyone over 65 with symptoms
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anyone with symptoms whose work cannot be done from home (for
example, construction workers, shop workers, emergency plumbers and
delivery drivers)
anyone who has symptoms of coronavirus that lives with those identified
above

5.3.3 NHS Trust staff are continuing to access testing through their own trusts to
enable quick, efficient testing without putting pressure on other national testing
streams aimed at other key care workers.
5.3.4 The GOV.UK process allows a range of employer organisations with eligible key
workers to submit lists of their employees who are self-isolating and are linked to
identified critical functions, directly onto a national portal and facilitate access to
on-line booking. Where local arrangements are not yet established staff, by
appointment, can use the testing site at Gateshead IKEA car park or any of the
mobile testing sites which are being set up around the region.
5.3.5 Locally agreed arrangements to test primary care staff and residential or nursing
home settings have been developed in Sunderland.
5.3.6 For primary care, a process is in place for staff or their household contact to
attend the Houghton hub for testing. This is the same location offered to care
home staff but they access this service via their GP practice.
5.3.7 For residential or nursing residents, if it is an initial outbreak, the home is
supported by the North East Health Protection Team (HPT) who will arrange for
postal swabs to be sent to the home for care staff to test symptomatic residents.
5.3.8 Testing of further symptomatic residents will be carried out by care staff
supported by local STSFT community teams.
5.3.9 All other non-health and social care essential worker groups are asked to access
testing via the Government’s online self-referral portal.

6.

Workforce

6.1

Re-deployment

6.1.1 NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I)published guidance on deploying
staff safely. The guidance is inclusive of a set of principles for workforce
redeployment and also incorporates profession-specific guidance for allied health
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professionals, dentists, doctors, healthcare scientists, nurses and midwives,
pharmacists and pharmacy technicians and non-clinical staff. More recently
guidance has been released on redeploying the optometry workforce.
6.2

DBS clearance

6.2.1 The CQC has issued interim guidance and providers are now being offered a
fast, free barred list DBS check for emergency roles being recruited in response
to a provider risk assessment. Enhanced DBS check information will still be
processed, but will be issued afterwards.
6.2.2 Providers are required to take reasonable steps to ensure new staff are recruited
in line with new DBS guidance and that new and existing staff continue to be
adequately supported and sufficiently supervised so that people are safe.
6.3

Wellbeing

6.3.1 In conjunction with stakeholders, NHS Employers has facilitated the development
of guidance on staff health, safety and wellbeing. This includes chapters on
occupational health, vulnerable staff, fatigue and mental wellbeing.
6.3.2 CNTW is seeing a rise in staff absence relating to mental health issues primarily
anxiety and depression. The trust is looking into the staff sickness further and will
notify the CCG of any trends.
6.3.3 Communication is expected into CCGs in early May from the Chief Nursing
Officer requiring that any Safeguarding staff who have been redeployed, will be
required to return to their substantive roles, this is particularly relevant in relation
to those working with commissioned services, LAC and SEND. Plans are
already in place for the 2 members of staff in SCCG to be returned to their fulltime substantive posts.
6.3.4 The CCG has put in place a number of wellbeing support measures for staff
which are shared and highlighted on a regular basis. This includes a weekly
wellbeing bulletin with information and links to appropriate support and advice as
well as guidance on homeworking.

7.

Specific Responses to Covid

7.1

Acute
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7.1.1 In response to the NHSE/I letter regarding reducing the burden on organisations
17 March, South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT)
implemented a number of actions to free-up the maximum possible critical care
capacity and prepare for, and respond to, the anticipated large numbers of Covid
patients who would need respiratory support.
7.1.2 As a consequence it was necessary for STSFT to make some immediate
changes to elective care pathways in order to divert capacity to the emergency
response. In summary this led to





All referrals being subject to clinical triage
Routine referrals/planned routine follow-ups being managed through face to
face consultations, virtual consultations, advice and guidance, deferment or
discharge.
Urgent and 2 week wait referrals subject to consultant scrutiny
Advice and guidance becoming the preferred default for any queries relating
to existing cases or the urgency of new referrals.

7.1.3 In terms of quality monitoring:
 A&E 4 hour performance - monitoring and management remained at a
national and local level
 RTT- monitoring and management continued in order to understand the
impact of the suspension of non-urgent elective activity and recovery of the
waiting list position
 Cancer - Treatments continued with close monitoring of referral and
treatment volumes and clinical prioritisation given to the diagnosis and
treatment of cancer. The tracking process remained in place.
7.1.4 Trust colleagues are in the process of addressing their plans to support a phased
recovery. The CCG’s Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety has had
the opportunity to review the plan and sought assurance as to the role the Trust’s
IPC team in supporting a configuration of beds/bays to support distancing (i.e.
reducing beds).

7.2

Primary Care

7.2.1 Since the COVID-19 pandemic reached the UK, NHS England has published
several updates to general practice outlining the expectations placed on practices
to manage the COVID-19 response. The updates not only include services to be
implemented or amended but also identify services that can be suspended until
further notice.
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7.2.3 A number key changes have been implemented to support the COVID-19
response including:
 Secondary care phlebotomy service;
 Two AAU -Acute Assessment Units;
 24/7 home visiting service;
 Support for care homes and the end of life process;
 Shielded patient process.
 Care Home/Palliative Care Management Team
 Bank Holiday Working
 Verification of Expected Deaths in Care Homes
 Workforce deployment
7.2.4 Some services have been suspended to cope with the response required for
COVID 19, but it should be noted that practices have implemented workarounds
to these cessations, where possible. Practices have continued to manage
patients remotely and have called patients to the practice when required.
7.2.5 We have started to consider our recovery plan for General Practice to ensure full
service delivery resumes as soon as feasibly possible and how this will link to
both the Sunderland and ICS primary care recovery plans. Key areas of recovery
include:
 Changes to how appointments are delivered including telephone triage and
video consultations – is there sufficient capacity continue with this once
contact numbers increase
 Identifying and reviewing high risk non-Covid patients.
 Remote long term condition reviews – prioritising and planning when face to
face reviews should commence
 Identifying and reviewing high risk non-COVID patients
 Ensuring appropriate measures are undertaken in all practices to maximise
patient safety when accessing premises / services.
 Care home and palliative care processes – how do the amended processes
fit with the NHSE DES requirements?
 When do we cease / adapt the use of AAUs, secondary care phlebotomy
services etc.

7.3

Mental Health

7.3.1 Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW) is
seeing an increase in completed suicides across the CNTW during April, two of
which resided in Sunderland. There is now a weekly suicide prevention
teleconference which the CCG participates in. A Suicide Prevention website,
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covering the whole North East and North Cumbria area www.stopsuicidenenc.org
provides a new community resource for people seeking help and advice about
suicide and mental wellbeing, guidance for those who have sadly been bereaved
by suicide and signposting to a library of professional resources for those
working in suicide prevention. The online presence is supported by social media
accounts, sharing key messages and making new connections on Twitter,
Facebook and Instagram.
7.3.2 Although all services are still accepting referrals, CNTW like other mental health
providers have seen a significant reduction in referrals since the lockdown, it is
understood from a mental health perspective that these referrals haven’t gone
away and there is an expectation that there will be a surge in planned and urgent
referral once the lockdown is lifted.
7.3.3

The Trust has been rapidly prototyping Mental Health Emergency Departments
(MHED) in response to critical incidents and environmental emergencies, such
as Covid, and one site is located at the Sunderland Royal Hospital site.

7.3.4 The CNTW MHEDs provide a 24/7 alternative response to patients presenting in
a mental health crisis aged 16 years old and above who would otherwise have
gone to hospital emergency departments to:






reduce risk of exposure to COVID-19 for people who do not need
emergency medical attention and do need emergency mental health
response
maintain high quality mental health emergency service during critical
incidents and environmental emergencies, such as COVID-19,
optimise patient experience
create capacity for hospital ED to manage patients presenting.

7.3.5 CNTW is liaising with the CQC regarding the redesign of some of their inpatient
wards for Covid patients i.e. those that can be safely managed within a
psychiatric unit from a physical perspective. The CCG and Local Authority will
support the Trust to ensure that those patients who can be discharged back into
the community do so in a timely manner as this helps to keep the flow of patients
moving and release bed capacity.
7.3.6 All services are still accepting referrals, however where a multi-agency
assessment is needed delays are inevitable. Impacted services include, for
example Dementia and Neurodevelopmental assessments. Phone, text and
online support through email, social media platforms and webinars to support to
patients where appropriate are being used as well as continued face to face visits
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where appropriate, e.g. crisis response across Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities
7.3.9 CNTW have seconded staff to support NEAS, 111 and the acute trust to ensure
patients with Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and/or Autism access the
appropriate pathways to prevent additional pressures on emergency services.
7.3.10 CNTW have implemented some changes to inpatient wards to support the
management of Covid patients; these have all been approved through Gold
command and include changes to dormitory style accommodation, introduction of
isolation areas and creation of a four bed ‘swing zone’ at St Georges that could
be shared as a mixed gender cohort area for COVID-19+ patients.

7.4

Learning Disabilities and Autism

7.4.1 The CCG Senior Commissioner has worked closely with CNTW, the Local
Authority and other commissioned services to launch the Sunderland ‘Keeping
People Connected Service’ to support Sunderland residents with learning
disabilities.
7.4.2 This went live on 4 May 2020 and the key achievements include:
 Establishing links with the Shielding Team and triangulating data to ensure
the call handlers were provided with a list of those with learning disabilities.
 Enlisting skilled call handlers from within Sunderland People First, Autism in
Mind, CNTW’s Heath Promotion Team and the CCG who had the expertise
to manage and communicate in an effective manner making reasonable
adjustments that are required for those with a learning disability and/or
autism;
 Establishing weekly support via videoconference to call handlers to provide
support and promote best practice.
 Sharing weekly overviews and updates from Sunderland with the regional
team to enable them to include this data into their data set to show a
regional perspective;
 The flyer - appendix 5 and key communications have been circulated to
partners and organisations confirming the ‘go live date’ and contact
information, this was also communicated to the regional network for their
information.
7.5

Children and Young People’s (CYP) Mental Health Services
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7.5.1 Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services are being reviewed weekly
by the Strategic Commissioning Manager to determine working models,
workforce issues and any gaps/risks emerging. This information is shared with
Together for Children and the CCG to determine any interim arrangements that
need agreeing; as yet no additional support has been required.
7.5.2 Services from CNTW will only be delivered face to face where essential and
interventions are primarily by telephone/video contact. This has released some
capacity in the system as staff are not having to travel and DNAs are reduced.
Waiting times prior to COVID-19 had dropped due to use of agency workers
funded by NHS E non-recurrent funding. At the time of writing this report data is
not available to review current waiting times. There are no staffing issues
currently reported.
7.5.3 New referrals are being offered an assessment where this does not require a
face to face meeting. Referrals which require multi sector involvement and face
to face contact (e.g. ASD and ADHD) will be delayed; however the referral will be
received and triaged.
7.5.4 Community Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CCAMHS) delivered by
STSFT have faced some challenges in rolling out IT to enable staff to work
remotely. This has now been resolved and working from home will be available
to all staff from 20/04/2020.
7.5.5 Paediatrics at STSFT are holding virtual outpatient clinics over the phone and
only seeing CYP face to face by exception where there is a clinical need
(determined by the paediatrician).
7.5.6 Referrals across all CYP mental health service remain low, including selfreferrals. The low referrals have enabled providers to reduce their waiting lists.
Waiting times continue to reduce at CNTW due to low referrals, increased clinical
time for staff due to reduced travel, and reduced DNAs. At the time of writing this
report current waiting time data is not available.
7.5.8 Non-recurrent funding paid to Sunderland Mind for the Young People’s Service
over the last two years has now ended. Sunderland Mind is seeking ongoing
funding due to increased referrals and the CCG has agreed to fund the service
for a further four months whilst a long term solution is sought.

8.

Safeguarding Arrangements – Adults and Children
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8.1

Safeguarding

8.1.1 The CCG safeguarding team is in regular contact with the Local Authority,
Together for Children, Northumbria Police and Health providers across the City.
Some staff have been redeployed some staff to key roles across the health care
system, however capacity has also been retained to ensure the CCG can
continue to meet its responsibilities for designated and named safeguarding
children and looked after children functions.
8.1.2 Safeguarding activity reports are provided weekly to NHSE and include:
 Safeguarding adult referral activity
 Numbers of referrals progressing to Section 42 by organisation
 Number of domestic abuse incidents reported by the Police
 Number of MARACs
8.1.3 The Care Act easements guidance created under the Coronavirus Act 2020
enables public services to provide an effective response to the global pandemic.
The temporary changes mean that Local Authorities are able to streamline
assessment arrangements and prioritise care to ensure the most urgent and
acute needs are met. The guidance does not change the adult safeguarding
framework in Sections 42, 43 and 44 of the Care Act (2014).
8.1.4 Both the Sunderland Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) and the Sunderland
Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) have notified partners that business
is suspended to enable the Council and partner agencies to focus on frontline
operational responsibilities which remain business critical i.e. section 42 (adults)
and section 47 (children) investigations will continue where abuse, neglect or
exploitation is known or suspected. Statutory safeguarding review activity will
also be suspended during this period.
8.1.5 Together for Children (TfC) and the Adult Safeguarding Team are reporting a
decrease in the number of safeguarding referrals received during the COVID-19
outbreak. This suggests that a significant number of concerns are either not
being picked up or not referred. Social distancing and self-isolation increases the
risk that vulnerable or at risk groups are hidden from services. This is a concern
given that there are increased risks of exploitation/abuse linked to the outbreak
such as financial abuse and increased pressure on carers this could increase
abuse and neglect.
8.1.9 There has been a significant rise in activity for the National Domestic Abuse
helpline and other national domestic abuse services such as Women’s Aid’s Live
Chat service which has seen a 41 per cent increase since 16 March 2020 when
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the self-isolation measures came into place. In contrast Sunderland’s specialist
domestic abuse provider Wearside Women In Need (WWIN) has experienced a
reduction in contacts to its 24 hour helpline, potentially utilising the national
helpline. WWIN’s refuge accommodation has become bed blocked due to lack of
‘move on’ accommodation during the lockdown and there has also been an
identifiable trend in new referrals with very complex needs – those women at the
margins who are clearly the most vulnerable. As a consequence this has
increased the staffing needs at one of the refuges which has had to temporarily
move to 24 hour staffing in the interests of safeguarding.
8.1.9 To support WWIN, the CCG has provided an additional £9,100.00 in funding to
meet increased staffing costs, additional costs related to Covid-19 such as
cleaning and PPE and increased support costs for women in the refuge services.
The funding also enables WWIN to refurnish a property which can be used to
increase accommodation providing a further 3 bedrooms which can be made
available as either ‘move on’ accommodation or an isolation unit.

8.2

Looked After Children

8.2.1 Designated professionals are in receipt of weekly children looked after reports
from Together for Children and are able to monitor the placements of Looked
after Children (LAC). They are leading weekly video conferencing with the
Looked after Children’s team in STSFT.
8.2.2 STSFT continues to undertake initial health assessments and review health
assessments. Systems are in place to undertake these via telephone, but where
clinically identified and required, face to face appointments are offered in a
planned and safe way within the children’s centre.
8.2.4 The designated professionals and TfC are working closely to identify potential
risks associated to foster carers and residential care homes staff developing
COVID-19 symptoms and associated contingency planning for continued care.
This collaboration also covers Sunderland children placed outside of the area.
8.2.5 Weekly activity reports are being provided to NHSE which include:
 LAC Initial Health Assessments (IHA)
 Child Protection Medicals
 Safeguarding Children’s referrals
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8.2.6 With regard to Looked After children and young people, The Adoption and
Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 were laid down on 24
April 2020 (and will continue until 25 September 2020. The majority of the
amendments are designed to relax the strict timescales and replace them where
appropriate and required. It is expected that normal regulations should continue
as much as possible, but where that is not possible then the amendments allow
flexibility if required. If requirement of a timescale cannot be met, they should be
met as soon as reasonably practicable.
8.2.7 Other amendments are the removal of the obligation to refer cases to adoption or
fostering panels, the removal of the definition of connected persons from
temporary approval of foster carers, and the extension of emergency placement
of children with foster carers outside their terms of approval from six days to 24
weeks.
8.2.8 A virtual TfC Improvement Board was held on the 28 March to provide assurance
to the Department for Education, and statutory partners that TfC have continued
to implement their improvement actions following Ofsted findings.
8.2.9 An extraordinary Joint Safeguarding Adults and Children meeting was held
between statutory partners on 5 May and a further meeting will be held in June to
focus on:
 Hidden needs – families and children
 Communications for children returning to school
 Mortality and Public Health analysis on Sunderland figures
 Food insecurity
 Domestic Abuse – and complex needs
 Homelessness and those coming out of temporary accommodation
 Market implications of financial pressures within care homes

8.3

Providers Safeguarding Response to Covid

8.3.1 CNTW has not deployed staff from their safeguarding team and continue to
operate business as usual arrangements
8.3.2 STSFT has redeployed a safeguarding adults sdvisor to work in intensive care
but have retained their named nurses and midwife for safeguarding and a core of
advisors and administrators. The STSFT safeguarding team is continuing to
meet their responsibilities for information sharing and reporting arrangements
between MARAC/MAPPA and primary care. Reports submitted by STSFT have
also shown that GPs have continued to respond to requests for reports into the
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MARAC process during Covid. This function is a commissioned arrangement by
the CCG.
8.3.3 To date there has been no redeployment of the LAC nursing workforce in
STSFT. Some of the doctors in the team have been redeployed for part of the
week to areas of need. There remains capacity within the team to support both
initial and review health assessments.
8.3.4 Both STSFT and Harrogate and District Foundation Trust have ensured regular
updates to Designated Professionals re how midwifery, safeguarding and the 019 services are responding to vulnerable groups.

8.4

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)

8.4.1 Ofsted has suspended all routine inspections of schools, further education, early
years and social care providers. Urgent inspections where specific concerns
have been raised are still going ahead, allowing Ofsted to prioritise the
immediate safety of children where necessary. As far as possible Ofsted are
continuing their regulatory work.
8.4.2 Children with Education and Health Care Plans are currently being reviewed to
ensure their care and support needs are maintained during the Covid crisis and
that statutory agencies maintain oversight of their health and well-being.
8.4.3 All face-to-face contact with children and families has ceased, with the exception
of urgent/critical therapy. Skeleton staff have been retained to provide telephone
support to families.
8.4.4 Work is underway to develop recovery plans and alternative ways of working,
which includes submitting health advice for EHC assessments based on recent
information, where possible.

9.

Care Homes

9.1

The Local Authority is leading on work with care homes in Sunderland to
ascertain numbers of vacancies, Covid cases and issues with workforce and
personal protective equipment, as well as supporting the care homes to complete
the capacity tracker daily. The CCG is awaiting a decision from the LA as to
whether this is to be a joint piece of work going forward. Infection control as well
as safeguarding advice and support is available to the homes via the CCG.
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9.2

In April the government published a statement of intent to ensure that everyone
who relies on care gets the care they need throughout the Covid pandemic.
Supported by the Department of Health and Social Care’s Covid action plan for
adult social care, the Local Authority, CCG and All Together Better colleagues
have been working in partnership to ensure resilience across the social care
sector.

9.4

Processes such as capacity trackers have been implemented to ascertain the
numbers of bed vacancies, COVID-19 cases and issues with workforce and
personal protective equipment across nursing and care homes enabling the
system to provide timely proactive support were it is needed.

9.5

Work is in place to set up of a collaborative team that will provide a collective and
coordinated approach to supporting care provision across Sunderland. The team
will have a focus on
 controlling the spread of infection
 supporting the workforce
 supporting independence, supporting people at the end of their lives, and
responding to individual needs

9.6

To address the gap in infection prevention and control (IPC) support to the care
home sector a specialist IPC resource has been commissioned from STSFT until
the 31 July 20.

9.7

This role will be critical in offering advice on COVID-19 practices, ensuring the
correct use of personal protective equipment (PPE) and appropriate application
of IPC guidance.

9.8

Work is also progressing with partners in the local authorities to ensure that
patients are discharged from hospital to care homes safely and appropriately and
are tested for Covid-19.

9.9

In response to Simon Stevens’s letter dated 29 April and the Chief Nurse’s letter
of 1 May, resources have been identified to support a ‘train the trainers’
programme in care homes about PHE’s recommended approach to infection
prevention and control.

9.10

To further support care the national roll out of key elements of the primary and
community the health service-led Enhanced Health in Care Homes (EHCH)
service has been brought forward from October to May and further details are
awaited on this.
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10.

NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and Complex Healthcare

10.1

Discharge

10.1.1 On 20 March the Government published the mandated discharge guidance and
changes to the CHC process which outlined the need to ensure capacity to
support people who have acute healthcare needs in hospital. This has resulted in
creating new discharge arrangements to facilitate the safe and rapid discharge of
those people who no longer need to be in a hospital bed. The new default is
‘discharge home today’.
10.1.2 The local Discharge to Assess Model and trusted assessor scheme has been
enhanced to meet the requirements set out by the government. Nurse
coordinators from the CHC team were redeployed into the discharge lounge at
Sunderland and the new integrated discharge team went live on Friday 27
March. Capacity and flow are being tracked so that deployment remains
appropriate to need.
10.2

Eligibility and Reviews

10.2.1 Local resolution and timescales have been relaxed however individuals can still
make requests for a review of an eligibility decision however the time frame for a
response is relaxed. The CHC Team currently has a number of cases
outstanding and anticipate that this will cause some frustration and may result in
complaints. To mitigate this risk we are in the process of contacting individuals
and solicitors to make them aware of current arrangements.
10.2.2 NHS England Independent Review Panels due in April and May have been
delayed until September 2020.
10.2.3 There is an expectation that CCGs will take a proportionate view to undertaking 3
and 12 month reviews to ensure that the individual’s care package is meeting
their needs and ensure that any concerns are raised as appropriate. Individuals
with high level needs and complex care packages and their providers have been
contacted to complete a review to ensure current need is met and to clarify
contingency plans. Ongoing support is being provided in conjunction with Local
Authority colleagues to reinforce this with additional provider input if required.
10.2.4 The Government directed that local systems need to ensure that there is some
method of monitoring actions taken during Covid emergency measures, for
example using the NHS CHC checklist, so that individuals are assessed correctly
once business as usual resumes. Current data suggests approximately one third
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of patients discharged have resulted in a positive checklist which will require a
multi-disciplinary team meeting to make a CHC eligibility recommendation. Data
is being collated which will support potential service changes in relation to place
of checklist completion once the service returns to business as usual.
10.2.5 It is anticipated that there will be a backlog of Decisions Support Tools required
which will create a capacity issue for professionals in health, social care and
within care homes and community teams. It is anticipated from Government
guidance that resource will be provided in order to meet the resulting demand.
10.5.6The Government has agreed the NHS will fully fund the cost of new or extended
out of hospital health and social care support packages, referred to in the
guidance. This applies for people being discharged from hospital or would
otherwise be admitted into it, for a limited time, to enable quick and safe
discharge and more generally reduce pressure on acute services.
10.5.7 Whilst most people will be discharged to their homes, a very small proportion will
need and benefit from short or long term residential or nursing home care. The
new Discharge Service will be able to access live information from a national
community bed tracker system. The existing North of England Commissioning
Support (NECS) care home tracker will be extended to cover all care home
places, all NHS community hospital beds and hospice beds and work is ongoing
with the LA commissioners to ensure a collaborative approach to collating
information and supporting care homes to complete the tracker.

10.6

PPE

10.6.1 Each provider and individual in receipt of a CHC funded package of care or
Personal Health Budget at home has been contacted to clarify their contingency
plan, support with these and to ascertain PPE stocks as well as providing advice
on up to date infection control guidance. Providers are also given the Covid
status of a patient upon discharge as well as an isolation plan.
10.6.2 All care homes and domiciliary care teams providing support to individuals
requiring aerosol generating procedures (AGP) which require FFP3 masks and
gowns have now been FIT tested and have a supply of the required PPE.
There is one individual with a personal health budget (PHB) where the person
who manages the team of Personal Assistants’ felt that they would be placing the
patient at risk if the team attended the hospital for FIT testing, this has now been
arranged.
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10.6.3 A spreadsheet has been developed to track individuals (adult and children) with
aerosol generating procedures in relation to demographics, procedures, staff
team numbers, PPE equipment required and FIT testing. This continues to be
monitored and changes shared with the Local Authority in order to highlight to the
Local Resilience Forum required PPE stock should usual ordering methods be
affected and emergency supplies be required.

10.7

Verification of Death

10.7.1 Verification of death out of hours has been a challenge for GPs. A verification of
death pathway for nursing homes has now been developed and agreed with
further process in development for verification of death in care homes without
nursing.
10.15 Palliative and end of life arrangements fast tracks are the responsibility of
palliative teams and community teams and whilst there is no requirement for
approval from the CHC Team, local arrangements have been put in place
whereby any fast tracks are followed up the patient and mitigate any risk of their
needs not being met or incorrect funding once normal business resumes.
Information gained will be collated used to inform any decisions for longer term
wider end of life service changes in relation to use of the Fast Track tool.

11.

Finance

11.1

Financial Arrangements until 31 July 2020

11.1.1 The letter received from NHSE/I on the 17 March 2020 in relation to the next
steps on the NHS response to COVID19 included an annex setting out the
financial arrangements for an initial period ending on the 31 July 2020. The
maintenance of financial control and governance including adherence to the
CCGs duties as set out in Managing Public Money and other related guidance is
expected to be maintained throughout this period.
11.1.2 The financial arrangements for the period to 31 July 2020 include:




The suspension of local contracting arrangements with NHS trusts;
The suspension of decisions regarding any new revenue investments unless
explicitly linked to the COVID19 response or previously approved by NHSE/I;
Nationally calculated block contract values for NHS Trusts;
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Processes for reimbursement of COVID19 related expenditure for both CCGs
and NHS Trusts;
Specific additional funding considerations for areas such as enhanced
discharge support services, general practice, out of hour’s provision,
community pharmacy and independent sector providers.
Expectation that CCGs will continue to deliver against the Mental Health
Investment Standard during this period.

11.1.3 In response to this letter the CCG has established procedures for payment of
block contract values for NHS Trusts and for the approval of COVID19 related
expenditure in line with the CCGs existing governance and scheme of delegation
arrangements. The CCG Executive agreed to apply the following principles to
any requests for reimbursement of costs in relation to COVID19 expenditure:
1) Reasonableness - costs should be reasonable and not be excessive in
relation to normal business as usual costs;
2) Specific – costs should relate to a specific initiative or scheme in relation to
the COVID-19 response;
3) Additional – costs should represent additional costs above the total base
costs providers or commissioners would expect to have incurred under
normal business as usual operations. Note where staffing resource is
provided as ‘mutual aid’ to the wider system and no additional costs are
incurred (e.g. staff member works normal hours at their normal rate and, no
backfill required) claims would not be expected to be put forward for
reimbursement.
11.1.4 The CCG has established processes and controls with Sunderland City Council
in relation to reimbursement for the enhanced discharge support services and
associated packages of care costs. Further detailed guidance has been received
by the CCG in relation to this specific scheme which has been applied in
establishing these processes and controls.
11.1.4 Since the publication of the letter setting out these arrangements the CCG has
received updated guidance in relation to cash management, capital expenditure
and hospice funding arrangements. Procedures and controls are continuously
being updated to reflect up to date guidance once received.
11.1.5 The CCG incurred £26k of costs in relation to the COVID19 response in March
2020 which was reimbursed by NHSE/I through final allocations for 2019/20. In
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April 2020 the CCG has incurred and reported costs of £557k to NHSE/I in
relation to the COVID19 response. The key areas of expenditure in April 2020
relate to enhanced discharge services (£216k), funding for general practice
expenditure in relation to the pandemic (£142k) and extension of the MIG
contract on behalf of North East CCGs (£159k). The CCG is awaiting further
clarity from NHSE/I with regards the detailed arrangements on reimbursement of
costs in relation to COVID19 expenditure for April 2020 and, the budgeting
arrangements to support financial reporting during 2020/21.

12.

Covid Recovery Assurance and Planning

12.1

Recovery Assurance

12.1.1 In response to the coronavirus pandemic, it is proposed that an additional CCG
corporate objective is included for 2020/21, CO9: Covid Recovery. This will
ensure that we address the challenges of recovery as well as take the learning
and opportunities to improve delivery of health and care services in the
immediate, medium and long term.
We are currently in the pre-recovery stage (dealing with the crisis and planning
for recovery).

1. Crisis

2. Prerecovery

3.

4.

Recovery

Transformation

12.2.2 A draft recovery framework has been developed which sets out the components
of this new objective and is focused on seeking assurance on the effective and
successful management of the recovery phase of Covid 19, post crisis response.
It sets CO9: Covid recovery in local, sub-regional and regional contexts
demonstrating the interfaces and interrelationships of recovery measures at
place, ICP and ICS. A copy of the draft assurance framework is embedded
below:

Draft Covid
Recovery Assurance Fr
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12.2.3 The framework comprises the ‘pillars of recovery’ and it is anticipated that there
will be a programme of action/planning for each of these pillars with the
expectation that through this recovery phase, the CCG will seek to do more than
recover – we would aim to improve, innovate and transform. The framework also
shows the key enablers to support the delivery of the programme of actions as
well as the cross cutting themes that will run throughout all pillars.
12.2

Recovery Planning

12.2.1 In this pre-recovery stage, individual organisations are developing their own
recovery plans as part of business continuity processes including responding to
the priority actions from the Sir Simon Stevens and Amanda Pritchard letter
published on the 29 April. The letter sets out immediate expectations on systems
for phase 2 of the response to the coronavirus pandemic.
12.2.2 A Sunderland ‘place’ recovery plan is being developed built around the pillars
and its aim is to provide assurance on delivery during the recovery phase. This
plan will differ from previous commissioning plans received and endorsed by the
Governing Body because its function is different relating as it does to business
continuity. The plan will focus on immediate actions for the next 6 to 8 weeks in
line with national priority actions set out by Sir Simon Stevens and Amanda
Pritchard. There will however also be a need to look longer term including
planning for winter and making conscious attempt, through the planning process,
to improve, transform and reset to a better health and care system.
12.2.3 The plan will need to be dynamic with regular review during the recovery stage
because delivery will be conditional on a range of local factors and impacted by
the Government’s Covid recovery strategy. It will also be high level because it will
not duplicate the more detailed individual recovery plans of partner organisations
including the ATB.
12.2.4 A County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland ICP plan is also being
developed. The ICP plan will be based on the content of the letter, it will not
duplicate other detailed plans but it is expected that common areas of
work/shared priorities across the three localities will be identified through the
recovery planning process led by Nicola Bailey, Chief Officer NHS County
Durham.

13.

Recommendation
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13.1

The Governing Body is asked to receive the report for assurance purposes.

Report authors:

D Cornell
Head of Corporate Affairs

H Steadman
Head of Strategy, Planning
and Reform

Sponsoring
Director:

Ann Fox, Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety

Date:

12 May 2020
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Item: 7.2

Integrated Assurance Committee
21 April 2020
4pm - 5.30pm Via Starleaf
Present:
Mrs Pat Harle, Lay Member for Quality and Safety and Primary Care (Chair)
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Lay Member for PPI
Dr Claire Bradford, Medical Director
Mr David Chandler, Deputy Chief Officer & Chief Finance Officer
Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs
Mr Derek Cruickshank, Secondary Care Clinician
Mrs Ann Fox, Executive Director of Nursing Quality and Safety
Dr Karthik Gellia, Executive GP
Dr Fadi Khalil, Executive GP
Mr Chris Macklin, Lay member for Audit and Risk Committee
Mrs Clare Nesbit, Director of People and Primary Care
Dr Neil O’Brien, Chief Officer
Dr Ian Pattison, Clinical Chair
Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and Informatics
In Attendance:
Mrs Wendy Thompson, Head of Primary Care
Ms Eleanor Hardy, PA (minutes)

2020/01

Welcome and Introductions
The Chair welcomed all to the first meeting of the Integrated Assurance
Committee which was the new temporary arrangements for the Quality &
Safety, Primary Care Commissioning and Patient & Public Involvement
committees of the CCG during the current COVID 19 pandemic. This
temporary committee had been established to allow for internal decision
making and assurance processes of these sub committees to ensure that the
CCG could respond quickly and appropriately whilst still ensuring good
governance.

2020/02

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies received.
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2020/03

Item: 7.2

Declarations of Interest
The Chair reminded all present that if any declarations became apparent
during the meeting these should be declared at the time of the relevant
agenda item.
The Chair declared an interest in that she was also the lay member for quality
and patient safety with South Tyneside CCG (STCCG) and the chair of
STCCG Quality and Patient Safety Committee. This would be a standard
declaration of interest item going forward.
Mrs Burnicle declared an interest with regards to the carers section within the
Integrated Quality Report. The Chair advised there were no material issues.
The Chair declared the meeting as quorate.

2020/04

Minutes of the previous committee meetings
The committee received the minutes from the following committee meetings:




Primary Care Commissioning Committee, held on 27 February 2020,
Public and Private minutes
Quality and Safety Committee held on 11 February 2020
Shadow Patient and Public Committee held on 10 March 2020

The Integrated Assurance Committee AGREED that all of the above minutes
were a true and accurate record of meetings.

2020/05

Matters Arising
With regards to page 3 of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee
minutes (public) “Washington Primary Care Network (PCN) that was
successful in bidding for 348k to be a Digital First Primary Care accelerator
site” It was queried whether this was still going ahead. In response it was
clarified that this had been paused, not cancelled and was being managed by
Rachael Forbister within the CCG.
With regard to the Quality and Safety Committee minutes, page 8, “South
Tyneside and Sunderland Foundation Trust (STSFT) had commissioned an
investigation into Anti-D immunoglobulin administration which was due to
conclude in January 2020” it was queried whether there had been any patient
harm in consequence of the investigation. It was clarified that this had been
discussed at the STSFT Quality Review Group (QRG) on 20 February and the
report had not then been concluded but would be brought to a future QRG.
The STSFT Medical Director had advised he was not aware of any patient
harm as a consequence of the investigation.
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Mrs Fox provided an update on the review of the nursing and administrative
safeguarding structure across Sunderland and South Tyneside CCGs, page 8
of the Quality and Safety Committee minutes. South Tyneside CCG was now
going to make its own arrangements; Sunderland CCG safeguarding had
been reviewed and for assurance, all safeguarding arrangements were in
place. Mrs Deanna Lagun had returned early from retirement and was acting
in the post of Deputy Director of Nursing Quality and Safety until October 2020
to give resilience, the permanent structure would be recruited to thereafter.
With regard to page 3 of the Quality and Safety Committee minutes “Work is
underway with the Head of Safeguarding and the Head of Primary Care
around quality improvement and a sustained approach concerning child
protection reports” it was queried whether this was still going ahead. It was
clarified that this had progressed and finances were being worked through.
When completed this would be submitted to the Executive Committee. Mrs
Fox would follow this up to establish a timeframe.
Action: Mrs Fox

2020/06

Action Logs from previous committee meetings
It was noted that timescales on the action logs were to be reviewed by the
relevant teams and updated in light of the current situation. Any actions still
needing to be carried out would be identified and included in the appropriate
action log. For assurance it was confirmed there was no risks arising from any
of the actions
Action: Mrs Fox, Mrs Nesbit and Mrs Burnicle

SPECIAL MATTERS RELATING TO COVID-19 RESPONSE
2020/07

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
Mrs Fox provided a verbal update to the committee.
Mutual aid was in place in Sunderland from a health and care perspective and
across the ICP and ICS from a health perspective. The central ICP hub
(hosted by SCCG) had a very small stock there and purchasing was
being undertaken that could be. The largest current pressure was in relation
to gowns largely for acute providers. The hub would continue to source and
receive supplies from the ICS to support mutual aid to out of hospital health
providers and also had reciprocal arrangements in place with the LA to
support both health and social care providers (i.e. whoever had the available
PPE would support where necessary on an emergency basis). To date this
approach had ensured (to our knowledge) that front line staff had the PPE
they needed to keep themselves and patients safe.
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The Chair asked that her thanks were passed onto the team for keeping
mutual aid going in this difficult time.
It was noted that the National media did not always reflect what was
happening regionally.
The Integrated Assurance committee RECEIVED the update for information.

2020/08

Staff testing
Dr Bradford provided a verbal update to the committee.
There were two systems in place, one at a local base and one on the IKEA
site. A meeting would be held tomorrow to ensure all were following the same
protocols. There was no testing for children in the locality but this was being
developed. Dr Khalil was monitoring how this was going. It was noted there
was very high numbers of positives in care home staff.
The Integrated Assurance committee RECEIVED the update for information.

2020/09

Committee items deferred due to COVID
Mrs Cornell provided detail on committee items that had been deferred due to
COVID.
Quality and safety Committee
 Medicines Optimisation Quarterly Report – 6 month update at next
meeting
 End of year committee review
 Quality Action Plan
 ATB Quality Assurance Framework Proposal
 Risk Based Audit of the Quality of Commissioned Services
Primary Care Commissioning Committee
 End of year committee review
 TITO Plan
 Workforce and strategy update
Patient and Public Involvement
 Involvement and Engagement Quarterly Report and action plan – 6
month update at next meeting
 Partner updates (P2E and ATB)
 Sunderland Involvement Partnership update
 Communications Highlight Report
It was noted that all directors had been involved in pulling together the agenda
for the Integrated Assurance Committee meeting today.
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The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the update for assurance.

2020/10

Performance Implications
As a consequence to COVID, it had been declared nationally that the NHS
was in level 4 escalation, consequently, all usual contractual obligations
between CCGs and NHS providers were suspended. However, performance
monitoring continued.




Sunderland key actions were with South Tyneside and Sunderland
Foundation Trust to create capacity from 20 March 2020.
Planned Care – GPs had been requested to try to manage referrals
and this had been done really well.
Looking at waiting lists and under consultant guidance, identifying
any that could be safely discharged from the waiting list.

A number of actions had been agreed in relation to performance. A&E
performance was currently delivering above the 95% standard. However, this
had to be seen in the context of the current situation, namely, a 43% reduction
in A&E attendance since the middle of March and 40% of all acute beds
vacant. Lots of work had been done to empty the hospital of patients who no
longer needed to be in a hospital bed, the ongoing issue of ‘very long stay
patients’ had been improved, SSTFT previously had 130 and this had
decreased to 30 (where LoS was >21 days). The hospital was approximately
50% occupied and had thankfully not seen the demand that had been
anticipated.
Referral to Treatment Time (RTT) had dropped to 86%; however STSFT
performance remained one of the better ones in the country.
STSFT was struggling with cancer performance, in particular 62 day
performance that had decreased to just over 68% down from 85%. The
committee were reminded that STSFT did not undertake a large proportion of
the cancer work for Sunderland, with services such as breast and skin cancer
undertaken by other providers. Consequently, the overall CCG performance
would be different to that of STSFT.
Diagnostic waiting times were deteriorating due to clinical staff being
redeployed.
The CCG was looking at how to address long waits which had been known
would deteriorate. How to create capacity and get back to where should be
would be a key piece of work.
A question was raised with regards to cancer referrals, the majority being
previous patients, and was the CCG aware of the number of new referrals. In
response it was clarified that this data was currently being collated and the
impact and accessibility, as well as people having access to investigation
across the system, was being looked at both nationally and locally.
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A concern was raised with regard to clinical care capacity being underused
across the system and having to wait for approval to take patients to
theatre. In response it was noted there was assurance this was being looked
at by Public Health England, Local Authorities and STSFT. There were a
number of strands of work being carried out and it was expected information
from the National Cancer Alliance would come through in the next few days.
The balance had been taken by Government that there would not be enough
ITU beds for patients that needed them and that was what trusts had
implemented. It was noted that this was one of the unintended consequences
of planning for expected number of cases that had materialised. Discussions
at ICS level were taking place on how the system would recover post COVID;
we were currently in the transition phase and could not prolong harm. It was
essential to get trusts back on track; NHS England would be making these
decisions and guidance was expected soon.
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the update for information.

2020/11

Workforce Implications Report
The report provided an update to the committee on the impact of COVID 19 on
SCCG workforce and assurance on the deployment measures taken to assist
capacity and demand issues across the system. Mrs Nesbit highlighted
salient points within the report to the committee.












In line with government advice SCCG staff were asked to work from
home on 17 March 2020, business continuity plans were enacted and
staff took equipment home to support their new working environment in
a home setting
A small number of CCG staff had continued to work from Pemberton as
part of the COVID 19 command cell. However in response to further
government advice, Pemberton House was closed to all staff on 24
March 2020
Virtual meetings and regular contact with team members was put in
place across directorates.
A local deployment hub for CCG staff and Primary Care staff was up
and running by 20 March 2020.
By 23 March 2020, 75% of CCG staff had been deployed across
Primary Care, NEAS, CNTW, STSFT and the wider Sunderland
system. The 25% of staff retained covered business critical / leadership
functions
A total of 25 CCG clinical staff have been deployed to support clinical
services
The local deployment hub for Primary Care had supported staffing
across the Sunderland system including Acute Assessment Units,
Phlebotomy hub and mutual aid across General Practice.
In mid-April NECS established a regional deployment hub. The CCG
had worked with NECS to link in with this
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Item: 7.2

Weekly update from Mental Health First Aiders to support wellbeing
during COVID 19 including supporting staff resilience with the offer of
access to confidential counselling

It was queried whether there was feedback from staff in relation to measures
put in place and it was confirmed that feedback received had been positive.
The Chair noted this was a challenging environment and support had been put
in place where needed. The Chair asked that her thanks were passed on to
the team.
The Integrated Assurance Committee NOTED the contents of the report and
the workforce activity undertaken in relation to deployment of resource,
RECEIVED assurance that work undertaken in the CCG workforce response
to COVID 19 had met local and system expectations, was ASSURED that the
identification and mitigation of associated risks would support a workforce
recovery plan in response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

2020/12

Primary Care Response to COVID Report
The report provided an update and assurance to the committee on the general
practice response to COVID-19. The report highlighted the activities that had
been implemented, amended or ceased within general practice as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic and highlighted the potential associated risks.
The CCG had redeployed workforce to support general practice. A daily
debrief was being issued to the practices to outline the key messages
alongside a list of key documents that had been published the previous day.
Feedback from general practices was positive and CCG support was
beneficial.
Mrs Nesbit noted thanks to Mrs Thompson, Mrs Spencer and the team for
putting measures in place to support general practices. Systems were
working and the CCG would build on managing COVID and non-COVID
patients and focus on the recovery plan working with general practice
colleagues for when full services resumed. Mrs Thompson noted this work had
been clinically led with a lot of support from the Dr Pattison, Dr Khalil and the
SGPA as a collective team effort.
Dr Pattison noted the support from the team was exemplary, professional and
it had been a pleasure to Chair the Clinical leaders meeting. Results of the
support from the CCG were noticeable and had been built on years of working
in partnership with practices.
The Chair queried whether the 111 bookings into Houghton Primary Care
Centre had been resolved. In response it was shared that the CCG had been
working with 111 and had agreed a way forward.
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In response it was confirmed this was the case and the practices were starting
to actively work with PPGs again
Clarification was requested around Vocare and recovery at Home services
enhancing visiting patients at home. It was explained that Vocare had put in
place a short term clinical assessment service but due to the situation moving
on very quickly, the service had not been utilized. Hot hubs were seeing
suspected or confirmed COVID-19 patients and the recovery at home
enhanced visiting service was seeing these patients at home
Assurance was requested that the CCG was encouraging people to join the
NHS volunteer and Local Authority schemes. In response it was clarified that
the CCG was working with the community through ATB to raise awareness of
both schemes and encouraging practices to refer patients to them.
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the report, NOTED the
contents and the activity undertaken across general practice, RECEIVED
assurance that the Sunderland General Practice response to COVID- 19 had
met government and NHS England expectations, and was ASSURED that the
work undertaken locally within practices, and to support practices, had
responded effectively to the COVID-19 outbreak.
Dr Gellia left at this point in the meeting.

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION
2020/13

Houghton Medical Group Expansion Business Case
The purpose of this report was to request approval of the expansion of
premises space for Houghton Medical Group.
Houghton Medical Group are a GMS practice in Houghton-le-Spring delivering
primary medical care services to 7935 patients from Houghton Health Centre
which is an NHSPS building.
Houghton Medical Group wished to extend the area they currently occupied
within the Health Centre to ensure safe and sustainable services for the
population of Houghton both now and in the future.
The recent repatriation of treatment room services had placed further capacity
pressures on the practice which was already struggling for space. The
practice was significantly undersized and wanted to increase its size by having
an additional two rooms. It was noted that the practice no longer required the
IT funding detailed within the business case. The cost to the CCG per year
would be £6,500.
Mrs Thompson advised there were two options to approve or not approve the
application.
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A query was raised as to whether the cost per metre squared was normal as
was significantly more than used to be. Mr Chandler advised this was most
likely correct and had no doubt that the cost was accurate.
The committee was asked to consider the options noted in section 3 of the
report and approved option 1 which was to increase the space.
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the report, CONSIDERED
both options and APPROVED Option 1 in section 3 if the report.

2020/14

GP Retention Scheme for Sunderland Report
The report provided information to the committee for a decision to be made
regarding an application from a GP to join the GP Retention Scheme. The
scheme has been established since 2017 but Sunderland CCG had not
received any applications to date. The committee was asked to be mindful that
this was a NHS England report and as such the report does not include a
recommendation. Health Education England submits the application to NHS
England and then NHS England submits the report to the CCG to approve/not
approve. Funding was in Primary Care baseline.







The applicant was applying to work 4 sessions per week from
Sunderland GP Alliance Medical Practice.
The GP was applying to join the scheme due to personal health
reasons and due to carer responsibilities and a standard employment
contract would not meet the individual’s needs;
Health Education England had confirmed that the applicant is suitable
for the scheme in respect that the individual meets the education
requirements of the Scheme as outlined in the guidelines and NHSE
has confirmed that the GP meets the eligibility criteria of the scheme;
The financial cost to the CCG will be £19,999.36 per annum (£99,996.8
over 5 years); this has been confirmed as the total cost per annum.
The CCG does not currently have any GPs on the scheme.

It was noted that the application states that the GP was to start on 1 April 2020
but the CCG had not received confirmation that this had happened.
Confirmation of this would be requested from NHS England.
A query was raised if this GP had already started working on 1 April 2020
would the application be forfeited. In response it was confirmed that it could be
as there was no guarantee the application would be supported.
Action: Mrs Thompson to check with GPA if this GP had started work on
1 April 2020
Discussions were held around the report not including a recommendation and
a concern was raised that the committee did not have access to background
information such as the carer responsibilities or health requirements. However
it was noted the eligibility of the GP to join the scheme and suitability of
acceptance onto the scheme is managed by HEE and NHSE. It was noted
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that local knowledge was important and queried whether the GP was happy to
work over multiple sites. Mrs Thompson advised that the GP had requested to
work in one site rather than multiple sites.
The Integrated Assurance Committee CONSIDERED the application to join
the GP Retention Scheme and APPROVED it based upon the scheme
guidelines.

ITEMS FOR GOVERNANCE AND ASSURANCE
2020/15

Finance Update
2019/20
 CCG on track to achieve its control total and accounts requirements
 Primary care budget of £42m was breaking even
2020/21
 COVID would have a significant impact, most NHS contracts were
blocked based on 2019/20 spend plus an uplift of 2.8%
 COVID hospital discharge scheme month one -, £1.5m allocated on
account in April 2020
 CCG had an agreement with Sunderland City Council (SCC) to pool
their monies into this scheme
 Expectation was there would still be blocked NHS contracts in months
five to twelve
 Guidance on how to support charities and hospices was expected;
hospices were a complex area for Sunderland
 Primary care had been allocated 50p per head for COVID non-staff
costs
 Final Primary Care Financial Plan not yet complete due to COVID but
would be submitted to the Committee at the relevant time for approval.
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the update for information.

2020/16

Integrated Quality Report
The report provided the Comittee with an overview of how statutory and
business critical processes were being undertaken to sustain safe delivery of
care and ensure statutory compliance during the COVID pandemic and
restrictions to normal working arrangements.
Within each section of the report, risks and mitigating actions were outlined.
The corporate risk register continued to be reviewed regularly and it was
envisaged that over the coming weeks further risks would be added to the
register as unintended consequences of the restrictions emerge.
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Infection control as well as safeguarding advice and support was available to
care homes via the CCG. The CCG was working collaborativley with SCC
and Public Health team to develop a support hub going forward. The Public
Health team was seeing a high rate of staff testing in care homes.
With regards to the discharge process, this was very successful and was
having a very positive impact on the system.
Assurance for COVID would be included in the Integrated Quality Report in
May.
A concern was raised in relation to STSFT being a mortality outlier in terms of
COVID death. As far as the CCG was aware, nothing undue was happening
at STSFT however it was noted that the CCG was working with North East
Quality Observatory (NEQOS) and Public Health England to analyse the data
in more detail. It was posisble the high moratlity numbers were linked in to the
surge in admissions at STSFT. A mortality review was underway in the Trust
and so far 80 of the 110 deaths had been reviewed by the Medical Director
and no issues had been found. Approximately 40% of the deaths were in
age 80-85 year olds. Further detail on this would be included in the next
Integrated Quality Report in May. If anything significant emerged before then,
details would be circulated to the Committee.
The Chair noted there was a significant number of documents embedded
within the report. With regards to the annual review of the Local Quality Group
and the level of attendances, the Chair queried whether these were core
members. It was confirmed that the membership needed to be reviewed by
Mrs Fox and Ms Cornell.
The Chair thanked Mrs Fox and the Quality Team for a comprehensive report.
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the report:
NOTED the assurance provided by the report regarding changes to usual
practice and continuing statutory processes.
NOTED there would be significant recovery planning required over coming
weeks across the wider system to meet the inevitable demand in all areas of
work once restrictions are lifted to mitigate.
NOTED whilst risks and mitigation were regularly reviewed during this crisis
the Integrated Committee would receive future reports by exception.
NOTED the reports contained in appendices 1 -10
APPROVED the changes to the Joint Serious Incident Panel Terms of
Reference (appendix 10b)

2020/17

CCG Better Health Roadshow Planning
Ms Cornell provided a verbal update to the committee.
The nature of the roadshows would be changed for this year and would focus
on mental health, safeguarding, early diagnosis and life after lockdown. The
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roadshows were in the early stages of development and would link in with the
general practice recovery plan
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the update for information.

2020/18

Annual Involvement and Engagement Report
2019-2020
The report provided the Committee with an update on the CCG’s
involvement and engagement work between April 2019 and March 2020. This
report would be used to supplement the ‘Engaging People and Communities’
section of the CCG’s Annual Report for 2019/20.
Ms Cornell advised that in March 2020, some involvement activities and
meetings had to be postponed due to the Covid-19 outbreak. Some of these
activities were cited as examples of evidence in the 2019/20 Overview and
Framework assessment and Ms Cornell highlighted there was a risk this
would be reflected in the CCG’s final assessment score for the community
and patient and public involvement indicator of the NHS Outcomes
Framework.
It was noted the report was good, easy to read and very comprehensive. For
next year, it was requested that the report focused on the “so what” question
and what difference the engagement had made to the outcome. Ms Cornell
advised there was a piece of work ongoing around this and it would be
included in the final report submitted to the Governing Body
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the report and APPROVED
the document to be published on the CCG website and a link included in the
CCG’s corporate annual report

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2020/18

South Tyneside and Sunderland Foundation Trust Quality Review Group
minutes, 14 November 2019
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the minutes for information

2020/19

Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust Quality
Review Group minutes, 7 November 2019
The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the minutes for information

2020/20

North East Ambulance Service Foundation Trust Quality Review Group
minutes, 13 December 2019

Page 12 of 13

NHS Official

Item: 7.2

The Integrated Assurance Committee RECEIVED the minutes for information

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
2020/21

Feedback from meeting
It was agreed that the meeting went well and the virtual system had worked. It
was requested and agreed that future meetings would be extended to two
hours.

2020/22

Feedback to Governing Body
The following items would be fedback to the Governing Body:






2020/23

General Practice COVID- 19 Response, Update and Assurance Report
Houghton Medical Group Expansion Business Case
Application to join GP Retention Scheme
Integrated Quality Report
Annual Involvement and Engagement Report 2019-2020

Date and time of next meeting
Tuesday 12 May 2020, 4pm – 6pm, Via Starleaf

Signed:

Date: 12 May 2020

_____________________________________________________________
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GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020
Report Title:

SCCG Performance Report – May 2020

Purpose of report
To provide the Governing Body with an exception report in relation to the current position
for the CCG against the NHS Single Oversight Framework requirements.
Key points
 As a result of COVID-19 (C19), this month’s report continues to provide the latest
update for each area and outlines the risks going forward. Contract and national
planning remains suspended. Performance for a number of key indicators is not
available as a result of national suspension of submissions.
 NHS local systems are now asked to fully step up non-Covid19 urgent services as
soon as possible over the next six weeks. This is set out in the latest letter released
by NHS England and Improvement as part of the second phase of the NHS
response to C9. Plans are expected to be developed and delivered at ICP level. An
ICP group has been formed to develop the ICP plan. This will include plans at an
individual organisation level.
 As a result of the pandemic, a number of key constitutional standards have
deteriorated further. This now includes diagnostics and further deteriorations in
cancer and referral to treatment (RTT). However, focus is now to recovery with
plans beginning to be developed at an ICP level as outlined in the latest national
guidance.
 The CCG’s referral to treatment position deteriorated in March’20, a reduction from
90.8% to 87.7%, a direct result of C19. As reported previously, the actions
implemented to improve RTT performance ceased as part of C19 preparations. All
but six specialties are now failing the 92% standard.
 The total waiting list decreased significantly in March’20, again as a direct
consequence of C19. This is due to a combination of reduced referrals and waiting
list triage. Risks remain as the system begins to recover and we await the national
expectations with regard to RTT performance in this regard.
 A&E four hour wait performance in Sunderland and for South Tyneside and
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT) has improved based on published
information for March’20. STSFT performance was 84.45% for all types, with type
one at 77.3%, both improvements on the previous month. A&E attendances
continue to be significantly below the average, as patients stay away from urgent
care services.
 Ambulance response time performance remains in a similar position to previous
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months, with a noted improvement in C4 in February’20. NEAS and the CCG
delivered C1 and C4 only in February’20.
 Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) reporting has been suspended, so no update is
available. The latest SITREP information however shows a marked reduction in
long stay patients as a result of the increased emphasis being placed upon freeing
up inpatient capacity.
 Cancer performance has deteriorated and a number of standards are now failing to
deliver. Most notably, the 2WW performance has deteriorated further, primarily due
to patient choice.
 Diagnostics waiting times for March’20 deteriorated significantly due to the C19
pandemic. Performance has moved below expectation with 315 patients waiting
over six weeks (9% against a 1% target).
 Due to the deterioration of a number of key constitutional and national standards,
the corporate risk register has been reviewed with a number of individual
performance risks closed and replaced with an overarching risk around performance
recovery linked to C19.
 A full position against the IAF and other local indicators can be found on TeamNet.
Links to the dashboard are included in the main body of the report.
Risks and issues
 Risk of delivery of NHS Constitutional and national expectations as a result of the
coronavirus pandemic.
 A&E four hour standard which is subject to national scrutiny and below the locally
submitted trajectory.
 Cancer waiting times; particularly 62 day performance at STSFT for lung and
urological pathways with the latter continuing to show significant volatility. Breast
also remains a concern both locally and nationally.
 RTT performance
 Six week diagnostics as a result of C19
 Mental health waiting times for adults and children
 Ambulance response times in categories two, three and four.
 Mixed sex accommodation breaches in September’19.
 Activity Levels in secondary care particularly urgent care activity
 Delayed transfers of care for Sunderland due to a significant increase in 2019/20.
 Risks of further 52 week breaches
Identified risks on the risk register:
 647 – A&E four hour wait performance and quality impact
 1624 – City wide surge capacity
 2071 – Transforming Care for people with learning disabilities and autism
 2308 – Impact on Continuing Health Care (CHC) as a result of the C19 pandemic
 2019 – Delivery of the Integrated Urgent Care service (IUC)
 2312 – Adverse impact on CCG performance and outcomes as a result of the C19
pandemic
Assurances
 Via oversight from multi-agency programme/project groups with executive clinical
and managerial leadership.
 Via project plans including identification, management and monitoring of risks and
issues through registers and issue logs.
 Monthly contract review groups and performance groups with main acute providers.
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Regular assurance discussions with NHS England and NHS Improvement
Via regular silver command meetings with providers as part of C19 preparations and
recovery in line with phase two of the national NHS response
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to:
 Note the position and progress against each indicator in the NHS Single Oversight
Framework
 Note the deterioration of a number of NHS Constitution and national requirements
as a result of the C19 pandemic.
 Note the development of a recovery plan at ICP level in response to the NHS
England and Improvement second phase of response to the C19 pandemic
Scott Watson
Director of Contracting and Informatics

Sponsor/approving director

Matt Thubron
Head of Contracting and Performance

Report author

Governance and Assurance
Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services



CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and
reforming services



CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities



CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
No
Any potential/actual
conflicts of interest
associated with the paper?
(please tick)

Yes

No



N/A

If yes, please specify
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Yes



Key implications
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Are additional resources
required?
Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact
on patient
outcomes/experience? If
yes, has a quality impact
assessment been
undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?
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N/A

N/A

NHS Official Item: 8.1

Governing Body
NHS Sunderland CCG Performance Report
19 May 2020

1.

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to provide the Governing Body with an exception
report in relation to the organisational position against the NHS Single Oversight
Framework (SOF).

Changes and areas of pressure since last month’s report

2.

 The latest dashboard features a number of updates and can be found here
on TeamNet.
 As a result of the Covid19 (C19) pandemic, a number of key performance
indicators have deteriorated. This is as a direct result of the national
guidance implemented as part of phase one of the NHS preparations. This
was supplemented by local guidance in Sunderland.
 The NHS is now entering phase 2 and new guidance has been received
from NHS England and Improvement to begin to fully step up non-Covid19
urgent services as soon as possible over the next six weeks. A recovery
plan is being developed across the ICP and will include individual
organisational plans.


The CCG referral to treatment (RTT) performance continues to be below
the 92% standard with a further deterioration in March’20 to 87.7%. The
waiting list position (volume) improved as expected, due to a significant
reduction in referrals into secondary care as a result of system
management of C19. As the system begins to recover, risk remains going
forward regarding the delivery of RTT and any national waiting list
requirements (unknown at this point in time).

 Published A&E performance for South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust (STSFT) for March’20 is now available. STSFT
performance was 84.45% for all types and 77.32% for type 1, both
improvements on the previous month. Attendances continue to be lower
than previously observed and have plummeted in March/April’20 as a
result of the C19.
 North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) information remains consistent with
previous month’s performance with only categories 1 and 4 performance
achieving regionally. This was mirrored in Sunderland with improvements
in category 4 in February’20.
 Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) performance is not available due to a
national suspension in performance reporting.
The latest SITREP
information however shows a marked reduction in long stay patients as a
result of the C19 pandemic preparations around discharge.

Page 5 of 16

NHS Official Item: 8.1

 Cancer performance continues to deteriorate with February’20
performance for two week wait (2WW) and 62 day failing to achieve.
Increased demand across a number of tumor groups and workforce
pressures are the main issues.
 Six week diagnostics included due to significant deterioration in
performance as a result of the C19 pandemic. March’20 performance was
9.4% against a standard of <1% waiting in excess of six weeks.

Page 6 of 16

NHS Official Item: 8.1

3.

Covid19 Recovery

New guidance has now been made available in the form of a letter from NHS
England and Improvement. This sets out the expectation for local systems to
step up non-Covid19 urgent services as soon as possible within the next six
weeks. The expectation is that this will be a safe restart with full attention to
infection prevention and control with plans being developed at system level
and submission to the ICS. Across the Central ICP, a planning group has
been established which will see the development of an overarching plan across
the ICP. This is also to include the provision of additional capacity for some
routine non-urgent elective care, much of which was stood down as part of
phase one of the C19 preparations.
The guidance also sets out the explicit expectation that the opportunity is taken
to ‘lock in’ beneficial changes that have been brought about in recent weeks.
The planning group will be working with key stakeholders to identify the
opportunities such as utilisation of advice and guidance and maximising the
use of technology.
A number of key actions have been recommended which includes:
 Urgent and emergency care which includes strengthening of 111
capacity and stratification of patients and re-starting urgent outpatient
and diagnostics
 Cancer which includes local cancer alliances ring-fencing diagnostics
and surgical capacity and bringing referrals and activity back to prepandemic levels
 CVD which includes hospitals prioritising capacity for cardiac surgery,
PPCI and stroke
 Maternity which includes providers making routine and direct contact
with all women receiving ante and post-natal care and including digital
consultations
 Primary care which includes virtual appointments, risk stratification of
high-risk patients, support to care homes and delivering as much
routine and preventative work as safely possible
 Community services which includes sustaining the integrated hospital
discharge service and supporting patients who have recovered from
C19
 Mental health, learning disabilities and autism which includes
establishing an all age open access crisis service and ensuring that
children and young people can continue to access service. This also
includes ensuring that existing patients are proactively contacted and
supported.
Providers and commissioners are now working across the ICP to develop
plans to address the contents of the letter. This also includes ATB where
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‘review cells’ have been established to develop the plan for out of hospital in
Sunderland.
4.

Exception Reporting

4.1

Accident and Emergency

Published information for March’20 shows overall STSFT performance of 84.45% for
March’20 alone and 83% for the full 2019/20 year. Type 1 performance for March’20 was
77.32% and for the full 2019/20 year it was 75.85%.
Demand into ED and the Urgent Treatment Centre continues to be significantly lower than
previously observed levels and so far in April’20, performance for STSFT is 93.17% with
type 1 attendances 46% lower than the same period in April’19.
Chart 1 – CNE type 1 A&E performance – March YTD position

Chart 2 – CNE all types A&E performance – March YTD position
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The following table outlines performance by hospital site and department type as at 31st
March 2020. In March’20, performance was 95.7% for the UTC with performance for full
year 97.8%.
Table 1 – STSFT A&E performance by site and type – March’20

Chart 3 – STSFT A&E performance against previous year and STF trajectory

Activity has decreased significantly as a result of C19 and the focus of attention is now around
the planning for the local management of the pandemic response. All transformation has been
put on hold and risks remain around the four hour standard given current performance. All
national sanctions have been suspended but reporting against the four hour standard
remains in place.
4.2

RTT and waiting lists

RTT information for March’20 shows a decrease in performance for RTT with performance of
87.7%. As expected, the waiting list volume decreased significantly in March’20 as a result of
the C19 pandemic preparations. All but six specialties are now delivering the 92% standard.
The following charts outline the regional waiting list and RTT position against plan for Cumbria
and the North East which was submitted by CCGs as part of the Operating Plan submission.
No CCGs are delivering RTT regionally and only two CCGs nationally are delivering 92%.
Note that this regional performance position is for February’20. The March’20 position has
deteriorated further in all areas based on local intelligence.
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Chart 4 – Cumbria and North East CCGs Total Waiting list against plan as at February’20

Table 2 – Cumbria and North East CCG RTT position and waiting list trend for February’20

The following table shows RTT performance for the CCG by specialty, compared to the
previous month. The total number of patients waiting has decreased, whilst the proportion
of patients waiting over 18w has increased.
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Table 3 – SCCG March’20 RTT performance by specialty

As the CCG has now included MSK within the RTT position, the ‘other’ specialty has
increased significantly. The table below shows the increase for other specialties not affected
by the MSK change.
Table 4 – SCCG March’20 waiting list volume compared to March’19 baseline

Note: the variance in waiting list size would be greater if it were not for the inclusion of MSK in December’20 which is included
within the ‘other’ category.
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As reported previously, due to C19, routine elective activity is being postponed for a period
of at least three months. The March’20 position is showing the expected reduction in
routine demand outlined previously and the deterioration in RTT.
A centrally negotiated contract with the independent sector has been agreed; this is to
aid the NHS’ response to C19. Consequently, all existing NHS contracts have been
temporarily suspended. Work commenced early in April’20 to agree a plan with STSFT to
utilise the capacity at Spire Washington. The original intent was to use capacity to
undertake cancer surgery, but due to complexities this was not mobilised. Staff from
Spire Washington were utilised within STSFT, to support maintaining capacity for urgent
cancer surgery. Discussions have now commenced with regard to utilising Spire
Washington for more routine elective surgery as part of the C19 recovery plan.
Significant risk remains around the RTT and waiting list position as a result of the C19
pandemic. At this time, it is not yet known what the expectations will be nationally around
RTT and due to the reduction in routine referrals into secondary care and a number of
patients clock ‘paused’, it will take significant time to recover the position.
4.3 Ambulance response times
Ambulance response times (ARP) performance continues to be a pressure locally,
regionally and nationally. NEAS managed to deliver the C4 and C1 categories regionally
and for Sunderland with C2 and C3 failing. Only 1 CCG delivered the C3 standard and
no CCGs delivered the C2 standard.
Charts 5 to 8 – February’20 regional performance for each category (SCCG in orange)
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The graphs below demonstrate the distribution of response times against each category.
Charts 9 to 12 – Sunderland CCG response times for each category for February’20

Response times continue to be negatively affected by the increasing time lost for
ambulance handovers; this continues to be an issue at South Tyneside and Sunderland
NHS FT (SRH site). This is being reviewed as part of the A&E summit and is the focus
of the report received from ECIST on ambulance handover.
A refreshed report from ORH has been received and is the subject of discussion
between NEAS and regional CCGs for investment in 2020/21 (discussions have been
suspended in light of C19 requirements).
4.4 Cancer waiting and treatment times
Cancer performance continues to deteriorate locally, regionally and nationally and
although cancer treatment is expected to continue throughout the C19 pandemic, it is
likely that performance will deteriorate further. As part of the national I.S. contract,
STSFT agreed to transfer some cancer work to Spire Washington, but due to a number
of factors, this did not happen as planned. Spire staff have been utilised to support
cancer work on-site at STSFT instead. Discussions continue as part of the recovery but
risks remain going forward around cancer performance and at this point, the national
expectations around performance recovery is not yet understood.
STSFT have undertaken a high level analysis of the breaches in March’20 for 2WW and
identified a significant increase in patients choosing to delay their treatment as a result
of C19. Further detail will be shared in due course.
Regional intelligence has identified that there is further deterioration across all areas in
March’20.
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Table 5 shows cancer performance for February’20 by area and shows the deterioration
in a number of areas. Regionally, for February’20, across the ICS, five CCGs are now
delivering the 2WW standard including Sunderland (93.1%) however we continue with
non-delivery of the 62 day standard with only three CCGs across the ICS meeting the
standard in Feb’20.
Table 5 – SCCG February’20 cancer performance by standard

4.5 Six week diagnostics
As a result of the C19 preparations, performance in diagnostics has deteriorated
significantly. The national standard is to have less than 1% waiting for a key diagnostic.
In March’20, performance was 9.3% due to deterioration across the region. The CCG
had 315 patients waiting longer than 6 weeks in areas such as MRI, non-obstetric
ultrasound, endoscopies and cardiology diagnostics. We expect this to continue for the
foreseeable future, as providers maintain capacity for C19 patients.
5. Recommendations
The Governing Body is asked to:
 Note the position and progress against each indicator in the NHS Single
Oversight Framework
 Note the deterioration of a number of NHS Constitution and national
requirements as a result of the C19 pandemic.
 Note the development of a recovery plan at ICP level in response to the
NHS England and Improvement second phase of response to the C19
pandemic
Report Author:

Matt Thubron
Head of Contracting and Performance

Report Sponsoring Director: Scott Watson
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Date:

4th May 2020

Notes to accompany the report:
Due to the lack of baseline information for some of the indicators in the framework, a number of indicators have no
performance rating.
As some of these indicators rely on nationally published data which is not timely, the Business Intelligence team has wherever
possible developed proxy measures. Where data is available from local data sources, this is referenced in the report.
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A full assessment against each indicator can be found on TeamNet using the following link:
https://teamnet.clarity.co.uk/SUNCCGBI
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Appendix one – Sunderland CCG risk assessment against the Improvement and Assessment Framework – 2019/20
Personalisation and Choice
Health inequalities
Clinical priority: Diabetes
Child obesity
Smoking
Falls
Anti-microbial resistence
Carers

Quality of Leadership
Workforce engagement
CCGs' local relationships
Probity and corporate governance
Sustainability and transformation plan

Urgent and emergency care
Provision of High Quality Care
NHS Continuing Healthcare
Elective access
7 day service
End of Life Care
Clinical priorities:
Maternity
Dementia
Cancer
Learning disabilities
Mental health

Financial sustainability
Paper-free at the point of care

A full assessment against each indicator can be found on TeamNet using the following link
https://teamnet.clarity.co.uk/SUNCCG

Page 16 of 16

NHS Official

CATEGORY OF PAPER
Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only

Item: 8.2





Governing Body
19 May 2020
Report Title:

Finance Report Year ended 2019/20

Purpose of report
The purpose of this report is to present to the Governing Body a summary of the financial position
of the CCG for the year ended 2019/20.
In addition, the report incorporates assurance on the delivery of the CCGs productivity plans for
2019/20.
Key points
The finance paper provides assurance to the Governing Body on achievement of statutory financial
duties in 2019/20.
Risks and issues
The key issues are to ensure:


the CCG meets all its financial duties for 2019/20; and



the CCG delivers its productivity requirements for 2019/20 in order to secure financial
sustainability.

Risks to delivery are documented within the report.
Assurances


The report provides assurance:
o

that the financial outturn position for 2019/20 has resulted in the delivery of the
CCGs financial duties;
that the CCG has delivered the 2019/20 productivity plan requirements.

Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to:


Note the financial position of the CCG for the year ended 2019/20.



Note the reported delivery of 2019/20 productivity plans.

Sponsor/approving director

David Chandler, Deputy Chief Officer and Chief
Finance Officer

Report author

Mark Speer, Senior Finance Manager

Reviewed by

Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)


CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets
CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services
CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities



CO6: Develop the CCG localities



CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund


CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
N/A
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Key implications
Are additional resources
required?

None
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Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

Version
ACV1.0
ACV2.0
ACV3.0
ACV4.0
ACV5.0
ACV6.0

N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

Date
04/05/2020
04/05/2020
04/05/2020
04/05/2020
04/05/2020
04/05/2020

Comments
MS Initial Draft
TL Review
LH QA
DC Review
MS Amends
TL Amends & Review
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Governing Body
Finance Report for the period to 31 March 2020
(Month 12)
1.

Purpose of Report
The purpose of this report is to present to the Governing Body a summary of the
financial position for the year ended 2019/20 and 2019/20 productivity plans.

2.

Summary Financial Performance
The summary financial performance for the CCG against key financial
performance indicators (KPI’s) is outlined below. The CCG is reporting delivery of
all financial KPI’s. Further detailed information is provided within this report on
the performance against each KPI.
Reporting Area

2019/20
Income &
Expenditure

Statement of
Financial Position

Financial Risks &
Mitigation

Key Performance Indicator

Forecast Performance against 2019/20 in-year allocation - (surplus) / deficit
Forecast Performance against cumulative surplus allocation - (surplus) / deficit
Running costs to remain within allocation
Achievement of productivity targets

Cash balance in bank account at period end
Better payment practice code average achievement
Aged debts > £50k and > 90 days old

Headroom for mitigation of financial risks

Target

Forecast
Achievement
2019/20 Target
2019/20 Outturn
£000's
£000's
4,500
800
(16,369)
(20,209)
6,148
5,483
10,451
10,451
Period End Target Period End Position

RAG

RAG Colour

↑
↑
↑
→

Green
Green
Green
Green

<£469k
£153k
>95%
99.50%
0
0
2019/20 Target
2019/20 Outturn
£000's
£000's
Greater than zero Greater than zero

↑
↑
→

Green
Green
Green

→

Green

RAG Rating Key

↑
→
↓
↑
→
↓
↑
→
↓

performance is on target and improving
performance is on target and has remained steady
performance in on target and has declined
performance is close to target and improving
performance is close to target and has remained steady
performance is close to target and declining
performance is off target but improving
performance is off target and has remained steady
performance is off target and declining

Please note that specific performance measurement for RAG rating of KPI
indicators can be viewed in Appendix 1.
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3.

2019/20 Income and Expenditure
The CCG reports the in-year financial positon and cumulative position separately,
to align to reporting arrangements from NHS England and to allow for
consistency of financial reporting with the wider NHS (such as FT providers) and
support system working. It should be noted that access to brought forward
surpluses requires NHS England approval and are effectively ring-fenced.
Sunderland CCG Financial Position
Month 12 2019/20
Reporting Areas

Acute Services (ISFE)
Acute Services - NHS
Acute Services - Independent/Commercial Sector
Acute Services - Other Net Expenditure
Acute Services - Other non-NHS
Acute - NCAs
Mental Health Services (ISFE)
MH contracts - NHS
MH contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
MH - Other
Community Health Services (ISFE)
CH Contracts - NHS
CH Contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
Continuing Care Services (ISFE)
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Standard
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Other
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Fast track
Adult Joint Funded Continuing Healthcare
Continuing Care Assessment & Support
Childrens Continuing Care
Funded Nursing Care
Primary Care Services (ISFE)
Prescribing
PC - Other
Out of Hours
GP IT Costs
Community Base Services
Primary Care Co-Commissioning (ISFE)
Enhanced services
General Practice - GMS
General Practice - PMS
Other - GP Services
Other premises costs
Other List-Based Services (APMS incl.)
Premises cost reimbursements
QOF
Other Programme Services (ISFE)
Running Costs (ISFE)
Total 2019/20 Financial Position
Brought Forward Ring Fenced Surplus
Total Cumulative Financial Position

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)
269,097
254,644
8,653
2,049
2,472
1,279
66,559
53,949
11,465
1,145
38,332
29,907
8,425
32,770
23,246
1,358
1,458
1,411
1,485
1,394
2,417
62,172
49,196
1,949
1,380
2,202
7,443
42,058
2,281
23,190
3,951
1,875
0
3,250
3,261
4,250
22,392
6,148
539,528
16,369
555,897

Year to Date
Actual
(£000's)
268,742
254,676
8,603
1,956
2,251
1,257
67,653
54,219
12,260
1,173
39,169
30,473
8,697
32,572
22,272
1,117
1,458
1,261
1,569
1,374
3,521
63,300
50,303
1,790
1,296
2,316
7,595
42,017
2,297
23,128
3,713
2,180
10
3,184
3,200
4,304
16,751
5,483
535,688
0
535,688

Year to Date
Variance
(£000's)
-355
31
-50
-93
-222
-22
1,093
270
795
28
838
566
272
-198
-975
-242
0
-150
84
-20
1,104
1,129
1,107
-159
-84
113
151
-41
16
-62
-238
305
10
-66
-61
54
-5,641
-665
-3,840
-16,369
-20,209

The CCG has reported a cumulative surplus of £20,209k which is £3,840k ahead
of the original 2019/20 plan of which £3,700k has been previously agreed by the
Governing Body and NHS England. This in the main relates to 2019/20 drawdown funding that has not yet been utilised by the CCG. NHS England have
agreed with the CCG that in return for amending the control total this year that
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the CCG will receive a guaranteed return of an additional £4.5m in 2021/22. This
is in addition to the drawdown confirmed for 2020/21 of £5m. These funds will be
ring-fenced and will only be able to be utilised for the benefit of Sunderland
CCG’s population. This is reflected as an additional under-spend in the year to
date and planned forecast outturn.
The table below outlines the forecast movements from the month 11 report.
Reporting Areas

Acute Services (ISFE)
Acute Services - NHS
Acute Services - Independent/Commercial Sector
Acute Services - Other Net Expenditure
Acute Services - Other non-NHS
Acute - NCAs
Mental Health Services (ISFE)
MH contracts - NHS
MH contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
MH - Other
Community Health Services (ISFE)
CH Contracts - NHS
CH Contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
CH - Other
Continuing Care Services (ISFE)
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Standard
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Other
CHC Adult Fully Funded - Fast track
Adult Joint Funded Continuing Healthcare
Continuing Care Assessment & Support
Childrens Continuing Care
Funded Nursing Care
Primary Care Services (ISFE)
Prescribing
PC - Other
Out of Hours
GP IT Costs
Community Base Services
Primary Care Co-Commissioning (ISFE)
Other Programme Services (ISFE)
Running Costs (ISFE)
Total 2019/20 Financial Position
Brought Forward Ring Fenced Surplus
Total Cumulative Financial Position

Forecast
Forecast Movement
Outturn
Outturn
in Forecast
Variance at Variance at Outturn
Mth 11
Mth 12
Variance
(£000s)
(£000s)
(£000s)
60
-355
-415
-139

170

31

-54

-50

4

-72

-93

-21

16

-222

-238

0

-22

-22

957

1,093

136

282

270

-12

682

795

113

-7

28

35

109

838

729

242

566

324

-133

272

405

0

0

0

-1,076

-198

879

-1,841

-975

867

-209

-242

-33

0

0

0

0

-150

-150

44

84

40

-174

-20

154

1,104

1,104

0

224

1,129

905

702

1,107

405

-277

-159

118

-17

-84

-67

-32

113

145

-152

151

304

0
-2,811
-662
-3,200
-16,369
-19,569

-41
-5,641
-665
-3,840
-16,369
-20,209

-41
-2,830
-3
-640
0
-640

The main movements in the forecast outturn for 2019/20 from month 11 relate to
favourable movements within the Acute which is largely offset with adverse
movements within the Continuing Care, Community and Primary Care reporting
areas. The majority of the adverse movements are a result of items previously
being forecast within CCG reserves. The movement in Other Programme
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Services is mainly due to a corresponding movement within CCG reserves which
offsets the impact of the other movements to the forecast outturn.

Forecast Movement Explanations
The CCG has continued with the approach of agreeing block contracts with its
main providers which provides certainty and mitigates risk within the CCGs
financial position, a policy that was successful in 2018/19 and previous years. In
2019/20 the CCG has agreed block contracts with South Tyneside and
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT), Gateshead Health NHS Foundation
Trust (GHFT) and Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation
Trust (CNTW).
This has resulted in more stability in forecasting the main contracts within the
Acute Commissioning and Mental Health reporting areas in 2019/20 however
where there were undue / unforeseen pressures the CCG would still have
conversations with providers as appropriate about how to mitigate pressures.
Within the acute reporting area, the forecast outturn for Newcastle Upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS FT (NUTH) shows an overall outturn variance to £392k against
the 2019/20 budget. This is in the main due to high-cost cases in Critical Care,
Emergency Care and Elective Care. This has partially been offset by £110k
forecast underspends on the North Tees NHS Foundation Trust contract which is
reflective of lower demand on services than was anticipated at the time of budget
setting.
The outturn for Spire reduced by £36k as a result of lower referrals in relation to
Trauma and Orthopedic patients showing an overall £586k forecast underspend.
This is linked to previously reported overspends in the Tyneside Surgical
Supplies (TSS) contract which is forecasting an overall overspend of £551k. This
is due to activity being referred by general practice directly to TSS which going
forward is expected to reduce with referrals being made to STSFTs SIMS
(Sunderland Integrated Musculoskeletal Service). In addition, there is additional
gastroenterology activity, which is linked to issues with capacity at GHFT.
In addition, within the acute reporting area the position improved due to
underspends within winter budgets £82k and also against the Northern Cancer
Alliance budget £83k which is due to individual schemes not delivering as
anticipated.
Within the Mental Health services reporting area the main area of movement
related to an additional learning disability cost and volume patient being included
within the CCGs financial position, which equated to £133k. This takes the overall
overspend within this area to £369k.
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The outturn for the Community reporting area moved from the month 11 reported
position due to a number of non-recurrent schemes being implemented in March.
The most notable of these were £300k of voluntary sector grants and a £145k
grant to St Benedict’s hospice. These items were previously forecast within CCG
reserves.
The forecast for the Continuing Care Services reporting area has increased from
month 11 in the main due to the CCG agreeing to fund a request from
Sunderland Local Authority to provide transitional support to the council as the
CCG progresses through the ongoing packages productivity work. The initial
pressure outlined by the Council was £1,300k and £750k of support in 2019/20
against these costs has been included in the reported position. It is worth noting
the CCG provided £1,200k support in 2018/19 in relation to these pressures.
The 2019/20 support was previously forecast within CCG reserves.
Within the Primary Care reporting area, the forecast has increased in the main
due to increases within the Prescribing reporting area and also in Community
Base Services reporting area.
The Prescribing reporting area has increased by £405k from month 11, which is
due to increased drug expenditure increasing the forecast overspend to £1,077k
for the 2019/20 financial year. Prescribing is one of the most volatile areas of
spend within the CCG, which has increased further recently due to the COVID-19
crisis. Within the reported position £137k additional cost has been included in
the reported position for anticipated increased demand in March relating to the
COVID-19 crisis. As previously reported to the Executive Committee expenditure
on prescribing is two months behind in terms of receiving actual expenditure
information. The forecast overspend is largely as a result of increasing Category
M drug prices which is forecast to be £1,118k for the full financial year. Category
M is the drug prices set by NHS England with industry for approximately 500 of
the most common drugs prescribed in community pharmacy.
Within the Community Case Services reporting area, the CCG has forecast a
£464k increase in the premises costs associated with Extended Access services,
which was previously forecast within CCG reserves.
More detailed spend information and variance analysis for acute, community and
mental health is detailed in Appendix 2.
Delegated General Practice Budgets
Delegated general practice budgets are reported within the overall position of the
CCG in line with the nature of the expenditure being incurred. In order to ensure
clarity and transparency on the financial position of the ring-fenced delegated
general practice budget, the memorandum account has been provided below for
information.
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Category

General Practice - GMS
General Practice - PMS
Other List-Based Services (APMS incl.)
QOF
Quality Premium
Enhanced Services
Premises Cost Reimbursement
Other GP Services
PC Networks
Reserves
Total Primary Care Co-Commissioning

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)
22,660
3,174
2,170
4,250
1,945
660
3,261
2,952
986
0
42,058

Year to Date Year to Date
Actual
Variance
(£000's)
22,582
3,178
2,168
4,304
1,852
480
3,202
3,203
1,048
0
42,017

(£000's)
-78
3
-2
54
-92
-181
-59
251
62
0
-41

The reported month 12 position has reported a minor underspend of £41k, which
is a movement from the reported month 11 position. The movement in the main
was caused by some slippage against non-recurrent spending schemes.
Running Costs
Running costs reported a final underspend of £665k. This is mainly due to
slippage within pay budgets.
Underlying Financial Position
Reporting Areas

Acute Services (ISFE)
Acute Services - NHS
Acute Services - Independent/Commercial Sector
Acute Services - Other Net Expenditure
Acute Services - Other non-NHS
Acute - NCAs
Mental Health Services (ISFE)
MH contracts - NHS
MH contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
MH - Other
Community Health Services (ISFE)
CH Contracts - NHS
CH Contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
Continuing Care Services (ISFE)
Primary Care Services (ISFE)
Primary Care Co-Commissioning (ISFE)
Other Programme Services (ISFE)
Running Costs (ISFE)
Total 2019/20 Financial Position
Brought Forward Ring Fenced Surplus
Total Cumulative Financial Position

Forecast
Forecast Outturn Movement in
Outturn
Variance Forecast
Variance at
Underlying
Outturn
Mth 12
Position
Variance
(£000s)
(£000s)
(£000's)
-355
-355
0
31
-369
-400
-50
350
400
-93
-93
0
-222
-222
0
-22
-22
0
1,093
1,753
660
270
270
0
795
1,455
660
28
28
0
838
1,138
300
566
566
0
272
572
300
-198
-198
0
1,129
1,129
0
-41
-41
0
-5,641
-5,641
0
-665
-665
0
-3,840
-2,880
960
-16,369
-16,369
0
-20,209
-19,249
960
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As noted above the CCG has agreed a number of arrangements with providers to
mitigate fluctuations in the forecast outturn due to movements in activity levels.
For example, as previously mentioned block contracts have been agreed with
STSFT, GHFT and NTW for 2019/20.
The financial impact due to activity variations against plan are being closely
monitored to ensure short and medium term financial risks are mitigated and
appropriately managed.
Within acute commissioning work is underway to determine the underlying impact
if block contracts were not in place. Based on data up to month 10, an estimate
of a (£300k) underspend to the underlying position has been included above in
relation to STSFT driven by underspends within elective activity which is more
than offsetting increases in emergency care activity.
Further to this, it is anticipated that the CDDFT contract could reduce by £300k
based on the latest available data. This relates to a combination of forecast
recurrent reductions in dermatology activity which links to the expansion of the
community dermatology service at STSFT along with other general under
performance. This is partly offset by a pressure on the Newcastle contract as
detailed earlier in the report that is anticipated to be on-going, therefore £200k
has been added to the underlying position. It should be noted that both CDDFT
and Newcastle contracts are based on national tariff prices and not the actual
cost impact within provider organisations.
Within acute, it is anticipated that there will be some medium term overperformance within TSS estimated at £300k mainly linked to the gastroenterology
issues being experienced within GHFT. To be prudent within the underlying
position any corresponding reduction to the GHFT contract has not yet been
factored in. This is currently being investigated by CCG staff to understand the
recurrent implications. In addition within the Individual Funding Request (IFR)
budget there has been a gradual increase in expenditure in recent years which is
being reviewed by CCG staff, but based on current expectations £200k has been
included as a potential underlying recurrent pressure.
In Mental health services there continues to be a pressure with regard growth in
Section 117 clients, to reflect this trend the underlying position includes a
pressure of £500k in addition to the £500k growth funded in the baseline budget
for 2019/20. As noted above work is being undertaken as part of programme 2 in
the ATB to understand this position and implement mitigating actions where
appropriate. In addition the CCG has reported pressures within CYPS which is
linked to the Mental Health Investment standard expenditure within 2019/20
above budget which will require recurrent investment. Within the table above
£160k has been included to recognise this.
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Within community, the Community Equipment Services forecast although
forecasting a breakeven position in 2019/20, based on anticipated continuing
delays with productivity plans it is anticipated that there could be a circa £300k
overspend in 2020/21. Work is on-going to mitigate this situation as outlined
within the productivity plan delivery section.

Better Care Fund
The CCG’s and Local Authorities latest contribution to the fund and forecast
position is shown below:
Reporting Areas

CCG POOLED BUDGETS (BCF)
Enhanced Primary and Community Care
Intermediate and Urgent Care
Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism
Total CCG
Local Authority Pooled Budgets
Total Sunderland BCF

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)

Year to Date
Actual
(£000's)

Year to Date
Variance
(£000's)

72,235
16,805
62,823
151,862

71,813
17,093
63,688
152,594

-422
289
865
732

75,975

84,552

8,577

227,838

237,146

9,309

The table above reflects the position as at month 12 for the CCG and month 11
for the Local Authority due to differences in financial reporting timetables.
The forecast outturn position for the CCG shows an overspend of £732k, which
reflects in the main underspends relating to oxygen prescribing and CHC
packages of care offset in part by additional spend in Mental Health (additional
costs for Section 117 clients) and additional extended access property pressures.
The Local Authority position shows a forecasted overspend of £8,577k mainly as
a result of additional cost pressures.
Please note that with the exception of Community Equipment Stores (CES) which
is a pooled budget, remaining budgets are included on the basis of being aligned
budgets i.e. each partner is responsible for under and overspends against the
annual budget included within the fund.

4.

Productivity Plan Delivery
2019/20 Productivity Plan Delivery
The Sustainability Delivery Group (SDG) is due to meet on the 28th April 2020 to
review and agree the reported position on delivery of productivity plans for
2019/20 completed in month 12 reporting to NHS England.
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A high level summary is provided below for information on the reported delivery
as at month 12.
Productivity Plan
Category

Acute / In Hospital
Out of Hospital
Prescribing
Other
Grand Total

2019/20 Plan (£)
Productivity Productivity Productivity 2019/20
2019/20 Total 2019/20 Productivity Productivity
Total
Plan
Plan
Plan
Productivity Productivity Productivity Delivery
Delivery
Productivity
Recurrent
NonTotal
Delivery
Delivery
Delivery
Variance
Variance
Delivery
Recurrent
Recurrent
NonRecurrent
NonVariance
Recurrent
Recurrent
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
3,337
0
3,337
2,693
0
2,693
-644
0
-644
4,542
0
4,542
4,310
-1,154
3,155
-232
-1,154
-1,386
2,573
0
2,573
2,572
0
2,572
-1
0
-1
0
0
0
877
1,154
2,031
877
1,154
2,031
10,451
0
10,451
10,451
0
10,451
0
0
0

Although the CCG has achieved the overall productivity requirements for
2019/20, it should be noted that there are some areas of under-delivery offset by
areas of over-delivery. The expected forecast delivery of 2019/20 productivity
plans has been included within the baseline forecast reported in section three of
this report.
The CCG has reported that the following schemes have under-delivered against
the plans for 2019/20:


Acute - Ophthalmology Transformation (Avastin Implementation - £695k):
There have been further delays in the delivery of expected savings against
the plan to use Avastin instead of Lucentis and Eyelea. The recurrent
expectation is that these savings will still be released. This scheme is
incorporated within the block contract held with STSFT and as such the
under delivery has been offset in ‘Other’ to take this into account.



Acute/ Out of Hospital – Urgent Care Strategy (£1,161k): Following the
system-wide decision to carry out a tender exercise to secure the Urgent
Treatment Centre at Pallion, the forecast for delivery of these savings in
2019/20 has been reduced. No savings have been achieved in 2019/20.
Further updates on the expected savings delivery will be provided in future
reports and it remains the expectation that these savings will still be
released on a recurrent basis.



Acute/ Out of Hospital – Community Acquired Brain Injury Service (£225k):
Plans against this scheme are currently under development. A revised
service specification has been developed along with revised activity
assumptions that are currently being approved. Alongside this, the service
is being costed by the finance team in conjunction with commissioning
colleagues from both Sunderland and Newcastle Gateshead CCG.
Finance and Activity assumptions have been shared with CNTW, and are
currently being validated. It remains the expectation that these savings
will be released on a recurrent basis, although there may be some
slippage in early 2020/21. Any financial pressures which result from
slippage in 2020/21 would need to be addressed by the ATB.
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The under-delivery against the productivity plan outlined above has been offset
by non-recurrent slippage and other savings across wider CCG budgets.
Developing a System Wide Financial Sustainability Plan and Integrated
Care System (ICS) Financial Plan
Local commissioners and NHS providers in Sunderland and South Tyneside
agreed to develop and implement a three to five year system wide financial
recovery plan within an agreed governance framework. It was agreed that the
plan would also aim to improve health outcomes.
A draft Local Health Economy (LHE) System Wide Financial Recovery Plan was
developed and submitted to the Governing Body for approval. The draft plan was
then shared and discussed with NHS Improvement and NHS England in October
2018. Feedback in terms of the ways of working and the content was generally
positive and a request was made to update the plan following the issuing of
allocations, guidance and control totals for 2019/20.
The updated plan submitted to NHSE/I for discussion shows an improvement on
the original draft plan and a reasonable trajectory to get the LHE to financial
balance within 5 years.
In addition to the updated plan submitted by the LHE, the CCG along with other
NHS organisations in the system have submitted initial draft high level financial
plans for the period to 2023/24. The plans submitted for Sunderland CCG have
signaled a request for drawdown flexibility over the period of the plan. Further
updates will be provided in future reports to the executive committee and
governing body.

Use of Drawdown Funding
The CFO has begun the process of engaging with a sub-set of governing body
members in order to consider options and develop recommendations for the best
use of the non-recurrent £9.5m of drawdown funding available to the CCG over
the next two financial years. A key principle of allocating funding will be to
ensure all parts of the system receive a fair share of funding. Updates on this will
follow in due course.
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5.

Statement of Financial Position
Summary Statement of Financial Position
A copy of the summary Statement of Financial Position (SoFP) as at 31st March
2020 shows current assets of £3,067k and current liabilities of £38,186k. Please
note that the prepayments and accrued income relates in the majority to the
maternity pathway prepayment made in line with national guidance.

Current Assets

Trade and other Receivables
Prepayments & Accrued Income
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

Mar-20
£000's
1,522
1,392
153
3,067

Total Assets
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Accruals
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED
Financed by Taxpayers Equity
Capital & Reserves

General Fund
Revaluation Reserve
Other reserves

TOTAL TAXPAYERS EQUITY

Feb-20
£000's
928
1,291
196
2,415

Movement
£000's
594
101
(43)
652

3,067

2,415

652

(9,087)
(28,606)
(493)
(38,186)

(11,425)
(32,321)
(493)
(44,239)

2,338
3,715
0
6,053

(35,119)

(41,824)

6,705

(35,119)

(41,824)

6,705

(35,119)
0
0

(41,824)
0
0

6,705
0
0

(35,119)

(41,824)

6,705

Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC)
BPPC is effectively the target to pay 95% of NHS and non-NHS trade creditors
within 30 calendar days of receipt of goods or valid invoice (whichever is later)
unless other payment terms have been agreed. The target for the month of
March was achieved. The BPPC year to date performance is outlined below.
Better Payment Practice Code - 30 Days
Non-NHS
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target
NHS
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target
Average BPPC Achievement

NUMBER

£000's

6,466
6,379
98.65%

133,651
133,033
99.54%

2,318
2,314
99.83%

349,631
349,606
99.99%
99.50%
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Cash Management
The CCG is expected by NHS England to proactively manage the cash it draws
down each month and the amount it actually spends. The target is to have no
more than 1.25% of the monthly drawdown of cash left in the main bank account
each month. This equates to circa £485k for the CCG. This target was achieved
in March 2020, with £153k left in the bank at the end of the month.
Aged Debts
The CCG monitors aged debts on a monthly basis to ensure prompt recovery of
all outstanding debts and avoidance of debt write offs. The current target is to
have no outstanding debts over 90 days old and above £50k in value. This target
was achieved in March 2020 with no aged debts over 90 days old and above
£50k in value outstanding.

6.

Financial Risks & Mitigation
The CCG has successfully managed and mitigated financial risks in 2019/20
leading to achievement of its financial duties.

7.

Recommendations
The Governing Body is asked to:
 Note the financial position of the CCG for the year ended 2019/20.
 Note the reported delivery of 2019/20 productivity plans.

Mark Speer
Senior Finance Manager
Sunderland CCG
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Appendix 1 –Performance Measurement Thresholds for KPIs
RAG Rating Performance Measurement Thresholds
Reporting Area

Key Performance Indicator

Green

Rating Measurement
Blue

Forecast performance against 2019/20 Forecast
core allocation
expenditure less
than or within 0.1%
of plan.

2019/20
Income & Expenditure

Statement of
Financial Position

Financial Risks &
Mitigation

Status of Indicator

Forecast
expenditure
greater than plan
by more than
0.5%.

NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.

Forecast to achieve revised planned
surplus

Forecast surplus
Forecast surplus
Forecast surplus
greater than or
less than plan by
less than plan by
within 0.1% of plan. more than 0.1% but more than 0.5%.
less than 0.5%.

NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.

Running costs to remain within
allocation

Running costs
not applicable.
forecast equal to or
less than allocation.

Running costs
forecast above
allocation.

NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.

Achievement of productivity targets

Forecast
productivity
achievement
greater than 95% of
plan.

Forecast
productivity
achievement less
than 95% but
greater than 75% of
plan.

Forecast
productivity
achievement
below 75% of
plan.

NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.

Cash balance in bank account at period Cash balance less
end
than £485k at
period end.

Cash balance
greater than £485k
but less than £600k
at period end.

Cash balance
greater than
£600k at period
end.

NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.

Better payment practice code average BPPC average
achievement
achievement
greater than 95%.

BPPC average
achievement
greater than 75%
but less than 95%.
Number of aged
debts greater than
£50k and older than
50 days not greater
than two in total.

BPPC average
Local CCG
achievement less indicator.
than 75%.

Risks not fully
mitigated and, if
they were to
materialise, the
CCG would not be
in deficit or would
be in deficit up to
1% of allocations.

Risks not fully
mitigated and, if
they were to
materialise, the
CCG would be in
deficit greater
than the 1% of
allocation

Aged debts > £50k and > 90 days old

No aged debts
greater than £50k
and older than 90
days.

Headroom for mitigation of financial
risks

Mitigations are
greater than or
equal to risks
identified.

Forecast
expenditure
greater than plan
by more than 0.1%
but less than 0.5%.

Red

Number of aged Local CCG
debts greater
indicator.
than £50k and
older than 50
days greater than
two in total.
NHS England
national
assurance
indicator.
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Appendix 2 – Budget Category Analysis
Acute Commissioning (Includes both BCF and Non BCF Budgets)
Month 12 2019/20

Reporting Areas

Acute Services - NHS
CO DURHAM DARL NHS FT
DEERNESS PARK MEDICAL GROUP
DR WEATHERHEAD & ASSOCIATES
GATESHEAD HEALTH NHSFT
N CUMBRIA UNI HOSP NHST
N/TEES - HPOOL NHS FT
NE AMBULANCE SVC NHS FT
NEWCASTLE TYNE HOSP FT
NORTH CUMBRIA INTEGRATED CARE NHS FT
NORTHUMBERLAND T/W NHST
NORTHUMBRIA HC NHS FT
SOUTH TEES HOSP NHSFT
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Acute Services - Other Net Expenditure
Acute Services - Other non-NHS

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)
254,644
7,470
0
0
20,447
0
938
12,360
11,573
89
585
953
1,170
199,060
2,049
2,472

Year to Date
Actual
(£000's)
254,676
7,470
24
25
20,441
15
827
12,499
11,763
89
585
955
1,147
198,836
1,956
2,251

8,653
1,279
269,097

8,603
1,257
268,742

Acute Services - Independent/Commercial Sector
Acute - NCAs
Grand Total

Year to Date
Variance
(£000's)
31
0
24
25
-6
15
-110
139
189
-0
0
3
-24
-224
-93
-222
-50
-22
-355

Notes
Budgets have been included at the agreed contract levels. As at year end the main area of overperformance relates to TSS and
Newcastle contracts offset by underspends in the Spire contract and prior year benefits. There is also and underperformance in
the North Tees Contract.
Mental Health Commissioning (Includes both BCF and Non BCF Budgets)
Month 12 2019/20

Reporting Areas

MH contracts - NHS
NORTHUMBERLAND T/W NHST
TEES ESK/WEAR VAL NHSFT
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
SLAM NHS FT
ESSEX PARTNERSHIP UNIVERSITY NHS FT
MH contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
SUNDERLAND CITY MBC
Default
MIND
MH - Other
Grand Total

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)
53,949
53,688
261
0
0
0
11,465
8,930
2,141
394
1,145
66,559

Year to Date
Actual
(£000's)
54,219
53,904
261
45
8
1
12,260
9,450
2,326
484
1,173
67,653

Year to Date
Variance
(£000's)
270
216
-0
45
8
1
795
519
185
90
28
1,093

Notes
Budgets have been included at the agreed contract levels. As at year end the main areas of overperformance relate to Section
117s £830k (offset by prior year benefit of £110k ), LD C&V pack ages of care £369k .

Community Health Services (Includes both BCF and Non BCF Budgets)
Month 12 2019/20

Reporting Areas

CH Contracts - NHS
NEWCASTLE TYNE HOSP FT
NHS ENGLAND
NHS NORTH OF ENGLAND CSU
NORTHUMBERLAND T/W NHST
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
CH Contracts - Other providers (non-nhs, incl. VS)
AGE UK
CHANGING FACES
CHARITY
Default
DISABILITY NORTH
MARIE CURIE CANCER CARE
MIND
ST OSWALDS PALLIATIVE CARE
STROKE ASSOCIATION
SUNDERLAND CITY MBC
Sunderland GP Alliance
Total Community Health Services (ISFE)

Year to Date
Budget
(£000's)
29,907
31
0
0
0
29,876
8,425
548
28
35
1,789
10
167
0
1
128
5,719
0
38,332

Year to Date
Actual
(£000's)
30,473
41
-15
0
20
30,427
8,697
577
28
100
1,059
10
111
17
8
175
6,610
2
39,169

Year to Date
Variance
(£000's)
566
10
-15
0
20
551
272
29
0
65
-729
0
-57
17
7
47
891
2
838

Notes
Budgets have been included at the agreed contract levels. As at the year end the main areas of variance related to nonrecurrent
investment within the community sector. In terms of the overperformance on STSFT this is due to the budget being included
within the default line.

Page 17 of 17

Item 8.3



CATEGORY OF PAPER



Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only

GOVERNING BODY MEETING
19th May 2020
Report Title:

2019/20 Annual Accounts

Purpose of report
The purpose of this report is to gain approval of the Annual Accounts for 2019/20 from Governing
Body for formal adoption.
Key points
The key point is to ensure the CCG has met all its financial duties for 2019/20.
Risks and issues
Risks and issues are documented within the report as appropriate. The CCG has reported full
achievement of all statutory financial duties and as such has mitigated financial risks for 2019/20.
Assurances
The report provides assurance that the financial outturn for the year 2019/20 has achieved all
statutory financial duties.
Recommendation/Action Required
Members are asked to:
•

Approve the Annual Accounts for 2019/20 for adoption following scrutiny at Audit and Risk
Committee.

•

Authorise the Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officer to sign the relevant certificates
relating to the Annual Accounts.

Sponsor/approving director:

David Chandler, Chief Finance Officer

Reviewed by:

Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Officer

Report author:

Mark Speer, Senior Finance Manager

Governance and Assurance
Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services


CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities
CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
Health and Social Care Act 2012
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM)
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 (GAM)
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
Yes
No
paper? (please tick)
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Yes

No
Key implications

Are additional resources
required?

None

Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?
Version
ACV1.0
ACV2.0
ACV3.0

Not applicable
Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Date
04/05/2020
04/05/2020
13/05/2020

Comments
MS Initial Draft
TL Review & Amends
DC Approved

N/A



N/A



Governing Body
Approval of Annual Accounts 2019/20
1.

Purpose of Report
The purpose of this report is to provide an opportunity for members of the
Governing Body to examine and approve the Annual Accounts for the year ended
31st March 2020 for NHS Sunderland CCG for adoption.

2.

Background Information
All NHS Bodies including Clinical Commissioning Groups have to submit their
Annual Accounts to NHS England in accordance with a predetermined timetable.
Annual Accounts attached to this report were completed in accordance with the
timetable and were submitted in an unaudited form for verification ahead of the
April 2020 deadline.
NHS Sunderland CCG’s External Auditors have now concluded their formal audit
of the Annual Accounts and have indicated that they will be issuing an unqualified
audit opinion on the Accounts and associated information. Once the Accounts
are adopted and approved by the Governing Body the Auditors will formally
provide their opinion.

3.

Accounting Policies / Key Estimates
The Accounts for the CCG are in a prescribed format determined by the
Department of Health’s Group Accounting Manual (GAM).
In producing the Accounts, the CCG has adopted policies in line with guidance
provided by NHS England.
Key estimates contained within the Accounts relate to prescribing liabilities yet to
be billed. In preparing these estimates, advice provided by appropriate internal
and external ‘experts’ has been taken into account as well as information
provided centrally by NHS England. Assurance can be provided that these
policies and key accounting estimates are relevant to the CCG’s local
circumstances and that they have been appropriately and consistently applied.
The main accounting statements are the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure (SoCNE) for the year ended 31st March 2020; a Statement of
Financial Position (SoFP) as at 31st March 2020; a Statement of Changes in

Taxpayers Equity (SoCITE) for the year ended 31st March 2020; and a Statement
of Cash Flows (SoCF) for the year ended 31st March 2020.
In addition, and in accordance with the annual reporting guidance, a number of
notes illustrating further detailed information have to be shown as part of the
annual accounts information. These notes are an integral part of the Annual
Accounts and are subject to the same degree of audit scrutiny as the main
accounting statements.

4.

Going Concern
It is important to note that the Annual Accounts include a note regarding going
concern as part of the Accounting Policies (Note 1). The note states:
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector
bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision
of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.

5.

Highlights from the Accounts
Contained within the Annual Accounts is the following key information for
members to note:
•

Note 17 contained within the supporting information details the CCG’s
performance against its financial performance targets. CCGs have a
number of statutory financial duties, which form part of the overall
performance management arrangements. The three financial performance
targets applicable to the CCG are as follows:
o Expenditure not to exceed income. Note 17 indicates that the CCG
charged £536,544k against its total income of £540,385k. Note that
this includes miscellaneous income received by the CCG of £856k
as well as resource received from NHS England which is in line with
the GAM requirements. This clearly demonstrates achievement of
this particular duty.
o Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions. Note 17 identifies that the CCG charged £535,688k in
total (net of miscellaneous income) against its final in year resource
limit of £539,528k clearly meeting this duty.
o Revenue Administration Resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions. Note 17 identifies that the CCG charged
£5,483k against its final resource limit for Administration Spend of
£6,148k. This produces a £665k underspend, clearly demonstrating

achievement of this particular duty. This is particularly important
with the upcoming 2020/21 management cost reductions.
•

Note 4 outlines the CCGs operating expenses within the financial year.
The key points from this note are:
o Expenditure has increased by £25,559k from 2018/19 which is
more than would typically be expected between financial years. A
large element of this increase (out-with normal allocation growth) is
due to changes in NHS funding flows, the most notable of which
related to PSF (Provider Sustainability Fund) and additional agenda
for change funding both of which were funded directly to providers
in 2018/19 from NHS England however in 2019/20 this funding was
passed through CCGs. In addition to this the CCG has increased
expenditure in other areas for example in relation to the Mental
Health Investment Standard and General Practice.
o The expenditure in note 4 includes £26k expenditure relating to
COVID-19. The CCG received £26k additional allocation in March
2020 to cover this expenditure.

•

Note 6 records the CCGs achievements regarding the Better Payment
Practice Code. It can be identified from the note that the CCG was able to
pay 98.65% of its Non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days of receipt of
goods or agreed credit terms.

The main accounting statements and associated notes have been subject to
detailed scrutiny at a ‘Final Accounts and Annual Report Review’ meeting to
which members of Governing Body and Audit Committee were invited. In
addition, personal briefings have been provided to the Accountable Officer and
Clinical Chair of the CCG.

6.

Recommendation
Members are asked to:
•

Approve the Annual Accounts for 2019/20 for adoption following scrutiny
at Audit and Risk Committee.

•

Authorise the Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officer to sign all
relevant certificates relating to the Annual Accounts.

Mark Speer
Senior Finance Manager
Sunderland CCG
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NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

Note

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(479)
(377)
(856)

(485)
(1,739)
(2,224)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

3
4
4
4

6,570
529,720
0
254
536,544

4,795
503,873
344
196
509,208

535,688

506,984

Net Operating Expenditure for the year

1

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

7
8

31/03/2020

31/03/2019

£'000

£'000
2,915
153
3,068

2,579
241
2,820

3,068

2,820

(37,694)
(493)
(38,187)

(34,983)
(493)
(35,476)

Current Assets less Current Liabilities

(35,119)

(32,656)

Assets less Liabilities

(35,119)

(32,656)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity:

(35,119)
(35,119)

(32,656)
(32,656)

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

9
10

The notes on pages 5 to 22 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 19 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Neil O’Brien
Accountable Officer
19 May 2020

2

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year
Net Parliamentary funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(32,656)

(32,656)

(535,688)
(535,688)
533,225
(35,119)

(535,688)
(535,688)
533,225
(35,119)

General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net Recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year
Net Parliamentary funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

3

Total
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(31,414)

(31,414)

(506,984)
(506,984)
505,742
(32,656)

(506,984)
(506,984)
505,742
(32,656)

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities

7
9
10

Net cash outflow before financing
Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net decrease in cash & cash equivalents

8

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4

31/03/2020
£'000

31/03/2019
£'000

(535,688)
(335)
2,710
0
(533,313)

(506,984)
305
743
344
(505,592)

(533,313)

(505,592)

533,225
533,225

505,742
505,742

(88)

150

241
153

91
241

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Notes to the financial statements

1

Accounting Policies
NHS England/ has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in
the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets,
by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its
own accounts.
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Sunderland City Council in accordance with section 75 of the
NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled for the Better Care Fund and note 14 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pool is hosted by Sunderland City Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement

1.4

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the
clinical commissioning group.

1.5

Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the clinical commissioning group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund.
Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
The clinical commissioning group receives revenue in respect of jointly commissioned services. Details are included in note 2.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are
recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training
provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which
the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore,
the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning
group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.
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1.8

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.8.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.

1.9

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical
commissioning group’s cash management.

1.10

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms.
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial
Position date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years
from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.11

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution (the trading name of the NHS Litigation Authority NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning
group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical
commissioning group.

1.12

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with
the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.13

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined
at the time of initial recognition.

1.13.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash
flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt
instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

1.13.2

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss
allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for
trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
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HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments,
their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.
The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
Additionally Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies
and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured
as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
1.14

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or,
in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de- recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.14.1

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial
liability.

1.15

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

The clinical commissioning group does not have any financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then
being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.16

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
These are regularly reviewed.

1.16.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
- None

1.16.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following is considered to be the main assumption and source of estimation uncertainty that could potentially have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The assumption applied in the estimation of prescribing liabilities not yet billed as at the Statement of Financial Position date. Nationally derived
phasing profiles from the NHS Business Services Authority provided for forecasting the likely prescribing outturn have been utilised in deriving the
estimated liability of costs not yet billed for the clinical commissioning group. This was estimated at £8,441,874 as at the Statement of Financial
Position date (for the period 31st March 2019 the full value included in the financial statements totalled £8,241,813).

1.17

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require IFRS 16 to be applied in 2019-20. This Standard is still subject to HM Treasury
FReM adoption and is being implemented in 2021-22:
● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2019-20
Admin

2019-20
Programme

2019-20
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

2018-19 2018-19
2018-19
Admin Programme
Total
£'000

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total income from sale of goods and services

0
0
0

12
467
479

12
467
479

0
0
0

10
475
485

10
475
485

Other operating income
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Other non contract revenue
Total other operating income

3
0
3

5
369
374

8
369
377

2
0
2

0
1,737
1,737

2
1,737
1,739

Total operating income

3

853

856

2

2,222

2,224

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the clinical
commissioning group and credited to the General Fund.
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers
3.1. Employee benefits

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000
5,185
488
766
7
6,446

2019-20

Other
£'000
124
0
0
0
124

Total
£'000
5,309
488
766
7
6,570

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000
3,806
430
510
5
4,751

2018-19

Other
£'000
44
0
0
0
44

Total
£'000
3,850
430
510
5
4,795

3.2. Average number of people employed
2019-20
Permanently
employed
Number
Total

105

2018-19

Other
Number

Total
Number
3

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2018-19: None).

3.3. Exit packages agreed in the financial year
No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2018-19: None).
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108

Permanently
employed
Number
80

Other
Number

Total
Number
2

82
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3.4. Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 2019/20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with
the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.

3.4.1. Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably
robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate
prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
3.4.2. Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend
contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer
contribution rate payable from April 2019. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended
accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of
Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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4. Operating expenses notes
4.1. Operating expenses
2019-20
Admin
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies: Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies: Services from foundation trusts
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies: Services from other NHS trusts
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
External audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total purchase of goods and services

2019-20
Total
£'000

2018-19
Admin
£'000

2018-19
Programme
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

1,017
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
48
12
201
23
301
56

2,702
343,483
270
240
79,768
9,073
48,713
40,252
655
0
295
18
1,747
0

3,719
343,483
270
240
79,768
9,073
48,713
40,252
703
12
496
41
2,048
56

1,099
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
123
10
199
19
286
56

3,878
320,740
637
521
75,271
8,661
47,777
38,703
3,053
0
58
22
2,232
0

4,977
320,740
637
521
75,271
8,661
47,777
38,703
3,176
10
257
41
2,518
56

14
111
27
142
3
1,955

0
262
35
247
5
527,765

14
373
62
389
8
529,720

9
57
34
150
0
2,042

0
86
57
135
0
501,831

9
143
91
285
0
503,873

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

344
344

344
344

155
0
58
213

0
41
0
41

155
41
58
254

158
0
0
158

0
38
0
38

158
38
0
196

2,168

527,806

529,974

2,200

502,213

504,413

Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Grants to Other bodies
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2019-20
Programme
£'000

Included within Premises is £122k (2018-19: £2,173k) for rentals under operating leases paid to NHS Property Services, the University of Sunderland and RTC North Limited which is reported in note 6.
Other expenditure relates to a contribution towards exit costs of the South Tyneside CCG Accountable Officer following successful appointment of a Joint Accountable Officer for County Durham CCG, South Tyneside
CCG and Sunderland CCG.
Non-audit services are in respect of Mental Health Investment Standard assurance that NHSE requires CCGs to obtain from an independent reporting accountant, to demonstrate their investment in mental health
expenditure rises at a faster rate than their overall published programme funding.
Included within Other professional fees is £63k (2018-19: £55k) for internal audit services.
4.2. Analysis of non NHS healthcare operating expenditure
2019-20
Total

556

2019-20
Independent/
Private
£000s
556

2019-20
Voluntary /
Not-for-Profit
£000s
0

2019-20
Local
Authorities
£000s
0

0
12,260
77
6,729
1,916
27,224
31,003
79,209
9,073
88,838

0
1,950
0
6,033
1,916
16,406
251
26,556
0
27,112

0
860
77
157
0
1,735
0
2,829
0
2,829

0
9,450
0
344
0
9,083
30,752
49,629
9,073
58,702

463

2018-19
Independent/
Private
£000s
463

2018-19
Voluntary / Notfor-Profit
£000s
0

2018-19
Local
Authorities
£000s
0

0
11,021
81
6,102
2,847
23,908
30,849
74,808
8,661
83,932

0
1,325
0
5,126
2,847
13,626
1,109
24,033
0
24,496

0
434
81
48
0
1,129
0
1,692
0
1,692

0
9,262
0
801
0
9,153
29,740
48,956
8,661
57,617

£000s
Total primary healthcare purchased
Purchase of secondary healthcare
Social care (learning difficulties)
Mental health
Maternity
General and acute
Accident and emergency
Community health services
Continuing care incl different types of NHS funded care provided on continuous basis
Total secondary healthcare purchased
Social Care
Total non NHS healthcare operation expenditure

2018-19
Total
£000s
Total primary healthcare purchased
Purchase of secondary healthcare
Social care (learning difficulties)
Mental health
Maternity
General and acute
Accident and emergency
Community health services
Continuing care incl different types of NHS funded care provided on continuous basis
Total secondary healthcare purchased
Social Care
Total non NHS healthcare operation expenditure
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2019-20
Devolved
Administrations
£000s
0

0
0
0
195
0
0
0
195
0
195

2018-19
Devolved
Administrations
£000s
0

0
0
0
127
0
0
0
127
0
127
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5. Better Payment Practice Code
5.1. Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

6,466
6,379
98.65%

133,651
133,033
99.54%

6,369
6,320
99.23%

130,230
129,714
99.60%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,318
2,314
99.83%

349,631
349,606
99.99%

2,264
2,262
99.91%

331,005
330,987
99.99%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of
receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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6. Operating Leases
6.1. As lessee
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and photocopiers, none of which are
individually significant. Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
The clinical commissioning group also has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services in respect of the utilisation of various clinical and non-clinical properties. These
largely relate to payments made in respect of void and sessional space in clinical properties, as well as for the clinical commissioning group's accommodation costs. In 2018-19
this expenditure was included in note 6.1.1. under buildings. In 2019-20 NHS England and NHS Improvement guidance has identified that as these costs do not relate to formal
lease arrangements they should be excluded from note 6.1.1..
Accordingly the payments made in 2018-19 for void and sessional spaces are disclosed as minimum lease payments in the buildings category in note 6.1.1 below. In the
absence of formal contracts however, it is not possible to confirm minimum lease payments for future years hence no figures are included in note 6.1.2 below for these
arrangements. As noted above this is not applicable in 2019-20.

6.1.1. Payments recognised as an expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2019-20
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

122
122

6
6

Buildings
£'000
128
128

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

2,173
2,173

21
21

2,194
2,194

Included within the 2018/19 minimum lease payments for buildings was £2,063k for void and sessional space expenditure.

6.1.2. Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

2019-20
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

133
379
0
512

3
0
0
3
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Buildings
£'000
136
379
0
515

105
395
0
500

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
12
10
0
22

117
405
0
522
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7.1. Trade and other receivables

Current
31/03/2020
£'000

Current
31/03/2019
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

1,203
1,205
319
185
0
2
2,914

1,000
1,136
244
168
21
10
2,579

Total current

2,914

2,579

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to
commission services, no credit scoring for NHS England is considered necessary.

7.2. Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31/03/2020
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

3
0
0
3

31/03/2020
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
1
0
0
1

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 01 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

31/03/2020
£'000
241
(88)
153

31/03/2019
£'000
91
150
241

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

153
153

241
241

Balance at 31 March

153

241

The clinical commissioning group held no cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2020 on behalf of patients (31 March 2019 : £0)
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31/03/2020
Total
£'000
4
0
0
4

31/03/2019
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
70
63
18
151

31/03/2019
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
94
0
0
94

31/03/2019
Total
£'000
164
63
18
245
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9. Trade and other payables

Current
31/03/2020
£'000

Current
31/03/2019
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

2,841
5,857
3,437
22,749
74
1
69
2,665
37,693

2,496
3,480
4,410
22,221
68
0
69
2,239
34,983

Total current

37,693

34,983

At 31 March 2020, the clinical commissioning group had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the
liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2019: £0)

10. Provisions

Other
Total

Current
31/03/2020
£'000
493
493

Current
31/03/2019
£'000
493
493

493

493

Total current and non-current
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2019

493

493

Arising during the year
Balance at 31 March 2020

0
493

0
493

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2020

493
493

493
493

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2018

149

149

Arising during the year
Balance at 31 March 2019

344
493

344
493

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2019

493
493

493
493

The clinical commissioning group has included a provision relating to a potential sustainability issue with a provider organisation.

11. Contingencies
The clinical commissioning group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: None).
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: None).
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12. Financial instruments
12.1. Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the
risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. The clinical
commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational
activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the CCG standing financial
instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal
auditors.
12.1.1. Credit risk
As the majority of the CCG’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure as at the
end of the financial year relates to receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note
12.1.2. Liquidity risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
12.1.3. Financial Instruments

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and
managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line
with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.
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12. Financial instruments cont'd
12.2. Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31/03/2020
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020

1,020
183
320
0
153
1,676

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31/03/2019
£'000
544
456
244
9
241
1,494

Total

31/03/2020
£'000
1,020
183
320
0
153
1,676

Total

31/03/2019
£'000
544
456
244
9
241
1,494

12.3. Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2020

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost

Total

31/03/2020
£'000

31/03/2020
£'000

1,665
17,226
18,658
0
37,549

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

1,665
17,226
18,658
0
37,549

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost

Total

31/03/2019
£'000

31/03/2019
£'000

1,006
15,335
16,266
2,239
34,846

1,006
15,335
16,266
2,239
34,846

13. Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the clinical commissioning group's governing body, considered to be
the 'chief operating decision maker' of the clinical commissioning group, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.
All activity performed by the clinical commissioning group relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population. As
a result, the clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare
services.
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14. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Sunderland City Council. The pool is hosted by Sunderland City Council.
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Better Care Fund and a Mental Capacity Act safeguarding practitioner.
The clinical commissioning group’s shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Amounts recognised in Entities books

Amounts recognised in Entities books

2019-20

2018-19

Description of
principal
activities

Income

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Better Care Fund

NHS Sunderland CCG
and Sunderland City
Council

Commissioning of
out of hospital
care

0

(152,594)

0

(56,018)

Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards

NHS Sunderland CCG
and Sunderland City
Council

Contribution to
Deprivation of
Liberty Funding

0

0

0

(36)

18

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
15 Related party transactions
During the year 2019-20 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Name

Title

Declaration

Ian Pattison
Ian Pattison
Ian Pattison
David Gallagher
David Gallagher

Governing Body Chair
Governing Body Chair
Governing Body Chair
Chief Officer
Chief Officer

GP Partner at Southlands Medical Group
Partner is a locum GP at Southlands Medical Group
GP Appraiser
Daughter is store manager at Specsavers Peterlee Ltd.
Non- Executive Director for Academic Health Science Network

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

David Chandler
David Chandler
Ann Fox
Scott Watson

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer
Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
Director of Contracting and Informatics

Southlands Medical Group
Southlands Medical Group
NHS England
Specsavers Hearcare Ltd.
Academic Health Science Network For The North East & North
Cumbria LTD
Friends with Assistant Finance Director income and Contracting, Newcastle- Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Friends with Head of Finance and Business Development - South Locality,
Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation
Cumbria Northumberland Tyne & Wear NHS Foundation Trust
Trust
Wife is Assistant Director of Finance – Costing & Contracting at Gateshead Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
Health NHS Foundation Trust
Sister is a nurse in ITU unit South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Foundation Trust
HFMA Northern Branch Chair
HFMA
HFMA Commissioning Faculty Forum Chair
HFMA
Honorary title from University of Sunderland
University of Sunderland
Mother employed by South Tynesiide & Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Scott Watson

Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics

Scott Watson
Tarryn Lake
Claire Bradford
Claire Bradford
Derek Cruickshank
Raj Bethapudi
Raj Bethapudi

Director of Contracting and Informatics
Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Medical Director
Medical Director
Secondary Care Clinician
Executive GP
Executive GP

Raj Bethapudi
Karthik Gellia
Fadi Khalil
Fadi Khalil

Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP

Tracey Lucas
Saira Malik

Executive GP
Executive GP

Saira Malik

Executive GP

Saira Malik
Chris Macklin
Eric Harrison
Clare Nesbit

Executive GP
Lay member Audit and Risk Committee Chair
Executive Practice Manager
Director of People and Primary Care

Clare Nesbit
Clare Nesbit

Director of People and Primary Care
Director of People and Primary Care

Clare Nesbit

Director of People and Primary Care

Debbie Burnicle

Lay Member PPI

Pat Harle
Pat Harle

Lay Member PCCC
Lay Member PCCC

Florence Gunn
Florence Gunn

Executive Practice Nurse
Executive Practice Nurse

Matt Thubron

Head of Contracting and Performance

Helen Steadman

Head of Strategy, Planning and Reform

Related Party

Payments to
Related Party
£000
1,229
1,229
782
768
203

£000

0
0
493
0
10

72
72
215
70
72

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
434
0
0

11,148

5

549

0

0

495

2

20,396

0

51

0

232,489

72

490

178

6
6
202
232,489

0
0
0
72

0
0
1
490

0
0
0
178

Sister is employed by Ward Hadaway solicitors
Ward Hadaway Solicitors
Step mother is member of Sunderland City Council
Sunderland City Council
Aunt is employed by South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

26
60,362
232,489

0
574
72

0
5,621
490

0
298
178

Friends with Director
Friends with Divisional Finance Manager
Deputy medical referee Newcastle City Council
Deputy Chairman of Northern Cancer Alliance (hosted by NHS England)
Secondary Care Clinician at NHS South Tees CCG
GP Partner, Galleries Medical Group
Brother is a consultant radiologist at County Durham and Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust
Brother works at Spire Healthcare
GP Partner, Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman
GP Partner at Broadway Medical Practice
GP Partner at New Silksworth Medical Practice (Sunderland GP Alliance)

232,489
232,489
0
782
442
1,352
7,377

72
72
0
493
8
0
0

490
490
0
215
4
102
585

178
178
17
434
5
0
0

2,821
603
932
10,985

0
0
0
0

0
49
62
167

155
0
0
0

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Newcastle City Council
NHS England
NHS South Tees CCG
Galleries Medical Group
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
Spire Healthcare Ltd
Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman
Broadway Medical Practice
Sunderland GP Alliance

GP Partner at Deerness Park Medical Group
Father is a member of the South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation
Trust Board
Provides advice re ICAR services to South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust
Brother is a Doctor at STSFT
Wife is a Medical Secretary at Northumbria Healthcare
Managing Partner at Deerness Park Medical Group
Daughter employed as an Operations Manager within the NHS Business
Services Authority
Ex daughter-in-law is employed by Gateshead Health NHS FT
Sister employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust as the
integration agenda lead.
Sister in law employed as Breast Screening Nurse at Gateshead NHSFT

Deerness Park Medical Group
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

2,008
232,489

0
72

258
490

0
178

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

232,489

72

490

178

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Northumbria Healthcare Foundation Trust
Deerness Park Medical Group
NHS Business Services Authority

232,489
693
2,008
9

72
0
0
0

490
454
258
0

178
0
0
0

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

20,396
20,396

0
0

51
51

0
0

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

20,396

Ambassador in a voluntary role acting as a critical friend and promoting the
needs of carer and how the centre can support carers to continue to care for
Sunderland Carers Centre
Lay member of South Tyneside CCG
Appointed member of council of governors for South Tyneside and
Sunderland NHS FT
Practice Nurse at Pallion Family Practice
Son is project lead for value based commissioning at the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit
Sister-in-law is employed by South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust
Brother is Estates Officer at Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Sunderland Carers Centre

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer

David Chandler
David Chandler
Ann Fox
Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Scott Watson
Tarryn Lake
Claire Bradford
Claire Bradford
Derek Cruickshank
Raj Bethapudi
Raj Bethapudi
Raj Bethapudi

Chief Finance Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Director of Contracting and Informatics
Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Medical Director
Medical Director
Secondary Care Clinician
Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP

Karthik Gellia
Fadi Khalil
Fadi Khalil

Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP

GP Partner at Southlands Medical Group
Partner is a locum GP at Southlands Medical Group
GP Appraiser
Daughter is store manager at Specsavers Peterlee Ltd.
Friends with Assistant Finance Director income and Contracting, Newcastleupon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Friends with Head of Finance and Business Development - South Locality,
Northumberland Tyne & Wear NHS Foundation Trust
Wife is Assistant Director of Finance – Costing & Contracting at Gateshead
Health NHS Foundation Trust
Sister is nurse in ITU unit South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
HFMA Northern Branch Chair
Honorary title from University of Sunderland
Mother employed by City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Sister is employed by Ward Hadaway solicitors
Aunt is member of Sunderland City Council
Step mother is member of Sunderland City Council
Aunt is employed by City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Friends with Director at City Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
HFMA Northern Branch Treasurer
Deputy medical referee Newcastle City Council
Deputy Chairman of Northern Cancer Alliance (hosted by NHS England)
Secondary Care Clinician at NHS South Tees CCG
GP Partner, Bridgeview Medical Group
Part-time GP Partner the Galleries Medical Group
Brother is a consultant radiologist at County Durham and Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust
GP Partner, Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman
GP Partner at Broadway Medical Practice
GP Partner at New Silksworth Medical Practice (Sunderland GP Alliance)

Fadi Khalil
Tracey Lucas
Saira Malik
Saira Malik
Saira Malik

Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP
Executive GP

Partner provides consultancy support to Sunderland GP Alliance
GP Partner at Deerness Park Medical Group
GP Partner at Sunderland GP Alliance
Father is a member of the South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust Board
Provides advice re ICAR services to South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Saira Malik
Eric Harrison
Clare Nesbit

Executive GP
Executive Practice Manager
Associate Director of OD and Workforce

Clare Nesbit

Associate Director of OD and Workforce

Florence Gunn
Florence Gunn

Executive Practice Nurse
Executive Practice Nurse

Matt Thubron
Helen Steadman

Head of Contracting and Performance
Head of Strategy and Planning

Governing Body Chair
Governing Body Chair
Governing Body Chair
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer

Amounts
owed to
Related Party

54,287

South Tyneside CCG
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Pallion Family Practice
North of England Commissioning Support Unit

51

0

130

0

0

0

24
232,489

74
72

26
490

502
178

1,440
2,475

0
77

112
803

0
1

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

232,489

72

490

178

Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

11,148

5

549

0

During the year 2018-19 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or key management staff, or parties related to any of them:
Name
Title
Declaration
Related Party
Payments to
Related Party

Ian Pattison
Ian Pattison
Ian Pattison
David Gallagher
David Chandler

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Southlands Medical Group
Southlands Medical Group
NHS England
Specsavers Hearcare Ltd.
Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

£000
1,280
1,280
462
773
11,273

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
owed to
Related Party
£000

0
0
2,965
0
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000

84
84
255
130
78

0
0
14
0
0
74

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust

56,240

0

0

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

21,215

0

12

0

31,148
7
101
181,045
52
57,714
57,714
181,045
181,045
7
0
462
40
1,415
1,389
6,739

7
0
4
18
0
746
746
18
18
0
17
2,965
0
0
0
0

1,399
0
53
0
0
6,412
6,412
0
0
0
0
255
0
83
79
22

217
0
0
602
0
168
168
602
602
0
0
14
4
0
0
0

716
1,043
8,499

0
0
0

58
42
1,836

0
0
0

8,499
2,056
8,499
31,148
31,148

0
0
0
7
7

1,836
155
1,836
1,399
1,399

0
0
0
217
217

Member of Sunderland Local Medical Council
Sunderland LMC
Practice Manager at Deerness Park Medical Group
Deerness Park Medical Group
Ex daughter-in-law is employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

64
2,056
21,215

0
0
0

0
155
12

0
0
0

Sister employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust as the
integration agenda lead.
Practice Nurse at Pallion Family Practice
Son is project lead for value based commissioning at the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit
Sister-in-law is employed by City Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Brother is Estates Officer at Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

21,215

0

12

0

1,723
3,957

0
21

104
462

0
4

181,045
11,273

18
0

0
78

602
0
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South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
HFMA
University of Sunderland
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Ward Hadaway Solicitors
Sunderland City Council
Sunderland City Council
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
HFMA
Newcastle City Council
NHS England
NHS South Tees CCG
Bridgeview Medical Group
The Galleries Medical Group
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman
Broadway Medical Practice
Sunderland GP Alliance
Sunderland GP Alliance
Deerness Park Medical Group
Sunderland GP Alliance
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
Pallion Family Practice
North of England Commissioning Support Unit
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
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15. Related party transactions (continued)
The clinical commissioning group is a membership organisation. The GP Practices of Sunderland are all members of the clinical commissioning group. The table below lists the 2019-20 related party
transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland. In addition, the clinical commissioning group works with the Sunderland GP Alliance who are part of a collaboration agreement with practices in
Sunderland. The table below outlines the transactions with this organisation and outlines the practices who are members of each GP alliance.
Related Party

Payments to Receipts from
Related Party Related Party
£000

Ashburn Medical Centre*
Bridge View Medical Group*
Castletown Medical Centre*
Chester Surgery*
Church View Medical Centre*
Colliery Medical Group1
Concord Medical Practice
Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*1
Deerness Park Medical Group*
Dr Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*2
Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman *
Dr Nathan*2
Dr Obonna*4
Dr Stephenson & Partners*
Dr Weatherhead & Associates*
Forge Medical Practice - Old Forge Surgery*
Fulwell Medical Centre*
Galleries Medical Practice - The Galleries Medical Group (formerly Dr Dixit Practice)*
Grangewood Surgery*
Happy House Surgery
Herrington Medical Centre*
Hetton Group Practice*
Houghton Medical Group*
Hylton Medical Group
IJ Healthcare - Harraton Surgery
Kepier Medical Practice*
Millfield Medical Group*
New Silksworth Medical Practice*
New Washington Medical Group*3
Pallion Family Practice*
Park Lane Practice*
Redhouse Medical Centre*
Rickleton Medical Centre*
South Hylton Surgery*
Southlands Medical Group*
Springwell Medical Group*
St. Bede Medical Centre*
Sunderland GP Alliance
Broadway Medical Practice*
The New City Medical Group
Villette Surgery*
Village Surgery*
Wearside Medical Practice*
Westbourne Medical Group*

£000

756
1,477
317
363
0
0
765
16
2,008
878
603
0
209
2,154
604
1,276
1,361
1,352
1,033
901
1,258
2,039
1,021
783
632
1,209
1,811
0
1,123
1,440
489
760
279
426
1,229
859
1,240
10,985
932
840
848
627
1,041
891

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts owed Amounts due
to Related Party from Related
Party
£000
£000
45
103
0
19
10
94
41
0
258
89
49
0
18
102
47
67
60
102
57
43
87
122
69
56
34
78
109
0
69
112
29
0
17
34
72
63
0
167
62
46
58
35
67
55

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance
1 Conishead Practice was closed and the patient list dispersed in 2017; transactions relate to outstanding 2017/18 balances.
2 Dr Nathan merged with Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre) on 01 April 2018.
3 Dr Thomas, Drs Bhatt and Ben, and Dr Ray merged on 2 May 2018 to form New Washington Medical Group.
4 Dr Obonna retired in September 2019 with the list being dispersed
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year 2019-20 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as
the parent Department.

Department of Health Entity
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies in 2019-20. Most of these
transactions have been with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.
Payments to Receipts from
Related Party Related Party

Other Government Bodies

£000
60,362

Sunderland City Council

£000

Amounts owed Amounts due
to Related Party from Related
Party
£000

574

£000
5,621

298

The Annual Report sets out details of the Sunderland All Together Better Alliance in place from 1 April 2019, which is an ‘alliance’ of providers and commissioners, working together to join up out of hospital health and care services and
improve health outcomes. The main partners are already listed in this disclosure note, being Sunderland Council, the CCG itself, the Sunderland GP Alliance, STSFT and CNTW (value of All Together Better Alliance transactions for year
ended 31 March 2020 being £204,907k).
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15. Related party transactions (continued)
The clinical commissioning group is a membership organisation. The GP Practices of Sunderland are all members of the clinical commissioning group. The table below lists the
2018-19 related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland. In addition, the clinical commissioning group works with the Sunderland GP Alliance who are part of a
collaboration agreement with practices in Sunderland. The table below outlines the transactions with this organisation and outlines the practices who are members of each GP
alliance.
Related Party

Deerness Park Medical Group*
Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*3
Hetton Group Practice*
Villette Surgery*
Wearside Medical Practice*
Pallion Family Practice*
Redhouse Medical Centre*
Herrington Medical Centre*
Dr Stephenson & Partners*
Village Surgery*
The Galleries Medical Group
The New City Medical Group
Fulwell Medical Centre*
St. Bede Medical Centre*
Millfield Medical Group*
Ashburn Medical Centre*
Bridgeview Medical Group*
Old Forge Surgery*
Kepier Medical Practice*
Concord Medical Practice
Houghton Medical Group*
The Broadway Medical Practice*
Sunderland GP Alliance
New Washington Medical Group4
Springwell Medical Group*
Grangewood Surgery*
Westbourne Medical Group*
Hylton Medical Group
Colliery Medical Group1
Park Lane Practice*
Southlands Medical Group*
Castletown Medical Centre*
Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman *
Happy House Surgery
Church View Medical Centre*1
Dr Obonna*
Dr Weatherhead & Associates*
Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*2
Dr Nathan*3
South Hylton Surgery*
Rickleton Medical Centre*
Harraton Surgery
Chester Surgery*

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts from
Related Party

£000

£000
2,056
853
1,823
897
1,159
1,723
724
1,281
1,769
760
1,389
905
1,315
1,181
1,936
759
1,415
1,328
1,298
842
1,172
1,043
8,499
1,199
987
1,099
912
810
45
593
1,280
311
716
811
0
339
628
39
42
653
318
588
405

Amounts owed to Amounts due from
Related Party
Related Party
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
19
0
0
0
0
0

£000
155
58
45
46
46
104
35
61
88
30
79
38
84
75
90
38
83
70
79
0
58
42
281
136
46
40
58
55
0
22
84
14
58
45
0
13
32
25
69
32
13
32
18

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance
1 Church View Practice (owned by City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust) and Colliery Medical Group merged in June 2017 to form New Silksworth Medical Practice.
Transactions shown for Colliery Medical
Group relate to reconciling balances prior to the merger; transactions relating to New Silksworth Medical Practice are shown within the transactions for Sunderland GP Alliance.
2Conishead Practice was closed and the patient list dispersed in 2017; transactions relate to outstanding 2017/18 balances.
3Dr Nathan merged with Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre) on 01 April 2018.
4Dr Thomas, Drs Bhatt and Ben, and Dr Ray merged on 2 May 2018 to form New Washington Medical Group.
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year 2018-19 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.
Department of Health Entity
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies in 201819. Most of these transactions have been with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.
Other Government Bodies

Sunderland City Council
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Payments to
Related Party

Receipts from
Related Party

Amounts owed to Amounts due from
Related Party
Related Party

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

57,714

746

6,412

168
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16. Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which would have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group (2018-19: None)

17. Financial performance targets
NHS Act Section

Duty

223H (1)

Expenditure not to exceed income

223I (2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

223I (3)

Total Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J (1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

223J (2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

223J (3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

Yes

2018-19
Target
£'000
513,817

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

539,528

535,688

Yes

511,593

506,984

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

6,148

5,483

Yes

5,949

5,336

Yes

2018-19
Administration
£'000
5,949
5,336
613

2018-19
Total
£'000
507,093
506,984
109

Target
£'000
540,385

2019-20
Performance
£'000
536,544

Duty
Achieved?

Performance
£'000
509,208

Duty
Achieved?
Yes

The clinical commissioning group received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2020 and incurred no capital expenditure (year ended 31 March 2019: £0)
The financial targets included in the table above are as per CCG Allocations Directions published by NHS England.
Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

Revenue resource
Net operating cost for the financial year
Underspend against in year revenue resource available

2019-20
Programme
£'000
533,380
530,205
3,175

2019-20
Administration
£'000
6,148
5,483
665

2019-20
Total
£'000
539,528
535,688
3,840

2018-19
Programme
£'000
501,144
501,648
(504)

Prior to the start of the 2019/20 financial year the CCG agreed with NHS England to drawdown (£4,500,000) of cumulative surpluses to support transformation, which is included within the programme revenue resource
totals provided above. The 2019/20 financial year underspend against the revenue resource includes £3,700,000 additional surplus agreed by the CCG Governing Body to support system wide pressures.

Prior to the start of the 2018/19 financial year the CCG agreed with NHS England to drawdown (£4,900,000) of cumulative surpluses to support transformation, which is included within the programme revenue resource
totals provided above. The 2018/19 financial year underspend against the revenue resource includes £4,500,000 additional surplus agreed by the CCG Governing Body to support system wide pressures.
The revenue resources outlined in the table above only includes the financial performance against in year resources available to the clinical commissioning group. The table below outlines the clinical commissioning groups
cumulative financial position incorporating brought forward surpluses from previous financial years which have not been utilised.

In year revenue resource available to the clinical commissioning group
Net operating cost for the financial year
Underspend against revenue resource

2019-20
Programme
£'000
549,749
530,205
19,544
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2019-20
Administration
£'000
6,148
5,483
665

2019-20
Total
£'000
555,897
535,688
20,209

2018-19
Programme
£'000
521,904
501,648
20,256

2018-19
Administration
£'000
5,949
5,336
613

2018-19
Total
£'000
527,853
506,984
20,869

NHS Official Item: 8.4

CATEGORY OF PAPER
Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only




GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020

Report Title:

Financial Management Arrangements –
Amendments

Purpose of report
The purpose of this item is to request approval by Governing Body of the proposed amendments to
the Financial Management Arrangements (FMAs) of the CCG following appointment of a single
Accountable Officer across County Durham CCG, South Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG.
These amendments have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee.
Key points
The CCG’s FMAs (also known as “Detailed Financial Policies” or “Standing Financial Instructions”)
are in place to support the CCG’s Prime Financial Policies, which have effect as if incorporated into
the CCG’s Constitution.
Following the appointment of a single Accountable Officer across County Durham CCG, South
Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG a review has been undertaken to ensure the FMAs remain fit
for purpose and continue to allow the management of an effective control environment for
managing financial risk and maintaining financial governance.
In order to ensure the continued effective running of business processes following the changes to
the executive team in Sunderland CCG the following amendments are being proposed:


The tender waiver procedure in section 10 has been amended to allow the Chief Finance
Officer to approve tender waivers, items breaching thresholds after approval and noncompetitive quotations.



Variations to the funded establishment in section 14.2.2 has been amended to allow
approval by the Chief Finance Officer in addition to the Chief Officer.



Staff appointments in section 14.3.1 has been amended to allow approval by the Chief
Finance Officer in addition to the Chief Officer.

Risks and issues
The FMAs contribute to the CCG’s financial control environment for managing financial risk and

maintaining financial governance. Having effective FMAs in place provide assurance that the CCG
has appropriate procedures in place to mitigate financial risk in order to ensure the CCG fulfills its
financial responsibilities.
Assurances
This report provides assurance that a comprehensive review of the FMAs has been undertaken to
ensure that the FMAs are fit for purpose following changes to the executive team in Sunderland
CCG.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to approve the revised Financial Management Arrangements for
adoption on 1st June 2020.
Sponsor/approving director

David Chandler, Chief Finance Officer

Reviewed by

Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Officer

Report author

Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services
CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities
CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
None
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Yes

No

N/A



None
Equality analysis completed
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(please tick)
Quality impact assessment
undertaken
(please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



None
Key implications
Are additional resources
required?

No

Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?
ACV1.0
ACV2.0
ACV3.0

N/A
N/A

No

N/A

11/05/2020
11/05/2020

TL initial draft
DC Final
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DETAILED FINANCIAL POLICIES

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

General

1.1.1 These detailed financial policies (DFPs) are issued in accordance with NHS
Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group’s (the CCG’s) Constitution, which
requires the CCG to agree Prime Financial Policies (PFPs) for the regulation of
the conduct of its members and officers in relation to all CCG affairs. The DFPs
shall have effect as if incorporated in the prime financial policies and document
the financial management arrangements (FMAs) of the CCG.
1.1.2

These DFPs detail the financial responsibilities, policies and procedures adopted
by the CCG. They are designed to ensure that the CCG's financial transactions
are carried out in accordance with relevant legislation, Government policy and
recognised best practice, in order to achieve probity, accuracy, economy,
efficiency and effectiveness. The DFPs are supported by, and should be used in
conjunction with, the schedule of matters reserved to the clinical commissioning
group and scheme of delegation, and the financial scheme of delegation for the
CCG officers and functions, which have been approved by the Governing Body.
Financial procedure notes are in place to document the detailed processes to be
followed for the implementation of these DFPs. All financial procedure notes are
approved by the chief finance officer.

1.1.3

Should any difficulties or uncertainties arise regarding the interpretation or
application of any of the prime financial policies, DFPs, or financial procedure
notes, then the advice of the chief Finance officer must be sought before acting.

1.1.4

In certain circumstances, the failure to comply with prime financial policies,
DFPs, or financial procedure notes can be regarded as a disciplinary matter that
could ultimately result in dismissal.

1.1.5

All members of the CCG and staff have a responsibility to report non-compliance
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with DFPs to the chief finance officer or deputy chief finance officer, as relevant.
1.1.6

All instances of non-compliance with DFPs must be reported to the next formal
meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee. Details of the non-compliance,
including reasons, justification, and recommended action, should be submitted
for formal consideration. The Audit and Risk Committee should decide and
formally approve the action to be taken in respect of the non-compliance,
including but not limited to consideration of disciplinary action, implementation of
further controls, or further investigation, if necessary.

1.2

Responsibilities and Delegation

1.2.1

The Governing Body
The Governing Body exercises financial supervision and control by:

a)

approving the annual financial plan within approved allocation limits for
submission to NHS England;

b)

monitoring and obtaining assurance that the CCG is fulfilling the financial duties
conferred to it by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and managing its
finances in accordance with HM Treasury’s guidance for managing public
money in order to ensure that the public receives value for money;

c)

defining the specific financial duties and responsibilities of CCG employees,
members, and committees by approving and maintaining a schedule of matters
reserved to the clinical commissioning group and scheme of delegation and a
financial scheme of delegation; and

d)

reviewing and approving key financial decisions in accordance with the schedule
of matters reserved to the clinical commissioning group and scheme of
delegation and the financial scheme of delegation.

1.2.2

The Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer
The Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer will, as far as possible, delegate their
detailed financial responsibilities, but will ultimately remain accountable for
financial control.
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Within the DFPs, it is acknowledged that the Chief Officer is ultimately
accountable to the Governing Body, and to the Secretary of State, for ensuring
that the Governing Body meets its obligation to perform its functions within the
available financial resources. The Chief Officer has overall executive
responsibility for the CCG's activities; is responsible to the chair and the
Governing Body for ensuring that its financial obligations and targets are met;
and has overall responsibility for the CCG’s system of internal control.
It is a duty of the Chief Officer to ensure that members of the Governing Body
and Executive Committee, employees, and all new appointees are notified of,
and put in a position to understand, their responsibilities in respect of the DFPs.
1.2.3

The Chief Finance Officer
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
a) implementing and maintaining the CCG's financial policies, including reviewing
the financial policies annually and coordinating any corrective action necessary
to update or improve these policies;
b) ensuring a system is in place for checking and reporting breaches of financial
policies;
c) maintaining an effective system of internal financial control, including ensuring
that detailed financial procedures and systems are in place to support the
principle of segregation of duties and to ensure that internal control checks are
carried out, documented and reviewed, in order to support the DFPs;
d) ensuring an annual financial plan documenting the effective and efficient use of
the CCG’s resources to carry out its statutory function is prepared in
accordance with NHS England’s business rules and promptly submitted to the
Governing Body for approval in time for the commencement of the financial
year;
e) ensuring that suitable and sufficient records are maintained to show and
explain the CCG's transactions in order to enable the CCG to carry out its
statutory functions and to disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial
position of the CCG at any time;
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f)

ensuring that an effective system of budget management in place to ensure
that the annual financial plan is achieved and that CCG expenditure remains
within control totals; and

g) provision of financial advice to other members of the Governing Body and
Executive Committee and employees.
1.2.4

Governing Body Members, Executive Committee Members and Employees
All members of the Governing Body and Executive Committee and employees,
severally and collectively, are responsible for:
a) the security of the property of the CCG;
b) avoiding loss;
c) exercising economy and efficiency in the use of resources; and
d) conforming with the requirements of the CCG’s Constitution, prime financial
policies, DFPs, financial procedure notes, the schedule of matters reserved
to the clinical commissioning group and scheme of delegation, and the
financial scheme of delegation.

1.2.5

Contractors and their employees
Any contractor or employee of a contractor who is authorised by the CCG to
commit incur expenditure in the exercise of their duties, or who is authorised to
obtain income, must also comply with these DFPs as though they were a usual
employee of the CCG.
It is the responsibility of the Chief Officer to ensure that such persons are made
aware of this requirement and to provide them with suitable information and
guidance to enable contractors and their employees to comply with the DFPs.

2.

AUDIT

2.1

Audit and Risk Committee
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2.1.1

An independent Audit and Risk Committee is a central means by which the
Governing Body obtains assurance that suitable internal control arrangements
are in place and are operating effectively. The Audit and Risk Committee provides
an independent check of the executive functions of the Governing Body. In
accordance with the Prime Financial Policies, the Governing Body shall formally
establish an Audit and Risk Committee, with clearly defined terms of reference
and following guidance from the NHS Audit Committee Handbook (2014) to
perform the following tasks:
a) Review the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of
integrated governance, risk management and internal control, across the
whole of the organisation’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical), that
supports the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.
b) Review the adequacy and effectiveness of all risk and control related
disclosure statements (in particular the annual governance statement where
this is required), together with any accompanying head of internal audit
statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement by the CCG’s Governing Body. In carrying
out this work the committee will primarily utilise the work of internal audit,
external audit and other assurance functions, but will not be limited to these
sources. It will also seek reports and assurances from directors and
managers as appropriate, concentrating on the over-arching systems of
integrated governance, risk management and internal control, together with
indicators of their effectiveness.
c) Ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the Governing Body assurance
framework, using it to guide its work and that of audit and assurance functions
that report to it.
d) Scrutinise the processes of the organisation’s QIPP/resource releasing
initiative programme.
e)

Ensure that there are robust controls in place over conflicts of interest to
actively manage these and to also include the management of hospitality and
gifts.
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f)

Ensure that there is an effective internal audit function that meets mandatory
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and provides appropriate independent
assurance to the Audit and Risk Committee, accountable officer and the
Governing Body. The committee will be responsible for:


consideration of the provision of the internal audit service, the cost of
the audit and any questions of resignation and dismissal;



review and approval of the internal audit strategy, operational plan and
more detailed programme of work, ensuring that this is consistent with
the audit needs of the organisation as identified in the assurance
framework;



considering the major findings of internal audit work (and
management’s response), and seeking to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors to optimise audit resources;



ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the organisation; and



annual review of the effectiveness of internal audit.

g) Review the work and findings of the external auditors and consider the
implications and management’s responses to their work. This will be
achieved by:


consideration of the appointment and performance of the external
auditors, as far as the rules governing the appointment permit;



discussion and agreement with the external audit, before the audit
commences, of the nature and scope of the audit as set out in the
annual plan, and seeking to ensure coordination, as appropriate, with
other external auditors in the local health economy; and



review of all external audit reports, including the report to those
charged with governance, agreement of the annual audit letter before
submission to the Governing Body and any work undertaken outside
the annual audit plan, together with the appropriateness of
management responses.

h) Review the findings of other significant assurance functions, both internal and
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external to the organisation, and consider the implications for the governance
of the organisation. These will include, but will not be limited to, any reviews
by NHS England or regulators/Inspectors (for example, NHS Improvement ,
NHS Resolution) and professional bodies with responsibility for professional
standards, performance and advice (e.g. royal colleges, accreditation
bodies). In addition, the committee will review the work of other committees
within the organisation, whose work can provide relevant assurance to the
committee’s own scope of work.
i) Ensure the organisation has adequate arrangements in place for countering
fraud and shall review the outcomes of counter fraud work.
j) Request and review reports and positive assurances from the senior managers
of the CCG on the overall arrangements for governance, risk management and
internal control. They may also request specific reports from individual
functions within the organisation as they may be appropriate to the overall
arrangements.
k) Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the CCG and any formal
announcements relating to the CCG’s financial performance.
l) Ensure that the systems for financial reporting to the Governing Body,
including those of budgetary control, are subject to review as to completeness
and accuracy of the information provided to the Governing Body.
m) Review the annual report and financial statements before submission to the
Governing Body, focusing particularly on:


the wording in the annual governance statement and other disclosures
relevant to the terms of reference of the committee;



changes in, and compliance with, accounting policies and practices and
estimation techniques;



unadjusted misstatements in the financial statements;



significant judgments in preparation of the financial statements;



significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
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audit completion report and letter of representation;



qualitative aspects of financial reporting;

n) Perform the role of the Auditor Panel for the CCG in accordance with
Regulations have been laid under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
The Auditor Panel shall:


advise the CCG on the maintenance of an independent relationship with
external auditors;



advise the CCG on the selection and appointment of external auditors;



if asked, advise the CCG on any proposal to enter into a limited liability
agreement;



to ensure the activities of the Auditor Panel are distinctive to the other
activities of the Audit and Risk Committee, the chair of the Auditor Panel
shall arrange separate Auditor Panel meetings as required;



ensure minutes of meetings are formally recorded and submitted to the
Governing Body and provide a separate annual report to the Governing
Body of the panel’s activities and decisions.

o) Monitoring compliance with prime financial policies and DFPs.
p) Reviewing schedules of losses and special payments and making
recommendations to the Governing Body in respect of these.
q) Reviewing the CCG’s major accounting policies.
r) Reviewing the scheme of delegation and making recommendations to the
CCG’s Governing Body.
s) Investigating any matter within its terms of reference, having the right of access
to any information relating to the particular matter under investigation.
t) Reviewing tender waivers.
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2.1.2

The minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee meetings shall be formally recorded
and submitted to the Governing Body. The chair of the committee shall draw to the
attention of the Governing Body any issues that require disclosure to the full
Governing Body, or require executive action. The Audit and Risk Committee will
report to the Governing Body annually on its work in support of the annual
governance statement, specifically commenting on the fitness for purpose of the
Assurance Framework, the completeness and embeddedness of risk management
in the organisation, and the integration of governance arrangements.

2.1.3

Where the Audit and Risk Committee considers there is evidence of ultra vires
transactions, evidence of improper acts, or if there are other important matters that
the committee wishes to raise, the chair of the Audit and Risk Committee should
raise the matter at a full meeting of the Governing Body. Exceptionally, the matter
may need to be referred to NHS England.

2.2

Chief Finance Officer

2.2.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
a) ensuring there are arrangements to review, evaluate and report on the
effectiveness of internal financial control including the establishment of an
effective Internal Audit function;
b) ensuring that the Internal Audit function meets the requirements of the Public
Sector Internal Audit Standards and provides sufficient independent and
objective assurance to the Audit and Risk Committee and the accountable
officer;
c) deciding at what stage to involve the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (formerly
NHS Protect) and/or the police in cases of misappropriation and other
irregularities involving fraud or corruption;
d) ensuring that an Annual Internal Audit Opinion is prepared by the Head of
Internal Audit for the consideration of the Audit and Risk Committee and the
Governing Body in accordance with NHS England’s timetable. The report must
include:
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an overall opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control;



major internal financial control weaknesses discovered
and progress of action taken to mitigate these;



progress on the implementation of Internal Audit
recommendations;



progress against the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the
past financial year;



a strategic audit plan covering the coming three years;



a detailed annual internal audit plan for the coming
financial year; and



2.2.2

a statement on conformance with the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards and the results of the quality assurance and
improvement programme.

The Chief Finance Officer and designated internal or external auditor is entitled
without necessarily giving prior notice to require and receive:
a) access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any
financial or other relevant transactions, including documents of a
confidential nature;
b) access at all reasonable times to any land, premises or members of the
Governing Body and Executive Committee or employee of the CCG;
c) the production of any cash, stores or other property of the CCG under a
member of the Governing Body and Executive Committee’s or an
employee's control; and
d) explanations concerning any matter under investigation.

2.3

Role of Internal Audit
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2.3.1

Internal Audit is an independent and objective appraisal service within an
organisation which provides:
a) an independent and objective opinion to the Chief Officer, the Governing
Body, and the Audit and Risk Committee on the degree to which risk
management, internal control, and governance, support the achievement of
the organisation’s operational and strategic objectives; and
b) an independent and objective consultancy service specifically to help
improve the organisation’s risk management, internal control and
governance arrangements.

2.3.2

Internal Audit will review, appraise and report upon policies, procedures and
operations in place to;
a) establish and monitor the achievement of the organisation’s strategic and
operational objectives;
b) identify, assess and manage the risks to achieving the organisation’s
strategic and operational objectives;
c) ensure the economical, effective and efficient use of resources;
d) ensure compliance with established policies (including behavioural and
ethical expectations, procedures, laws and regulations);
e) safeguard the organisation’s assets and interests from losses of all kinds,
including those arising from fraud, irregularity or corruption;
f) ensure the integrity and reliability of information, accounts and data, including
internal and external reporting and accountability processes.

2.3.3

The Head of Internal Audit will provide to the Audit and Risk Committee;
a) a risk-based plan of internal audit work based upon the Governing Body
assurance framework and organisational risk registers and agreed with
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management and approved by the Audit and Risk Committee, which will
enable the auditors to collect sufficient evidence to give an opinion on the
adequacy and effective operation of the organisation;
b) regular updates on the progress against the annual internal audit plan,
including, but not limited to, significant outcomes and findings from individual
audit assignments;
c) reports on the progress made by the organisation’s management in
implementing actions recommended from internal audit findings;
d) an Annual Internal Audit Opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness
of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance processes
(i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control), based upon and limited to
the work performed during the financial year. This opinion is used by the
Governing Body to inform the Annual Governance Statement; and
e) any additional reports as requested by the Audit and Risk Committee.
2.3.4

Whenever Internal Audit become aware of any matter which involves, or is
thought to involve, irregularities concerning cash, stores, or other property, or
any suspected irregularity in the exercise of any function of a pecuniary nature,
the Chief Finance Officer must be notified immediately.

2.3.5

The Head of Internal Audit will normally attend Audit and Risk Committee
meetings and has a right of access to all Audit and Risk Committee members,
the Chair, and accountable officer of the CCG.

2.3.6

The Head of Internal Audit reports to the Audit and Risk Committee and is
managed by the Chief Finance Officer.

2.3.7

The reporting system for Internal Audit shall be agreed between the Chief
Finance Officer, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Head of Internal Audit.
The agreement shall be in writing and shall comply with the guidance on
reporting contained in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. The reporting
system shall be reviewed at least every three years.
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2.3.8

The appointment and termination of the Internal Audit Service must be
reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee and approved by the Governing
Body.

2.4

External Audit

2.4.1

The appointment and removal of the external auditor is arranged by the Auditor
Panel, in accordance with the terms of reference of the Audit and Risk
Committee and must be approved by the Governing Body.

2.4.2

The nature and scope of the external audit as set out in the annual plan should
be discussed with the Audit and Risk Committee and senior management, and
seek to ensure coordination, as appropriate, with other external auditors in the
local health economy.

2.4.3

The Audit and Risk Committee will review all external audit reports, including
the report to those charged with governance, agreement of the annual audit
letter before submission to the governing body, and reports of any work
undertaken outside the annual audit plan, together with the appropriateness of
management responses.

2.4.4

The CCG is responsible for the costs of External Audit and the Audit and Risk
Committee is responsible for ensuring that a cost-efficient service is obtained.

2.4.5

Any problems relating to the service provided by the external auditor should be
raised with the external auditor and managed by the chief finance officer.

3.

FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND SECURITY MANAGEMENT

3.1

Fraud and Corruption

3.1.1

In line with their responsibilities, the Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer
shall monitor and ensure compliance with directions issued by the Secretary of
State for Health on fraud and corruption.
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3.1.2

The organisation must employ or contract an accredited, nominated person (or
persons) to undertake the full range of anti-fraud, bribery and corruption work,
including proactive work to prevent and deter fraud, bribery and corruption, and
reactive work to hold those who commit fraud, bribery or corruption to account,
in accordance with NHS Counter Fraud Authority (formerly NHS Protect)
Standards for Commissioners – Fraud Bribery and Corruption. The Audit and
Risk Committee will approve the counter fraud work programme and shall
review the outcomes of counter fraud work.

3.1.3

The nominated person shall report to the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit
and Risk Committee. A written report on counter fraud work in the CCG and
compliance with counter fraud Standards for Commissioners should be provided
at least annually to the Audit and Risk Committee.

3.1.4

The nominated person shall work with staff in NHS Counter Fraud Authority
(formerly NHS Protect) in accordance with the Standards for Commissioners –
Fraud Bribery and Corruption, in order to ensure coordination of counter fraud
work across the LHE where relevant and to alert the CCG to any national risks.

3.2

Security Management

3.2.1 The Chief Officer will monitor and ensure compliance with directions issued by the
Secretary of State for Health on NHS security management.
3.2.2 The CCG shall employ or contract a qualified, accredited and nominated security
specialist(s) to oversee and undertake the delivery of the full range of security
management work within the CCG. The CCG shall allocate resources and
investment to security management in line with its identified risks.
3.2.3 The CCG shall nominate a Governing Body Lay Member oversee the NHS
Security Management service who will report to the Governing Body.
3.2.4 The Chief Officer has overall responsibility for controlling and coordinating security.
However, key tasks may be delegated to the Governing Body Lay Member and
nominated security specialist, as appropriate.
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4.

EXPENDITURE LIMIT CONTROL

4.1

The CCG has a statutory requirement to ensure that its expenditure does not
exceed the revenue allocation from NHS England and any other sums it has
received and is legally allowed to spend.

4.2

The Chief Officer has overall executive responsibility for ensuring that the CCG
complies with its statutory obligations, including its financial and accounting
obligations, and that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically, and in a way that provides good value for money.

4.3

The Chief Finance Officer will:
a) provide reports on expenditure in the form required by the NHS England;
b) ensure money drawn from the NHS England is required for approved
expenditure only and is drawn down only at the time of need in accordance
with HM Treasury guidance “Managing Public Money”; and
c) be responsible for ensuring that an adequate system of monitoring financial
performance is in place to enable the CCG to fulfil its statutory responsibility
not to exceed its revenue allocations or contravene business rules, as set by
directions of NHS England.

5.

5.1
5.1.1

ALLOTMENTS, STRATEGIC PLANNING, BUDGETS,
BUDGETARY CONTROL AND MONITORING
Allotments
The Chief Finance Officer will:
a) periodically review the basis and assumptions used by NHS England for
distributing allocations and ensure that these are reasonable and realistic and
secure the CCG's entitlement to funds;
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b) prior to the start of each financial year submit to the Governing Body for
approval a report showing the total allocations received and their proposed
distribution including any sums to be held in reserve; and
c) regularly update the Governing Body on significant changes to the initial
allocation and the uses of such funds.
5.2

Preparation and Approval of Strategic Plans and Budgets

5.2.1

Annually the Chief Officer will compile and submit to the Governing Body a
commissioning strategy, which takes into account financial targets and forecast
limits of available resources. The strategy will contain:
a) a statement of the significant assumptions on which the strategy is based;
and
b) details of major changes in workload, delivery of services, or resources
required to achieve the plan.

5.2.2

The Governing Body will approve consultation arrangements for the CCG’s
commissioning strategy.

5.2.3

Prior to the start of the financial year, the Chief Finance Officer will, on behalf of
the Chief Officer, prepare and submit budgets for approval by the Governing
Body. Such budgets will:
a) be in accordance with the aims and objectives set out in the commissioning
strategy;
b) accord with workload and manpower plans;
c) be produced following discussion with appropriate budget holders;
d) be prepared within the limits of available funds; and

Page 19 of 65

e) identify financial risks.
5.2.4

All budget holders must provide information as required by the Chief Finance
Officer to enable budgets to be compiled.

5.2.5

The Chief Finance Officer shall monitor financial performance against budget
and financial plan, periodically review them, and report to the Governing Body.
The report should include explanations for variances from the agreed financial
plan and budgets.

5.2.6

The Chief Finance Officer has a responsibility to ensure that adequate training
is delivered on an on-going basis to budget holders to help them manage their
budgets successfully.

5.2.7

The Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that information relating to the
CCG’s accounts or to its income and expenditure, or its use of resources, is
provided to NHS England as requested.

5.3

Budgetary Delegation

5.3.1

The Chief Officer may delegate the management of a budget to permit the
performance of a defined range of activities. This delegation must be in writing
and be accompanied by a clear definition of:
a) the process for budget management, including the need to comply with the
financial scheme of delegation in the exercise of virements/authorisation of
expenditure;
b) the responsibility of the budget manager to manage their budget within a
given resource limit and take suitable action if it is expected that the limit
will be exceeded and notify the Chief Finance Officer of any significant
financial risks; and
c) the responsibility of the CCG’s finance team in providing support and
monitoring budgets.
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5.3.2

Delegated budget holders will be provided with an annual budget book, which
confirms:
a) the value of the budget; and
b) the purpose of each budget heading.

5.3.3

The delegation in writing must be signed by budget holders to denote
acceptance of their budget and the terms of management.

5.3.4

Any budgeted funds not required for their designated purpose(s) revert to the
immediate control of the Chief Officer, subject to any authorised use of
virement.

5.3.5

Non-recurring budgets should not be used to finance recurring expenditure
without the authority in writing of the Chief Officer, as advised by the Chief
Finance Officer.

5.4

Budgetary Control and Reporting

5.4.1

The Chief Officer is responsible for identifying and implementing cost
improvements and income generation initiatives in accordance with the
requirements of the productivity delivery plan and a balanced budget.

5.4.2

The Chief Finance Officer will devise and maintain systems of budgetary control.
These will include:
a) financial reports to be provided to each meeting of the Executive Committee
and Governing Body; these shall be in a form approved by the Governing
Body containing:


income and expenditure to date showing trends and explanation of
variances;



forecast year-end position and explanations for movements in this;



progress against productivity plan delivery;
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a statement of financial position;



cash management;



aged debts;



performance in respect of the Better Payment Practice Code;



financial risks and mitigating actions;



budget virements where approval is required in line with the
approved financial Scheme of Delegation.

b) the issue of timely, accurate and comprehensible advice and financial reports
to each budget holder, covering the areas for which they are responsible;
c) investigation and reporting of variances from financial, workload and
manpower budgets;
d) monitoring of management action to correct variances; and
e) arrangements for the authorisation of budget transfers.
5.4.3

Each budget holder is responsible for ensuring that:
a) any likely overspending or reduction of income which cannot be met by
virement is not incurred without the prior consent of the Governing Body;
b) the amount provided in the approved budget is not used in whole or in part for
any purpose other than that specifically authorised, subject to the rules of
virement;
c) no permanent employees are appointed without the approval of the chief
officer other than those provided for within the available resources and
manpower establishment as approved by the Governing Body.

5.5

Monitoring Returns
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5.5.1

The Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the appropriate monitoring
forms are submitted to the requisite monitoring organisation(s).

6.

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND REPORTS

6.1

The Chief Finance Officer will ensure the CCG:
a) prepares a timetable for producing the annual report and accounts and
agrees it with external auditors and the Governing Body;
b) prepares the accounts according to the timetable approved by the Audit and
Risk Committee;
c) complies with statutory requirements and relevant directions from NHS
England for the publication of the CCG’s annual report;
d) considers the external auditor’s management letter and fully addresses all
issues within agreed timescales; and
e) publishes the external auditor’s management letter on the CCG’s website at
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/. Copies will also be available on request
from member GP practices; and
f) prepare financial returns in accordance with the timetables, accounting
policies and guidance given by NHS England and HM Treasury, the CCG's
accounting policies, and generally accepted accounting practice.

6.2

The annual accounts must be audited by an auditor appointed by the CCG’s
Auditor Panel. The audited annual accounts must be presented to a public
meeting of the Governing Body and made available to the public.

6.3

The CCG will publish an annual report, in accordance with guidelines and
timetables issued by the Department of Health and NHS England and present it
at a public meeting. The document will comply with the Department of Health
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Group Accounting Manual for the relevant financial year.

7.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

7.1

Responsibilities and Duties of the Chief Finance Officer

7.1.1

The Chief Finance Officer, who is responsible for the accuracy and security of
the computerised financial data of the CCG, shall:
a) devise and implement any necessary procedures to ensure adequate
protection of the data, programs and computer hardware for which the Chief
Finance Officer is responsible from accidental or intentional disclosure to
unauthorised persons, deletion or modification, theft or damage, having due
regard for the Data Protection Act 1998 and information governance
standards;
b) ensure that adequate controls exist over data entry, processing, storage,
transmission and output to ensure security, privacy, accuracy,
completeness, and timeliness of the data, as well as the efficient and
effective operation of the system;
c) ensure that adequate controls exist such that the computer operation is
separated from development, maintenance and amendment;
d) ensure that an adequate management (audit) trail exists through the
computerised system and that such computer audit reviews as the Chief
Finance Officer may consider necessary are being carried out.

7.2

7.2.1

Responsibilities and duties of other Directors and Officers in relation to
computer systems of a general application
In the case of computer systems that are proposed general applications (i.e.
normally those applications which the majority of CCGs in the region wish to
sponsor jointly) all responsible directors and employees will send to the Chief
Finance Officer:
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a)
b)

details of the outline design of the system; and
the operational requirement for the package (in the case of packages
acquired either from a commercial organisation, from the NHS, or from
another public sector organisation).

7.3

Accounting Systems

7.3.1

The CCG will run an accounting system that creates management and
financial accounts.

7.3.2

The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that:
a) the CCG has suitable financial and other software to enable it to comply
with these policies and any consolidation requirements of NHS England;
b) contracts for computer services for financial applications with another health
organisation or any other agency shall clearly define the responsibility of all
parties for the security, privacy, accuracy, completeness, and timeliness of
data during processing, transmission and storage. The contract should also
ensure rights of access for audit purposes;
c) where another health organisation or any other agency provides a computer
service for financial applications, periodic assurances are sought that
adequate controls are in operation; and
d) when new financial systems and amendments to current financial systems
are developed in a controlled manner and thoroughly tested prior to
implementation. Where this is undertaken by another organisation,
assurances of adequacy must be obtained from them prior to implementation.

7.3.3

Requirements for computer systems which have an impact on corporate financial
systems where computer systems have an impact on corporate financial systems
the Chief Finance Officer shall need to be satisfied that:
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a) systems acquisition, development and maintenance are in line with corporate
policies;
b) data produced for use with financial systems is adequate, accurate, complete
and timely, and that a management (audit) trail exists;
c) finance staff have access to such data; and
d) such computer audit reviews as are considered necessary are being carried
out.

8.

BANK ACCOUNTS

8.1

General

8.1.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for managing the CCG's banking
arrangements and for advising the Governing Body on the provision of banking
services and operation of accounts. This advice will take into account guidance/
Directions issued from time to time by NHS England, the Department of Health,
and HM Treasury. In line with ‘Cash Management in the NHS’, CCGs should
minimise the use of commercial bank accounts and consider using government
banking accounts for all banking services. Banking arrangements should
represent best value for money.

8.1.2

The Governing Body shall approve the banking arrangements.

8.2

Bank and OPG Accounts

8.2.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
a) bank accounts and government banking accounts including reviewing the
banking arrangements at regular intervals to ensure that they are in
accordance with the Secretary of State directions, best practice, and
represent value for money;
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b) establishing separate bank accounts for the CCG's non-exchequer funds;
c) ensuring payments made from bank or government banking accounts do not
exceed the amount credited to the account except where suitable
arrangements have been made;
d) reporting to the Governing Body all arrangements made with the CCG's
bankers for accounts to be overdrawn;
e) monitoring compliance with HM Treasury guidance on the level of cleared
funds.
8.3

Banking Procedures

8.3.1

The Chief Finance Officer will prepare detailed instructions on the operation of
bank accounts which must include:
a) the conditions under which each bank account is to be operated; and
b) those authorised to sign cheques or other orders drawn on the CCG's
accounts

8.3.2

The Chief Finance Officer must advise the CCG's bankers in writing of the
conditions under which each account will be operated.

8.4

Tendering and Review

8.4.1

The Chief Finance Officer will review the banking arrangements of the CCG at
regular intervals to ensure they reflect best practice and represent best value for
money by periodically seeking competitive tenders for the CCG's banking
business.

8.4.2

Competitive tenders should be sought at least every 5 years. This review is not
necessary for government banking arrangements. The results of the tendering
exercise should be reported to the Governing Body.
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9.

INCOME, FEES AND CHARGES AND SECURITY OF CASH, CHEQUES AND
OTHER NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS

9.1

Income Systems

9.1.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for designing, maintaining and ensuring
compliance with systems for the proper recording, invoicing, and collection and
coding of all monies due.

9.1.2

The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for the prompt banking of all
monies received.

9.2

Fees and Charges

9.2.1

The CCG shall follow NHS Improvement’s advice documented in the approved
costing guidance in setting prices for NHS service agreements.

9.2.2

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for approving and regularly reviewing
the level of all fees and charges other than those determined by the NHS
Improvement or by statute. Independent professional advice on matters of
valuation shall be taken as necessary.

9.2.3

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for developing effective arrangements
for making grants or loans.

9.2.4

All employees must inform the Chief Finance Officer promptly of money due
arising from transactions which they initiate/deal with, including all contracts,
leases, tenancy agreements, private patient undertakings and other
transactions.

9.3

Debt Recovery and Write-Off

9.3.1

For doubtful debts were recovery is considered to be uncertain, a doubtful debt
provision should be created and notified in the first instance to the Chief
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Finance Officer.
9.3.2

Where the value of the doubtful debt provision is material in value or nature
and so represents a financial risk to the CCG, the provision should be notified
to the Audit and Risk Committee for information only. It is the responsibility of
the Chief Finance Officer to determine when a provision for doubtful debt
should be notified to the Audit and Risk Committee.

9.3.3

For all debts where it is considered that there is no feasible alternative other
than write-off, full details of the nature of the debt, the value involved, details of
the supplier, action taken to attempt to recover the debt, and reasons for nonrecovery should be documented and presented to the Chief Finance Officer for
consideration.

9.3.4

It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to determine whether further
action should be taken to recover the debt, or if the debt should be presented
to the Audit and Risk Committee for approval of the write-off.

9.3.5

All debt write-offs over £1000 must be approved by the Audit and Risk
Committee irrespective of the nature and value of the debt.

9.3.6

All debts written-off will be disclosed in the annual accounts in accordance with
the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and any other relevant
guidance issued.

9.3.7

Debts written-off constitute a loss and so the CCG’s financial procedure for
losses and special payments should be followed for all debts written off.
As parliament does not agree or approve advance provision for potential future
losses when voting money or passing specific legislation, such transactions
when they arise are subject to greater scrutiny and control than other payments.
Individual Department of Health bodies have delegated authority to deal with all
losses/debt write-offs with the exception of when they:
a) involve important questions of principle;
b) raise doubts about the effectiveness of existing systems;
c) contain lessons which might be of wider interest;
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d) are novel or contentious;
e) might create a precedent for other departments in similar
circumstances; and/or
f) arise because of obscure or ambiguous instructions issued centrally.
In the above cases, HM Treasury should be consulted irrespective of the value
of the loss/write-off.
It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to determine when losses
should be reported to HM Treasury and for obtaining assurance that
losses/write-offs are reported accordingly.
9.4

Security of Cash, Cheques and other Negotiable Instruments

9.4.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
a) designing, maintaining and ensuring compliance with systems for the proper
recording, invoicing, collection and coding of all monies due;
b) establishing and maintaining systems and procedures for the secure
handling of cash and other negotiable instruments, with a view to ensuring
that the CCG handles as little cash and/or negotiable instruments as
possible; and
c) where a decision is made to handle cash/negotiable instruments for a
specific purpose, ensuring that staff responsible for this are aware of the
established procedures in place and are given appropriate resources to
enable the proper collection, recording, security, and banking of
cash/negotiable instruments.

9.4.2

Official money shall not under any circumstances be used for the encashment
of private cheques or IOUs.

9.4.3

All cheques, cash etc., shall be banked intact. Disbursements shall not be
made from cash received, except under arrangements approved by the Chief
Finance Officer.
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9.4.4

The holders of safe keys shall not accept unofficial funds for depositing in their
safes unless such deposits are in special sealed envelopes or locked containers.
It shall be made clear to the depositors that the CCG is not to be held liable for
any loss, and written indemnities must be obtained from the organisation or
individuals absolving the CCG from responsibility for any loss.

10.

TENDERING AND CONTRACTING PROCEDURE

10.1

Duty to comply with Prime Financial Policies and Detailed Financial
Policies
The procedure for making all contracts by or on behalf of the CCG shall comply
with the prime financial policies and these detailed financial policies, except
where standing order 3.7 – suspension of standing orders is applied.

10.2

EU Directives Governing Public Procurement
a) Directives by the Council of the European Union promulgated by NHS
England prescribing procedures for awarding all forms of contracts shall have
effect as if incorporated in the CCG’s prime financial policies and detailed
financial policies.
b) CCGs should consider obtaining support from the specialist advice for
procurement to ensure compliance when engaging in tendering procedures.

10.3

Capital Investment Manual and other NHS England Guidance
The CCG shall comply as far as is practicable with the requirements of the
following Department of Heath guidance for capital and estates:
a) Health Building Notes (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ healthbuilding-notes-core-elements)
b) NHS Premises Assurance Model Tool
c) Department of Health Group Accounting Manual
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10.4

Formal Competitive Tendering

10.4.1

General Applicability
The CCG shall ensure that competitive tenders are invited for:
a) the supply of goods, materials and manufactured articles;
b) the rendering of services including all forms of management consultancy
services (other than specialised services sought from or provided by NHS
England);
c) for the design, construction and maintenance of building and engineering
works (including construction and maintenance of grounds and gardens); for
disposals.

10.4.2

Health Care Services
Healthcare services valued above the EU threshold (£589,148), are subject to
the Light Touch Regime of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (the
Regulations) and the NHS (Procurement, Patient Choice & Competition)
Regulations 2015 no matter what the value of the contract.

10.4.3

Exceptions and instances where formal tendering need not be applied
Formal tendering procedures need not be applied (although best value should
still be evidenced) where:
a) the estimated expenditure or income does not, or is not reasonably expected
to, exceed £50,000 (inclusive of VAT); and
b) where the supply is proposed under special arrangements negotiated by the
Department of Health in which event the said special arrangements must be
complied with.
Formal tendering procedures may be waived in the following circumstances:
a) in very exceptional circumstances where the Chief Officer or Chief Finance
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Officer decides that formal tendering procedures would not be practicable; or
the estimated expenditure or income would not warrant formal tendering
procedures and the circumstances are detailed in an appropriate CCG record;
b) where the requirement is covered by an existing contract;
c) where Crown Commercial Service agreements or similar are in place and have
been approved by the Governing Body;
d) where a consortium arrangement is in place and a lead organisation has been
appointed to carry out tendering activity on behalf of the consortium members;
e) where the timescale genuinely precludes competitive tendering but failure to
plan the work properly would not be regarded as a justification for a single
tender;
f) where specialist expertise is required and is available from only one source,
NB: Proposals to use consultancy over £50,000 inclusive of VAT and
expenses will require a business case approved by NHS England;
g) when the task is essential to complete the project, and arises as a
consequence of a recently completed assignment and engaging different
consultants for the new task would be inappropriate;
h) there is a clear benefit to be gained from maintaining continuity with an earlier
project. However in such cases the benefits of such continuity must outweigh
any potential financial advantage to be gained by competitive tendering and
compliance with Regulation 72 within the Public Contracts Regulations 2015,
which allows extension and modification of contracts without a competitive
process under certain circumstances, should be considered.
i) for the provision of legal advice and services providing that any legal firm or
partnership commissioned by the CCG is regulated by the Law Society for
England and Wales for the conduct of their business (or by the Bar Council
for England and Wales in relation to the obtaining of Counsel’s opinion) and
are generally recognised as having sufficient expertise in the area of work for
which they are commissioned. The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that
any fees paid are reasonable and within commonly accepted rates for the
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costing of such work; and
j) where allowed and provided for in the capital investment manual.
The waiving of competitive tendering procedures should not be used to avoid
competition or for administrative convenience or to award further work to a
consultant originally appointed through a competitive procedure.
Where it is decided that competitive tendering is not applicable and should be
waived, the fact of the waiver and the reasons should be documented and
recorded in an appropriate CCG record and reported to the Audit and Risk
Committee annually, in accordance with the relevant financial procedure note.
10.4.4.

Fair and Adequate Competition
Where the exceptions set out in 10.4.3 apply, the CCG shall ensure that
invitations to tender are sent to a sufficient number of firms/individuals to
provide fair and adequate competition as appropriate, and in no case less than
two firms/individuals, having regard to their capacity to supply the goods or
materials or to undertake the services or works required.

10.4.5

List of Approved Firms
The Governing Body and Executive Committee shall ensure that the
firms/individuals invited to tender (and where appropriate, quote) are among
those on approved lists. Where in the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer it is
desirable to seek tenders from firms not on the approved lists, the reason shall
be recorded in writing to the Chief Officer or Governing Body.

10.4.6

Building and Engineering Construction Works
Competitive tendering cannot be waived for building and engineering
construction works and maintenance (other than in accordance with Concode)
without NHS England approval.

10.4.7

Items which subsequently breach thresholds after original approval
Items estimated to be below the limits set here for which formal tendering
procedures are not used, which subsequently prove to have a value above such
limits shall be reported to the Chief Officer or Chief Finance Officer and be
recorded in an appropriate CCG record.

10.5

Contracting/Tendering Procedure
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10.5.1

10.5.2

Invitation to tender
a)

All invitations to tender shall state the date and time as being the latest time
for the receipt of tenders.

b)

All invitations to tender shall state that no tender will be accepted unless all
tender documents are submitted via the e-Tendering portal in accordance
with the tender instructions by the specified date and time.

c)

Every tender for goods, materials, services or disposals shall embody the
applicable NHS standard contract conditions where necessary.

d)

Every tender for building or engineering works (except for maintenance
work, when Estmancode guidance shall be followed) shall embody or be in
the terms of the current edition of one of the Joint Contracts Tribunal
Standard Forms of Building Contract or Department of the Environment
(GC/Wks) Standard forms of contract amended to comply with Concode; or,
when the content of the work is primarily engineering, the General Conditions
of Contract recommended by the Institution of Mechanical and Electrical
Engineers and the Association of Consulting Engineers (Form A), or (in the
case of civil engineering work) the General Conditions of Contract
recommended by the Institute of Civil Engineers, the Association of
Consulting Engineers and the Federation of Civil Engineering Contractors.
These documents shall be modified and/or amplified to accord with NHS
England guidance and, in minor respects, to cover special features of
individual projects.

e)

Every tender must have given, or give a written undertaking, not to engage
in collusive tendering or other restrictive practice.

Opening tenders and Register of tenders
a) As soon as practicable after the date and time stated as being the latest time
for the receipt of tenders, the delegated director and relevant delegated
finance officer (which may be a representative from the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit), will open the tenders via the eTendering portal
and record the bid-price submitted.
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b) The involvement of finance staff in the preparation of a tender proposal will
not preclude the Chief Finance Officer or any approved Finance Manager
from the finance team from serving as one of the two senior managers to
open tenders.
c) A tender opening record will be completed with the date of opening and will
be signed by those present.
d) A register shall be maintained by the Chief Officer, or a person authorised
by him, to show for each set of competitive tender invitations despatched:



the name of all persons/bodies invited to tender;
the name of all persons/bodies from which tenders have been
received;



the date the tenders were received and opened;



the persons present at the opening; and



the price shown on each tender.

e) The register shall be signed by those present at the opening of the
tender(s). The register shall be signed by those present at the opening of
the tender(s).
f) Procurement staff will process the tenders once opened in accordance with
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the CCG’s prime and detailed
financial procedures.
g) A full audit trail is maintained electronically.
h) Incomplete tenders, i.e. those from which information necessary for the
adjudication of the tender is missing should be dealt with in the same way
as late tenders (see below).
10.5.3

Late tenders
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Only in the most exceptional circumstances will a late tender be considered.
For example, if the bidder can prove that there was a technical fault with the eTendering portal, which meant that the bid could not be submitted on time.
Accepted late tenders will be reported to the Governing Body.
10.5.4

Acceptance of formal tenders
All communications with a tenderer must be via the e-Tendering portal and
where necessary used to clarify technical aspects of his/her tender before the
award of a contract and during the procurement process.
The most economically advantageous tender will be awarded the contract as
set out in the tender documents.
It is accepted that for professional services such as management consultancy,
the lowest price does not always represent the best value for money. Other
factors affecting the success of a project include:
 experience and qualifications of team members;
 understanding of the client’s needs;
 feasibility and creditability of proposed approach; and
 ability to complete the project on time
It is usual for procurement of healthcare services to have a high weighting
towards technical/quality criteria as follows:
a) No tender shall be accepted which will commit expenditure in excess of that
documented in the tender documents and which is not in accordance with
these instructions except with the authorisation of the Chief Officer.
b) The use of these procedures must demonstrate that the award of the
contract has enabled the CCG to utilise a tender procedure proportionate to
the value, complexity and risk of the contract opportunity and will
demonstrate best value has been achieved.
c) All tenders should be subject to compliance with the provisions of the
Freedom of Information Act 2000, be kept confidential and should be
retained for 36 months from the date set for the receipt of tenders for
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inspection.
10.5.5

Tender reports to the Governing Body
Reports to the Governing Body will be made on an exceptional circumstance
basis only.

10.5.6

List of approved firms
a) Responsibility for maintaining the list
A manager nominated by the Chief Officer shall on behalf of the CCG
maintain lists of approved firms from who tenders and quotations may be
invited. These shall be kept under frequent review. The lists shall include all
firms who have applied for permission to tender and as to whose technical
and financial competence the CCG is satisfied. All suppliers must be made
aware of the CCG’s terms and conditions of contract.
b) Building and Construction Firms
Invitations to tender shall be made only to firms included on the approved list
of tenderers compiled in accordance with this Instruction or on the separate
maintenance lists compiled in accordance with Estmancode guidance (Health
Notice HN(78)147).
Firms included on the approved list of tenderers shall ensure that when
engaging, training, promoting or dismissing employees or in any conditions of
employment, shall not discriminate against any person because of colour,
race, ethnic or national origins, religion or sex, and will comply with the
provisions of the Equal Pay Act 1970, the Sex Discrimination Act 1975, the
Race Relations Act 1976, and the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944
and any amending and/or related legislation.
Firms shall conform at least with the requirements of the Health and Safety at
Work Act and any amending and/or other related legislation concerned with
the health, safety and welfare of workers and other persons, and to any
relevant British Standard Code of Practice issued by the British Standard
Institution. Firms must provide to the appropriate manager a copy of its safety
policy and evidence of the safety of plant and equipment, when requested.
c)

Financial Standing and Technical Competence of Contractors
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The Chief Finance Officer may make or institute any enquiries he/she deems
appropriate concerning the financial standing and financial suitability of
approved contractors. The Director with lead responsibility for clinical
governance will similarly make such enquiries as is felt appropriate to be
satisfied as to their technical / medical competence.
10.5.7

Exceptions to using approved contractors
If in the opinion of the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer or the Director
with lead responsibility for clinical governance it is impractical to use a potential
contractor from the list of approved firms/individuals (for example where
specialist services or skills are required and there are insufficient suitable
potential contractors on the list), or where a list for whatever reason has not been
prepared, the Chief Officer should ensure that appropriate checks are carried out
as to the technical and financial capability of those firms that are invited to tender
or quote.
An appropriate record in the contract file should be made of the reasons for
inviting a tender or quote other than from an approved list.

10.6

Quotations: Competitive and non-competitive

10.6.1

General Position on quotations
Quotations are required where formal tendering procedures are not adopted and
where the intended expenditure or income exceeds, or is reasonably expected to
exceed £15,000, but not exceed £49,999.

10.6.2

Competitive Quotations
a) Quotations should be obtained from at least 3 firms/individuals based on
specifications or terms of reference prepared by, or on behalf of, the
Governing Body or Executive Committee.
b) Quotations should be in writing unless the Chief Officer or his nominated
officer determines that it is impractical to do so in which case quotations may
be obtained by telephone. Confirmation of telephone quotations should be
obtained as soon as possible and the reasons why the telephone quotation
was obtained should be set out in a permanent record.
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c) All quotations should be treated as confidential and should be retained for
inspection.
d) The Chief Officer or his nominated officer should evaluate the quotation and
select the quote which gives the best value for money. If this is not the lowest
quotation if payment is to be made by the CCG, or the highest if payment is
to be received by the CCG, then the choice made and the reasons why
should be recorded in a permanent record.
10.6.3

Non-Competitive Quotations
Non-competitive quotations in writing may be obtained in the following
circumstances:
a) the supply of proprietary or other goods of a special character and the
rendering of services of a special character, for which it is not, in the opinion
of the Chief Officer or Chief Finance Officer, possible or desirable to obtain
competitive quotations;

b) the supply of goods or manufactured articles of any kind which are required
quickly and are not obtainable under existing contracts; and
c) miscellaneous services, supplies and disposals.
10.6.4

Quotations to be within Financial Limits
No quotation shall be accepted which will commit expenditure in excess of that
which has been allocated by the CCG and which is not in accordance with the
DFPs except with the authorisation of either the Chief Officer or Chief Finance
Officer.

10.7

Authorisation of Tenders and Competitive Quotations
Providing all the conditions and circumstances set out in these detailed financial
policies have been fully complied with, formal authorisation and awarding of a
contract may be decided as outlined in the scheme of delegation and financial
scheme of delegation.
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Formal authorisation must be put in writing. In the case of authorisation by the
Governing Body this shall be recorded in their minutes.

10.8

Instances where formal competitive tendering or competitive quotation is
not required
Where competitive tendering or a competitive quotation is not required, the
CCG should adopt one of the following alternatives:
a) the CCG shall use Shared Business Services for procurement of all goods
and non-healthcare services unless the Chief Officer or nominated officers
deem it inappropriate. The decision to use alternative sources must be
documented; and
b) if the CCG does not use NHS Business Services - where tenders or
quotations are not required, because expenditure is below £15,000, the
CCG shall procure goods and services in accordance with procurement
procedures approved by the Chief Finance Officer.

10.9

Compliance requirements for all contracts
The Governing Body and Executive Committee may only negotiate contracts
on behalf of the CCG, and the CCG may only enter into contracts, within the
statutory powers delegated to it by the 2006 NHS Act, as amended by the
Health and Social Care Act 2012. Such contracts must comply with:
a) the CCG’s prime financial policies and detailed financial policies;
b) the CCG’s standing orders;
c) the Public Contracts Regulation 2015, any successor legislation and any
other applicable law;
d) any applicable guidance issued by the Department of Health, NHS England,
or independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts;
e) EU Directives and other statutory provisions; and
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f) applicable conditions of the NHS standard contract.
Where appropriate contracts shall be in or embody the same terms and
conditions of contract as was the basis on which tenders or quotations were
invited.
In all contracts made, the Governing Body and Executive Committee shall
endeavour to obtain best value for money by use of all systems in place. The
Chief Officer shall nominate an officer who shall oversee and manage each
contract on behalf of the CCG.
10.10

Personnel and Agency or Temporary Staff Contracts
The Chief Officer shall nominate officers with delegated authority to enter into
contracts of employment, regarding staff, agency staff or temporary staff service
contracts.

10.11

NHS Standard Contract
The NHS standard contract should be used for the procurement of healthcare
services.
The Chief Officer shall nominate officers to commission services using the NHS
standard contract with providers of healthcare in line with a commissioning
strategy approved by the Governing Body.

10.12

Disposals
Competitive tendering or quotation procedures shall not apply to the disposal of:
a) any matter in respect of which a fair price can be obtained only by negotiation
or sale by auction as determined (or pre-determined in a reserve) by the
Chief Officer or his nominated officer;
b) obsolete or condemned articles and stores, which may be disposed of in
accordance with the supplies policy of the CCG;
c) items to be disposed of with an estimated sale value of less than £500 (this
figure to be reviewed on a periodic basis);
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d) items arising from works of construction, demolition or site clearance, which
should be dealt with in accordance with the relevant contract; and
e) land or buildings concerning which Department of Health guidance has
been issued but subject to compliance with such guidance.
10.13

In-house Services

10.13.1 The Chief Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that best value for money can
be demonstrated for all services provided on an in-house basis. The CCG may
also determine from time to time that in- house services should be market tested
by competitive tendering.
10.13.2 In all cases where the Governing Body or Executive Committee determines that
in-house services should be subject to competitive tendering the following
groups shall be set up:
a) Specification group, comprising the chief officer or nominated officer/s, and a
relevant specialist.
b) In-house tender group, comprising a nominee of the chief officer and
technical support.
c) Evaluation team, comprising normally a relevant specialist officer, a supplies
officer and a representative of the Chief Finance Officer. For services having
a likely annual expenditure exceeding £50,000, a non-officer member should
be a member of the evaluation team.
10.13.3 All groups should work independently of each other and individual officers may
be a member of more than one group, but no member of the In-house tender
group may participate in the evaluation of tenders.
10.13.4 The evaluation team shall make recommendations to the Governing Body or
Executive Committee.
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10.13.5 The Chief Officer shall nominate an officer to oversee and manage the contract
on behalf of the CCG.
10.13.6 Applicability of detailed financial policies on tendering and contracting to funds
held in trust.
These instructions shall not only apply to expenditure from Exchequer funds but
also to works, services and goods purchased from the CCG's trust funds and
private resources.

11

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT FOR PROVISION OF SERVICES

11.1

NHS Standard Contracts

11.1.1

The Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring the CCG enters into suitable NHS
standard contracts with service commissioners for the provision of NHS services.
All NHS standard contracts should aim to implement the agreed priorities
contained within the CCG’s strategic and operational plan(s) and wherever
possible, be based upon integrated care pathways to improve patient experience.
In discharging this responsibility, the chief officer should take into account:
a) the standards of service quality expected;
b) the relevant national service framework (if any); and
c) the provision of reliable information on cost and activity of services.

11.2

Involving Partners and Jointly Managing Risk
Contracts with providers should reflect knowledge of local needs and
inequalities. This will require the Chief Officer to ensure that the CCG works with
all partner agencies involved in both the delivery and the commissioning of the
service required. The contract will include where relevant the responsibility for
handling a particular risk to the party or parties in the best position to influence
the event and financial arrangements should reflect this. In this way the CCG can
jointly manage risk with all interested parties.

11.3

Reports to Governing Body on Contract Performance
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The Chief Officer, as the accountable officer, will need to ensure that regular
reports are provided to the Governing Body detailing actual and forecast
expenditure against NHS standard contracts with providers. This will include
information on costing arrangements, which should be based upon healthcare
resource groups (HRGs). Where HRGs are unavailable for specific services, all
parties should agree a common currency.

12
12.1

COMMISSIONING
Role of the CCG in Commissioning Secondary Healthcare Services

12.1.1 The CCG has responsibilities for commissioning secondary healthcare
services on behalf of the resident population.
This will require the CCG to work in partnership with NHS England, local
providers and CCGs, local authorities, users, carers, health and wellbeing
boards, and the voluntary sector, to develop a commissioning strategy.
12.2 Role of the CCG in Commissioning Delegated Primary Care General
Practice Services
The CCG has delegated responsibility from NHS England for commissioning
primary care general practice services; although the CCG has delegated
responsibility, NHS England remains ultimately accountable.
This requires the CCG to work in partnership with NHS England and general
practices to develop a primary care commissioning plan and strategy.
12.3

Conflicts of Interest

12.3.1 When commissioning secondary and primary healthcare services the risk of
conflicts of interest must be considered as part of the commissioning process and
shall be managed as documented in the CCG’s standards of business conduct
and declaration of interests policy and section 33 (“Managing Conflicts of Interest
Throughout the Commissioning Cycle”) of the CCG’s Constitution.
12.4

Role of the Chief Officer

12.4.1 The Chief Officer, as the accountable officer, has responsibility for ensuring
secondary healthcare services and delegated primary care general practice
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services are commissioned in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act
2012, the memorandum of understanding between the CCG and NHS England
for delegated primary care commissioning, and relevant Department of Health
and NHS England guidance.
12.4.2 This will involve ensuring NHS standard contracts are put in place with the relevant
secondary care providers, based upon integrated care pathways and ensuring that
GMS, PMS, and APMS contracts are in place (as appropriate) with the relevant
primary care providers.
12.4.3 The Chief Officer, as the accountable officer, will need to ensure that regular
reports are provided to the Governing Body detailing actual and forecast
expenditure and activity against each material provider contract.
12.4.4 The Chief Officer, as the accountable officer, will need to ensure that regular
reports are provided to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee detailing
actual and forecast expenditure and activity against each area of the delegated
primary care budget.
12.4.5 Where the CCG makes arrangements for the provision of services by nonNHS providers it is the Chief Officer, as the accountable officer, who is
responsible for ensuring that the agreements put in place have due regard to the
quality and cost-effectiveness of services provided. Before making any agreement
with non-NHS providers, the CCG should explore fully the scope to make
maximum cost- effective use of NHS facilities.
12.5

Role of Chief Finance Officer

12.5.1 A system of financial monitoring must be maintained by the Chief Finance Officer
to ensure the effective accounting of expenditure under NHS standard contracts
and primary care contracts (the latter in conjunction with NHS England). This
should provide a suitable audit trail for all payments made under the contracts.
12.5.2 The Chief Finance Officer must account for out of area treatments/non contract
activity financial adjustments in accordance with national guidelines.
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13
13.1

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE
Programme of Risk Management
The Chief Officer shall ensure that the CCG has a risk management framework in
place, in accordance with current NHS England assurance framework
requirements, which must be approved and monitored by the Governing Body.
The risk management framework should include:
a) a process for identifying and quantifying risks and potential liabilities;
b) engendering among all levels of staff a positive attitude towards the control of
risk;
c) management processes to ensure all significant risks and potential liabilities are
addressed including effective systems of internal control, cost effective
insurance cover, and decisions on the acceptable level of residual risk;
d) contingency plans to offset the impact of adverse events;
e) audit arrangements including; internal audit, clinical audit, health and safety
review;
f)

a clear indication of which risks shall be insured;

g) arrangements to periodically review the risk management.
The existence, integration and evaluation of the above elements will assist in
providing a basis to make a statement on the effectiveness of internal control within
the annual report and accounts as required by NHS England.
13.2

Insurance: Risk Pooling Schemes Administered by NHS Resolution
The Governing Body shall decide if the CCG will insure through the risk pooling
schemes administered by the NHS Resolution or self-insure for some or all of the
risks covered by the risk pooling schemes. If the Governing Body decides not to
use the risk pooling schemes for any of the risk areas (clinical, property and
employers/third party liability) covered by the scheme this decision shall be
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reviewed annually.
13.3

Insurance arrangements with commercial insurers
There is a general prohibition on entering into insurance arrangements with
commercial insurers. There are, however, three exceptions when CCGs may
enter into insurance arrangements with commercial insurers. The exceptions
are:
a) for insuring motor vehicles owned by the CCG including insuring third party
liability arising from their use; and
b) where income generation activities take place. Income generation activities
should normally be insured against all risks using commercial insurance. If
the income generation activity is also an activity normally carried out by the
CCG for a NHS purpose the activity may be covered in the risk pool.
Confirmation of coverage in the risk pool must be obtained from the NHS
resolution.
In any case of doubt concerning a CCG’s powers to enter into commercial
insurance arrangements the chief finance officer should consult the Department
of Health.

13.4

Arrangements to be followed by the Governing Body in agreeing
Insurance cover

13.4.1

Where the Governing Body decides to use the risk pooling schemes
administered by the NHS Resolution the Chief Finance Officer shall ensure
that the arrangements entered into are appropriate and complementary to the
risk management programme. The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that
documented procedures cover these arrangements.

13.4.2

Where the Governing Body decides not to use the risk pooling schemes
administered by the NHS Resolution for one or other of the risks covered by
the schemes, the Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the Governing Body is
informed of the nature and extent of the risks that are self- insured as a result
of this decision. The Chief Finance Officer will draw up formal documented
procedures for the management of any claims arising from third parties and
payments in respect of losses which will not be reimbursed.
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13.4.3

All the risk pooling schemes require scheme members to make some
contribution to the settlement of claims (the ‘deductible’). The Chief Finance
Officer should ensure documented procedures also cover the management of
claims and payments below the deductible in each case.

14

TERMS OF SERVICE, ALLOWANCES AND PAYMENT OF MEMBERS OF
THE CCG GOVERNING BODY AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND
EMPLOYEES

14.1

Remuneration and Terms of Service

14.1.1

The Governing Body shall establish a Remuneration Committee, with clearly
defined terms of reference, specifying which posts fall within its area of
responsibility, its composition, and the arrangements for reporting.

14.1.2

The committee shall make recommendations to the Governing Body on
determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the CCG, people
who provide services to the CCG and allowances under any pension scheme it
might establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.

14.1.3

The committee shall report in writing to the Governing Body the basis for its
recommendations. The Governing Body shall use the report as the basis for
their decisions, but remain accountable for taking decisions on the remuneration
and terms of service of officer Executive Committee members. Minutes of the
Governing Body meetings should record such decisions.

14.1.4

The Governing Body will consider and need to approve proposals presented by
the Chief Officer for the setting of remuneration and conditions of service for
those employees and officers not covered by the committee.

14.1.5

The CCG will pay allowances to the chair and non-officer members of the
Governing Body in accordance with instructions issued by the Secretary of State
for Health.

14.2

Funded Establishment
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14.2.1

The manpower plans incorporated within the annual budget will form the funded
establishment.

14.2.2

The funded establishment of any department may not be varied without the
approval of the Chief Officer or Chief Finance Officer.

14.3

Staff Appointments

14.3.1

No officer or member of the Executive Committee, or member of the Governing
Body or employee may engage, re-engage, or re-grade employees, either on a
permanent or temporary nature, or hire agency staff, or agree to changes in any
aspect of remuneration:
a)

unless authorised to do so by the Chief Officer or Chief Finance Officer; and

b)

within the limit of their approved budget and funded establishment.

14.3.2

The Governing Body will approve procedures presented by the Chief Officer for
the determination of commencing pay rates, condition of service, etc., for
employees.

14.4

Processing Payroll

14.4.1

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that an adequate payroll
service is in place and is:
a) supported by appropriate contracted terms and conditions;
b) has adequate internal controls and audit review processes; and
c) has suitable arrangement in place for the collection of payroll deductions and
payment of these to appropriate bodies.

14.4.2

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
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a) specifies timetables for submission of properly authorised time records and
other notifications;
b) the final determination of pay and allowances;
c) ensuring that the payroll providers makes payments on agreed dates; and
d) agreeing the method of payment.
14.4.3

The Chief Finance Officer will issue instructions regarding:
a)

verification and documentation of data;

b)

the timetable for receipt and preparation of payroll data and the payment of
employees and allowances;

c)

maintenance of subsidiary records for superannuation, income tax,
social security and other authorised deductions from pay;

d)

security and confidentiality of payroll information;

e)

checks to be applied to completed payroll before and after payment;

f)

authority to release payroll data under the provisions of the Data Protection
Act 1998;

g)

methods of payment available to various categories of employee and
officers;

h)

procedures for payment by cheque, bank credit, or cash to employees and
officers;

i)

procedures for the recall of cheques and bank credits;
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j)
k)

maintenance of regular and independent reconciliation of pay control
accounts;

l)

segregation of duties of preparing records and handling cash; and

m)

14.4.4

pay advances and their recovery;

a system to ensure the recovery from those leaving the employment of the
CCG of sums of money and property due by them to the CCG.

Appropriately nominated managers and Executive Committee members have
delegated responsibility for:
a) submitting time records, and other notifications in accordance with agreed
timetables;
b) completing time records and other notifications in accordance with the chief
finance officer's instructions and in the form prescribed by the Chief Finance
Officer;
c) submitting termination forms in the prescribed form immediately upon knowing
the effective date of an employee's or officer’s resignation, termination or
retirement. Where an employee fails to report for duty or to fulfil Executive
Committee obligations in circumstances that suggest they have left without
notice, the Chief Finance Officer must be informed immediately.

14.4.5 Regardless of the arrangements for providing the payroll service, the Chief
Finance Officer shall ensure that the chosen method is supported by appropriate
(contracted) terms and conditions, adequate internal controls and audit review
procedures and that suitable arrangement are made for the collection of payroll
deductions and payment of these to appropriate bodies.
14.5

Contracts of Employment

14.5.1

The Governing Body shall delegate responsibility to an officer for:
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a) ensuring that all employees are issued with a contract of employment in a
form approved by the Governing Body and which complies with
employment legislation; and
b) dealing with variations to, or termination of, contracts of employment.

15

NON-PAY EXPENDITURE

15.1

Delegation of Authority

15.1.1

The Governing Body will approve the level of non-pay expenditure on an
annual basis and the Chief Officer will determine the level of delegation to
budget managers.

15.1.2

The Chief Officer will set out:
a) the list of managers who are authorised to place requisitions for the supply of
goods and services;
b) the maximum level of each requisition and the system for authorisation above
that level; and
c) procedures on the seeking of professional advice regarding the supply of
goods and services.

15.2

Choice, Requisitioning, Ordering, Receipt and Payment for Goods and
Services

15.2.1

Requisitioning
The requisitioner, in choosing the item to be supplied (or the service to be
performed) shall always obtain the best value for money for the CCG. In so
doing, the advice of the CCG's adviser on procurement shall be sought. Where
this advice is not acceptable to the requisitioner, the Chief Finance Officer
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(and/or the Chief Officer) shall be consulted.
15.2.2

System of Payment and Payment Verification
The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for the prompt payment of
accounts and claims. Payment of contract invoices shall be in accordance with
contract terms, or otherwise, in accordance with national guidance.

15.2.3

The Chief Finance Officer will:
a) advise the Governing Body regarding the setting of thresholds above which
quotations (competitive or otherwise) or formal tenders must be obtained;
and, once approved, the thresholds should be incorporated in the scheme of
matters reserved to the clinical commissioning group and the scheme of
delegation and financial scheme of delegation;
b) be responsible for the prompt payment of all properly authorised accounts and
claims;
c) be responsible for designing and maintaining a system of verification, recording
and payment of all amounts payable. The system shall provide for:


A list of Governing Body and Executive Committee members/employees
(including specimens of their signatures) authorised to certify invoices.



Certification that: goods have been duly received, examined and are in
accordance with specification and the prices are correct; work done or
services rendered have been satisfactorily carried out in accordance with
the order, and, where applicable, the materials used are of the requisite
standard and the charges are correct; in the case of contracts based on
the measurement of time, materials or expenses, the time charged is in
accordance with the time sheets, the rates of labour are in accordance
with the appropriate rates, the materials have been checked as regards
quantity, quality, and price and the charges for the use of vehicles, plant
and machinery have been examined; where appropriate, the expenditure
is in accordance with regulations and all necessary authorisations have
been obtained; the account is arithmetically correct; and the account is in
order for payment.
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15.2.4

Provision shall be made for the early submission of accounts subject to cash
discounts or otherwise requiring early payment.

15.2.5

Instructions to employees regarding the handling and payment of accounts
within the finance team will be determined by the Chief Finance Officer.

15.2.6

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that payment for goods
and services is only made once the goods and services are received.

15.2.7

Prepayments
Prepayments are only permitted where exceptional circumstances apply. In such
instances:
a) The financial advantages outweigh the disadvantages (i.e. cash flows must
be discounted to NPV using the National Loans Fund (NLF) rate plus 2%).
b) The appropriate officer member of the Executive Committee must provide, in
the form of a written report, a case setting out all relevant circumstances of
the purchase. The report must set out the effects on the CCG if the supplier is
at some time during the course of the prepayment agreement unable to meet
his commitments.
c) The Chief Finance Officer will need to be satisfied with the proposed
arrangements before contractual arrangements proceed (taking into account
the EU public procurement rules where the contract is above a stipulated
financial threshold).
d) The budget holder is responsible for ensuring that all items due under a
prepayment contract are received and they must immediately inform the
appropriate director or Chief Officer if problems are encountered.

15.2.8

Official orders
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Official Orders must:

15.2.9

a)

be consecutively numbered;

b)

be in a form approved by the Chief Finance Officer;

c)

state the CCG's terms and conditions of trade;

d)

only be issued to, and used by, those duly authorised by the Chief Officer.

Duties of Managers and Officers
Managers and officers must ensure that they comply fully with the guidance and
limits specified by the Chief Finance Officer and that:
a) all contracts (except as otherwise provided for in the scheme of delegation
and financial scheme of delegation), leases, tenancy agreements and other
commitments which may result in a liability are notified to the Chief Finance
Officer in advance of any commitment being made;
b) contracts above specified thresholds are advertised and awarded in
accordance with EU rules on public procurement;
c) where consultancy advice is being obtained, the procurement of such
advice must be in accordance with guidance issued by the NHS England;
d) no order shall be issued for any item or items to any firm which has made an
offer of gifts, reward or benefit to directors or employees, other than isolated
gifts of a trivial character or inexpensive seasonal gifts, such as calendars;
and/or conventional hospitality, such as lunches in the course of working
visits;
e) no requisition/order is placed for any item or items for which there is no
budget provision unless authorised by the Chief Finance Officer on behalf of
the Chief Officer;
f) all goods, services, or works are ordered on an official order except works
and services executed in accordance with a contract and purchases from
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petty cash;
g) verbal orders must only be issued very exceptionally - by an employee
designated by the Chief Officer and only in cases of emergency or urgent
necessity. These must be confirmed by an official order and clearly marked
"confirmation order";
h) orders are not split or otherwise placed in a manner devised so as to avoid
the financial thresholds;
i) goods are not taken on trial or loan in circumstances that could commit the
CCG to a future uncompetitive purchase;
j) changes to the list of members/employees and officers authorised to certify
invoices are notified to the Chief Finance Officer and approved by the
relevant executive director;
k) purchases from petty cash are restricted in value and by type of purchase in
accordance with instructions issued by the Chief Finance Officer; and
l) petty cash records are maintained in a form as determined by the Chief
Finance Officer.
The Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the arrangements
for financial control and financial audit of building and engineering contracts and
property transactions comply with the guidance contained within Department of
Health Building Notes. The technical audit of these contracts shall be the
responsibility of the relevant director.
15.3

15.3.1

16

Joint Finance Arrangements with Local Authorities and Voluntary
Bodies
Payments to local authorities and voluntary organisations made under the powers
of section 256 of the NHS Act shall comply with procedures laid down by the
Chief Finance Officer, which shall be in accordance with that Act.

STORES AND RECEIPT OF GOODS
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16.1

General position
Stores should be:
a)

kept to a minimum;

b)

subjected to annual stock take; and

c)

valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

16.2

Control of Stores, Stocktaking, Condemnations and Disposal

16.2.1

Subject to the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer for the systems of
control, overall responsibility for the control of stores shall be delegated to an
employee by the Chief Officer.

16.2.2

The responsibility for security arrangements and the custody of keys for any
stores and locations shall be clearly defined in writing by the designated
manager/officer. Wherever practicable, stocks should be marked as health
service property.

16.2.3

The Chief Finance Officer shall set out procedures and systems to regulate the
stores including records for receipt of goods, issues, and returns to stores and
losses.

16.2.4

Stocktaking arrangements shall be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer and
there shall be a physical check covering all items in store at least once a year,
when the overall value of stores is material.

16.2.5

Where a complete system of stores control is not justified, alternative
arrangements shall require the approval of the Chief Finance Officer.

16.2.6

The designated officer shall report to the Chief Finance Officer any evidence of
significant overstocking and of any negligence or malpractice.

16.3

Goods supplied by NHS Supply Chain
For goods supplied via NHS Supply Chain, the Chief Officer shall identify those
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authorised to requisition and accept goods from the store. The authorised person
shall check receipt against the delivery note before forwarding this to the Chief
Finance Officer who shall satisfy himself that the goods have been received
before accepting the recharge.

17
17.1

DISPOSALS AND CONDEMNATIONS, LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS
Disposals and Condemnations

17.1.1

The Chief Finance Officer must prepare detailed procedures for the disposal of
assets including condemnations, and ensure that these are notified to managers.

17.1.2

When it is decided to dispose of a CCG asset, the head of department or
authorised deputy will determine and advise the Chief Finance Officer of the
estimated market value of the item, taking account of professional advice where
appropriate.

17.1.3

All unserviceable articles shall be:
a) condemned or otherwise disposed of by an employee authorised for that
purpose by the Chief Finance Officer; and
b) recorded by the condemning officer in a form approved by the Chief Finance
Officer which will indicate whether the articles are to be converted, destroyed
or otherwise disposed of. All entries shall be confirmed by the
countersignature of a second employee authorised for the purpose by the
Chief Finance Officer.

17.1.4

The condemning officer shall satisfy himself as to whether or not there is
evidence of negligence in use and shall report any such evidence to the Chief
Finance Officer who will take the appropriate action.

17.2

Losses and Special Payments

17.2.1

Procedures
The Chief Finance Officer must prepare procedural instructions on the
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recording of and accounting for condemnations, losses, and special payments.
17.2.2

Any employee or officer discovering or suspecting a loss of any kind must
either immediately inform their head of department, who must immediately
inform the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer or inform an officer
charged with responsibility for responding to concerns involving loss. This
officer will then appropriately inform the Chief Finance Officer and/or Chief
Officer. Where a criminal offence is suspected, the Chief Finance Officer must
immediately inform the police if theft or arson is involved. In cases of fraud and
corruption, or of anomalies that may indicate fraud or corruption, the Chief
Finance Officer must inform the relevant counter fraud specialist in accordance
with Secretary of State for Health’s Directions.

17.2.3

Suspected fraud - the Chief Finance Officer must notify NHS Counter Fraud
Authority (formerly NHS Protect) and the external auditor of all frauds.

17.2.4

For losses that are caused by suspected theft, arson, neglect of duty or gross
carelessness (except if trivial), the Chief Finance Officer must immediately
notify the Governing Body and the external auditor.

17.2.5

Within limits delegated to it by NHS England, the Governing Body, at the
recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee, shall approve the writing-off
of losses.

17.2.6

The Chief Finance Officer shall be authorised to take any necessary steps to
safeguard the CCG's interests in bankruptcies and company liquidations.

17.2.7

For any loss, the Chief Finance Officer should consider whether any insurance
claim can be made.

17.2.8

The Chief Finance Officer shall maintain a losses and special payments register
in which write-off action is recorded.

17.2.9

No special payments exceeding delegated limits shall be made without the prior
approval of NHS England.

17.2.10 All losses and special payments must be reported to the Audit and Risk
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Committee at every meeting.

18.

PAYMENTS TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

18.1

Role of the CCG
The Governing Body will approve additions to, and deletions from, approved lists
of contractors, taking into account the health needs of the local population, and
the access to existing services. All applications and resignations received shall be
dealt with equitably, within any time limits laid down in the contractors NHS terms
and conditions of service.

18.2

Duties of the Chief Officer
The Chief Officer shall:
a) ensure that lists of all contractors, for which the CCG is responsible, are
maintained in an up to date condition; and
b) ensure that systems are in place to deal with applications, resignations,
inspection of premises, etc., within the appropriate contractor's terms and
conditions of service.

18.3

Duties of the Chief Finance Officer
The Chief Finance Officer shall:
a) ensure that contractors who are included on a CCG's approved lists receives
payments;
b) maintain a system of payments such that all valid contractors' claims are paid
promptly and correctly, and are supported by the appropriate documentation
and signatures;
c) ensure that regular independent verification of claims is undertaken, to confirm
that: rules have been correctly and consistently applied; overpayments are
detected (or preferably prevented) and recovery initiated; and suspicions of
possible fraud are identified and subsequently dealt with in line with the
Secretary of State for Health’s Directions on the management of fraud and
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corruption;
d) ensure that arrangements are in place to identify contractors receiving
exceptionally high, low or no payments, and highlight these for further
investigation; and
e) ensure that a prompt response is made to any query raised by either the
Prescription Pricing Division of the NHS Business Services Authority,
regarding claims from contractors submitted directly to them.

19.
19.1

FIXED ASSET REGISTERS AND SECURITY OF ASSETS
Responsibility of the Chief Officer
The Chief Officer will:
a) ensure that there is an adequate appraisal and approval process in place for
determining capital expenditure priorities and the effect of each proposal upon
plans;
b) be responsible for the management of all stages of capital schemes and for
ensuring that the schemes are delivered on time and to cost; and
c) ensure that the capital investment is not undertaken without confirmation of
purchaser(s) support and the availability of resources to finance all revenue
consequences.

19.2

Asset Registers
CCGs are expected to hold minimal capital assets and these are usually
inherited from the predecessor organisation. Where assets are held, the Chief
Officer is responsible for maintaining a fixed asset register.
The Chief Officer is responsible for the maintenance of registers of assets,
taking account of the advice of the Chief Finance Officer concerning the form of
any register and the method of updating, and arranging for a physical check of
assets against the asset register to be conducted once a year.
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19.1.1

Additions to the fixed asset register must be clearly identified to an
appropriate budget holder and be validated by reference to:
a) properly authorised and approved agreements, supplier's invoices and
other documentary evidence in respect of purchases from third parties; and
b) lease agreements in respect of assets held under a finance lease and
capitalised.

19.1.2

Where capital assets are sold, scrapped, lost or otherwise disposed of, their
value must be removed from the accounting records and each disposal must be
validated by reference to authorisation documents and invoices (where
appropriate).

19.1.3

The Chief Finance Officer shall approve procedures for reconciling balances on
fixed assets accounts in ledgers against balances on fixed asset registers.

19.1.4

The value of each asset shall be depreciated using methods and rates as
specified in the capital accounting manual issued by the Department of Health.

19.2
19.2.1
19.2.2

Security of Assets
The overall control of fixed assets is the responsibility of the Chief Officer.
Asset control procedures (including fixed assets, cash, cheques and negotiable
instruments, and also including donated assets) must be approved by the Chief
Finance Officer. This procedure shall make provision for:
a)

recording managerial responsibility for each asset;

b)

identification of additions and disposals;

c)

identification of all repairs and maintenance expenses;

d)

physical security of assets;
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e)

periodic verification of the existence of, condition of, and title to, assets
recorded;

f)

identification and reporting of all costs associated with the retention of an
asset; and

g)

reporting, recording and safekeeping of cash, cheques, and negotiable
instruments.

19.2.3

All discrepancies revealed by verification of physical assets to fixed asset
register shall be notified to the Chief Finance Officer.

19.2.4

Whilst each employee and officer has a responsibility for the security of property
of the CCG, it is the responsibility of Governing Body and Executive Committee
members and senior employees to apply such appropriate routine security
practices in relation to NHS property as may be determined by the Governing
Body. Any breach of agreed security practices must be reported in accordance
with agreed procedures.

19.2.5

Any damage to the CCG’s premises, vehicles and equipment, or any loss of
equipment, stores or supplies must be reported by Governing Body and
Executive Committee members and employees in accordance with the
procedure for reporting losses.

19.2.6

20

Where practical, assets should be marked as CCG property.

RETENTION OF RECORDS

20.1

The Chief Officer shall be responsible for maintaining archives for all records
required to be retained in accordance with the Records Management Code of
Practice for Health and Social Care 2016
(https://digital.nhs.uk/media/1158/Records-Management-Code-of-Practice-forHealth-and-Social-Care-2016/pdf/Records-management-COP-HSC-2016).

20.2

The records held in archives shall be capable of retrieval by authorised persons.
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20.3

Authorisation for the destruction of records in accordance with the Records
Management Code of Practice for Health and Social Care 2016 must be granted
by the Chief Officer. Detail shall be maintained of records so destroyed.

20.4

The Chief Officer shall ensure that arrangements are in place for effective
responses to freedom of information requests and be responsible for publishing
and maintaining a freedom of information publication scheme.

21

STANDARDS OF BUSINESS CONDUCT
The Chief Officer shall ensure that all staff are made aware of the CCG’s
standards of business conduct and declaration of interests policy regarding
declaring conflicts of interests and acceptance of gifts and other benefits in kind
by staff. This policy follows the guidance contained in NHS England’s publication
“Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS”.

22
22.1

TRUST FUNDS AND TRUSTEES
The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that each trust fund that the CCG is
responsible for managing is managed appropriately with regard to its purpose and
to its requirements.
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CATEGORY OF PAPER
Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only

Item: 8.5




GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020

Report Title:

Sub-Committee Annual Reviews 2019-20

Purpose of report
To provide the Governing Body with its sub-committee annual reviews for the period 1 April 2019 to
the 31 March 2020.
Key points
In order to provide assurance to the Governing Body on the delivery of its delegated functions, the
committee undertakes an annual review of its performance and effectiveness throughout the year
as specified in its terms of reference. This includes identifying the main areas of work the
committee has focused on and any key challenges in the delivery of these.
The attached report outlines the achievements and assurances the committee has gained
throughout the year to demonstrate its roles and responsibilities and also includes any risks
identified as part of this work. The report also includes a review of attendance and a forward look
to the coming financial year
The attached paper provides an overview of each of the Governing Body sub-committee’s as
follows:
 Appendix 1 - Executive Committee
 Appendix 2 - Quality and Safety Committee
 Appendix 3 - Audit and Risk Committee
 Appendix 4 - Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The attached reviews focus on the committees’ performance and effectiveness throughout the
year, as well as identifying the main areas of work the committees has focused on. The review
also outlines the achievements and assurances each committee has gained through this work and
also includes highlights the main challenges they have faced as well as forward look to the coming
financial year.
The committees have also asked each of their formal sub groups to undertake an annual review to
provide it with assurance on their effectiveness in delivering their roles and responsibilities. The
committees have received and reviewed the sub-group annual reviews and were assured that they
had operated within their agreed terms of reference.
Please note due to the infrequency of meetings and sensitive: personal information considered by
the Remuneration Committee, an annual review is not undertaken. However, the Committee has

Official
met on three separate occasions and assurance gained that the Committee performed its functions
as set out in its terms of reference.
The Patient and Public Involvement Committee was established in shadow form from 1 January
2020 and has met twice but further meetings were stepped down due to Covid. Therefore an
annual review has not been completed for this year.
Risks and issues
The key challenges faced by the committees are detailed in the attached reviews.
Assurances
The committees have met their terms of reference throughout the year for 2019/20.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to:
 Receive the committee end of year reviews for assurance;
 Note that a summary of the reviews is included in the annual governance statement.
Sponsor/approving director

Dr N O’Brien, Accountable Officer, Durham, South
Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs

Report author

D Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)


CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties
CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services
CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities
CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
Note any relevant Acts, regulations, national guidelines etc
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the

Yes

No

N/A
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paper? (please tick)
If yes, please specify
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Key implications
Are additional resources
required?
Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

None identified as annual review only
Not applicable as annual reviews only
Not applicable as annual reviews only

Not applicable as annual reviews only

Not applicable as annual reviews only
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Appendix 1

ANNUAL REVIEW OF
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
In line with its terms of reference, this committee reports to the governing body and must undertake an annual
review of its performance and provide an account of its work. This template is aimed at assisting the chairs of
those groups to produce a standardised report on that review.

Review period

April 2019 to March 2020

Number of Meetings

12 formal meetings

Members

Number of
meetings eligible to
attend:

Number of meetings
attended by
members:

Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer
12
10
(chair)
Dr Ian Pattison, Executive GP
12
9
and Clinical Chair
Dr Fadi Khalil, Executive GP
12
11
Dr Saira Malik, Executive GP
12
9
Dr Tracey Lucas, Executive GP
12
10
Dr Raj Bethapudi, Executive GP
12
11
Dr Karthik Gellia, Executive GP
12
12
Mrs Ann Fox, Director of
12
10
Nursing, Quality and Safety
Mr David Chandler, Deputy Chief
12
11
Officer and Chief Finance Officer
Mr Eric Harrison, Executive
12
11
Practice Manager
Mrs Florence Gunn, Strategic
12
11
Practice Nurse
The following are regular attendees to the meeting but are not members:
Dr Claire Bradford, Medical
12
9
Director
Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of
12
9
Corporate Affairs
Mr Scott Watson, Director of
12
11
Contracting and Informatics
Mrs Clare Nesbit, Director of
12
7
People and Primary Care
Dr Roger Ford, LMC Treasurer
12
1
Mrs Gillian Gibson, Director of
12
9

Number of meetings
deputy attended:
(*n/a – no deputy)

2
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
2
1
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
1
N/A
N/A
2
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Public Health Sunderland City
Council
Role and responsibilities of the committee
The committee is a management committee to support the CCG, its governing body and myself, as
chief officer, in the discharge of the CCG’s functions. The committee assists the Governing Body in
its duties to promote a comprehensive health service, reduce inequalities and promote innovation.
The remit of the committee includes contributing to the development and implementation of strategy,
monitoring and delivery of statutory duties, operational, financial, contractual and clinical performance
as well as ensuring the coordination and monitoring of risks and internal controls. It has authority to
make decisions as set out within its terms of reference and the CCG’s scheme of reservation and
delegation.
Membership of the committee includes:








Chief Officer (Chair)
Deputy Chief officer and Chief Finance Officer
GP chair
5 elected GPs (locality lead roles)
Executive Practice Manager (localities)
Strategic Practice Nurse (localities)
Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety

The following attend the committee on a regular basis but do not have a voting right.
 Medical Director
 Head of Corporate Affairs
 Director of Contracting and Informatics
 Director of People and primary Care
 Director of Public Health, Sunderland City Council
Details of main work areas
Strategy and Planning:
 Prepare the strategy and annual commissioning plan on behalf of the governing body and oversee
delivery of the commissioning plans;
 Formulate and implement service change and development arising out of the strategy
 Prepare and recommend to the governing body the organisational development plan and enabling
strategies and oversee their delivery;
 Develop CCG input to the joint health and wellbeing strategy and contributing to the joint strategic
needs assessment;
 Establish links and working arrangements with other CCGs, providers, local authority, other health
partners, NHS England area team and the clinical senate;
 Ensure the views of patients and the public are reflected in the development and implementation
of CCG policies and plans.
Delivery
 Deliver target outcomes and outputs set by the Secretary of State, NHS England other
national/regional authorised bodies;
 Manage the performance of the CCG against its financial and non-financial targets including
QIPP;
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 Ensure the control, co-ordination and monitoring within the organisation of risk and internal
controls, monitoring key risks as appropriate;
 Approval of business cases and procurement contract awards in line with the financial scheme of
delegation and approved budgets;
 Agree contracts with providers providing clinical or other services in line with the financial scheme
of delegation;
 Leading the delivery of the CCG educational programme
 Approval of operational policies and procedures.

Main achievements and assurances
The Committee met on a monthly basis throughout 2019/20 to discuss progress and development of
the CCG’s commissioning agenda, making decisions relevant to this agenda as appropriate and
required.
The Committee has considered a number of strategies, project ideas, business cases, procurement
proposals and service reforms. The impact on improving outcomes for patients was the main priority
as well as ensuring any financial implications were within the CCG’s financial budgets.
The Committee has also received monthly reports on finance and performance issues, key issues and
risks and regular reports on; medicines optimisation; governance report (including equality and
diversity, health and safety and complaints); information governance; research and development as
well as monitoring progress against NHS England’s improvement and assessment framework for
CCGs on behalf of the Governing Body.
Some of the key items considered by the committee included:
 Financial pressures and performance issues for consideration/decision
 Health pathways
 Intensive Support Team Service Review
 Continuing healthcare and healthcare packages
 Ambulance response times
 Transforming Care
 Medicines optimisation
 Prevention and child health
 Children and adolescent mental health services, including perinatal services
 Cancer plan
 Urgent and ambulatory care
 Medical records scanning process and evaluation strategy
 Dermatology business case
 Treatment room transformation and shared care drugs configuration proposal
 Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR)
 Improving Access to Psychological Services
 Continued development of the multi-specialist community provider model (now known as
the All Together Better Alliance)
The Committee has also approved a number of policies and strategies for submission to the
Governing Body including:
 Value based commissioning
 Business continuity (EPRR)
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HR and organisational development
Continuing Healthcare CHC
Incident reporting and management
Access and Choice
Change management (addendum)

In addition to the formal monthly meetings, a number of development sessions were held during the
year to enable the Committee to focus on areas of development and key issues to provide additional
assurance that these areas were being reviewed in more detail. The sessions were well attended by
the members and, where appropriate a wider group, and the topics covered included:




ATB update
Strategy and planning ( implementing the national vision)
Joint strategic needs assessment planning

The Committee’s sub-groups meet on a regular basis to undertake detailed reviews of their relevant
work streams and identify any issues or actions that need to be addressed. The outcome of this work
is fed up to the committee via the minutes but also by any more detailed reporting by exception when
required.

Details of main challenges faced by the Committee

There were a number of key challenges faced by the committee including:
 A&E performance
 Continuing healthcare packages
 Financial pressures
 Urgent care consultation
 Transfer of Shared Care
 Ambulance waiting times and handover delays
 Covid-19 pandemic response
The Committee has monitored each of these areas closely and ensured mitigating actions have been
put in place wherever possible. The Governing Body has been provided with assurance on these via
the committee minutes and also more detailed reports and presentations as required. Where risks
have been identified, these have been added to the CCG’s risk register if appropriate to ensure more
detailed monitoring against progress to mitigate these risks has been undertaken.

Prospective forward look at main areas of work for coming year 2020/21
The Committee will continue to focus on the roles and responsibilities as specified in its terms of
reference. There will continue to be standing items on the agenda for assurance purposes (such as
finance and performance) and also any key areas of focus will be highlighted to support the delivery
of the CCG’s operational plan and key priorities for the coming year, including the developing
integrated care systems and partnerships and more collaborative working across the local health
economy.
A key areas of focus will be the continued mobilisation of the CCG’s urgent care strategy. Following
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the decision taken by the Governing Body in January 2019 to change the way urgent care is delivered
within Sunderland, a detailed mobilisation plan has been developed to take this work forward. The
Committee will be monitoring progress towards this mobilisation to ensure the plans will deliver the
agreed strategy and within the allocated resources.
The ongoing development of All Together Better will involve significant changes in how the CCG
commissions out of hospital services going forward. This model involves new ways of partnership
and collaborative working across the City and therefore a key focus for the Committee to ensure the
Alliance will support the delivery of the CCG’s commissioning function over the next 3-5 years at
least.
Both of the above areas will be part of the Covid recovery planning which will be a main focus for the
CCG during 2020/21. The Committee will focus on recovery across its commissioned services and
the impact the pandemic has had on these. The CCG is developing a place-based recovery plan
which will be used to inform and overarching ICP level recovery plan across Durham, South Tyneside
and Sunderland ICP. This recovery work is being led by All Together Better and will establish links
with the in-hospital work as well as wider system working with the Local Authority.
Proposal to review Terms of
Reference?
Yes – in light of the above potential changes
Chair of the Committee

Dr N O’Brien, Accountable Officer

Report Author

D Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs

Date:

5 April 2020
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Appendix 2

ANNUAL REVIEW OF
QUALITY AND SAFETY COMMITTEE
In line with its terms of reference, this committee reports to the governing body and must undertake an annual
review of its performance and provide an account of its work. This template is aimed at assisting the chairs of
those groups to produce a standardised report on that review.

Review period

1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020

Number of Meetings

6

Members

Number of apologies / deputies attended (see below)
Number of meetings
eligible to attend:

Mrs Pat Harle, Lay member for
Primary Care and Quality, Chair
Mrs Ann Fox, Director of
Nursing, Quality and Safety (vice
chair)
Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer
Dr Claire Bradford, Medical
Director
Dr Karthik Gellia, Executive GP
Dr Saira Malik, Executive GP
Mr Derek Cruikshank, Secondary
Care Clinician
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Lay
Member for PPI

Number of meetings
actually attended by
members:

Number of meetings
where deputy attended:
(*n/a – no deputy)

6

5

1

6

4

2

6
6

4
4

0
2

6
6
6

5
6
6

n/a
n/a
n/a

4

4

n/a

4

2

2

6

5

1

6

5

1

6

1

5

6

2

2

2

2

0

(from July 2019)

Ms Sue Goulding, Head of
Quality and Patient Safety
(until Dec 2019)

Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of
Corporate Affairs
Ms Deanna Lagun, Head of
Safeguarding
Mr Ewan Maule, Head of
Medicines Optimisation
Mr Matt Thurbron, Head of
Performance and Business
Intelligence
Ms Kirstie Hesketh, Head of
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Quality and Patient Safety
(from Jan 2020 and joint with South
Tyneside CCG)

Role and responsibilities of the committee
The Committee is responsible for ensuring the appropriate governance systems and processes are in
place to
 Commission, monitor and ensure the delivery of high quality safe patient care in commissioned
services,
 Facilitate, monitor and ensure quality improvement in general medical practice working with
NHS England and in line with our quality strategy
 Ensure that all systems are in place and operating effectively for the identification, assessment
and prioritisation of potential risk in line with the CCG’s scheme of reservation and delegation
and quality strategy.
In achieving this, the committee seeks to promote a culture of continuous improvement and
innovation with respect to safety of services, clinical effectiveness and patient experience, to secure
public involvement and to provide assurance to the governing body about the quality, safety and any
clinical risks of the services being commissioned.
The committee, as delegated by the governing body, provides oversight and scrutiny of arrangements
for supporting NHS England in relation to securing continuous improvement in the quality of primary
medical services through the planning process and future primary care commissioning arrangements.
Details of main work areas
Quality in commissioned services:
 Quality reports
 External assurance for providers from regulatory bodies
 Oversee the development of quality incentive schemes, e.g. CQUIN
 Escalation processes
 Collaboration with NHS England and NHS Improvement
Quality in general medical practice:
 Agreements and developing processes for the CCG member practices to improve quality of
primary medical services in terms of clinical effectiveness, patient safety and patient
experience in GP practices in collaboration with NHS England.
Patient Safety
 Clinical risks, incidents, serious incidents, complaints and claims
 Scrutiny of independent investigation reports
 Assurance on the management of infection control issues
 Assurance in relation to medicines optimisation (including controlled drugs)
 Assurance in relation to safeguarding duties for both children and adults.
Patient experience
 Ensure the views of patients and the public are appropriately reflected in the development and
implementation of CCG policies and procedures
 Oversee the development and implementation of a structured approach to collect and use
patient experience data (including from providers).
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Clinical effectiveness:
 Promote an evidence based culture within the CCG and wider health economy
 Take account of national guidance such as NICE
guidance, quality standards and other relevant standards
 Promote the use of research

Main achievements and assurances
The Committee has continued to receive assurance for its key roles and responsibilities and has
gained assurance by receiving regular reports/updates on the following:
 CCG quality strategy
 Safeguarding
 Quality in commissioned services, covering performance and contractual issues that impact
on quality including:
 Infection control
 Annual survey/audit results
 Mortality reporting
 Friends and family test results
 Complaints and serious incidents
 Quality in older persons’ commissioned services
 Continuing health care
 Transforming care/Learning disabilities
 Mental health
 Quality and safety risks
 Medicines optimisation
 Patient and public involvement (including compliance with the statutory guidance and project
plans)
 Medicines optimisation
 Clinical assurance visits with providers
The reports/updates cover key issues and any quality or patient safety issues arising as a result. The
reports also provide key assurances and identify risks, both actual and potential. The Committee
seeks assurance on mitigating actions to address these risks and ensures these are captured on the
corporate risk register and managed in line with the CCG’s risk management arrangements. Any
items requiring a more detailed focus by the Committee are given additional time on the agenda to
allow for a more in-depth discussion to address any areas of concern relating to quality and patient
safety and to provide additional assurance on work undertaken to mitigate the risks associated with
this.
The confirmed minutes from each meeting are submitted to the Governing Body to provide assurance
on the delegated functions the committee manages on its behalf.
The Committee also receives assurance from the following subgroups via receipt of regular minutes:
 Designated and Named Professionals Assurance Group
 HCAI Improvement Group
 Serious Incident Panel (joint with South Tyneside CCG)
 Local Quality Group (Primary Care Medical Services)
 Communication and Engagement Steering Group
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The Committee’s sub-groups meet on a regular basis to undertake detailed reviews of their relevant
workstreams and identify any issues or actions that need to be addressed. The outcome of this work
is fed up to the committee via the minutes but also by any more detailed reporting by exception when
required.
In addition to the above sub-groups, the Committee receives minutes and updates for information and
assurance from the following groups:
 South Tyneside and Sunderland Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Review Group
 North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust Quality Review Group
 Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust Quality Review Group
 Cumbria and North East Quality Surveillance Group
The provider quality review groups undertake the detailed operational planning and review of the
quality of their commissioned services and also identify any areas for improvement/action and
develop and monitor robust action plans to ensure pr. The committee seeks assurance on
implementation and progress of the action plans via the minutes, and any exception reporting as
appropriate, to ensure the quality of the services the CCG commissions are safe and of a high
standard.
Details of main challenges faced by the committee
The Committee has faced a number of challenges over the year and has worked with the relevant
leads closely to ensure actions were undertaken and progress made wherever possible. These have
included:
 Provider quality and safety performance issues
 Safeguarding adults and children activity
 Delivery of statutory duties relating to continuing health care
 Joint commissioning – nursing, residential care; learning disabilities; continuing
healthcare and healthcare packages
 Transforming care agenda
 Medicines optimisation - shared care and joint formulary
 Quality within primary medical care services
 Childhood immunisations
Prospective forward look at main areas of work for coming year (2020/21)
The Committee will continue to focus on the roles and responsibilities as specified in its terms of
reference. There will continue to be standing items on the agenda for assurance purposes and also
any key areas of focus will be highlighted to support the delivery of the CCG’s strategic priorities for
the coming year, including the continued development of the Central ICP approach across Durham,
South Tyneside and Sunderland, as well as the wider ICS, to establish more collaborative working
across the local health economy.
However in light of the Covid 19 pandemic, the Committee will focus on the quality and safety
implications as a result of this, particularly in relation to care homes, infection control processes,
safeguarding and the overall quality of commissioned services.
The CCG is developing a place-based recovery plan following Covid which will be used to inform and
overarching ICP level recovery plan across the Central ICP. This will include the implications for the
transformation work as part of Sunderland’s All Together Better alliance for out of hospital services as
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well as the Path to Excellence programme for the in-hospital work across both South Tyneside and
Sunderland.
Work will continue throughout 2020/21 to capture the positive transformation changes that have been
put in place due to Covid as well as new ways of working to support these, alongside any areas that
require a more indepth focus or review. The Committee will seek assurance on how quality and
safety is being made throughout all of this work as well as ensuring patients in Sunderland have a
positive experience of care.
Proposal to review Terms of
Reference?

Yes – to ensure they are still fit for purpose.

Chair of the Committee

Pat Harle, Lay Member for Primary Care Commissioning and
Quality

Report Author

Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs

Date:

29 April 2020
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Appendix 3

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
In line with its terms of reference, this committee reports to the governing body and must undertake an
annual review of its performance and provide an account of its work. This template is aimed at assisting
the chairs of those groups to produce a standardised report on that review.

Review period

1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020

Number of formal meetings:

4

(in financial year)

Attendance

Number of apologies / deputies attended (see below)
Number of formal
meetings eligible to
attend:

Members:
Mr Chris Macklin, lay member
audit (chair)
Mr Neil Weddle, independent
support to the audit committee
Mr David Chandler, deputy
officer and chief finance officer
Mr Cameron Waddell, partner
Mazars
Ms Diane Harold, senior
manager, Mazars
Mr Carl Best, director of Internal
Audit, AuditOne
Ms Alyson Williams, Internal
Audit manager, AuditOne
Ms Deborah Cornell, head of
corporate affairs
Mrs Tarryn Lake, deputy chief
finance officer
Paul Bevan, counter fraud
specialist AuditOne

Number of formal
meetings actually
attended by
members:

Number of meetings where
deputy/representative
attended (n/a - no deputy)

4

4

NA

4

4

NA

4

4

NA

4

2

2

4

4

NA

4

2

NA

4

4

NA

4

3

NA

4

4

NA

4

2

NA

Roles and responsibilities of the committee
An independent Audit and Risk Committee is a central means by which the Governing Body
obtains assurance that suitable internal control arrangements are in place and are operating
effectively. The Audit and Risk Committee provides an independent check of the executive
functions of the Governing Body. In accordance with the Prime Financial Policies, the Governing
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Body shall formally establish an Audit and Risk Committee, with clearly defined terms of reference
and following guidance from the NHS Audit Committee Handbook (2018) to perform the following
tasks
The Committee is a non-executive committee of the governing body as it has no executive
powers, other than those specifically delegated to it and as set out in its terms of reference.
The Committee has met its terms of reference throughout the year for 2019/20.
Details of main work areas
The Committee critically reviews the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles and
ensures an appropriate relationship with both internal and external auditors is maintained. The
main work areas of the committee are as follows:
Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
 Review the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance,
risk management and internal control, across the whole of the organisation’s activities (both
clinical and non-clinical), that supports the achievement of the organisation’s objectives
 Utilise the work of internal audit, external audit and other assurance functions, but is not
limited to these sources. It also seeks reports and assurances from directors and managers
as appropriate, concentrating on the over-arching systems of integrated governance, risk
management and internal control, together with indicators of their effectiveness
 Ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the governing body assurance framework, using it
to guide its work and that of audit and assurance functions that report to it
 Scrutinise the processes of the CCG’s QIPP/resource releasing initiative programme linked
to financial resources
 Ensure robust controls are in place to actively manage conflicts of interest including
hospitality and gifts
 Ensure adequate arrangements are in place for countering fraud and reviews the outcomes
of counter fraud work and instigate investigation should the committee become aware of
suspected fraudulent activity.
Internal Audit
 Ensure an effective internal audit function is in place that meets mandatory NHS Internal
Audit Standards and provides appropriate independent assurance to the audit committee,
accountable officer and the governing body
 Consider the provision of the internal audit service, the cost of the audit and any questions of
resignation and dismissal
 Review and approve the internal audit strategy, operational plan and detailed programme of
work
 Consider the major findings of internal audit work (and management’s response), and seeks
to ensure co-ordination between internal and external auditors to optimise audit resources
 Ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the organisation.
External Audit
 Review the work and findings of the external auditors and considers the implications and
management’s responses to their work
 Consider the appointment and performance of the external auditors, as far as the rules
governing the appointment permit
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 Discuss and agree the nature and scope of the external audit annual plan
 Review external audit reports, including the report to those charged with governance, agrees
the annual audit letter before submission to the governing body and any work undertaken
outside the annual audit plan, together with the appropriateness of management responses.
Other Assurance Functions
 Review the findings of other significant assurance functions, both internal and external to the
organisation, and considers the implications for the governance of the organisation
 Review the work of other committees whose work can provide relevant assurance to the
committee’s own scope of work.
Financial Reporting
 Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the CCG and any formal announcements
relating to the CCG’s financial performance
 Ensure that the systems for financial reporting to the Governing Body, including those of
budgetary control, are subject to review as to completeness and accuracy of the information
provided to the governing body
 Review the annual report and financial statements before submission to the Governing
Body.

Auditor Panel




Advise on the maintenance of an independent relationship with external auditors
Advise on the selection and appointment of external auditors
Advise on any proposal to enter into a limited liability agreement (if required).

To ensure the activities of the Auditor Panel are distinctive to the other activities of the committee,
the auditor panel meetings are arranged separately as required and the minutes of meetings are
formally recorded and submitted to the Governing Body. In addition the panel is required to
provide a separate annual report to the Governing Body on its activities and decisions.
Main achievements and assurances
The Committee has continued to receive assurance for its key roles and responsibilities and has
gained assurance by receiving regular reports/updates on the following:
 Governing Body assurance framework
 Corporate risk register
 Annual governance statement
 Annual report and accounts review and recommendation to the Governing Body
 Financial updates (including schedules of losses and special payments)
 Sustainability Delivery Group minutes
 Scheme of reservation and delegation
 Standards of business conduct policy update
 Overview of tender waivers
 Register of interests
 Internal audit strategy and progress reports
 External audit progress and completion reports
 Counter fraud annual plan and updates
 NHS Counter Fraud Authority self-assessment submission
 Management processes and arrangements
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The Audit Chair attends NHS England Audit Chair briefings and is an active member of a North
East Audit Chair group whose membership is open to all providers and CCG’s across the North
East. The Audit Chair is also the sole CCG representative on the HFMA Audit and Governance
Committee.
Informal meetings have been held with the internal auditor, the counter fraud lead and the
external auditors to ensure any issues of concern can be discussed. No matters were raised in
these meetings.
The committee also reviewed the CCG’s financial management arrangements (FMAs) which
support the prime financial policies as part of the CCG’s constitution.
Risk management reports, including as part of the Governing Body assurance have also been
received on a regular basis. The committee has sought assurance on mitigating actions to
address these risks and ensures these are captured on the corporate risk register.
Any identified actions are noted on the committee action log which is updated after each formal
meeting and identifies an appropriate lead and timescale to ensure any necessary actions are
taken as required by the committee.
Auditor Panel Annual Report
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires CCGs to ensure there is sufficient scrutiny
and oversight of the CCG’s relationship with its external auditors by having an auditor panel,
chaired by an independent member who is not part of the management structure, such as a lay
member of the Governing Body.
In order to meet these requirements, the committee performs the role of the Auditor Panel for the
CCG. The chair and members of the committee will also be the chair and members of the Auditor
Panel.
To ensure the activities of the Auditor Panel are distinctive to the other activities of the committee,
separate meetings are arranged when required and the minutes of the meetings formally
recorded and submitted to the Governing Body for assurance. During the year, the Auditor Panel
has not been required to meet, however the members have discussed the relationship with the
external auditors and can give assurance that this has maintained its independence throughout
2019/20.
Details of key issues faced by the committee
Some key challenges the Committee faced in 2019/20 have included:




Forecast underspends and the financial impact of over performance in A&E and
emergency admissions
Funding allocations and changes to business rules for CCGs
QIPP/Sustainability Delivery Group – ensuring the CCG remained on track to deliver the
planned savings as set out in the productivity plan
NHS Property Services market rent changes – impact on the CCG and other organisations



Prospective forward look at main areas of work for coming year (2020/21)

The Committee will continue to focus on the roles and responsibilities as specified in its terms of
reference. There will continue to be standing items on the agenda for assurance purposes and
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also any key areas of focus will be highlighted. The financial position for the CCG is challenging
for 2020/21, particularly in the light of the Covid pandemic, and therefore the emphasis on good
systems and processes to support robust financial control and governance will be critical.
The Committee will need to keep a continued focus on the governance arrangements around the
Covid recovery planning and implementation as well as the ICP and ICS developments to ensure
the CCG continues to meet its statutory duties and functions during the transition to the ‘new
normal’. This will include both the out of hospital and in hospital transformational work
programmes, as well as linking with other partners across the Sunderland health system and ICP
CCGs.
Proposal to review Terms of
Reference

No

Chair of the Committee

Chris Macklin, Lay Member for Audit and Governing Body
Vice Chair

Report author:

Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs

Date:

6 May 2020
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Appendix 4

ANNUAL REVIEW OF
PRIMARY CARE COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
In line with its terms of reference, this committee reports to the governing body and must undertake an annual
review of its performance and provide an account of its work. This template is aimed at assisting the chairs of
those groups to produce a standardised report on that review.

Review period

April 2019 to March 2020

Number of Meetings

6 formal meetings held in public

Members

Mrs Pat Harle, Lay Member
Primary Care Commissioning
Chair
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Lay
Member Patient and Public
Involvement
David Gallagher, Chief Officer
Dr Karthik Gellia, GP Executive
Dr Geoff Stephenson, Primary
Care Advisor
Dr Ian Pattison, Clinical Chair
Mr David Chandler, Deputy Chief
Officer and Chief Finance Officer
Mrs Ann Fox, Director of
Nursing, Quality and Safety
Mrs Clare Nesbit, Director of
People and Primary Care
Ms Wendy Thompson, Head of
Primary Care
Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of
Corporate Affairs
NHS England primary care
contracting representative
*Mr John Dean, Chair of
Healthwatch
*Mrs Fiona Brown, Director of
People Services, Sunderland
City Council

Number of apologies / deputies attended (see below)
Number of meetings
eligible to attend:

Number of meetings
attended by members:

Number of meetings
where deputy attended:
(*n/a – no deputy)

6

6

-

5

5

n/a

6
6
6

5
5
4

1
n/a
n/a

6
6

4
4

n/a
2

6

5

1

6

4

2

6

5

1

6

4

n/a

6

5

1

5

4

1

6

3

1
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*These members are invited to attend but do so as and when required

Role and responsibilities of the committee
The Committee, established in accordance with statutory provisions, makes collective decisions on
the review, planning and procurement of primary medical care services in Sunderland, under
delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the Committee is to carry out the functions relating
to the commissioning of primary medical care services under section 83 of the NHS Act.
In performing its role, the Committee will exercise its management of the functions in accordance with
the agreement entered into between NHS England and the CCG, which will sit alongside the
delegation and terms of reference.
The functions of the Committee are undertaken with a view to increasing the quality, efficiency,
productivity and value for money within co-commissioning as well as removing any potential
administrative barriers.
Details of main work areas
The main areas of work for the Committee include:







GMS, PMS and APMS contracts (including the design of PMS and APMS contracts,
monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing branch/remedial notices,
and removing a contract);
Newly designed enhanced services (‘local enhanced services’ and ‘directed enhanced
services’);
Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes Framework
(QOF);
Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area;
Approving practice mergers; and
Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer schemes).

The Committee also carries out the following activities under delegated authority from the Governing
Body:
 Planning, including needs assessment, of primary medical care services in Sunderland;
 Undertaking reviews of primary medical care services in Sunderland;
 Co-ordinating a common approach to the commissioning of primary care services
generally;
 Managing the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services in Sunderland

Main achievements and assurances
The Committee has met six times in public during the year to ensure continued effective management
of the primary medical care commissioning function.
The Committee has continued to make decisions (where appropriate) and receive assurance for its
key roles and responsibilities by receiving regular reports/updates on the following:



Financial updates on the management of the delegated general practice budgets
Practice and branch mergers, boundary changes and list closures
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Primary care networks development
Update General Practice Forward View initiatives
Transfer of Shared Care
General Practice Strategy 2019/24
Primary care estates subsidiaries
General practice communications and engagement
Care Quality Commission inspection reports
General practice transformation funding
GP Patient Survey results
New consultation types within general practice
Internal audit reports
GP contract reform
NHS Property Service General Practice Subsidies
General Practice Quality Premium Proposal for 2019/20
Workforce updates
General practice quality

The reports/updates cover key issues and any risks and or issues arising as a result. The reports
also provide key assurances and identify risks, both actual and potential. The Committee seeks
assurance on mitigating actions to address these risks and ensures these are captured on the
corporate risk register and managed in line with the CCG’s risk management arrangements. Any
items requiring a more detailed focus by the Committee are given additional time on the agenda to
allow for a more in-depth discussion to address any areas of concern relating to primary care to
provide additional assurance on work undertaken to mitigate the risks associated with this.
The confirmed minutes from each meeting are submitted to the Governing Body to provide assurance
on the delegated functions the Committee manages on its behalf.
The Committee also receives assurance from the following subgroups via receipt of regular minutes:
 General Practice Strategy Implementation Group
 General Practice Workforce Steering Group
 Primary Care Local Quality Review Group

Details of key issues faced by the committee
Some of the key issues faced by the committee in 2019/20 have included:







Continued management of conflicts of interest
GP recruitment and retention
Quality issues in primary care
Underspend on delegated general practice budgets
NHS Property Services increase in charges for practices
Practice mergers and contractual changes

Prospective forward look at main areas of work for coming year (2020/21)
The Committee will continue to focus on the supporting the delivery of the CCG’s strategic priorities,
plans and key deliverables as well as the continued implementation of the General Practice Strategy.
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This work will include supporting the continued development of primary care networks as part of the
NHS Long Term Plan and the CCG’s out of hospital model, All Together Better, with partners across
the City, with a particular focus on how this impacts on general practice.
In light of the Covid 19 pandemic, the Committee will also focus on recovery within general practice
and the impact the pandemic has had on general practices and their workforce. The CCG is
developing a place-based recovery plan following Covid which will be used to inform and overarching
ICP level recovery plan across Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland ICP. This recovery work will
include a specific focus on general practice as part of the All Together Better recovery plan as well as
ensuring links with the in-hospital recovery plan are established to support general practice service
delivery.
Work will continue throughout 2020/21 to capture the positive transformation changes that have been
put in place due to Covid as well as new ways of working to support these, alongside any areas that
require a more indepth focus or review. The Committee will seek assurance on these areas of work
to ensure patients in Sunderland have a positive experience of general practice and services.

Proposal to review terms of
Reference?

Yes – to ensure they still remain fit for purpose

Chair of the Committee

P Harle, Lay Member for Primary Care Commissioning and
Quality

Report Author

D Cornell
Head of Corporate Affairs

Date:

29 April 2020
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CATEGORY OF PAPER
Proposes specific action
Provides assurance
For information only

Item: 8.6




GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020
Report Title:

Annual Report 2019/20

Purpose of report
To provide the Committee with the CCG’s annual report, including the governance statement, for
2019/20.
Key points
The report structure for 2019/20 has been developed in line with the Department of Health’s
Manual for Accounts and is structured as follows:
 Performance report
 Accountability report
 Financial statements
The performance report includes a number of key areas to be covered including:
 An overview from the Accountable Officer’s perspective
 Performance analysis (including key performance measures, the organisation’s
development and performance, performance on other matters including sustainable
development)
The accountability report includes:
 A corporate governance report, including the statement of Accountable Officer’s
responsibilities and governance statement
 A remuneration and staff report
 A parliamentary and audit report
The governance statement is a key requirement within the annual report and the statement
included within the attached document has been prepared in accordance with the Department of
Health Manual for Accounts and NHS England governance statement template.
The statement covers the CCG’s key governance and risk management areas as follows:
 Governance framework
 Risk management framework
 Internal control framework
 Review of effectiveness of the above frameworks
 Head of internal audit opinion and report from external auditors
The Governing Body is asked to note that the Accountable Officer is required to sign and date the
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performance report; accountability report (including the governance statement and remuneration
and staff report); parliamentary accountability report; and the financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee will review the report at its meeting on the morning of 19 May.
Therefore due to the timing of this meeting, any feedback and/or amendments from the Committee
will be given verbally to the Governing Body and the report updated prior to its formal submission to
NHS England.
The CCG is required to submit a full audited and signed copy of the annual report and accounts to
NHS England by noon on 25 June 2020. This date has been extended due to the impact of the
Covid pandemic on the NHS organisations. However it is the CCG’s intention to submit its report
and accounts in line with the original deadline of 25 May 2020.
Risks and issues
The key issues and risks are highlighted on page 32 of the attached report.
Assurances
The attached report and governance statement has been prepared in accordance with the
guidance issued by NHS England. The report and governance statement have also been reviewed
in detail by the committee, external auditors and NHS England to ensure for accuracy,
appropriateness and compliance with current guidance.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to:
 Approve the annual report, including the governance statement;
 Note the Accountable Officer is required to sign and date the annual report as highlighted
above;
 Agree for the report to be submitted to NHS England by the required deadline.
Sponsor/approving director

Dr N O’Brien, Accountable Officer

Report author

D Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs
L Anderson, Involvement and Engagement Manager
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties
CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets
CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services





CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services



CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities



CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
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Relevant legal/statutory issues
Department of Health and Social Care Manual for Accounts 2019/20
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Yes

No

N/A



If yes, please specify
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Key implications
Are additional resources
required?

Not applicable as annual report only

Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?

Not applicable as annual report only

Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

Not applicable as annual report only

Not applicable as annual report only

Not applicable as annual report only
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Performance Overview
Our vision is for Better Health for Sunderland and is delivered through our three key
strategic objectives:
Transforming out-of-hospital care
• through joining up health and social care and enabling seven day
working
Transforming in-hospital care
• specifically urgent and emergency care (and enabling seven day
working)
Enabling self-care and sustainability
• to ensure the NHS can survive and thrive in the future.

In this, our performance overview, we have set out our main areas of work and
achievements towards this vision during 2019/20, as well as outlining our business model,
organisational structure and an overview of our local population.

Statement from the Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer
Welcome to the NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group’s seventh annual report
covering the financial year 2019/20.
The past 12 months have seen significant achievements in NHS services across
Sunderland as we work towards the Five Year Forward View vision through a range of
initiatives and understand how our plans need to reflect the NHS Long Term Plan
published in January 2019.
Over the past five years, Sunderland has been at the forefront of national moves to
develop new models of care, with substantial work to integrate services and improve the
way care is delivered through our All Together Better (ATB) alliance approach.
On 1 April 2019, All Together Better Sunderland formally came into operation as an
‘alliance’ of providers and commissioners, working together to join up community health
and care services and improve health outcomes. It now has formal delegated responsibility
for the CCG’s £203 million budget for ‘out of hospital’ care, including all learning disability
and mental health beds.
Working together as equal partners, ATB Sunderland has made significant progress in the
past year. This has included agreeing a shared vision and business model, governance
arrangements and annual operational plan. As our new way of working has matured, the
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alliance has realigned staff and resources to create shared capacity and secured shared
premises to support closer collaborative working.
An in-depth consultation and review of urgent care services concluded with
implementation of the new range of services, with an urgent treatment centre at Pallion
alongside substantially increased capacity in the five Sunderland Extended Access
services throughout the city.
We made a number of changes both to our proposed urgent care model and to the way we
shared and communicated about it in our communities, following feedback from patients
and stakeholders.
While recruitment of GPs and primary care staff remains an issue right across the country,
we are making progress in attracting well-qualified GPs and other staff, to ensure services
are in a strong position for the future.
A number of schemes, including Career Start schemes for GPs, practice nurses and
healthcare assistants, are making a difference, with the latest figures (2019/20, quarter
two) showing an increase in the number of salaried or partner GPs (FTE) over the
previous two years.
With additional recruitment of 15 practice pharmacists as well as the new medical school
now in place at Sunderland University, we hope to make further progress in the years
ahead.
We continue to work closely with South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
to review and plan hospital services through the Path to Excellence, a five-year
transformation programme.
The Path to Excellence programme aims to secure high quality and sustainable hospital
services in Sunderland and South Tyneside for the future, by identifying innovative ways of
delivering hospital services that improve the quality of care and patient outcomes.
Patients are already seeing the benefits of changes made during phase one of the
programme, particularly through a significant improvement in stroke care outcomes. A
major programme of engagement has helped to gather more than 16,000 responses from
patients, staff and stakeholders, as phase two brings a focus on emergency care and
acute medicine, emergency surgery and planned care.
As the year came to a close, the NHS both in Sunderland and nationally was focused
overwhelmingly on protecting and caring for our patients as far as possible during the
Covid-19 outbreak. Our thanks and admiration go to everyone who, at the time of writing,
is working so hard in immensely difficult circumstances.
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Dr Neil O`Brien
Accountable Officer

Dr Ian Pattison
Clinical Chair

Statement of Purpose
This section outlines our business model and environment, organisational structure,
objectives and strategies.

About NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Sunderland CCG (the CCG) is the statutory body responsible for planning,
purchasing and monitoring the delivery and quality of most local healthcare and health
services for the people of Sunderland. It is made up of doctors, nurses and other health
professionals with management support.
All 38 GP practices in Sunderland are members of the CCG and together they elect six
GPs to lead the CCG on their behalf, as part of a governing body which also includes a
local authority representative, lay members, senior managers, a secondary care clinician
and a senior nurse.
The Governing Body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the strategy for
health improvement in the city and ensuring the CCG delivers the improvements set out in
the strategy whilst maintaining and adhering to good governance principles.
The Governing Body works closely with a range of partners, as part of Sunderland’s
Health and Wellbeing Board, to improve the overall wellbeing of local people.

Our vision
Our vision remains to achieve Better Health for Sunderland and we use the following
seven core values to support the delivery of our vision:
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These seven core values were informed through local engagement with member practices,
patients and local people and they shape everything we do to deliver our vision.

System principles
The following system-wide principles underpin the delivery of all our transformational
change programmes:


Evidence-based



Effective, safe care and positive patient experience



Prevention-focused



Mental and physical health are of equal importance



7-day services



One system for health and social care across Sunderland
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Overview of Sunderland
The current population of Sunderland is 277,417 (2018 MYE).
Figure 1: 10 year band age profile for Sunderland (2018 MYE)
45,000

35,000

39,815

38,383

40,000
34,118

33,154

34,404

33,289

29,609

30,000
25,000

22,698

20,000
15,000

11,947

10,000
5,000
0
0 - 10

11 - 20

21 - 30

31 - 40

41 - 50

51 - 60

61 - 70

71 - 80

81 - 90

Over the past 20 years, the population of Sunderland has been falling. However, this
decline has recently levelled off and the population is forecast to rise over the next 20
years.
Figure 2: Total population for Sunderland 2001 - 2018 (ONS MYE)
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Compared to England, the population of Sunderland has a higher proportion of older
people but less than the North East average. Older people use health and social care
services more intensively than any other age group, which Sunderland CCG takes into
consideration whilst planning services.
Figure 3: Age population for Sunderland, the North East, and England (2018 MYE)
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Culture and ethnicity may influence health beliefs and behaviours, and impact on health
and wellbeing. In 2011, people from black and minority ethnic (BME) groups represented
4.1% of the Sunderland population, compared with 4.7% in the North East and 14.7%
across England (2011 Census).
The age distribution of people from black and minority ethnic groups is generally younger
than the rest of the population; there were lower proportions of all age groups from the 4044 age group upwards. Population forecasts over the next three years suggests that
Sunderland will have annual inward migration of around 6,700 persons from elsewhere in
the United Kingdom and around 1,500 from the rest of the world, which is likely to continue
to increase ethnic diversity but not rapidly increase the population size.
The Sunderland population experiences a higher level of social and economic
disadvantage than the England average. Sunderland is the 31st most deprived upper tier
local authority in England (based on IMD 2015 Average Score). Seventy one of
Sunderland’s 185 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are among the most disadvantaged
fifth of all areas across England, and 38% of the Sunderland population lives within these
super output areas. Sunderland North has the highest proportion of people living in both
the most and least disadvantaged areas. The other areas have decreasing levels of
disadvantage.
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Figure 4: LSOA, depravation, and localities

42% of older people live in areas which are in the 20% most disadvantaged by older
people living in poverty across England. Sunderland East, West and North have higher
levels of older people living in poverty.
According to Public Health England’s local authority health profile for Sunderland, the
health of people in Sunderland is generally worse than the England average. Sunderland
is one of the 20% most deprived districts/unitary authorities in England and about
23% (11,100) of children live in low income families. Life expectancy for both men and
women is lower than the England average. Life expectancy is 11.5 years lower for men
and 8.7 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Sunderland than in the least
deprived areas.
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Key challenges
The Five Year Forward View identified three key challenges for the NHS:
1. To improve health and wellbeing:
Health is determined by a complex interaction between individual characteristics,
lifestyle, and the physical, social and economic environment. People in Sunderland are
living longer but are at risk of spending their extended years in poor health as a result of
high levels of poverty, deprivation and lack of opportunity which influence behaviours
such as poor diet, lack of exercise, smoking and excessive alcohol use. Without greater
focus on prevention and the wider determinants of health, these inequalities will widen.
2. Improve care and quality
The quality of general practice is very good, but pressures are increasing and workforce
recruitment and retention in Sunderland and the wider North East has historically been
challenging. To ensure safe, sustainable high-quality services in the future, it is
important that the issue of duplication in service provision is addressed.
3. Ensure sustainability
In terms of funding and efficiency, 2019/20 has been financially challenging for the CCG
and we expect this challenge to continue and become more difficult in future years.
Rapid delivery of financial and associated efficiencies, alongside increased productivity,
will be needed in order to remain within the available allocations.

Our health challenges
We have a passion for improving health and health services for the people of Sunderland and
to achieve this we will work with patients, carers, service providers, partners and our
stakeholders.
To respond to our health challenges, a joint assessment of local needs with Sunderland City
Council recommended that those commissioning services in Sunderland prioritise the
following:


Improve mental health and mental wellness



Raise the expectation of being healthy for all individuals, families and communities and
promote health seeking behaviours



Reduce unemployment



Address the impact of tobacco leading to reduced overall smoking prevalence (all ages)
and numbers of young people starting to smoke



Reduce overall alcohol consumption and increase treatment services for those with
problem drinking



Increase active living



Commission excellent services for cancer
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Commission excellent services for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)



Commission excellent services for cardiovascular disease including diabetes



Support people to live independently and increase levels of self-care

To address these priorities we work closely with the local community and engage with a wide
range of local partners to ensure the very best health and social care for our patients.
We work collaboratively with Sunderland City Council and other partners as part of the Health
and Wellbeing Board agenda and have developed relationships with Healthwatch Sunderland
to ensure we take into account the views of people who use health and social care services.
We regularly engage with the community and voluntary sector as they provide an important
voice for patients, and invaluable insight into the health challenges faced by local people.
We use all of our clinical and managerial expertise, knowledge of our patients, our
relationships with other NHS organisations, our local authority, local hospitals and other
partners to follow best practice and use evidence-based medicine to commission health
services that will ensure we delivery our vision of ‘Better Health for Sunderland’.

Strategic objectives
In order to achieve our vision of Better Health for Sunderland our three key strategic objectives
and their areas of focus are:
1. Transforming out-of-hospital care:


Patient-centred



Right care, right place, right time



System-wide approach with one common vision



Multi-disciplinary teams in localities working together with older people, adults and
children with long term conditions / complex needs to improve their lives / meet their
needs



Improved overall quality of care for the elderly



Reduced variation in primary care



A system which is simple to navigate



Reduced emergency admissions to hospital as people are cared for effectively in the
community

2. Transforming in-hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care:


Equality of access across the city to urgent care



24/7 hub



More seamless transition between services



Reduction in emergency admissions
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3. Enabling Self-Care and Sustainability:


Local people influence and understand the system



A city that actively supports / enables people to be and stay healthy, well and happy



Improved public health outcomes



Managing demand and utilising community assets



A single Transformation Board to oversee this work



Working closely with partners in neighbouring CCGs where our patients use services in
those areas or where the level of transformation required is on a larger footprint than
Sunderland.

Statement of Activities
Below we outline our main areas of work and some of our priorities and achievements during
the past year. More detailed information about the projects and activities we have undertaken
in the past year are detailed in NHS Sunderland Annual Involvement and Engagement Report
2019/20.
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-governance/annualengagement-and-involvement-report/

Covid-19 outbreak
As 2019-20 came to a close, the NHS both in Sunderland and nationally was focused
overwhelmingly on the challenges posed by the Covid-19 outbreak. In addition to the incredibly
hard and brave work of frontline health and care staff, this situation has seen the CCG and its
partners in the All Together Better alliance making a number of major changes to the way we
work:


Making extra beds and support services available, both in and out of hospital, to support
treatment of coronavirus patients



Strengthening our health and social care workforce with extra staff, including local
volunteer support



Setting up local Covid-19 patient assessment services to support GP practices in
assessing and treating potential coronavirus patients



Arranging for GP practices to stay open through the Easter bank holiday



Providing extra support for health and social care workers to use video and phone for
consultations with local care homes, residents and patients



All Sunderland practices moving to total telephone triage, online consultations and in
some cases video consultations

The NHS Long Term Plan
Launched in 2019, the national NHS Long Term Plan is focused on improving the quality of
patient care and health outcomes. Its aim is to build an NHS fit for the future by enabling
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everyone to get the best start in life, helping communities to live well, and helping people to
age well.
The Long Term Plan aims to improve outcomes for major diseases, including cancer, heart
disease, stroke, respiratory disease and dementia, and also includes measures to:


Improve out-of-hospital care, supporting primary medical and community health services



Ensure all children get the best start in life by continuing to improve maternity safety
including halving the number of stillbirths, maternal and neonatal deaths and serious
brain injury by 2025



Support older people through more personalised care and stronger community and
primary care services



Make digital health services a mainstream part of the NHS, so that in 5 years, patients
in England will be able to access a digital GP offer

To find out more see the NHS Long Term Plan website.

Transforming out of hospital care
All Together Better Sunderland
Since being awarded NHS ‘vanguard’ status in 2015, Sunderland has been at the forefront of
developing new models of care. A significant amount of work has already taken place, through
All Together Better (ATB), to begin to integrate services and improve the way care is delivered.
On 1 April 2019, ATB Sunderland formally came into operation as an ‘alliance’ of providers
(including GPs in their role as providers) and commissioners working together to join-up
community health and care services across Sunderland and improve health outcomes for
people living across the City.
ATB Sunderland now has formal delegated responsibility for Sunderland Clinical
Commissioning Group’s (CCG) £203 million budget for ‘out of hospital’ care, including all
learning disability and mental health beds.
Through the alliance approach, ATB Sunderland aims to build upon the success of the ‘out of
hospital’ NHS vanguard programme by improving the health of local people, providing better
care and ensuring clinically and financially sustainable services.
Working together as an alliance means that all partners are equal in standing and focussed on
working across organisational boundaries to do what is best for the person and for the whole
health and care system.
During 2019/20, ATB Sunderland published its first operational plan setting out its vision,
values and an agreed set of clear expectations and behaviours which all partners are signed
up to and which underpin the new alliance way of working:
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People-centred

Care and support organised around the person
Outstanding, safe and compassionate care
High quality, responsive and effective community services

Integrity

Acting with honesty and transparency
Deliver what we said we will deliver
Respect and embrace difference

Collaborative

Working together as one team dedicated to meeting peoples’ needs
Clinical leadership guides our thinking
Listening and learning from each other

Quality and
safety

Quality and safety are implicit in our vision and values and our
underpinning governance framework will enable quality and safety to be
at the heart of everything we do.

Work throughout 2019/20 has focussed on developing governance and partnership
arrangements that facilitate closer working at both a local neighbourhood level and across the
wider City of Sunderland. Three key transformational priorities have also been further refined
and agreed:
1. Improving health outcomes and reducing inequality
2. Enhanced integrated primary care services
3. The transformation of care and support services
Underpinning these are clear plans for delivery which are organised under four programmes of
activity each with a senior responsible officer and senior responsible clinician from across the
ATB Sunderland partner organisations:
1. General practice
2. Mental health, learning disabilities and autism
3. Enhanced primary and community care
4. Intermediate and urgent care
Since April 2019, ATB Sunderland has successfully:
 Established a shared vision, objectives, care and business models
 Published a system-wide plan on a page and annual operational plan
 Identified and begun to implement an ambitious system-wide transformation programme
 Developed governance arrangements
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 Established capacity through staff alignment and commitment of resource from all
partners
 Developed the ATB architecture and ways of working
 Matured the way we operate at Executive and Programme level
 Secured premises to facilitate collaborative working (with Sunderland CCG’s support)
 Developed our communications and engagement strategy
In January 2020, Sunderland CCG Governing Body agreed to support ATB’s continuing
journey by formalising the commissioner commitment to agree delegated responsibility for the
out of hospital budget over a longer time period. This will provide the stability needed and a
more realistic timeframe for transformational change to take place over the next five years as
the alliance way of working continues to be embedded. Work is also taking place with
Sunderland CCG to agree more efficient decision making arrangements for 2020/21 to enable
real devolution of ownership of issues rather than duplicating multiple discussions.
The work taking place through ATB Sunderland is in line with the ambitions outlined in the
NHS Long Term Plan and the Integrated Care System (ICS) across the North East and North
Cumbria. ATB Sunderland is represented at the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) which forms part of the region’s ICS.
To find out more about All Together Better, visit www.atbsunderland.org.uk.

Transforming in-hospital care
Path to Excellence – the transforming hospital services across South Tyneside and
Sunderland
Performance overview
We have continued our partnership with NHS South Tyneside CCG and South Tyneside and
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust on the Path to Excellence programme, a five-year
transformation of hospital healthcare provision across South Tyneside and Sunderland.
Changes made following a consultation as part of phase one of the Path to Excellence have
now been implemented.
The decisions were:


All acute strokes are directed to Sunderland Royal Hospital (SRH), with the
consolidation of all inpatient stroke care at Sunderland (running temporarily since
December 2016 due to service vulnerability)



Development of a free-standing midwifery-led unit (FMLU), known as a birthing centre,
at South Tyneside District Hospital



Medically-led obstetric unit at Sunderland Royal Hospital



Gynaecology care requiring an overnight hospital stay carried out at Sunderland Royal
Hospital
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Care for minor gynaecology conditions, including day case surgery and out-patients’
clinics, will continue at South Tyneside District Hospital



The development of a nurse-led paediatric minor injury and illness facility at South
Tyneside District Hospital – open 8am to 10pm – and 24/7 paediatric emergency
department at Sunderland Royal Hospital as the most sustainable long-term model
(option 2).

As of August 5, 2019, all of these changes are now permanent across both hospital sites. A
public awareness campaign ran during summer 2019 and included posts on social media,
radio advertisements and digital screens in busy commuter areas and GP surgeries.
A judicial review hearing took place in December 2018 which challenged the decision of NHS
South Tyneside and Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Groups in relation to phase one Path
to Excellence service changes.
The challenge was brought on behalf of the Save South Tyneside Hospital Campaign Group.
The judgement showed, very clearly, that the judge supported the CCGs decisions for phase
one of the Path to Excellence programme and found the public consultation in 2017 to be a fair
and lawful process.
A subsequent appeal was held in December 2019 and the judgement was handed down by the
Court of Appeal on 28th January 2020, which supported the original judgement, acknowledging
that “at each stage there was genuine engagement with the public”.
Phase two
Phase two of the Path to Excellence programme is the final part of the NHS transformation of
local hospital services that began in 2016 and will involve the following key areas of hospitalbased care:


Emergency care and acute medicine



Emergency surgery



Planned care (including surgery and outpatients)

Path to Excellence NHS partners continue to work together to plan for the future and identify
new and innovative ways of delivering high quality, joined-up, sustainable hospital services that
will further improve the quality of care and patient outcomes for local people.
Roadshow activity took place throughout spring 2019 and further events were held in autumn
2019 across South Tyneside, Sunderland, East and North Durham areas. From 56 events
across both campaigns, the roadshows engaged with over 2,150 people in total.
The roadshow engagement provided a valuable opportunity for individuals to provide feedback
as to what makes them proud of the NHS, what improvements they would like to see and what
concerns them most about the future of the service.
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A total of 955 responses were gathered at events in October and November 2019 which were
raising awareness of the Path to Excellence, vital information which has been fed back to
clinical staff working on the programme, meaning that there have now been over 16,800
responses since 2018 in total.
Travel and transport
The Travel and Transport Sub-Group meets quarterly and has a membership representing
South Tyneside & Sunderland Local Authorities, Local Councillors, South Tyneside &
Sunderland FT, STCCG, Public Transport Users Group, Healthwatch, NEXUS, Stagecoach
and Go North East, who all contribute to identifying opportunities for partnership working and
sharing expertise. All partners have the opportunity to share lessons from projects and cooperate where possible.
Members of the public who engaged with the roadshow continued to express their concerns
about having to travel further for services as a result of changes as part of the programme.
For example, concern around the ability of the ambulance service to deal with additional
patients who would need emergency transport, the impact on visitors using public transport
and the capacity for car parking.
The work is focusing on improvement to travel planning and joining up services and
information across the NHS, transport providers and local authorities for the benefit of patients,
families, visitors and staff and a Travel and Transport Impact Assessment is due to be carried
out in the near future on this issue.
Impact of participation
The engagement for phase two of the Path to Excellence started in February 2018 and
continued through 2019 and into 2020. The focus is around local people’s views for medicine
and emergency care, emergency surgery and planned care and outpatients services in South
Tyneside and Sunderland.
A number of stakeholder evaluation sessions were held in spring 2019, which included
engagement with NHS staff which allowed them to give their views on the ‘working ideas’ as
part of phase two.
A public listening panel event was held in June 2019 where interested stakeholders had the
opportunity to present any evidence or ideas directly to NHS leaders. The panel was chaired
by the director of The Consultation Institute, an independent, not-for-profit best practice
institute, promoting high-quality public and stakeholder consultation in the public, private and
voluntary sectors. The event was broadcast live on social media channels and NHS websites.
Focus group activity with voluntary and community sector groups in South Tyneside,
Sunderland, East and North Durham has also taken place with all feedback due to be compiled
in a report and given to clinical teams as part of the design process for phase two consultation.
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More than 30 focus group sessions involving over 200 patients with experience of LTCs or
participants involved with groups supporting people with protected characteristics under the
Equality Act 2010 have also been held.
Two surveys targeting patients with East and North Durham postcodes have also been sent
out. The direct surveys, sent to over 1,600 patients, targeting patients with lived experiences
of:


Medicine and emergency care



Planned care and outpatients



Emergency surgery.

Some of the activity for Path to Excellence phase two over the past year includes:


Over 160 staff also took part in three dedicated staff ‘evaluation’ sessions between
March and May 2019 to find out more about current thinking and work together to
review working ideas against a RAG system.



Roadshow teams including Healthwatch volunteers have held over 55 roadshow drop-in
events engaging with people in shopping centres, supermarkets, primary care centres
and hospital outpatients across South Tyneside and Sunderland, East and North
Durham.



Approximately 800 responses were given to questions on local NHS services were
gathered from members of the public, while a total of 45 NHS staff survey cards were
completed. As well as this, 678 people completed a short face to face survey or online
survey targeted via digital advertising and social media.



More than 18,000 flyers were distributed during roadshow activity in March 2019 while
460 booklets, leaflets and information cards were distributed in October and November
2019, during which time 3,600 copies of the Path to Excellence Autumn 2019 update
were handed out to GP surgeries in South Tyneside, Sunderland, East and North
Durham.



Posts on Facebook and Twitter have generated a potential reach1 of 223,000 people on
social media sponsored ads



There were a total of 616 connections on Twitter and Facebook with the programme’s
social media pages respectively and 1,634 clicks to links posted on those pages.



The Path to Excellence website has had over 13,700 page views during the past year.

1

Potential reach is the total number of people who could have seen you content i.e. your follower numbers, plus
the follower numbers of anyone sharing your post. This can also include likes and comments. Please note that
people could have seen this information multiple times.
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This feedback will help us in how we assess ideas and solutions that are being developed that
could go forward into the future public consultation which is expected to take place during
2020.
North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care
Partnerships
In June 2019, the North East and North Cumbria area was confirmed by NHS England as one
of a small number of ‘Integrated Care Systems’ across the country.
The North East and North Cumbria (NENC) Integrated Care System (ICS) is a regional
partnership between the NHS, local authorities and others, taking collective responsibility for
resources, setting strategic objectives and care standards, and improving the health of the 3.1
million people it serves.
The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 sets out clear expectations for all
Integrated Care Systems.
Our ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners and providers, and our partners, and not a
new organisation with statutory powers. The majority of our work is focused in places and
neighbourhoods, but alongside this, our ICS provides a mechanism to build consensus on
those issues that need to be tackled ‘at scale’.
Our ICS builds on existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of clinical
commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. This involves local
primary care networks (GPs and other health and care professionals) and NHS foundation
trusts, working with local authority and voluntary sector partners, in improving health and
wellbeing through extending the reach and effectiveness of our services.
Our ICS is focused on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiply our collective impact around overarching
clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning (e.g. for ambulance services)
and shared policy development. It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).
During 2019-20 we have been working across three levels of scale:
1. Place – populations of around 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus for
partnership working between the NHS and local authorities. In these areas, primary care
networks (providing services to populations of around 30,000-50,000 people) will
support collaboration between GP practices, social care, other community based care
providers and voluntary sector organisations.
2. Integrated care partnerships – populations of around one million (with the exception of
North Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic features), focused on
collaboration across NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and sustainable services.
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3. Integrated Care System – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focused on ‘at scale’
activity that achieves efficiencies.
In South Tyneside, Sunderland and County Durham, NHS organisations have come together,
working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a coordinated way as
the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).
Sunderland (CCG) is one of the NHS partners in the North East and North Cumbria (NENC)
Integrated Care System (ICS) who have agreed to work together at scale where it makes most
sense to do so, and to protect and emphasise the importance of ‘place’ - local accountability to
local populations and the ability to respond to local needs.
Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) will continue to
work with our partners to develop further care models that support the balancing of capacity
and demand across the health economy.
Based on the NHS Long Term Plan, all Integrated Care Systems were asked to create their
own five-year strategic plans by November 2019, to cover the period 2019-20 to 2023-24. Our
North East and North Cumbia ICS Plan outlines how we will:


Bring together local organisations in a pragmatic and practical way



Ensure patients get more options, better support, and properly joined-up care at the
right time and place



To relieve pressure on A&Es through more effective population health management and
service coordination



Strengthen our contribution to prevention and tackling health inequalities to help people
stay healthy and moderate demand on the NHS



Develop a new ‘system architecture’ that delivers strategic action on workforce
transformation, digitally-enabled care, and the collaborative approaches to innovation
and efficiency that will restore our whole ICS to financial balance

North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network
Our CCG is an active member of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency
Care Network, which brings together organisations across the Integrated Care System (ICS) to
ensure the quality, safety and equity of urgent and emergency care services in the region.
The network ensures effective co-ordination of urgent and emergency care services across the
North East and North Cumbria in the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan. The
network’s goal is to have a highly responsive, 24/7, seamless urgent and emergency care
model, which reduces demand on emergency services through whole system collaboration,
while reducing unwarranted variation.
Over the past 12 months, the network has implemented and supported a series of
improvements to ease pressure on services across the region. These include:
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Digital record-sharing (Great North Care Record): Emergency doctors, nursing staff,
hospital pharmacists and consultants use the MIG (Medical Interoperability Gateway) to help
make clinical decisions, with over 150,000 records viewed every month (as of January 2020).
Out of hours providers, North East Ambulance Service/111 clinicians and the vast majority of
the region’s hospital trusts are now live on the system.
The MIG is a secure system that provides the most up-to-date patient information, such as
diagnoses, medications, details of hospital admissions and treatments.
With the network’s support, MIG has been rolled out successfully across the region, meaning
that every GP practice now shares patients’ records with the clinicians involved in their care resulting in safer, faster, more effective care, with less time wasted getting hold of medical
records, or patients having to answer questions more than once.
Work is now in progress to introduce the Health Information Exchange (HIE). Led by
Newcastle Hospitals as part of the Great North Care Record, this will be a major new step
allowing two-way sharing of data, documents and images. It will improve the flow of information
between organisations and ultimately improve care for people in our region.
Urgent Treatment Centres now provide standardised services, replacing the confusing mix of
minor injuries units, urgent care centres and walk-in centres. All designated centres have a
regionally standardised Directory of Services profile which is due for review following full
regional implementation.
111 Online is now available across the region, offering a fast, convenient alternative to the 111
telephone service and a good option for people who want to access 111 digitally. Usage
across the region continues to increase.
Free NHS falls training for care home staff has been offered again this year. This is
specially designed course helps staff to confidently manage residents who suffer falls. The
course is delivered by North East Ambulance Service with support from the network and NHS
England.
Service FinderBETA is now live, enabling healthcare professionals to connect patients to the
most suitable services first time, and supporting better distribution of demand across the urgent
and emergency care setting.
A new regional communications campaign was launched to raise public awareness of how
best to access urgent and emergency care services across the region during the winter. The
campaign included:


Proactive media



TV advertising on ITV Tyne Tees, ITV Hib, Sky Adsmart and Sky Regional



Radio advertising on Heart FM, Capital FM



Major digital and social media campaign
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Outdoor advertising including buses, Metro, Billboards etc



Advertising with Evening Chronicle and Evening Gazette

The UEC-RAIDR app (Urgent and Emergency Care) is now fully embedded across the
region and gives providers, CCGs and GP practices real-time information on operational
pressure escalation level (OPEL) ratings, ambulance activity, patients present, bed availability
and emergency department waiting times, to aid the management of pressures.
New functionality includes more detailed map views and enhanced notification capability.
Users are able to select geographically accurate map layers to view pressure levels of
providers across the system, and zoom in at a focused local level.
App users receiving notifications of changes to hospital OPEL levels are also able to receive
information changes for ambulance activity, 111 and 999 call volumes, bed availability, ED
activity and waiting times.
Every North East GP practice now accepts appointments through NHS 111, putting the
region in the forefront of change within the NHS nationally and ensuring that patients are
directed to the right service to meet their needs.
This also enables direct booking of appointments to out of hours services. New quarterly
reporting to CCGs and GP practices has been implemented to enable active management of
time slots made available for 111 bookings.
Community Pharmacy Consultation Service is now live, with 575 pharmacies across the
region signed up. This enables NHS 111 to access pharmacies to treat minor ailments and
urgent repeat prescriptions.
The network also provides a surge management service, offering a whole systems approach to
managing pressures, for example during winter. This includes supporting staff on call and
establishing a command and control hub to support daily operational management of
surge. Activities include:


Providing support to CCGs across the North East and North Cumbria in-hours and
arranging CCG out of hours on-call



Working with regulators during winter to act on providers’ performance reports as
required



Monitoring and reporting on pressures using the UEC-RAIDR app



Coordinating regional events to share lessons learned, innovation and best practice
(recent examples include a winter debrief and a masterclass)



Project working to deliver regional solutions as part of the network’s delivery plan.

The network will continue to work on vital initiatives with an ambitious three-year delivery plan
to reduce hospital admissions and attendances at A&E departments by making better use of
GPs and pharmacists and to help patients improve their own health.
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Through the network, the region’s hospitals will work together as a single, well-coordinated
system, monitoring demand, sharing information in real time, and supporting each other
through busy periods. This means emergency responses are better coordinated and also
reduces the risk of queuing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in A&E.
Capacity Tracker
The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, Matt Hancock, has spoken about how
better technology is vital for the NHS.
Leading the field in this area is the digital portal, Capacity Tracker, which is proving to be a
valuable tool for individuals, care homes and health and social care staff across the North East
and England as a whole.
Our CCG is one of the organisations using Capacity Tracker, which was built by our partners at
NHS North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in partnership with NHS England, local
authority representatives and care home providers.
It enables care homes to make their vacancies instantly visible to all discharge teams across
England in real-time and is accessible from any desktop or mobile device.
This helps individuals make the right choice, ensuring they don’t stay in hospital any longer
than is necessary when discharge to their own home is not possible. The simplified process
reduces stress and anxiety for the individual and their families at a time when they need care
and support.
Capacity Tracker has
removed the
requirement for
hospital discharge
teams to perform the
time-consuming task of
speculatively calling care homes to gather up-to-date vacancy information. Having the ability to
rapidly access care home vacancies across England in real-time helps minimise avoidable
Delayed Transfers of Care and frees up beds in acute settings for other patients.
As of March 2020, over 9,000 care homes across the country and around 13,000 users had
signed up to the Capacity Tracker.
The capacity tracker was developed by NECS and is utilised within 47 out of 47 care homes
within the city. It allows for live updates on vacancies within the care home. During COVID 19
care homes are able to update information in relation to business continuity e.g. staffing levels
COVID positive cases, and if they have adequate supplies of Personal Protective Equipment.
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Enabling self-care and sustainability
Over-the-counter prescribing campaign
Every year, the NHS spends:


£22.8 million on constipation – enough to fund around 900 community nurses



£3 million on athlete’s foot and other fungal infections – enough to pay for 810 hip
operations



£2.8 million on diarrhoea – enough to fund 2,912 cataract operations

Working across the NHS system in the region, our partners at NHS North of England
Commissioning Support developed a campaign aimed at patients, to support efficiencies in
over-the-counter prescribing.
We continue to take part in the campaign aimed to raise awareness of the costs of prescribing
medicines that are routinely available to buy from local pharmacies, such as paracetamol and
hay fever medication.
The overall aim was to save money on prescribing costs for items that patients can buy easily
and cheaply to treat self-limiting minor ailments, which would allow the savings to be used
elsewhere in the healthcare system.
For example, a pack of 12 anti-sickness tablets can be purchased for £2.18 from a pharmacy,
but costs the NHS over £3 after including dispensing fees, and over £35 when you include GP
consultation and other administration costs. Similarly, some common tablets are on average
four times more expensive when provided on prescription.
A suite of materials were distributed to GP practices, walk-in centres, A&E departments and
pharmacies for prescribers who wanted to use it to help with the discussions with patients
about self-care. This was supported by further communications through the media, CCG
websites and social media. Campaign information and resources are available at
www.mymedicinesmyhealth.org.uk.
In its first 12 months, the campaign
made savings of over £1m across the
region. As the campaign continues to
run, savings continue to be made,
meaning NHS funds can be used to
meet other healthcare needs.

Northern CCG Joint Committee
In common with all CCGs in the region, we played an active role in the Northern CCG Joint
Committee.

26

During 2019/20 the Joint Committee considered the following:


North East and North Cumbria Prescribing Forum



Individual Funding Requests (IFR) – A System Review Update



Value Based Commissioning (VBC)



North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Annual Review and customer board
reports



Developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) in the North East and North Cumbria



Developing a Lay Member Network



Governance items



Research and Evidence



Flash Glucose Monitoring



The use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD



Cyber security



Specialised Commissioning



Breast Services Review



Use of antivirals for flu prophylaxis and treatment

A work plan for the Joint Committee for 2020/21 is currently being developed.
Where appropriate, meetings are held in public and members of the public are welcome to
attend to observe the Joint Committee at work.
Urgent care
Urgent care consultation
The Sunderland urgent care consultation concluded with the decision to have an urgent
treatment centre located at Pallion Health Centre with five Sunderland Extended Access
Services located throughout the city.
Changes were made to the initial clinical model following concerns voiced by members of the
public, meaning minor injuries services will also be available at the Sunderland Extended
Access Services at Houghton Primary Care Centre and Washington Primary Care Centre as
well as at the urgent treatment centre in Pallion.
The CCG decided the future of urgent care services following a 16-week consultation period in
which people were invited to consider a range of different ways in which urgent care services
could be arranged in the future. From 9 May until 2 September 2018, the CCG engaged with
over 2,500 people through surveys, public events, focus groups, emails and over the phone on
the proposals for a new system of urgent care in Sunderland.
More information about the Sunderland urgent care consultation can be found by going to:
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/urgent-care-services/
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Urgent care services – decision making
The Governing Body reviewed and considered all the clinical evidence and feedback from a
process of public consultation at its meeting on 29 January 2019.
Following this, the CCG decided that from April 2019 patients only need to call their own GP
practice or 111 to access urgent healthcare. This includes:


An integrated urgent care service (111) which has been available since October 2018.



A Recovery at Home service which supports vulnerable patients with complex needs to
remain at home. This team (which includes a GP) responds quickly to provide intensive
support to those who need more help while they are getting back to normal after a short
term illness or injury in their own home, a care home or on discharge from hospital.



59,000 GP appointments per year from April 2019 through the Sunderland Extended
Access Service. Patients will be able to book an appointment through their GP practice
and this service is available from 6pm-8.30pm, Monday to Friday, 9am-5.30pm
weekends and 10am-2pm on bank holidays. From April 2019 the service was available
at five locations in Sunderland (Pallion Health Centre, Bunny Hill Primary Care Centre,
Houghton Primary Care Centre, Riverview Health Centre, Washington Primary Care
Centre).



Minor injury services will be accessed at the urgent treatment centre at Pallion Health
Centre (open 10am to 10pm, Monday to Friday and 8am-10pm weekends and bank
holidays) and via appointment at the Sunderland Extended Access Service in Houghton
Primary Care Centre and Washington Primary Care Centre.

Information on the decision making report for Sunderland urgent care can be found by going
to: https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/decision-making-on-the-urgent-careconsultation/
Mobilisation of the new range of urgent care services
The changes to urgent care services were implemented in two stages. The majority of changes
took place on 1 August, with the new Urgent Treatment Centre at Pallion becoming fully
operational from 1 December 2019, operating alongside the five Extended Access hubs across
the city.
To ensure sufficient capacity in the system, the CCG decided to keep the urgent care centre at
Bunny Hill open until 30 November. The new range of urgent care services was therefore fully
operational from 1 December 2020.
The changes were accompanied by a two-stage promotional campaign, including targeted
online, newspaper and social media advertising, leaflets and posters. These steps were carried
out during July and August and then again in November and December.
In addition, further targeted online advertising and localised leaflets were provided for the
Houghton le Spring and Washington areas, following suggestions from local councillors.
28

Ongoing engagement around urgent care services
NHS Sunderland CCG is committed to continuing to listen to local people about the changes
made to urgent care services. In January 2020, the CCG spoke with over 380 people across
the five localities of Sunderland. They asked people if they were aware of the changes to
urgent care services, and if they had any ongoing concerns about these changes. The
information collected from people will be fed into the mobilisation plan for urgent care services.
More information about the ongoing engagement around urgent care services can be found by
going to: https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/urgent-care-services/urgent-careservices-in-sunderland-were-still-listening/
Seriously resistant – Sunderland and South Tyneside Evaluation
The ‘Seriously Resistant’ campaign
aims to raise awareness of antibiotic
resistance and encourage people to
pledge to keep antibiotics working. If
people carry on misusing antibiotics,
in the future they could stop working
altogether. Without effective
antibiotics, many common treatments
will become increasingly dangerous,
including setting broken bones,
treatment for cancer, and routine
operations.

Spread the word of antimicrobial resistance
The ‘Seriously Resistant’ campaign in Sunderland targeted the following three areas:
1. Point of prescription – GP practices
2. Point of collection – Pharmacies
3. Point of consumption – Social media
Through digital platforms (website creation and social media content), and physical activity
(outdoor advertising, events and direct mail), antimicrobial resistance reached Sunderland
citywide in different ways.
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Reduce the misuse of antibiotics
• Although this isn’t something that can be monitored short term, after
extensive insight into key communities, the Seriously Resistant campaign
collected 9,668 pledges from 2,124 people in 12 weeks.
Reach high prescribing areas
• (Southwick, Shiney Row, Hetton-le-hole, Grindon, Sunderland City Centre
and Concord.) Social media activity was specifically targeted through
Facebook to reach all high prescribing areas. Physical event activity also
took place in City Centre, Concord, Hetton-le-hole and Shiney Row to reach
these areas.
Reach BME communities
• Through desk research, we found that Millfield, Hendon, St. Michael’s and
St. Peters (SR4) were the target BME areas. Targeted Facebook adverts
were created to promote messages in BME communities, as well as
prioritised follow-up pharmacy phone calls. As a result, SR4 received the
second highest amount of pledges throughout the campaign, with 1,017
received in 12 weeks.
Build engagement of the campaign through pledge
cards
• Through a mixed approach of direct mail, social media and physical events,
9,668 pledges were collected in 3 months - the best results compared to
any 12 week period of Seriously activity.
Engage the public with face
• to-face activity through community events - The campaign was received well
by people when the activity had a family focus, especially at the Active
Sunderland events which were a really great fit for the campaign activity.

Cervical screening pilot (Coalfields area)
NHS Sunderland CCG has launched a pilot campaign encouraging women to have their first
smear test. ‘First smear, no fear’ will see local beauty salons offer discounts to women who’ve
recently had their first smear. Six GP practices in the Coalfields area will be running the
campaign. Following their first smear test, women will be given a voucher signed by their
practice nurse. They can present this for a discount in any local participating salon.
New consultation types
As part of the GP Forward View and the 10 High Impact Actions, patients across NHS
Sunderland CCG’s area are now being offered a number of different ways to consult with their
GP practice. The New Consultation Types (NCT) programme has been designed and
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implemented to decrease the requirement for patient-GP face-to-face contact time. In turn, this
will boost GP capacity, helping practices to better manage increased demand.
Wound Care Hubs
In January 2020, services previously accessed in one of the 31 Treatment Rooms across
Sunderland were moved to six new Wound Care Hubs, staffed by highly skilled staff who will
deal with all wound care. Services previously available at Treatment Rooms, such as
phlebotomy, ECG, ear syringing and injections, moved to GP surgeries. A communications
programme was rolled out across GP practices during December and January advising local
people of the additional services they will be able to access at their GP surgeries. This
included printed materials, patient information screens and on-line activity.
Extended Access
Run by local GPs, the Extended Access Service is a way for people to see a doctor at times
more convenient for them, with appointments available at evenings, weekends and Bank
Holidays. Many people are simply unable to attend normal surgery opening times. The EA
service is run from five locations in the Sunderland area, including Houghton and Washington.
Staff at participating surgeries have access to the patient’s GP practice records, if needed, to
ensure consistent health care.
Painkillers Don’t Exist
Sunderland CCG has committed to reducing the prescribing rates of opioid medications as a
priority. The ‘Painkillers Don’t Exist’ campaign was created to ignite a conversation about
painkiller use and alternative solutions to pain management among both patients and GP
practices. Sunderland CCG has committed to reducing the inappropriate rates of prescribing of
opioid medications as a priority. The campaign, which uses relatively hard-hitting images and
messaging, ran across the city for several months during October, November and December
2019 and January 2020. It also included: outdoor advertising (buses and billboards), PR, a
comprehensive social media plan, a website, video and a GP resources pack (containing
printed materials and information). The campaign’s website is www.painkillersdontexist.com
Flu vaccination
To drive maximum uptake among eligible groups for the flu vaccine, the national flu vaccination
campaign was uplifted in the Sunderland area through localised news release and paid-for
social media. The messages focussed on who is eligible for the free vaccine while highlighting
the impact that flu can have on those most at risk.
CCGs win landmark high court victory over pharma companies - update
Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group, along with other CCGs in the North East and
Cumbria won a landmark legal case against Bayer and Novartis in 2018 in relation to the
choice policy adopted by the 12 CCGs in the North East and North Cumbria, which allows
patients the option to choose Avastin for wet age-related macular degeneration (wet AMD)
alongside the two current options, Lucentis and Eylea.
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Drug companies Novartis and Bayer took legal action to try to stop the CCGs from offering
Avastin to patients – even though it has been found by NICE to be just as clinically effective
and safe.
A well-known cancer drug, Avastin is widely used around the world, including the EU and
private practice in the UK, to treat wet AMD. Avastin is around 30 times cheaper than the most
expensive alternative. In a landmark ruling, the judge dismissed the appeal by the companies
on all four grounds.
The ruling in 2018 provides vital clarity for the NHS in the region and nationally, and clinicians
can be absolutely reassured that the use of Avastin for wet AMD is lawful, safe and effective.
Avastin is equally effective, and much less expensive and could save £13.5 million per year for
the 12 CCGs involved, which can be ploughed straight back into caring for our patients. The
drug companies have since launched an appeal against the High Court judgement in 2018. At
the time of publication CCGs are awaiting the Court of Appeal verdict. The verdict will be
published on the CCG websites.

Key Issues and Risks
The CCG identified the following key risks to the delivery of its strategic objectives in 2019/20:


Sustainability of IT, workforce and infrastructure within the CCG and general practice



Financial pressures within the Local Authority around eligibility for Continuing
Healthcare



Referral to treatment (18 weeks) and waiting list times in secondary care



Delivery of 62 day cancer treatment target at South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust



Delivery of ambulance response targets by North East Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust



Providers ability to meet the A&E 95% four hour target



Impact on quality of the hospital collaboration work across South Tyneside and
Sunderland



Safeguarding adults and children and primary care compliance with statutory
safeguarding processes

Performance analysis
Performance Summary
We measure performance to ensure the services we commission are delivered to a quality
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to manage
performance against a range of indicators including a mechanism to work with internal and
external stakeholders to identify and mitigate areas of risk. Through 2019/20, this has
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developed further to include All Together Better and the development of an outcomes
framework for the Sunderland system.
The new NHS Single Oversight Framework replaced the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework (IAF) in 2019/20, a joint approach between NHS England and NHS Improvement
to oversee organisational performance.
Throughout the year, performance assurance reports are provided to the Governing Body
setting out performance against the agreed national and local measures. This is
supplemented by frequent organisational Visibility Walls to ensure performance issues are
raised and discussed at organisation level, and provide an opportunity for staff to feed into the
assurance process. When undertaken in conjunction with other CCG services, such as quality
monitoring and financial management, monitoring of performance enables us to understand
the effectiveness of services better.
Throughout the year, the CCG has been working hard with partners to achieve our targets set
out by the NHS Constitution and NHS Single Oversight Framework.
The next few pages highlight performance in 2019/20 against the following key pressure areas:


Urgent and intermediate care system

o Accident and Emergency waiting times
o Delayed transfers of care and long stay patients
o Ambulance response times


Planned care system

o Referral to treatment (RTT) waiting times and waiting list volumes


Cancer waiting times



Mental health standards and expectations

Urgent and intermediate care system
Accident and Emergency four hour wait
Delivering of the four hour wait A&E standard continues to be a pressure in Sunderland due to
increased demand for services in the emergency department (ED) at Sunderland Royal
Hospital and workforce pressures in ED. In 2019/20, the CCG implemented the Sunderland
Urgent Care Strategy with the final phase implemented in December’19 which now delivers:


A GP led Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) open seven days per week



Five Extended Access (EA) hubs across each of the five localities in Sunderland



Recovery at Home (RaH) service proving a 24/7 nurse and GP home visiting service.

The local multi agency A&E Delivery Board (A&E DB) oversees the achievement of the
standard and the delivery of an improvement plan which is now fully in scope of ATB with
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programme 4 – Intermediate and Urgent Care taking forward the transformation plan for urgent
and intermediate care.
The multi-agency Sunderland Surge Group meets regularly to understand pressures across
the system and actions required to improve patient outcomes and experience. In 2019/20,
additional surge funding was allocated by the CCG and ATB which included additional beds as
a result of bed pressures within hospital. A review of the winter period will be carried out in
early 2020/21 which will inform the priorities for the coming year.
A case for change has been developed and agreed which will deliver an ambition to develop
the best possible clinical outcomes for patients and deliver improved system performance.
This is recognition that the standard is how the whole system is performance managed as well
as a key target in improving care for patients. This will be the next phase and move on from
the urgent care strategy that is now delivered.
The case for change outlines the following transformation areas:


Deliver Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) with the ED



ED interface and streaming



Bed provision across the system, both in and out of hospital



Proactive whole systems approach to “winter” preparation

The CCG supported South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT),
providing additional financial resource to recruit additional consultants in ED. The CCG and
STSFT also worked with the Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP) to understand
the impact of increased ambulance handover delays on patients and the actions required to
reduce delays and improve the experience for patients.
The work continues into 2020/21 with SDEC implemented in February’20, delivering
improvements in flow in hospital and additional community beds to improve the flow from in
hospital to out of hospital.
Delayed transfers of care and long stay patients (DTOC)
The flow out of hospital is a pressure in 2019/20 with increased levels of long stay patients in
hospital and delays. This is as a result of the increased demand into secondary care and
pressures in the intermediate care setting. In 2019/20, additional funding was allocated to
manage surge pressures which included additional beds within the system which was then
reviewed as pressures increased in December’19.
As a result of the pressures, additional beds were commissioned in quarter four which is
delivering improvements in flow. A bed review is being carried out with recommendations
included within the case for change and preparations for winter 2020/21.
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Ambulance Response Times
Ambulance response times remain a pressure locally and regionally with the CCG failing to
achieve three out of the four main ambulance response programme (ARP) standards in
2019/20. The CCGs across North Cumbria and the North East (NCNE) Integrated Care
System (ICS) agreed additional funding over 3 years, commencing in 2018/19 which aims to
deliver a positive impact on ARP standards. This was as a result of a report commissioned by
NEAS carried out by ORH (Operational Research in Health Limited). The additional funding
supported a regionally agreed improvement plan which included:


Changes to paramedic rotas and changes to vehicles to ensure more paramedics and
ambulances available during the day to meet the changes in demand.



Creation of a new specialist paramedic role to review dispatch, hear and treat and
revalidation of less complex ambulance incidents



Recruitment of additional paramedics

Locally, Sunderland continue to be work with North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) and
partners, particularly STSFT to improve ambulance response times with an increased focus on
reducing ambulance handover times in Sunderland.
Due to the increased complexity of patients and deterioration in response times, NEAS
commissioned a further review by ORH to gain an understanding of whether the originally
proposed staffing and configuration will deliver the required improvement. The outcome of the
review will be considered by the CCG and discussed as part of the annual planning process.

Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times and waiting list volumes
The CCG did not achieve the 92% standard for RTT in the latter months of the year,
predominantly due to the national pressures relating to consultant pension changes and
workforce pressures in particular specialties. The impact of the national pension pressures
significantly restricted secondary care capacity locally, regionally and nationally. Despite
failing to achieve the standard in the latter months, the CCG remain in the top 10% nationally.
The CCG will continue to work to deliver the RTT standard in 2020/21.
Improvements have been made in a number of areas in 2019/20 with the implementation of a
Single Point of Access (SPoA) for all GP initiated orthopaedics (and physio) referrals and a
SPoA for dermatology. The MSK SPoA reduced activity into secondary care immediately to
ensure patients are seen in the right place, right time and by the right clinician. In February’20,
the CCG also implemented a SPoA for dermatology, as a result of significant workforce and
sustainability pressures in secondary care. The CCG worked with providers to implement the
SPoA which is seeing immediate benefits.
Rheumatology remains a key pressure in Sunderland and across the Integrated Care
Partnership (ICP) and work has commenced to improve pathways across the ICP. It is
anticipated that improvements will be made in the latter part of 2020/21.
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Due to the pressures in RTT performance, the CCG allocated additional funding to increase
capacity within secondary care and the Independent Sector (IS). Additional activity was
carried out in a number of specialties which helped reduce the risk of further deterioration in
performance.
The CCG had two over 52 week waiters in 2019/20. These two breaches related to one patient
who breached in both November and December 2019.This Sunderland resident waited over 52
weeks for treatment at NUTH and was a specialised spinal patient. Risks remain going
forward in spinal services due to capacity issues in the specialised centres. Due to
administrative processes, this patient has been flagged in error as a CCG patient on waiting list
returns (actual responsibility for specialised services like this lies with NHSE not the CCG)
RTT remains a key priority for the CCG and its partners in 2020/21.

Cancer Waiting Times
Cancer waiting times continue to be a pressure in Sunderland, particularly in the 62 day
treatment standard and two week wait (2WW) referrals for suspected breast symptoms. Like
RTT, the national pension issues and workforce pressures relating to key problematic
specialties e.g. urology, dermatology and breast radiology have impacted on cancer
performance. The CCG continue to work closely with the Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA) and
its providers of cancer services to deliver improved outcomes for patients.
A number of key initiatives have been implemented in 2019/20 linked to Long Term Plan and
monitored via the Sunderland Cancer Task and Finish Group. The initiatives include:


Increased consultant and diagnostics capacity via additional CCG funding



Standardised/optimal pathways across a number tumour groups



Introduction of a serious non-specific symptoms pathway (vague symptoms), supported
by the NCA



Implementation of lung cancer case finding and introduction of FIT testing (faecal
immunochemical test) for bowel cancer



Implement rapid diagnostic service (RDS) in Sunderland which has been supported by
the NCA for 2019/20

Mental Health standards and expectations
The CCG continue to perform well against all national mental health standards and
expectations. The Mental Health Five Year Forward View (MH FYFV) sets an ambitious vision
to transform mental health services, much of which is already delivered in Sunderland.
Despite performing well against all national standards and expectations, the CCG is working
hard to deliver key local priorities, particularly around waiting times for adults and children.
Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT)
The CCG continue to deliver the national requirements relating to IAPT, despite challenges to
increase access rates further in 2019/20 whilst maintaining recovery rates at 50%. The
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challenge increases further in 2020/21 as part of the national requirements. The CCG has
worked with Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW) and
key voluntary sector providers to expand the IAPT service to meet the challenge as part of
ATB. Developments will continue into 2020/21 looking at new models of care, led by ATB.
Learning disabilities
The CCG continues to work within the Transforming Care Programme (TCP; a collaboration
between CCGs, local authorities (LA) and NHS Specialised Commissioners) to improve the
quality of people’s lives, to reduce the need for inpatient facilities and build up sufficient
capacity out of hospital. Sunderland remain a high performer in the TCP and continue to work
with providers and patients to maintain the performance and reduce the need for inpatient
beds.
As part of the NHS Single Oversight Framework, the CCG also continue to commission
support to general practices around care planning for people with learning disabilities and / or
autism and the CCG continue to improve each year.
Children and young people’s services (CYPS)
Although the CCG continues to deliver the national requirements around CYPS, locally, the
focus remains on tackling long waiters in the CYPS pathway. In 2019/20, the CCG
commissioned a piece of work to understand why Sunderland is an outlier in a number of
areas in order to address the long waits for services. The CCG allocated additional funding to
provide additional capacity in the pathway and is working with partners to develop new
pathways for CYPS which will go into 2020/21.
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Performance measures
NHS Constitution
Table 1: A&E four hour waits for the Sunderland health community
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Table 2: Referral to treatment - 18 weeks

Table 3: Diagnosis waiting times - Note this is the year to date position, CCG is measured monthly
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Table 4: Cancer waiting times - two weeks waits

Table 5: Cancer waiting times - 31 days waits

Page 40

Table 6: Cancer waiting times - 62 day waits

Table 7: Ambulance response times

Page 41

Table 8: Mental health
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Table 9: Mental health (continued)
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Other National Requirements
Table 10: HCAI
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Sustainable Development
Introduction
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a
way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means spending
public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy,
resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we
can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of
natural resources. Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts
ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met.
In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, SCCG has created a Green Plan
(formerly known as a Sustainable Development Management Plan or SDMP).
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013
baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions 28% by
2020-21 using 2007-08 as the baseline year.

Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our
process and procedures sustainability features.
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a
Green Plan (formerly known as Sustainable Development Management Plan or SDMP). A plan
will be going to Governing Body in due course.
An update to our Green Plan is required because it has not been approved by the Governing
Body in the last 12 months.
The CCG engages with suppliers to understand, record and track the sustainability of products
and services and adhere to any related relevant contract requirements through established
contract management processes and controls.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare
estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves,
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc.
The organisation has identified the need for the development of a Governing Body approved
plan for future climate change risks affecting our area.
We do not currently use the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) tool.
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As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards
creating a sustainable future, we help achieve that goal by running
awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability to
our staff.
Our organisation is clearly contributing to the following Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs).
The CCG agreed that it would include scoring for social value in all
its procurement evaluations for which it tenders. Processes are
under development to monitor compliance.
Sunderland CCG has an annual Modern Slavery Act Statement as
required under the legislation. The CCG monitors compliance via
the safeguarding designated and named assurance group which
includes asking providers to confirm they have an MDS statement
in place and can provide copies for CCG assurance. In addition,
NHS contracts require compliance with the relevant legislation.

Partnerships
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms
to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already
sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Crucially
for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part through
contracting mechanisms.
We have established a strategic partnership with the All Together Better Alliance, and the
wider ICPs and ICS.
Below is the sustainability comparator for our providers for our commissioned services; please
note this is published a year in arrears:
Table 11: Partnerships
Organisation name

On track for 34%
reduction

SDAT

SD Reporting
score

South Tyneside and Sunderland
Foundation Trust

n/a

n/a

n/a

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS
Foundation Trust

1. On track to meet
51
target

Minimum

North East Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust

1. On track to meet
n/a
target

Good

More information on these measures is available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx
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Performance
Organisation
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013
baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions.
Table 12: Commissioned activity
Organisation
name

Building
energy
use

Building
energy
use per
WTE

Water

Water
use per
WTE

Percent
high cost
waste

Waste
cost
increase

South Tyneside
and Sunderland
Foundation Trust

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Northumberland,
Tyne and Wear
NHS Foundation
Trust

>10%
decrease

2.3

0-20%
decrease

26

>75%
high cost

>20%
decrease

North East
Ambulance
Service NHS
Foundation Trust

>10%
decrease

0.9

>20%
decrease

6

>=75%
high cost

>20%
decrease

Energy
NHS Sunderland CCG has spent £34,499 on energy in 2019-20, which is a 53.3% increase on
energy spend from last year. We will continue to press our landlord NHSPS, in line with NHSE
expectations, to become more energy efficient and use more green electricity. The CCG
actively encourages the use of electric motor vehicles, and this has led to an increase in
electricity being consumed by the CCG (staff pay for this electricity usage).
Table 13: Energy used (Energy consumption in kWh)
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Electricity consumed

110,776

101,002

152,114

155,653

Gas consumed

93,685

175,887

266,099

223,551

Total

204,461

276,889

418,213

379,204
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Figure 5: Energy - carbon emissions resulting

Table 14: Figure 5: Energy - carbon emissions resulting
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Electricity

57.2

45

53.7

49.2

Gas

19.6

37.3

55.8

46.4

Total

76.8

82.3

109.5

95.6

Paper
The movement to a Paperless NHS can be supported by staff reducing the use of paper at all
levels, this reduces the environmental impact of paper, reducing cost of paper to the NHS and
can help improve information security. The low spend on paper in 2017-18 is because the
CCG bulk bought paper in previous years.
Table 15: Figure 5: Energy - carbon emissions resulting

Paper spend (£)

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2,601

298

1,626

1,459

Travel
We recognise that a Healthy Transport Plan is a foundational part of our Travel Policy and we
will be putting that in place as soon as possible.
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active
travel to our staff and to the patients and public that use our services.
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to improve
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staff wellbeing and reduce sickness. Air pollution, accidents and noise all cause health
problems for our local population, patients, staff and visitors and are caused by cars, as well as
other forms of transport.
The CCG actively encourages the use of electric vehicles by its staff, and has shower facilities
to encourage cycling to work. There is also a salary sacrifice scheme for cycling equipment
available to staff.
Table 16: Travel undertaken (miles)
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Patient and visitor travel

1,696

1,643

710

650

Business travel and fleet

27,123

26,392

31,802

38,192

Business travel by rail /
underground / fleet

62,503

68,460

60,060

88,608

Total

91,322

96,495

92,572

127,450

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Business Mileage - Road

9.8

9.4

11.7

13.2

Business Mileage - Rail

5.8

6.2

5.4

7

Total

15.6

15.6

17.1

20.2

Table 17: Co2 Emissions (tCO2e)

Improve quality
Quality, patient safety, clinical effectiveness and the experience of patients is at the heart of
everything we do in Sunderland and it underpins the delivery of our health and social care
services.
We believe that the people of Sunderland deserve to enjoy the best possible health and
wellbeing, and receive quality care when they need it.
The CCG has systems in place to monitor and review the quality of our commissioned services
to ensure we are meeting the needs of our population. We consistently and regularly review
quality performance against the NHS Outcomes Framework and all operational standards
expected from the NHS Constitution. This analysis is triangulated with other vital quality
information such as complaints, serious incidents data, health care acquired infection rates and
the outcomes of reports such as Care Quality Commission inspections that concern our main
provider organisations.
Learning from previous failures in Quality across the NHS has emphasised the important role
commissioners should play in preventing failures and driving improvements and has influenced
the architecture of our quality strategy and framework.
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Quality Strategy 2018-21
The Quality strategy reflects our commitment to monitor and gain assurance on the quality of
the services we commission. The strategy highlights the seven steps to quality outlined in the
National Quality Board’s ‘Shared commitment to quality’ publication which informs a supporting
quality framework. The strategy communicates our vision, key drivers and ambitions for quality.

Quality and Safety Committee
Responsibility for the oversight and improvement of quality is delegated to the CCG Quality
and Safety Committee (QSC), which is a sub-committee of the Governing Body. This
committee includes CCG, lay members and practice representatives. The purpose of the
committee is to ensure appropriate governance systems and processes are in place to
commission, monitor and ensure the delivery of high quality, safe patient care in commissioned
services.

Quality and Safety Team
Underpinning the work of the Quality and Safety Committee and our systems and processes
are the CCG Quality and Safety Team. The Quality and Safety team is led by the CCG
Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety who, along with the Head of Quality and
Patient Safety and Head of Safeguarding provide strategic and operational leadership for key
components of the quality and safeguarding work streams.
We have provided a challenge to providers where issues or concerns have been identified, and
ensure that they are held to account appropriately where necessary. Moreover, we have
focused attention on patient outcomes, and encouraged and nurtured a transparent
relationship with all providers, identifying examples of good practice as well as sharing lessons
learned.

Quality Review Groups
Our interface with providers is through our Quality Review Group Meetings (QRGs) which are
established through the NHS Standard Contract. QRGs are formal meetings held with our
major providers to monitor and discuss all aspects of their quality of care delivery; this includes
patient experience data, complaints, concerns and the review of themes and trends from
incidents. The QRGs allow a transparent and open discussion of issues to take place and
improvements to be monitored. Membership includes Executive leads and NHSI, NHSE and
CQC are invited to attend to support a single approach to assurance.

Quality Impact Assessments
In order to ensure ourselves as a CCG that any decisions we might make regarding the
services we commission do not have a detrimental effect on quality, we have a quality impact
assessment (QIA) policy and the process is embedded across the CCG. Project leads review
proposed changes to services and assess whether there will be a positive, neutral or negative
effect on safety, patient experience and effectiveness. This process is managed by the quality
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team, with the Medical Director and the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
reviewing and approving any completed QIAs.

All Together Better (ATB)
The Quality and Safety team alongside the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
and ATB Executive Group have been working collaboratively to ensure pragmatic and
proportionate governance and quality assurance arrangements and reporting are developed
for ATB.
This is to ensure that a proactive and systematic approach is taken to provide assurance
regarding the quality of those services as ATB evolves. The approach also makes certain
quality is reflected in all aspects of ATB’s work and supports delivery of the requirements of the
National Outcomes Framework. ATB quality assurance reporting will commence Quarter 1
2020.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a national scheme which supports
providers to innovate care delivery resulting in improvements to the quality of care. The CQUIN
framework enables commissioners to reward excellence by linking a proportion of a provider’s
income to the achievement of national quality improvement goals.
The CQUIN schemes for 2019/20 focused on:


Antimicrobial Resistance - Lower Urinary Tract Infections in Older People & Antibiotic
Prophylaxis in Colorectal Surgery



Staff Flu Vaccinations



Alcohol and Tobacco - Screening & Brief Advice



Improved Discharge Follow Up



Improved Data Quality and Reporting - Data Quality Maturity Index & Interventions



IAPT - Use of Anxiety Disorder Specific Measures



Stroke 6 Month Reviews



Ambulance Patient Data at Scene - Assurance & Demonstration

 Same Day Emergency Care
The schemes are outcome based and monitored quarterly against agreed targets.

Learning from Serious Incidents
The CCG is responsible for gaining assurance that when serious incidents occur - either within
providers or within the CCG - there are measures in place which safeguard patients. Incident
investigations to determine the root cause are undertaken to ensure that lessons learned are
shared and embedded in improvements to practice.
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The CCG have robust governance processes in place which monitor the serious incidents
through a combined Serious Incident Panel with NHS South Tyneside CCG. This panel is led
by the CCGs’ Executive Directors of Nursing, Quality and Safety who ensure sufficient rigor
has been applied to the investigations and that learning has been elicited and embedded into
practice.
Serious incident reports and action plans are reviewed and signed off during the serious
incident panels once appropriate assurances have been gained by the CCG(s). The CCG(s)
also monitor serious incident themes and trends across the year and work with providers to
manage and respond to any emerging themes. These are subject to debate and scrutiny both
during the serious incident panel and quality review group meetings.

Healthcare Associated Infections
The Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI) Improvement Group is a collaborative group that
meets quarterly across Sunderland and South Tyneside and includes representation from both
CCGs and provider organisations.
The group provides leadership and ensures a whole systems approach to preventing and
controlling healthcare associated infections. The HCAI group has robust reporting mechanisms
and receives regular assurance reports and updates on key metrics. This approach highlights
any quality or patient safety issues as well as any key risks that require further action or may
require escalating to the CCG’s risk register and respective quality review groups.
This year there has been a detailed focus on Gram Negative Blood Stream Infections within
providers and Sunderland and South Tyneside communities. This has included the launch of
the I-Hydrate project across the hospital trusts and care home sector focused at addressing
hydration.
Across Sunderland and South Tyneside the CCG has supported the development of a whole
system HCAI joint action plan and progress is reported to the HCAI Improvement Group
meetings. The plan has been adapted in year to include the recommendations of the
governments Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) 5 year plan.
Many challenges remain across health and social care in relation to infection prevention and
control and the CCG has remained focused throughout the year to ensure this is part of patient
safety wherever care is delivered.
The CCG is an active member of the North East and North Cumbria Antimicrobial Resistance
and HCAI Improvement Board.

Quality surveillance group
On a wider health economy level the CCG is an active member of the Cumbria,
Northumberland, and Tyne and Wear (CNTW) Quality Surveillance Group (QSG) along with
other CCG colleagues across the North East and other key partners and stakeholders.
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Quality Surveillance Groups act as an important mechanism for the sharing and analysis of
significant information and intelligence about commissioned services. This enables early
detection of deteriorating quality and an ‘early warning’ of potential risks to patient safety.
Where necessary, the QSG will conduct enhanced surveillance of providers until evidential
assurance of sustained quality improvement is demonstrated.

Quality in Primary Care
The CCG has delegated responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of general
medical services. We support NHS England in relation to our duty to improve the quality of
primary medical services through agreements and processes with our member practices
regarding quality and safety. The CCG has a well-established Local Quality Review Group,
with representation from NHS England and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) were we
monitor the quality of care within general practice. The group also review General Practices’
achievement against a range of national and local quality indicators, share soft intelligence and
consider the outcome reports following any CQC inspections of general practices.

Research and Development
In order to fulfil our statutory duty to ensure research is carried out for benefit of the population
we serve, we are committed to ensuring that research activity is undertaken rigorously and
ethically under the governance framework established by our Research and Evidence Group.
The findings of our research and information gained from research and evaluation undertaken
across the system will be used as evidence to inform commissioning decisions. Additionally,
the findings will be presented to the Executive and Governing Body and written up for
publication in healthcare journals, lay summaries produced and disseminated to the public and
patients to ensure transparency and understanding of research activities.
In 2019/20 the PROACT (pressure ulcer prevention) project, which was adopted onto the NIHR
portfolio and involved South Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs, closed with a total of 571
accruals, 429 which were to Sunderland CCG across the recruitment timeframe of February
2018- September 2019. The project included the development of tools to minimise variation in
working practices and evaluate the knowledge and impact of intervention on practice. The
follow up/sign off process for pressure ulcer awareness champions will finish March 2020.
The steering group of partners across the NHS, academia and health and social care, formed
to support the delivery of PROACT are to reflect on the PROACT project and discuss further
research opportunities across health and social care. This is in line with the NHS long term
plan, with a view to developing future projects for which external funding will be sought to
increase the CCGs research activity.
There are three studies being established in the areas of end of life care, management of
perceived errors on imaging reports and to explore the development of long term community
based follow up for bariatric patients. External funding has been obtained to support these
studies, which are eligible for consideration of adoption onto the NIHR portfolio, with accruals
accredited towards SCCG research activity. The aim is to open these studies between MarchJune 2020, ethical approval permitting.
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Patient Experience and Feedback
This is a key feature within all of our quality assurance processes. Patient experience
information is gathered from quality review group meetings with providers of commissioned
services, as well as via other various sources such as Healthwatch, NHS Choices, the friends
and family test and via our patient and public involvement activities.
A patient story is a regular feature of our Governing Body meetings. This helps provide the
Governing Body with an insight in to how services are operating from a patient’s perspective.
The CCG works with commissioned services to ensure that the patient voice can be heard and
to address the outcomes of patient surveys and to implement recommendations from reports
such as Healthwatch’s publication Shifting the Mindset (2020).

Safeguarding
Executive leadership for safeguarding is provided via the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality
and Safety. Other statutory lead roles are delivered by the Head of Safeguarding (including the
role of Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children), the Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults
and the Designated Nurse Looked After Children. Additional safeguarding nursing capacity
within the CCG is provided by a Safeguarding Children and Adults Nurse. The CCG Chief
Officer is a member of Sunderland’s adult and children’s safeguarding boards. In accordance
with new legislation the safeguarding children board was replaced by the Sunderland
Safeguarding Children Partnership in August 2019 and our new multi-agency safeguarding
arrangements were published acknowledging the CCG as a key statutory safeguarding
children partner.
The CCG continues to maintain its statutory safeguarding responsibilities and is providing
leadership and support in ensuring our multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and child
death review processes comply with changes in legislation. As a key statutory partner we are
committed to ensuring our most vulnerable groups are protected from abuse and neglect and,
in collaboration with our providers and multi-agency partners, ensure learning from a range of
statutory reviews and other improvement in practice methodologies is implemented and
embedded.
Our commitment to safeguarding includes the significant leadership commitment across
Sunderland.
The CCG provides safeguarding leadership across the health economy via a Joint Designated
and Named Assurance Group which meets on a six weekly basis, alternating between learning
and improvement and provider assurance on a quarterly basis. We have implemented
safeguarding dashboard reporting arrangements across the provider trusts and this
incorporates safeguarding children, safeguarding adults, Mental Capacity Act and Prevent. A
safeguarding dashboard for primary care has been developed and approved by the Local
Quality in Primary Care Group.
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Through our leadership, we ensured our providers complied with key areas including the
Prevent duty (training target 85%), FGM (mandatory reporting and training competencies) and
Modern Slavery Act (modern slavery statement).

Engaging people and communities
NHS Sunderland CCG are committed to collecting the views from a range of Sunderland
residents, including patients, the public, and carers. This includes listening to the views from
protected characteristic groups.
We do this in a number of ways supported by NHS North of England Commissioning Support
who provide expertise and capacity to support engagement activities aligned with the CCGs
strategic plans. This has increased our access to expert knowledge in relation to public
participation, engagement and involvement to help ensure we meet our statutory requirements.
The CCG monitors this through regular reports and updates to the Internal Operational
Communications and Engagement group, the Patient and Public Involvement Committee, and
Governing Body (GB) meetings. The updates sets out our commitment to working with the
public, patients, carers and communities and their representatives, to ensure health and social
care services are shaped around what people need.
Each project has a specific bespoke communications and engagement plan which sets out
objectives, tactics and resources required.
We have a robust process in place to ensure that patients’ views are taken into account when
changes to services are being considered. This includes a toolkit for staff to use when
undertaking service change and guidance on mechanisms and techniques that can be used to
ensure patient views are captured.
We have taken significant steps to enhance the range of mechanisms available to support our
engagement activities. Examples of involvement and engagement projects undertaken in
2019/20 are detailed in NHS Sunderland Annual Involvement and Engagement Report.
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-governance/annualengagement-and-involvement-report/
In addition, the CCG has a membership scheme called My NHS, which allows people to sign
up to be contacted about healthcare issues that interest them.
The Annual Involvement and Engagement Report provides detail on the following ways it
involved people during 2019/20:


Regional Activities
o Integrated Care Systems (ICS)
o Long-term plan engagement
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o Non-executive and lay member community network


Sunderland Activities
o Overview Framework Assessment
o Social media update
o Equality, Diversity and inclusion Network
o Communications and Engagement Strategy
o Involvement and Engagement Toolkit
o Bulletins and Newsletters



Sunderland Campaigns
o Seriously resistant
o New consultation types
o The Perfect System
o Painkiller awareness
o Urgent care marketing campaign
o Hay fever campaign
o Community deliberation scheme
o First response teams



Sunderland Project updates
o The Path to Excellence
o Sunderland Urgent Care
o Surge evaluation
o Renal Dialysis Transport Service
o Wheelchair services
o Podiatry services



GP contract changes
o Dr Obonna – GP retirement and list dispersal
o Bridge view and Weatherhead – GP merger



Better Health Roadshow activity
o Big Community Sports Festival
o Pride
o The University of Sunderland Fresher’s day
o Sunderland roadshows



Meeting arrangements
o Sunderland Involvement Partnership
o Internal Operational Communications and Engagement Group
o Patient and Public Involvement Committee
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An updated communications and engagement strategy was produced in 2020, which combines
the previously separate engagement and communication strategies into one document.
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-governance/keydocuments-involving-the-public-in-governance/
This strategy ensures that Sunderland CCG has a clear plan in place to meet legal duties to
engage and consult the public and pledges set out in the NHS constitution. In addition, the
CCG develops specific consultation and engagement plans for individual projects it
undertakes.
In addition to services from North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) specialist advice
and external benchmarking is obtained from the national Consultation Institute. This support
ensures that all engagement and consultation work undertaken by the CCG follow best
practice.

Patient stories
NHS Sunderland CCG are committed to hearing about the experiences of local health
services, both good and bad, to help us shape future services.
The CCG collect patient stories to learn about the experiences and needs of people accessing
health services in Sunderland, and to put patients at the heart of service development and
decision making. This allows the CCG to identify where systems and processes may need to
be improved, as well as sharing areas of good practice, in order to improve people’s
experiences and access to health care. These stories are taken to Governing Body meetings.
Below are some examples of stories collected in 2019.
July 2019: End of life pathway experience
The Governing Body were assured
that work is ongoing across end of
life and cancer pathways, to
improve the transferring of
communication across all channels
(e.g. ambulance and nursing
homes). This will ensure
compassionate patient care at all
times.
To watch the YouYube video, go to:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xhUDJ_4rv7s&feature=emb_logo
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September 2019: Learning disabilities transforming care journey experience
This story details a personal view of
patient’s long complex journey from
in-hospital to community setting
care. The CCG identified a need to
continue to improve services like
these to enable people to be
supported in their own care and
home.
To watch the YouYube video, go to:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VSA74FsINfg&feature=emb_logo

November 2019: Pilot point of care
project
The pilot demonstrated real health
outcomes and continuing health
checks and reasonable adjustments
would help to narrow the gap in
equality.
To read the full story, go to page 5 in
the following link:

https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Agenda-and-papers-28January-2020.pdf
For more information about patient stories, and to view these video links, go to:
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views-and-experiences/

Reducing health inequality
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution,
the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health
and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient
involvement and involve and consult with the public.
We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people,
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developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced
below.

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which is
set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the (Equality) Act



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not



Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.

We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish:


Equality objectives, at least every four years



Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty.

Governance
Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Executive Team.
The Governing Body ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory
requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and regional
diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and
opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation,
monitors progress against the equality strategy and supports us in the achievement of key
equality and diversity objectives.
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Governing Body outlining
relevant updates in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities.

Equality Strategy
Our Equality Strategy was refreshed in 2016 and will be reviewed in 2020. The strategy aims
to ensure that the CCG promotes equality of opportunity to all our patients, their families and
carers, and our staff, and to proactively address discrimination of any kind.
We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and workforce,
ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage.

The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been using
the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance
for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined
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within the Equality Act 2010. Working through the EDS2 framework has provided an
opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into the local
population’s diverse health needs.
We have reviewed our action plan and the Executive Team approved plans detailing actions
we will take to ensure that individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably.
We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare our
equality objectives, our action plan and objectives are outlined below:
Objective 1

Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that services
are commissioned and designed to meet the needs of patients
from at least 9 protected groups.

Objective 2

Ensure processes are in place to provide information in a
variety of communication methods to meet the needs of
patients, in particular those with a disability, impairment or
sensory loss.

Objective 3

Continuously monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure
they are engaged, supported and have the tools to carry out
their roles effectively.

Objective 4

Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and
promotes Equality and Diversity throughout the organisation.

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the
benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation.
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are identified as
meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable adjustments under the
Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the recruitment process and during
employment.
By working closely with DWP, we
have maintained our ‘Level 2
Disability Employer’ status for 2020 2021 by demonstrating our
commitment to employing the right
people for our business and
continually developing our people.
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Workforce Race Equality Standard
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity
Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME)
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES).
We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim
to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic
staff.
The CCG assesses itself against the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
annually to ensure that:


data is collected and review against the nine WRES indicators



an action plan is produced to close any gaps in workplace experience between white
and Black and Ethnic Minority (BME) staff, and



Board membership includes BME representation.

We are required to publish a WRES annual report and action plan to address any areas for
improvement. The CCG is committed to the WRES and you can see our most recent report
and action plan on our website.

Equality Impact Assessments
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business
processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients and staff’s
diverse health needs.
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race,
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers, as well as including prompts
for engagement with protected groups the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible
Information Standard.
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, procedures
and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take
immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool. This will
ensure equity of service delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously
monitor progress against challenges identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local
population.
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Executive team is
required for monitoring and completion.
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Accessible Information Standard
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have access to
information that they can understand, and access to any communication support they might
need.
The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients, service users
and their carers and parents. This includes making sure that people get information in different
formats if they need it, such as large print, braille, easy read, and via email.
The CCG has due regard to the standard by obtaining feedback from the Equality, Diversity
and Inclusion Steering Group who review key documentation and engagement, advising how
we can improve our communication methods to make them more accessible.
A standard process is in place for CCG engagement which includes BSL interpreters at events,
especially if they are live streamed, subtitles on videos and the use of audio. Easy read
documents are also created.
Further information on the standard can be found at:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/

Health Inequalities
We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health
services for our local population.
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to
engage hard to reach groups.
Sunderland has a population of approximately 277,000 people. Our organisation covers
Coalfield, Sunderland East, Sunderland North, Sunderland West and Washington localities.
Large increases in the elderly population, and particularly the very elderly, have significant
implications for healthcare over the next 5, 10 and 20 years.
Our community is also affected by lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking and alcohol abuse
which pose a major risk to health and wellbeing.
Major health challenges are consistent across our 5 localities. They include:


A growing ageing population with escalating health needs



Poor health compared to the rest of the UK



Excess deaths, particularly from heart disease, cancer and respiratory problems



An over-reliance on hospital care
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Disintegrated healthcare service



Health inequalities across the city

The health of people in Sunderland is varied compared with the England average. Sunderland
is one of the 20% most deprived areas in England and 23.6% (11,395) of children live in low
income families.
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average with it being 11.2
years lower for men and 8.6 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Sunderland
than in the least deprived areas.
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to
improve health and healthcare for the local population.
For our CCG area, only 2.0% of hospitalisation records have an unknown ethnic group
compared to the national England average of 6.6%.
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input,
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, our CCG’s Equality,
Diversity and Inclusion Group and Healthwatch.
A range of stakeholders are invited to the CCG’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Group
including providers and Healthwatch. It is this group which oversees all activity for
communications and engagement and acts as a ‘critical friend’.
When engaging or communicating about particular project areas, a robust plan is developed to
ensure representation is sought from as many areas as possible and stakeholders are
demographically mapped. Our efforts are displayed in campaigns the CCG has undertaken this
year including ‘Sunderland Urgent Care’ and the ‘Path to Excellence Programme.
As local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders. We aim to
ensure that comments and back from our local communities are captured and, where possible,
giving local people the opportunity to influence local health services and enable people to have
their say using a variety of communication methods enabling them to influence the way NHS
health services are commissioned.
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local
NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality,
Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we were awarded E&D
Partner status for 2016/17 and have continued to work closely with partners as part of the
alumni programme.
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Further information can be found at:


Health Profiles: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/healthprofiles/2019/e08000024.html?area-name=sunderland



Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk



Sunderland JSNA: https://www.sunderland.gov.uk/article/15183/Joint-Strategic-NeedsAssessment-JSNA-



Sunderland CCG RightCare Health Inequalities Data Pack:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-sunderland-ccgdec-18.pdf

Health and wellbeing strategy
https://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-work-with/working-with-partners/
The Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board aims to reduce health inequalities and improve
the health and wellbeing of local residents. Working together as partners, including the council
and CCG, they are committed to prioritising areas of need and allocating health and social care
resources.
By focusing on areas such as housing, environment, education, employment, criminal justice
and planning, the Health and Wellbeing Board believe they can have a real impact on the
community, reducing inequalities in health across the region, and improving the quality of
health and social care services for the local population.
Over the past year the Health and Wellbeing Board has looked at a range of issues including
the development of Integrated Care Systems and Partnerships; the development of the
Sunderland out of hospital model (All Together Better) with partners including the CCG,
Sunderland City Council and a number of key providers; the in-hospital transformation
programme (Path to Excellence) in partnership with South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust and South Tyneside CCG; and other key health issues such as smoking,
alcohol and obesity.
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

[Insert signature]
Dr Neil O`Brien
Accountable Officer
XX May / June 2020
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which we, through our appointed
members, elected GP executives and governing body, implement all statutory
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services
for Sunderland. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG
and Governing Body.
The Constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012 as
part of the CCG authorisation process and updated in November 2013. A further
amendment was made in January 2015 to reflect the changes in relation to
additional primary medical care commissioning responsibilities the CCG undertook
from 1 April 2015. The CCG has since made minor amendments to the Constitution
to ensure it remains up to date and fit for purpose.
Each member practice sits within one of five locality regeneration groups and has a
lead GP elected by the GPs of Sunderland (who is also a member of the executive
committee) as well as an assigned practice manager, practice nurse and a
commissioning manager. The locality teams also work in close partnership with the
local authority and local patients.
The CCG covers the whole of the city of Sunderland and details of our localities and
member practices can be found on the following pages:
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Member practices
Coalfields locality practices
Hetton Group Practice
Herrington Medical Centre
Kepier Medical Practice
Houghton Medical Group
Grangewood Surgery
Westbourne Medical Group

DH5 9EZ
DH4 4LE
DH4 5EQ
DH4 4DN
DH4 4RB
DH4 4RW

Sunderland East locality practices
Deerness Park Medical Group
The New City Medical Centre
Ashburn Medical Centre
Villette Surgery
Southlands Medical Group
Park Lane Practice
Dr Bhate and Dr El-Shakankery Practice

SR2 8AD
SR1 2QB
SR2 8JG
SR2 8AX
SR2 0RX
SR2 7BA
SR1 2HJ

Sunderland North locality practices
Red House Medical Centre
Fulwell Medical Centre
St.Bede Medical Centre
Bridge View Medical Group (Southwick Health Centre)
Castletown Medical Centre
Dr Gellia and Balaraman - Monkwearmouth Health Centre

SR5 5PS
SR6 8DZ
SR6 0QQ
SR5 2LT
SR5 3EX
SR6 0AB

Washington locality practices
The Health Centre, Victoria Road (Dr Stephenson & Partners)
The Galleries Health Centre (Dr Dixit and partner)
Concord Medical Practice
Sunderland GP Alliance Medical Practice
Rickleton Medical Centre
Harraton Surgery
New Washington Medical Group
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NE38 7NQ
NE37 2PU
NE38 7NQ
NE38 9EH
NE38 9AB
NE37 2PU
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Sunderland West locality practices
Wearside Medical Practice
Pallion Family Practice
Village Surgery
The New Silksworth Medical Practice
Millfield Medical Group
Old Forger Surgery
The Broadway Medical Practice
Springwell Medical Group
Hylton Medical Group
Happy House Surgery
South Hylton Surgery
Chester Surgery

SR4 7XF
SR4 7XF
SR3 2AN
SR3 2AN
SR4 7AF
SR4 6QE
SR3 4HG
SR3 4HG
SR4 7ZF
SR3 4BY
SR4 0LS
SR4 7TU

Composition of Governing Body
The Governing Body is made up of the following members (voting):


Executive GP chair (elected)



Executive GP vice chair (elected)



Executive GP x4 (elected)



Accountable Officer



Deputy Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer



Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety



Lay Member, Audit and Non-Clinical Vice chair



Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement



Secondary Care Clinician

In addition to the above members, the following are regular non-voting attendees
and participants in Governing Body meetings:
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Medical Director



Director of Contracting and Informatics



Executive Practice Manager



Head of Corporate Affairs



Director of People and Primary Care



Lay member, Primary Care Commissioning



Director of Public Health, Sunderland City Council



Executive Director of Neighbourhoods, Sunderland City Council
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Governing Body Profiles
Dr Ian Pattison, Executive GP and Clinical Chair
Passionate about ensuring patients receive the best care available, Dr Pattison has
been a GP at the Southland Medical Centre in Ryhope since 2001. With previous
commissioning experience gained at Wearside Commissioning Group, Ian was
elected to the CCG as chair in 2011. He is a member of the Governing Body,
Executive Committee and Vice Chair of Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board.
Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer (Accountable Officer until 31 March 2020)
With previous experience of working with CCGs in Newcastle, Gateshead, County
Durham and Darlington, David has been involved with the NHS in both clinical and
strategic roles as a commissioner and provider. He has lived locally all his life and
has extensive management experience including in hospitals and commissioning.
He started his career in 1982 at Sunderland Royal Infirmary and joined the CCG as
chief officer in 2012. He chairs the Sunderland A&E Delivery Board and
Sunderland’s Children’s Strategic Partnership, is vice chair of the Sunderland
Safeguarding Children’s Board and a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board
and Sunderland Partnership. On a wider footprint he chairs the CNE Armed Forces
Network and the Estates strategy group and is a member of the Workforce Strategy
Group.
David left NHS Sunderland CCG at the end of March 2020 to take up the
Accountable Officer post with the new Tees Valley CCG.
Dr Neil O’Brien, Chief Officer (Accountable Officer from 1 April 2020)
Dr O’Brien has been a local GP in Chester-le-Street for over 20 years. He has
developed a special interest in cardiology and has previously worked as a GP with
special interest in this area. Neil is a practicing clinician, which strengthens his
influence with local practices and other clinicians.
Neil is also the Clinical Accountable Officer for two other CCG’s that work
collaboratively within the Integrated Care Partnership – NHS South Tyneside CCG
and NHS Sunderland CCG. Neil is a member of the Integrated Care System (ICS)
Management Group representing the needs of local populations as Cumbria and the
North East progress to become an ICS.
Mr David Chandler, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer
David Chandler is the Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer for Sunderland
CCG. He has worked in the NHS at a senior level for over 20 years and has
experience in most sectors including acute care, community, mental health and
commissioning within Gateshead, County Durham, Darlington and Sunderland. He
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is also the chair of the Northern Branch of the Healthcare Financial Management
Association (HFMA) and the chair of the National HFMA Commissioning Forum.
Dr Claire Bradford, Medical Director (non-voting)
Originally from North London, Dr Bradford trained at Nottingham University and
worked in Nottingham and Plymouth prior to moving (and staying) in the North East
in 1989. She has worked in the NHS since 1984 as a haematologist after junior
doctor posts. Since 1994 Claire has been a public health physician as DPH in
Newcastle Primary Care Trust, Health Protection Agency, North East Public Health
Observatory and NHS England. During her public health career, her achievements
have included leading teams to develop the English health profiles, European health
profiles and the National Library for Public Health.
Mrs Ann Fox, Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
Ann is a registered nurse with a long career working in a number of areas in the NHS
since 1984. Ann trained and has lived in Sunderland all of her life. Ann has always
been an advocate for improving the quality of patient care, their safety and their
overall experience. She has been instrumental in developing new services and
clinical pathways in many areas including haematology/oncology and palliative care
throughout her career and in her role as Nurse Director for the North of England
Cancer Network. During this time Ann was a founder board member of the United
Kingdom Oncology Nursing Society, (UKONS). From 2009, Ann was Director of
Clinical Care and Patient Safety (Executive Nurse) at the North East Ambulance
Service NHS FT. Ann has been the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
for the CCG since 2013 and is a visiting professor at the University of Sunderland in
the department of nursing and health sciences.
Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and Informatics (non-voting)
Scott was born and raised in Sunderland and has spent over twenty years working
for local health and social care services in the city. He is currently the CCG’s
director lead on the development of the All Together Better Alliance and the
transformation of local hospital services via the Path to Excellence programme.
Recently, Scott has taken on a wider NHS system leadership role as director for
commissioning of ambulance services, working on behalf of all commissioners in the
north east.
Scott is a qualified health informatician, with postgraduate and masters qualifications
in information management. He graduated the NHS Leadership Academy’s Nye
Bevan Programme in 2014 with an award in Executive Healthcare Leadership.
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Mrs Clare Nesbit, Director of People and Primary Care
Clare has lived and worked across the North East all her life, and worked in the NHS
for over 20 years. Clare is an experienced Director of Organisational Development
and Primary Care with a history of working in both commissioner and provider
organisations.
Clare has a background in strategic partnership working, HR, training and
development, reform and transformation and culture change. Clare has also worked
for the private sector as a qualified engineer in production management and lean
working.
As a qualified OD practitioner Clare recognises that its people are the most valuable
asset an organisation can have.
When not travelling, Clare enjoys cooking and planning the next family adventure.
Dr Derek Cruickshank, Secondary Care Clinician
Derek qualified in Aberdeen in 1980 and has worked in Teesside since 1993 as a
Consultant at South Tees, retiring from clinical practice in 2017. He was appointed
the first Head of School for Obstetrics and Gynaecology in the Northern Deanery in
2008 and was the Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Regional College
Advisor in the North East. Derek oversaw the reconfiguration to a standalone
midwifery led unit at the Friarage Hospital and was appointed to the Northern
England Senate Council from its inception in 2013. Derek was appointed as
Secondary Care Clinician for Sunderland CCG in June 2017.
Dr Saira Malik, Coalfield locality Executive GP lead
Dr Malik has been a GP in Sunderland since 2013 and currently works
with local GP practices providing clinical stability and support in transitioning
practices.
She moved back home to the North East after graduating from Bart’s and The
London and has been working in the local NHS for over 12 years,
bringing previous experience of national representative roles in the BMA. Other roles
include working with the national GP health programme in supporting doctors in
difficulty and setting up a local GP Balint group.
She was appointed as a Sunderland CCG GP executive body member in April 2018
and currently leads on respiratory, musculoskeletal and falls, and rehabilitation
improvement areas for Sunderland CCG.

73

Official

Dr Fadi Khalil, Sunderland West locality Executive GP lead and Clinical ViceChair
Dr Khalil has been a GP in Sunderland since 2010. He is a GP trainer and partner at
The Broadway Medical Practice.
He moved to the North East after graduating from Egypt in 2002. He has been part
of the team leading on Sunderland’s Vanguard Programme and the development of
the All Together Better Alliance. Dr Khalil is passionate about integrated care and
providing high quality seamless proactive care to the people of Sunderland. He was
appointed to the CCG’s Governing Body in 2015, and subsequently elected in 2016,
and is currently the Clinical Vice-Chair of Sunderland CCG.
Dr Karthik Gellia, Sunderland North locality Executive GP lead
After qualifying in medicine (MBBS 1997) and a gaining post-graduate degree (MD
Dermatology 2003) in India, Dr Gellia came to the UK to work in the NHS. He
became a qualified GP in 2010 and has since then worked in Sunderland.
Since qualifying he has been involved in the development of General Practice
services in the North Locality and has taken on the role of GP lead for the locality.
He is a member of the Governing Body, Executive Committee and the executive GP
lead on the newly set up South Tyneside and Sunderland Health care Group
overseeing the in-hospital transformation programme.
Dr Tracey Lucas, Sunderland West locality Executive GP lead
Dr Lucas moved to the North East after graduating from Glasgow in 1999 to pursue
a career in paediatric medicine. After gaining further qualifications in paediatric
medicine, Dr Lucas trained and qualified as a GP in 2005. Dr Lucas is now a GP
trainer and partner at Deerness Park Practice and she has been working as a
Sunderland GP for 14 years. She has been an executive GP for the CCG for the
past 5 years, and leads clinically on urgent and intermediate care for Sunderland.
She is involved in the All Together Better Alliance as the senior responsible clinician
for urgent care (programme four) and is the GP lead for the East locality.
Dr Raj Bethapudi, Washington locality Executive GP lead
Dr Bethapudi has been a GP since 2009 and currently works as a GP partner at
Galleries Medical Practice, Washington. He is a post graduate GP Trainer, GP
appraiser and local Macmillan GP.
Dr Bethapudi was elected as an executive GP at SCCG and has been a member of
the Governing Body since April 2016. Clinical commissioning of health services in
cardiovascular and cancer specialties to improve health outcomes for the people of
Sunderland is his area of interest. He also serves as the Chief Clinical Information
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Officer (CCIO), aimed at implementing the NHS digital strategy to improve patient
care.
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement;
Debbie Burnicle has lived and worked in Sunderland most of her life and has worked
for the last 33 years across the voluntary sector, local authority and NHS, taking
early retirement in 2018 in order to have more time with family.
In the last few years of her career as a commissioner, she spent a lot of time
supporting General Practice and community services across the city. Debbie has a
lot of experience involving the public, service users, carers and patients in services
to support their improvement.
As well as becoming a Lay Member for the CCG with a focus on patient and public
involvement, since retiring Debbie has become an ambassador for the local Carers
Centre and established a relationship with the local Healthwatch. Debbie supports
the aims of both organisations and these connections are also one of the ways she
tries to keep in touch with the views of local people about what matters to them in
relation to health and social care.
Mr Chris Macklin: Lay Member for Audit and Risk and Non-Clinical Vice Chair
Chris has worked in the NHS since 1975 and obtained his first finance director role
at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Gateshead in 1996. He then became finance
director for Sunderland PCT in 2003 before becoming director of finance for NHS
South of Tyne and Wear in 2006. He is a governor of Gateshead College and chairs
their Audit Committee. In 2009 he was awarded a fellowship by Healthcare Financial
Management Association (HFMA) in recognition of his contribution to HFMA and the
development of NHS Accounting Standards. Chris retired from his post as Chief
Finance Officer at Sunderland CCG at the end of March 2015 and was appointed as
Lay Member for Primary Care Commissioning with effect from 1 September 2015,
becoming the Lay Member for Audit and Risk and Non-Clinical Vice Chair from July
2017.
Mrs Pat Harle MBE, Lay Member Primary Care Commissioning (non-voting)
and Quality, Safety Committee Chair
Pat has over 40 years NHS experience, in acute, community , teaching hospital, and
consultancy, the last 20 years at board level in NHS commissioning and provider
services. Most recently she was a non-Executive Director at South Tyneside NHS
Foundation Trust prior to joining the CCG in January 2018. Pat has held a number
of national offices, and was awarded a MBE, a ‘Probe Lifetime achievement award
‘and presented with a Medal of Distinction from the British Dental Association.
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Mr Eric Harrison, Executive Practice Manager (non-voting)
Born in Durham 1961, Eric joined the forces in 1977 and saw active service in
Falklands and Northern Ireland before becoming transport manager for Durham
Constabulary. Eric joined Deerness Park Medical Group in 2002, and became a
partner in September 2016. He has an MBA, first class honours degree in business
and management, qualified accountant CIPFA and post graduate diploma in
advanced NHS commissioning.
Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs (non-voting)
Deborah has over 20 years’ experience of working in the public sector. She started
her career in HM Prison Service in London in 1997, moving to the Home Office in
1999 and then back to the North East in 2001 to join the NHS. Deborah has held
several senior level corporate governance roles within the NHS and has been the
Head of Corporate Affairs in Sunderland CCG since 2013. She has also been an
affiliated member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators since
2016.
(The non-voting members of the Governing Body below are paid by other
organisations).
Mrs Fiona Brown, Executive Director of Neighbourhoods (non-voting)
Fiona has a number of years’ experience in local government and health, especially
in health and social care integration, events and designing new forms of service
delivery vehicles. All of her career has been spent in the North east, working for a
number of local authorities and acute health trusts. She is particularly known for her
work on strategic commissioning and creating innovative community solutions for
independent living. Fiona is an active member of a number of associations.
Mrs Gillian Gibson, Director of Public Health (non-voting)
Gillian has lived in Sunderland most of her life and worked for the NHS since 1984
until 2013 when responsibility for public health transferred to local government. She
is a registered public health specialist and has been a consultant in public health in
Sunderland since 2011, taking responsibility for the integration of public health
services. She became acting Director of Public Health in April 2015 and was
appointed substantially in January 2016.

Committee(s), including Audit and Risk Committee
Details of the CCG’s committees can be found in the governance section of this
annual report.
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Register of Interests
The CCG’s register of interests is available on our public website and can be found
by using the following link:
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/?s=register+of+interests
It is updated on an annual basis in line with current national guidance and reviewed
by both the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body.

Personal data related incidents
The CCG has not had any serious incidents or serious information breaches during
the year.

Principles of Remedy
The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line
with current legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes
adopting the principles as outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling, principles of good
administration and principles of remedy.

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response
The CCG has a business continuity plan in place which is fully compliant with NHS
England’s Emergency Preparedness Framework 2015. The plan sets out the
necessary process for staff to follow in the event of a business continuity incident
and includes key contacts to support this. In addition, the CCG has completed
business impact analysis for all its key functions and used these to prioritise which
activities would need to be continued in the event of such an incident. The CCG is
also a member of the Local Health Resilience Forum, however, as a category 2
responder, is not required to have a major incident plan.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
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so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.
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Modern Slavery Act
NHS Sunderland CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate
modern slavery and human trafficking. The CCG is not formally required to produce
an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as a supplier of goods and
services as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015, but does produce an annual
statement as a matter of best practice.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Sunderland CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:










The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
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of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:








Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced
and understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) is a body corporate
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is,
in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
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As at 1 April 2019, the CCG was not subject to any directions from NHS England
issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.
The CCG is a membership organisation and all GP practices in Sunderland are
members. We are clinically led and the membership elected six GPs, one of which is
the CCG chair, to lead the CCG on their behalf and work as part of the Governing
Body. We also have a number of nurses and other clinical professionals working
with us on key areas of improvement and development, as well as other
professionals with management support and lay members.
The Governing Body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the
strategy for health improvement for Sunderland and ensured the CCG delivered the
improvements we set out in our commissioning plans. By doing this, we have
worked very closely with other partners across the city of Sunderland to improve the
overall wellbeing of our local people.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my CCG
Accountable Officer appointment letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this
governance statement.
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the CCG has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which the CCG, through its appointed
members, elected GP executives and Governing Body, implements all statutory
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services
in Sunderland. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG and
Governing Body and is reviewed regularly to ensure it remains up to date and fit for
purpose.
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The CCG’s locality approach across Sunderland enables practices to work
collectively within the Coalfields, Sunderland East, Sunderland North, Sunderland
West and Washington localities. Each locality is supported by a lead GP who is an
elected executive and a member of the Governing Body and Executive Committee,
as well as an assigned practice manager and practice nurse. The locality teams also
work in close partnership with the local authority and local patients.
The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019/20 set out the
requirement for practices to work as part of local primary care networks (PCNs) by
30 June 2019. These networks are based on GP registered lists, typically serving
natural communities of around 30,000 to 50,000, being small enough to provide the
personal care valued by both patients and GPs but large enough to have impact and
economies of scale through better collaboration between practices and others in the
local health and social care system.
The CCG has six PCNs covering the five localities within Sunderland. Due to the
population size within the West locality, two PCNs have been established to ensure
the benefits for patients could be maximized. Each other PCN is coterminous with
their locality, as well as the Sunderland All Together Better Alliance (out of hospital
model) and Sunderland City Council’s neighbourhoods. The PCNs will build on the
core of current primary care and enable greater provision of proactive, personalised,
coordinated and more integrated health and social care.
The CCG has met regularly with all of its member practices as part of its ‘time in time
out’ clinical educational sessions which are held on a regular basis. Through these
sessions, we keep our members up to date on key developments both nationally and
locally across the CCG, as well as obtaining their views and feedback on key issues,
improvements and future developments.
We aim to hold our annual general meeting on 28 July 2020 to give us the
opportunity to share our key achievements during the year and highlight our priorities
for the coming year. We will also give an overview of the CCG’s financial
performance to demonstrate we have met our statutory duties in relation to these.
We use our governance framework to lead and manage the achievement of our
vision for ‘Better Health for Sunderland’. We also use governance to lead and
manage through our core values (and the public sector values of accountability,
probity and openness) and our systems (such as governance structures and risk
management systems). Details of our strategic objectives and core values can be
found in the performance report section of CCG’s annual report.
We also use governance as the system of control, accountability and decisionmaking at the highest level of the organisation. The CCG governance framework
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comprises of the systems and processes and culture and values by which the CCG
is directed and controlled. It enables us to monitor the achievement of our strategic
objectives and ensure we deliver our vision of delivering appropriate, cost-effective
services for the residents of Sunderland.
The CCG’s system of internal control is a significant part of the governance
framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and therefore can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
Our system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to:


Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and
objectives



Evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the impact should they
materialise



Manage risks efficiently, effectively and economically

The governance framework has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year
ending 31 March 2020 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of
accounts.
To ensure effective governance arrangements are in place within the CCG, the
Governing Body and its sub-committees operate in such a way as to ensure it
discharges its functions appropriately and all of the functions are managed
effectively. The Governing Body and committee agendas are structured to ensure
key risks and issues were addressed and ensure delivery of our corporate
objectives.
The Governing Body has an agreed assurance framework in place (described in
more detail in the internal control framework section of this statement) which is
supported by clear risk management processes to place for identifying, analysing,
evaluating, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk. The Audit and Risk
Committee oversees the risk management function on behalf of the Governing Body.
The Governing Body has used its assurance framework to ensure delivery of the
corporate objectives and has received regular updates on progress for assurance.
The Audit and Risk Committee also supported this work and undertook regular
reviews of the framework and process associated with it to ensure it remained robust
throughout the year.
In 2019/20, the Governing Body met on 12 occasions, six of which were held in
public. The other six occasions were used as more in-depth sessions to continue
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focus developing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, both as individual
members and as a board, and to review specific topics in more detail.
The Governing Body is made up of the following members:


Executive GP chair (elected)



Executive GP vice chair (elected)



Executive GP x 4 (elected)



Chief Officer



Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer



Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety



Lay Member, Audit and Non-Clinical Vice Chair



Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement



Secondary Care Clinician

In addition, the following are regular non-voting attendees and participants to the
Governing Body meeting:


Lay Member, Primary Care Commissioning



Medical Director



Director of Contracting and Informatics



Director of People and Primary Care



Executive Practice Manager



Head of Corporate Affairs



Director of Public Health, Sunderland City Council



Executive Director of People Services, Sunderland City Council

The Governing Body’s committee structure reflects guidance and best practice and
is shown on the diagram on the following page.
The CCG undertook a review of its engagement and involvement arrangements
earlier in the year and identified the need to establish a formal Patient and Public
Involvement Committee to strengthen its assurance and oversight of the CCG’s
statutory duties around these functions. Terms of reference for the committee have
been developed and submitted to the Governing Body for formal approval with a
view to the Committee being formally established from 1 April 2020.
All Governing Body sub-committees have agreed terms of reference to outline their
key areas of responsibility and accountability. These terms of reference are reviewed
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on a regular basis to ensure they remain relevant and reflect the committee’s role and
responsibilities.
Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality, assurance, risk
and governance issues, as well as patient experience via patient stories at public
Governing Body meetings. These arrangements meet the requirements of best
practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a robust assurance
framework is in place and consistently reviewed. They also reflect the public service
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify, as Accountable Officer,
my responsibility for ensuring these values are met within the CCG.
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The Governing Body Structure
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Committees of the Governing Body
Executive Committee

Quality and Safety
Committee

Audit and Risk
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Roles and Responsibilities
 Responsible for the
delivery of the overall
management to support
the CCG to work
efficiently, effectively
and economically
 Ensure effective clinical
engagement
 Promote involvement of
all member practices in
the work of the CCG
 Secure improvements in
commissioning of care
and services
 Strategy and planning
 Formulating and
implementing service
change
 Delivery of improved
outcomes, action
planning
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 Responsible for
ensuring appropriate
governance systems
and processes are in
place to commission,
monitor and ensure the
delivery of high quality
safe patient care in
commissioned services,
 Promote continuous
improvement and
innovation – safety of
services, clinical
effectiveness and
patient experience
 Secure public
involvement - patient
and public views are
properly reflected in
CCG policies and plans
 Oversight and scrutiny,
supporting NHS

 Responsible for critically
reviewing financial
reporting and internal
control principles
 Provide assurance and
independent/objective
views to the Governing
Body on finance and
governance systems
and processes
 Review the adequacy
and effectiveness of
governance, risk
management and
internal control
measures
 Monitor integrity of
financial statements
 Scrutinise the process
and delivery of
QIPP/resource releasing
initiatives

 Responsible for making
decisions on the review,
planning and
procurement of primary
medical care services in
accordance with the
delegation agreement
between the CCG and
NHS England
 Promote increased cocommissioning to
increase quality,
efficiency, productivity
and value for money

Determine and make
recommendations to the
Governing Body on:
 Pay and remuneration
for CCG employees and
people who provide
services to the CCG
 Allowances under any
pension scheme
established as an
alternative to the NHS
pension scheme.

 Design and
management of
enhanced services

 Appropriate
remuneration and terms
and conditions for the
Accountable
Officer(Chief Officer),
GP Executives, Very
Senior Managers, Vice
Chair

 Design of local incentive
schemes

 Remuneration and
terms of appointment of

 Management of GMS,
PMS and APMS
contracts
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Executive Committee

 Managing performance
– financial and nonfinancial
 Review of business
cases and supporting
processes

Quality and Safety
Committee
England, in securing
continuous improvement
in the quality of primary
medical care

Audit and Risk
Committee
 Perform the role of
Auditor Panel

 Quality in commissioned
services – assurance
and improvement

 Ensure an effective
internal audit function
that meets mandatory
Public Sector Internal
Audit Standards

 Seek assurance on
performance of provider
organisations

 Review the work and
findings of external
auditors

 Seek assurance in
relation to medicines
optimisation, safety and
cost effective
prescribing

 Ensure adequate
counter fraud
arrangements are in
place

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee
 Decisions on
establishing new GP
practices in an area,
approving practice
mergers or branch
closures
 Review primary medical
care services in
Sunderland

Remuneration
Committee
any lay members.
 Proper calculation and
scrutiny of termination
payments
 Fulfil the role of
Nominations Committee

 Financial management
of primary medical care
services

 Ensure robust process
are in place to manage
conflicts of interest
 Ensure systems are in
place to identify, assess
and prioritise risks, both
actual and potential
Membership

Members:

Members:

Members:

Members:

Members:

Chief Officer (Chair)

Lay Member, Primary

Lay Member, Audit (Chair)

Lay Member, Primary

Lay Member, Audit (Chair)
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Executive Committee

Quality and Safety
Committee

Audit and Risk
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Deputy Chief Officer and
Chief Finance Officer

Care Commissioning
(Chair)

Lay Member, Primary care
commissioning and quality

Care Commissioning
(Chair)

Lay Member for Patient
and Public Involvement

Executive Director of
Nursing, Quality and
Safety,

Lay Member, Patient and
Public Involvement

Independent Audit and
Risk Committee Member

Lay Member, Patient and
Public Involvement

CCG Chair

Director of Nursing,
Quality and Safety,

Regular attendees:

Chief Officer

Chief Officer

Executive GPs x 6

Chief Officer

Deputy Chief Officer and
Chief Finance Officer

Head of Corporate Affairs

Strategic Practice Nurse

Deputy Chief Officer and
Chief Finance Officer

Strategic Practice
Manager

Medical Director

Executive GP

Regular attendees:

GPs x 3

External Audit Mazars –
Partner and Senior
Manager

Medical Director
Director of Contracting
and Informatics
Director of People and
Primary Care
Head of Corporate Affairs

Secondary Care Clinician

Head of Internal Audit,
AuditOne

Head of Quality and
Patient Safety
Head of Safeguarding
Head of Corporate Affairs
Head of Contracting and
Performance

Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Head of Corporate Affairs
Counter Fraud Specialist

Director of Public Health,
Sunderland City Council

Regular attendees:

HR Representative

GP Primary Care Advisor
Regular attendees:
Director of People and
Primary Care
Head of Corporate Affairs
Sunderland City Council
representative
Local Healthwatch Chair
NHS England
representative

Key issues covered during the year
 Financial pressures and
performance issues
 Community Acquired
Brian Injury Service
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 Quality and safety risks
 Quality assessment
exception report
 Assurance reports for

 Governing Body
assurance framework
 Corporate risk register
 Annual governance

 Finance updates and
management of
delegated general
practice budgets
 End of year review and

 Lay Member for Primary
Care and Quality
remuneration
 Non agenda for change
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Executive Committee

review
 Intensive Support Team
Service Review
 Continuing healthcare
and healthcare
packages
 Ambulance response
times
 Transforming Care
 Medicines optimisation
 Prevention and child
health
 Children and adolescent
mental health services,
including perinatal
services
 Cancer plan
 Urgent and ambulatory
care
 Stop smoking,
integrated wellness and
sexual health services
 Single point of access
for the Musculoskeletal
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Quality and Safety
Committee
nursing and residential
care services
 Safeguarding annual
reports
 All Together Better
quality assurance
framework
 Learning disabilities and
Transforming Care
assurance report
 Commissioner quality
assurance visits

Audit and Risk
Committee
statement
 Annual report and
accounts review and
recommendation to the
Governing Body
 Financial updates
(including schedules of
losses and special
payments)
 Sustainability Delivery
Group minutes

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee
terms of reference

 Additional annual leave
for staff for CCG rating
achievement

 General Practice
Strategy implementation
update

 VSM pay award

 Local Primary Care
Quality Group terms of
reference
 Primary Care Internal
Audit report

 CCG quality strategy
 Quality in older persons’
commissioned services

 Overview of tender
waivers

 Continuing health care

 Register of interests

 Practice and branch
mergers, boundary
changes and list
closures

 Patient and public
involvement statutory
requirements – NHS
Outcomes Framework
self-assessment

 Internal audit strategy
and progress reports

 Refreshed general
practice strategy

 External audit progress
and completion reports

 General practice

 Assurance from its subgroups on delivery of
their roles and
responsibilities

 NHS Counter Fraud
Authority self-

pay award 2019/20

 General practice
commissioning audit
report

 Scheme of reservation
and delegation

 Counter fraud annual
plan and updates

Remuneration
Committee

communications and
engagement
 Care Quality
Commission inspection
reports

 Directors remuneration
 Non agenda for change
pay award 2020/21
 Deputy Chief Officer
remuneration
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Executive Committee

Service
 Emergency
preparedness, resilience
and response (EPRR)

Quality and Safety
Committee

Audit and Risk
Committee

(including safeguarding,
healthcare acquired
infections and quality
within local providers)

assessment submission

 Improving Access to
Psychological Services

Key challenges
included:

 Continued development
of the multi-specialist
community provider
model (All Together
Better Alliance)

 Provider quality and
safety performance
issues

key challenges included:
 A&E performance
 Continuing healthcare
packages
 Financial pressures
 Urgent care consultation
 Transfer of Shared Care
 Ambulance waiting
times and handover
delays

 Safeguarding adults and
children activity
 Delivery of statutory
duties relating to
continuing health care
 Joint commissioning –
nursing, residential care;
learning disabilities;
continuing healthcare
and healthcare
packages
 Transforming care
agenda
 Medicines optimisation shared care and joint
formulary
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 Cyber security and
information risk
 Auditor annual report
Key challenges
included:
 Forecast underspends
and financial impact of
over performance in
A&E
 Funding allocations and
changes to business
rules for CCGs
 QIPP/Sustainability
Delivery Group progress
 Continuing health care
internal systems and
processes review
 NHS Property Services
market rent changes

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee
 General practice
transformation funding
 General practice quality
premium evaluation for
2019/20
 NHS England General
Practice resilience
funding
 Quality in general
practice
 New consultation types
within general practice
 Recruitment and
retention scheme
updates
Key challenges
included:
 GP recruitment and
retention
 Quality issues in primary
care
 Underspend on
delegated general
practice budgets

Remuneration
Committee
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Executive Committee

Quality and Safety
Committee
 Quality within primary
medical care services
 Childhood
immunisations
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Audit and Risk
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee
 NHS Property Services
billing changes

Remuneration
Committee
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Joint Committee Arrangements
The CCG has joint and collaborative arrangements in place to make commissioning
decisions through delegation arrangements. These are as follows:


Sunderland City Council Health and Wellbeing Board (on which the CCG has
three voting seats)



Joint Health and Social Care Integration Board with Sunderland City Council
to manage the Better Care Fund set up from April 2016



Sunderland City Council (section 75) agreement in place for joint
commissioning arrangements for the Better Care Fund



Collaborative arrangements with the other North East and Cumbria CCGs
with regard to commissioning arrangements for contracts with NHS healthcare
providers across the North East and Cumbria



Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to determine commissioning for
health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding requests,
including conducting an appeals process



Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to advise upon and make
recommendations to CCGs on high cost cancer drugs and high cost
treatments



Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to provide a partnership forum
to work together with trade union and professional organisation
representatives to discuss issues relating to employment matters affecting
their employees

The groups identified above have an agreed governance structure in place with
specific roles, responsibilities and accountabilities or are covered by individual
CCGs' governance arrangements where appropriate and agreed. Any investments
and decisions made by these groups are formally documented and reviewed
regularly as part of the CCG contracting and performance arrangements.
In addition, we continue to work closely with our partner organisations in the local
health community. A significant part of this partnership working continues to be with
Sunderland City Council (the Council) in the delivery of the Better Care Fund (BCF)
through the Health and Social Care Integration Board. The BCF combines a
resource of £237m in 2019/20 between health and social care and is enabling us to
make much needed changes to improve services across both sectors whilst making
maximum use of the combined resources. Robust governance arrangements are in
place around the BCF and demonstrate the strength of the links that we have with
the Council.
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The CCG and Council have worked in partnership over the past few years to
transform the delivery of care across Sunderland. As a partnership, we established
the All Together Better Sunderland alliance following the securing of national
vanguard funding to help strengthen connections between local health and social
care services. Since being awarded NHS ‘vanguard’ status in 2015, Sunderland
has been at the forefront of developing new models of care and a significant amount
of work has already taken place, through All Together Better (ATB) Sunderland, to
begin to integrate services and improve the way care is delivered.
On 1 April 2019, ATB Sunderland formally came into operation as an ‘alliance’ of
providers (including GPs in their role as providers) and commissioners working
together to join-up community health and care services across Sunderland and
improve health outcomes for people living across the City. Through the alliance
approach, ATB Sunderland aims to build upon the success of the ‘out of hospital’
NHS vanguard programme by improving the health of local people, providing better
care and ensuring clinically and financially sustainable services.
Working together as an alliance means that all partners are equal in standing and
focussed on working across organisational boundaries to do what is best for the
person and for the whole health and care system.
Work throughout 2019/20 has focussed on developing robust governance and
partnership arrangements that facilitate closer working at both a local neighbourhood
level and across the wider City of Sunderland. This has included the development of
a robust governance and risk management framework, along with a shared vision,
objectives, care and business models and a system-wide plan on a page and annual
operational plan. Work is also underway to identify more efficient decision-making
and assurance arrangements going forward into 2020/21 for ATB Sunderland to
enable real devolution and ownership of issues and avoid duplication.
The work taking place through ATB Sunderland is in line with the ambitions outlined
in the NHS Long Term Plan and the Integrated Care System (ICS) across the North
East and North Cumbria. ATB Sunderland is represented at the Durham, South
Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) which forms part of the
region’s ICS.
The CCG has also continued to maintain close links with NHS England. The latest
assurance rating from NHS England has seen the CCG achieve ‘outstanding’ in all
domains of the CCG Improvement and assessment framework (planning,
performance, financial management, delegated functions and well-led organisation).
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Assessment of the Governing Body Effectiveness
The CCG’s governance framework is reviewed by NHS England as part of the CCG
assurance framework requirements. During the year, the CCG has undertaken a selfassessment of its leadership and governance processes as part of the framework
put in place by NHS England, Cumbria and the North East who was assured that the
CCG governance framework was robust and did not raise any issues of concern.
We continuously monitor our process for managing conflicts of interest to ensure any
actual or potential interests are managed effectively and robustly. The CCG has
submitted quarterly assurance returns to NHS England in relation to any breaches in
managing conflicts of interest and to date we have not had any. Our register is
publicly available on the CCG’s website.
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Dr Fadi Khalil – Executive GP*

4/6

10/12

Dr Saira Malik*

6/6
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Mr David Gallagher – Chief Officer (as
Accountable Officer until 31 March 2020)*
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Mrs Ann Fox – Director of Nursing, Quality and
Safety*

6/6
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Mr David Chandler – Chief Finance Officer *
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Dr Claire Bradford – Medical Director
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Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and
Informatics

6/6

10/12

Mrs Florence Gunn – Strategic Practice Nurse
Mr Eric Harrison – Executive Practice Manager

6/6

10/12
(Chair)

5/6

4/6

5/6

5/5

3/6
4/6

10/12
6/6

9/12
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Ms Fiona Brown – Executive Director of
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*voting right on the Governing Body
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The Governing Body has a detailed programme of development throughout the year,
utilising external and internal expertise and facilitation, to continuously review,
develop and enhance its effectiveness.
The sessions covered a range of key topics such as:


System-wide development of the Integrated Care System and partnerships



Collective and individual leadership



Corporate behaviours and responsibilities



Strategic commissioning, planning and priorities



Urgent care strategy mobilisation



All Together Better Alliance (out of hospital reform) development



Phase two of the Path to Excellence programme (in hospital reform)



Primary care networks development

The Governing Body also undertakes an annual self-assessment questionnaire for
members to assess their effectiveness and performance, both as individuals and a
board, based on principles outlined in relevant corporate governance guidance. The
questionnaire focused on leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration
and relationships with stakeholders.
The self-assessment provides the Governing Body the opportunity to reflect on its
performance throughout the year and assure itself it has acted in line with its agreed
Constitution, current legislation and agreed corporate objectives. The outcome of
the self-assessment will be incorporated into the programme of Governing Body
development sessions for the coming financial year.
Having reviewed the effectiveness of the Governing Body’s governance framework
and associated guidance, I consider that the organisation has followed and applied
the principles and standards of best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
The arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the corporate
governance framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to
ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the
matters reserved for membership body and Governing Body decision and the
scheme of delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I
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can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions
on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.
The director teams have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s
statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
Effective risk management is an integral part of the work of the CCG in delivering
against its corporate objectives and strategic priorities in the stewardship of public
funds. The Governing Body has a responsibility to maintain a strategic view of the
organisation’s risk appetite, as set out in the CCG’s risk management framework,
and to set boundaries to guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in the
pursuit of achieving its organisational objectives.
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through:


The risk management framework and its supporting policies and procedures



The committee structure described earlier in this statement



A risk management group, including directors and the senior team



The management processes (e.g. used a risk-based approach to help
prioritise planning and work programmes)



The Governing Body assurance framework



Risk management skills training, including risk assessments of various types
and the mandatory and statutory training programme for all staff



Raising awareness of a counter fraud culture

The CCG risk management framework takes into account current guidance on risk
management as well as established best practice. The framework sets out the CCG’s
approach to risk and the management of risk in the fulfilment of its overall objective
to commission high quality and safe services. In addition, the adoption and
embedding of an effective risk management framework and processes helps to
ensure that the reputation of the CCG is maintained and enhanced, and its
resources are used effectively to reform services through innovation, large-scale
prevention, improved quality and greater productivity.
The framework provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of
risk. Key elements of the framework include:
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Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process



Clear processes for the management of risk in commissioned services,
partnership working and the delivery of the quality, innovation, productivity
and prevention programme



A clearly defined process for assessing and managing risks, including
implementation and dissemination of the framework to all staff



Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risks, including
incident reporting, serious incidents and safeguarding



Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting of and managing risks through
the risk register process



Arrangements for monitoring and review of the framework

The overall risk management approach ensures that the framework is coordinated
across the whole organisation and progress is reported effectively to the Governing
Body, Quality and Safety and Audit and Risk Committees.
The risk management framework is embedded into the work of CCG in a number of
ways. We have a robust incident reporting system and staff are actively encouraged
to report incidents to help identify risks and we also have a clear policy and process
in place for staff to raise any concerns in relation to potential fraud risks. The
planning and reform processes also include a risk management element to ensure
risks are being identified and mitigated as far as possible, with each of the
programme boards having a responsibility to escalate risks through to the corporate
risk register process as appropriate.
Understanding, monitoring and mitigating risks are fundamental tasks in a successful
organisation, as well as basic aspect of good governance. As such, it is the
responsibility of the Governing Body to determine the best place for risk
management to positioned ensuring effective management and assurance
processes are in place.
As a formal sub-committee of the Governing Body, the Audit and Risk Committee
provided the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the CCG’s
financial systems, financial information, and compliance with laws, regulations and
directions governing the CCG in so far as they relate to finance. The Committee also
provided assurance to the Governing Body that systems were in place and operating
effectively for the identification, assessment and prioritisation of risks, potential and
actual, and to report on any major strategic issues and any associated financial
implications to the Governing Body and other external agencies as appropriate.
In addition the Committee reviewed the Governing Body assurance framework
(GBAF) to ensure the Governing Body received assurances that effective controls
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were in place to manage all strategic risks. It provided assurance with regards to
risks to the services being commissioned ae well as overall risks to the
organisation’s strategic and operational plans.
The Committee’s specific responsibilities relating to risk management are to;


Oversee the risk management system and obtain assurances that there is an
effective system operating across the CCG



Report to the Governing Body any significant risk management issues

The Risk Management Group is part of the business cycle of the director and senior
team meetings and provides assurance to the Audit and Risk Committee on the
management of risk. In particular, the Group supports the Committee to embed the
CCG’s risk management policy and framework, with a particular focus on the risk
register system and process. The Group reviews the corporate risk register and any
high level risks and reports to the Committee on any significant risk management
and assurance issues.
The Risk Management Group has met on a quarterly basis throughout the year and
included a review of all risks, supported by a rolling programme of in-depth reviews
of each individual director’s risks. This has enabled further scrutiny and challenge
on the assurances and mitigating actions identified in the risk register and GBAF.
The Executive and Quality and Safety committees review and manage any strategic
or operational risks pertaining to the committee’s area of focus on exceptional basis.
Additional risk management support
The CCG also has a service line agreement in place with the North of England
Commissioning Support Service (NECS) to provide specialist support and advice in
relation to risk management in conjunction with the Head of Corporate Affairs. This
support includes the management of the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management
System which is the system the CCG uses to record and analyse all identified risks.
Other risk management processes
The equality and quality impact assessment processes are well established within
the CCG and staff receive regular training and updates to ensure any risks
associated with these are identified and managed. The Governing Body and
committee report cover sheets also include reference to the both processes to
demonstrate compliance with this duty and highlight any potential issues.
The CCG involves key stakeholders and the public in the management of risks
through its public Governing Body meetings. The risk register is a regular item on
the public agenda and there is an opportunity for questions to be asked on the
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register as a whole or any specific risks during the meeting. In addition, key
stakeholders and the public are invited to specific events such to discuss issues and
topics in detail, which includes identifying and assessing relevant risks.
There is also the opportunity through the CCG’s Better Health roadshow events,
Sunderland Involvement Partnership and collaborative working across the health
economy to discuss risks openly and to help identify ways in which they should be
managed. By working in an inclusive way with the public, this ensures the CCG
takes into account the views of the public and key stakeholders. Any such views
form a crucial part of developing robust mitigating action plans for any identified
risks.

Risk Appetite
Risk appetite is the organisation’s unique attitude towards risk as it is the amount of
risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or to be exposed to at any
point in time. It can be influenced by personal experience, political factors and
external events. Risks were considered in terms of both opportunities and threats
and not confined to money.
The CCG tries to reduce risks to the lowest level reasonably practicable. Where
risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort is made to mitigate the remaining
risk. However, an understanding of the organisation’s risk appetite will ensure the
CCG supports a varied and diverse approach to commissioning, to work proactively
and to improve quality, efficiency and value.
In line with best practice, the Governing Body reviewed all of its corporate objectives
and set the risk appetite for each one individually. It is recognised that the risk
appetite may differ for each objective depending on the nature of the objective and
the required actions necessary to deliver that objective. The Governing Body used
the Good Governance Institute risk appetite matrix for NHS organisations to
determine the level of risk appetite.
The Governing Body concluded that the CCG’s overall organisation and individual
risk appetites are:
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Overall appetite – significant (seek): eager to be innovative and to choose
options offering potentially higher rewards (despite greater inherent risk)



Individual corporate objective appetites: Detailed in table below
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Risk Appetite Matrix
Objective

Risk Appetite

CO1: ensure the CCG meets its public accountability
duties

High (open/seek)

CO2a: maintain financial control

High (open)

CO2b: maintain performance targets

Significant (seek)

CO3: maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG
commissioned services

Significant (seek)

CO4: ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in
commissioning and reforming services

Significant (seek)

CO5: identify and deliver the CCG’s key strategic priorities Significant (seek)
CO6: continue to develop the CCG localities

High (open)

CO7: integrating health and social services, including the
Better Care Fund

Significant (seek)

CO8: development and delivery of primary medical care
commissioning

Significant (seek)

Control Mechanisms
The CCG’s corporate objectives were reviewed by the Governing Body and did not
change for 2019/20. These are outlined in the table above.
Whenever risks to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives were identified, an
assessment was undertaken to ensure the appropriate controls were put in place
(using the existing strategic risks identified on the risk register and aligned to the
corporate objectives). In addition, supporting action plans were identified and
implemented to mitigate these risks materialising as far as possible. A number of
controls and assurances, along with associated gaps in assurance and controls,
were also identified and together these formed the Governing Body assurance
framework (GBAF) for 2019/20.
The Governing Body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate
delegated limits, with specified objectives and robust action plans. The Audit and
Risk Committee provides the Governing Body with assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the GBAF.
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Specific risks relating to the 2019/20 GBAF included:


Sustainability of IT, workforce and infrastructure within the CCG and general
practice



Financial pressures within the Local Authority around eligibility for Continuing
Healthcare



Referral to treatment (18 weeks) and waiting list times in secondary care



Delivery of 62 day cancer treatment target at South Tyneside and Sunderland
NHS Foundation Trust



Delivery of ambulance response targets by North East Ambulance Service
NHS Foundation Trust



Providers ability to meet the A&E 95% four hour target



Impact on quality of the hospital collaboration work across South Tyneside
and Sunderland



Safeguarding adults and children and primary care compliance with statutory
safeguarding processes

A number of gaps in assurance and controls were identified in reviewing and
agreeing the assurance framework. These have been monitored as appropriate
within the committee structure.
A number of internal audits have also been conducted throughout the year focusing
on key governance areas such as standards of business conduct, corporate
decision-making, financial systems and risk management. The outcomes of these
audits gave the CCG a rating of substantial assurance for each of these areas.
The CCG’s five year commissioning plan describes the long term vision for health
and social care of Sunderland. The risks to delivery of this plan have been
systematically identified and quantified for all of the investment and disinvestment
initiatives as part of the detailed planning process and in collaboration with all
relevant partners, using a risk-based assessment of likelihood and consequence.
Using a risk-based approach, the CCG’s financial framework has been developed to
ensure a balanced financial plan year on year. Contingencies were identified within
the financial framework to ensure high level financial risks could be addressed. The
CCG used its local prioritisation process to enable the balance of investments and
disinvestments to be robustly assessed and reviewed. In addition, the process to
develop and approve business cases has also been reviewed in year.
Cumbria, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear has been established as an
Integrated Care System and within this there are four integrated care partnerships
(ICPs), namely the North, Central, South and Tees ICPs. The CCG is part of the
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integrated care partnership with North Durham and South Tyneside. This
partnership is a shared local vision for 2021 regarding care both inside and outside
our hospitals underpinned by better integration with local authority services in
respect of prevention, early intervention and social care.
We are part of the South Tyneside and Sunderland Partnership leading the Path to
Excellence programme which includes NHS South Tyneside CCG and South
Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust. This is a transformational
programme in relation to acute (in hospital) services across South Tyneside and
Sunderland.
Phase one focused on stroke services, specifically hospital (acute) care and
hospital-based rehabilitation services; maternity services (obstetrics) covering
hospital based birthing facilities; women’s healthcare (gynaecology) services
covering inpatient surgery where patients would need an overnight hospital stay;
children and young people’s healthcare services (urgent and emergency
paediatrics).
Decisions about these services were taken in February 2018 and the new service
models have now been fully implemented, with maternity services and children
urgent and emergency paediatrics daytime emergency department at Sunderland
implemented since August 2019. In January 2020, over 100 babies have been born
in the new South Tyneside Birthing Centre since August 2019.
In relation to stroke services, these have seen significant improvements with more
patients across South Tyneside and Sunderland getting access to high quality stroke
care and life saving treatment as a direct consequence to the changes made to
stroke services. Further information is available on the link:
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/vital-changes-to-stroke-services-saving-lives-acrosssouth-tyneside-and-sunderland/
Phase Two of the Path to Excellence programme started in December 2018 and is
the final part of the clinical transformation of local hospital services and is looking at
two broad areas of hospital-based care: how we look after people in an emergency
and or who have an urgent healthcare need and how we look after people who need
planned care.
The main services being reviewed in Path to Excellence Phase two are those
delivered by South Tyneside District Hospital and Sunderland Royal Hospital.
These are acute medicine and emergency care; emergency surgery and planned
care and outpatients
Further information can be found at: https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/)
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We updated our operational plan for 2019/20 which outlines how we are delivering
the Sunderland components of the ICP, using a risk-based approach to develop the
plan. Further detail on the ICP can be found in the performance report section of this
annual report.
As a CCG, we have a duty to work with partners to improve the health of the local
population. Partnerships can involve high levels of risk due to their complexities
making robust risk management an essential element of partnership governance.
We have ensured that any work carried out across the health and social care
economy adhered to the CCG’s principles of robust risk management, focusing on
those areas considered to be of highest risk and undertaking appropriate risk
assessments and mitigating action plans as necessary.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality, safe and sustainable services
and demonstrates leadership in risk management through the risk management
framework. The framework sets out clear roles and responsibilities within the CCG
to implement the risk management process.
The responsibility for risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from
Governing Body members, directors and to all managers and staff.
As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility to ensure the implementation of
the framework with supporting risk management systems and internal control. I also
ensure an appropriate committee structure is in place to meet all the statutory
requirements and ensure positive performance towards the achievement of the
CCG’s strategic priorities. Day to day responsibility for risk management is
delegated to the head of corporate affairs.
The Deputy Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer provides expert professional
advice to the Governing Body on the efficient and economic use of the CCG’s
financial resources. This includes ensuring the CCG has appropriate arrangements
in place for audit and identifying risks and mitigating actions in the delivery of quality
QIPP.
The Medical Director, Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety and six
elected GPs promote risk management processes with the CCG’s member practices.
All senior leaders within the CCG have a responsibility to incorporate risk
management within all aspects of their work in line with the requirements set out in
the risk management framework as described in an earlier section of this statement.
Appropriate training has also taken place over the year to enable senior leaders to
undertake their risk management duties appropriately and enable them to share best

105

Official

practice. The Risk Management Group helps to support this and its membership
includes all heads of service.
The structure within the CCG to manage risk is detailed as follows:
Committee

Responsibility for Risk
Management

Role

Governing Body Maintains oversight of
the internal control and
risk management
frameworks

Seek assurance on behalf of the CCG
membership that risks are being
managed appropriately within
delegated limits, with specific objectives
and robust action plans to ensure the
CCG meets its statutory duties and
functions.

Audit and Risk
Committee

Receives regular information on risks
and provides assurance to the
Governing Body progress is being
made towards mitigating these.

Main committee with
responsibility for
oversight of the risk
management

Reviews the Governing Body
Assurance Framework and provides
assurance to the Governing Body that
the CCG is discharging its functions
appropriately.
Risk
Management
Group (as part
of the Director
and Senor
Team meetings)

Supports the Audit and
Risk Committee in
managing risk across
the CCG.

Provides assurance to the Audit and
Risk Committee on the embedding of
the CCG’s risk management policy and
framework, with a particular focus on
the risk register system and process.

Executive,
Primary Care
Commissioning
and Quality and
Safety
Committees

Review risks and key
issues on an
exceptional basis
(relevant to each
committee terms of
reference).

Undertake this role for additional
scrutiny when required.

Risk Assessment
The CCG has ensured that its risk management processes are embedded throughout
the organisation and provide a clear process for identifying, analysing, evaluating,
managing, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk. The types of risks the
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CCG faces include corporate (accountability to the public), clinical (associated with
our commissioning responsibilities), reputational and financial risks.
The CCG continues to use a standard matrix methodology in the application of a risk
rating to ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and effective
targeting of resources. Risks are assessed using the consequence and likelihood of
that risk occurring, giving an overall rating of high, moderate or low. This rating is
recorded against the identified risk and managed via a serious of controls and
actions and progress is monitored via the CCG’s governance processes. The
financial impact of the identified risk is also assessed and included on the register.
Each director team has its own risk register, aligned to the CCG’s corporate
objectives and assurance framework, to identify existing or prospective risks to the
organisation. These registers are supported by a corporate register, which focuses
on the high risks that have been identified to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic
objectives and a strategic risk register which supports the Governing Body
assurance framework (covered in more detail in the control mechanisms section).
In addition, risks are identified through our strategic planning process and monitored
via our performance management system that rates all objectives for risk to delivery.
The Audit and Risk Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to
manage risk on its behalf. The Committee received quarterly updates of the
corporate risk register throughout the year to ensure though high risks are being
monitored and managed effectively to be mitigated as far as possible. The Risk
Management Group continued to support the Committee throughout the year in
managing risks, meeting on a quarterly basis to focus on the lower level operational
risks to ensure these were being managed appropriately.
The framework to monitor and manage each level of risk register is as follows:
Register Type

Managed/Reviewed by

Strategic risk
register

Audit and Risk
Committee

(moderate/high
risks identified as
strategic risks to
the corporate
objectives)

(as part of the Governing
Body Assurance
Framework)

Corporate risk

Audit and Risk
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Governing Body

Frequency
of review

Accountable to

Quarterly

Governing Body

Six monthly

CCG membership

Bi-monthly

Governing Body

(as part of the Governing
Body Assurance
Framework)

Official

register

Committee

(moderate and high
risks rated 10-25)
Operational risk
register
(low risks rated
between 1-9)

Director and Senior team Quarterly
(including the Risk
Management Group in
its business cycle)

Audit and Risk
Committee

The CCG service line agreement with NECS also includes further support, advice
and training in relation risk assessment.
Using the risk register framework described above has enabled the CCG to maintain
a continued focus on those risks with a potential greater impact on the organisation
at both committee and Governing Body level. The CCG identified some high risks
during the year (as highlighted previously in the control mechanisms section) and
mitigating action plans were put in place to address these. Progress has been
monitored closely by the Risk Management Group, Audit and Risk Committee and
Governing Body.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the
impact should they materialise, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurances of effectiveness.
The committee structure within the CCG has been established to ensure there are
robust reporting mechanisms and clear lines of accountability in place to provide
assurance to the Governing Body, and ultimately our members, that the CCG is
discharging its activities and functions effectively.
The scheme of delegation and reservation sets out the responsibilities of the
membership, Governing Body and its sub-committees, the Chief Officer (as
Accountable Officer) and other directors to ensure the CCG discharges its functions
appropriately. The scheme is explicit in defining where the responsibilities lie in
delivering each of these key functions and also provides a framework by which the
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Governing Body, on behalf of the members, can seek assurance these are being
done so appropriately.
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the role and responsibilities of the Governing Body
as well as each of its formal sub-committees. Each formal sub-committee has its
own agreed terms of reference in place to ensure it carries out its delegated
functions on behalf of the Governing Body appropriately and within its remit. Each of
the committees is subject to an annual review of effectiveness and this is reviewed
by the Governing Body.
The Governing Body assurance framework (GBAF) is in place to identify gaps in
control and provides assurance against the delivery of the CCG’s corporate
objectives and any key areas of risk (described in more detail in the control
mechanisms section).
The controls identified within the GBAF were assessed as the key elements needed
to mitigate risks to delivery of the corporate objectives as far as possible, act as a
deterrent to risks occurring and provide a structured approach by which identified
risks could be managed. The GBAF and risk management framework both support
the delivery of the corporate objectives and forms part of the internal control
framework.
The CCG financial framework also forms part of the internal control framework, with
a number of approved policies and procedures in place to ensure the CCG
manages its finance in accordance with national policy and guidelines. The CCG
Constitution sets out the prime financial policies and the financial scheme of
delegation, as approved by the Governing Body, sets out the delegated limits for key
individuals within the CCG. This ensures these individuals have a clear framework
in place within which they can make financial decisions. Compliance with the
scheme is monitored by the Audit and Risk committee and Governing Body to ensure
delegated limits are being adhered to. In addition the limits set out within the
scheme have been reviewed by both the Audit and Risk committee and Governing
Body during the year to ensure these remain appropriate and reflect individual
levels of responsibility.
Following the delegation of the primary medical care commissioning function from
NHS England, control mechanisms were put in place to ensure the CCG delivers the
requirements of the delegated function appropriately. A signed delegation
agreement between the CCG and NHS England is in place and sets out the roles
and responsibilities of each organisation. The CCG’s Constitution was updated with
the requirements and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee oversees this
function.
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In relation to the Better Care Fund, the CCG also has a signed agreement in place
with Sunderland City Council to set out the roles and responsibilities for each
organisation and the delivery requirements for the programme. Delivery of this is
monitored through the Health and Wellbeing Board, of which the CCG is a formal
member, and regular reporting to the Governing Body.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management
The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs requires an
annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management to be undertaken. The
CCG has carried out an annual audit of conflicts of interest and received a rating of
substantial assurance from the CCG’s internal auditors, AuditOne.
Two low priority recommendations were made as to how the CCG could further
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its process to manage conflicts of
interest. These related to maintaining dates of conflicts of interest and timelier
declaring of hospitality offers.
Data Quality
The Governing Body and member practices are aware of the importance of
maintaining high standards of information governance and securing confidentiality of
patients’ information. As the Accountable Officer, I receive assurance from the
Director of Contracting and Informatics as senior information risk owner (SIRO) that
this function is discharged appropriately, with support from the Medical Director as
Caldicott Guardian. The CCG also receives support from NECS via a service line
agreement for specialist advice and training for information governance issues. The
Governing Body and member practices are satisfied with the quality of data used to
inform decision-making and planning to deliver the commissioning agenda and to
ensure the CCG meets its statutory requirements.

Information governance
The NHS information governance framework sets out the processes and procedures
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG has undertaken a self-assessment against the specified criteria within the
toolkit and assessed ourselves as being overall compliant by the 31 March 2020. A
review of some of the toolkit standards was undertaken by AuditOne but as this is no
longer a formal audit, an assurance rating is not given but any areas identified for
improvement or as best practice are highlighted.
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The Governing Body is aware of the importance of maintaining high standards of
information governance and securing confidentiality of patients’ information. The
CCG’s SIRO and Caldicott Guardian ensure this function is discharged appropriately,
with the Executive Committee maintaining oversight of this. Both are supported in
their roles by the Head of Corporate Affairs and via a service line agreement with
NECS to provide specialist advice, support and training on information governance
issues.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have an established information governance framework, including an approved
strategy, both of which are reviewed on an annual basis, and have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information
governance toolkit.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents and a programme of mandatory training for information risk management
and incident management. The CCG’s information governance framework helps to
ensure all staff are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities
and it is embedded into everyday practice of the CCG.
We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and
have a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their
information governance roles and responsibilities. The handbook is reviewed on an
annual basis to ensure it remains up to date and relevant.
I can confirm the CCG has had no serious information governance breaches in year.

Business Critical Models
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide
quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the
Macpherson report.

Third Party Assurances
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the
provision of back office services and functions and as such has established an
internal control system to gain assurance from these. These external services
include:
 The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support
from NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business
Services is mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in
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producing NHS England group financial accounts through the use of an
integrated financial ledger system
The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit
The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from IBM
The provision of practice payment services via the Exeter system
processed by NHS England

Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service
audit reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service providers
as well as additional testing of controls by the CCG’s internal auditors. The outcome
from these audits is reported to the Audit and Risk committee and subsequently the
Governing Body via the committee’s minutes.

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources
Following the announcement of draft detailed CCG level allocations on the 10 th
January 2019 for the five year period from 2019/20 to 2023/24, changes in the
allocations formula had seen the distance from target allocation for the CCG
decrease from 13.33% (£59m) at the end of 2018/19 to 7.35% (£33m) at the
beginning of 2019/20. Allocations were approved for 2019/20 to 2021/22 as firm
allocations, with allocations for 2022/23 and 2023/24 being announced as indicative.
As Sunderland CCG now has a distance from target allocation below 10% it will
receive growth above the minimum cash growth in programme budgets for the
period to 2021/22.
For 2019/20 the business rules for CCGs were determined by NHS England.
CCG were required to demonstrate achievement of the following:
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Delivery of a ‘cumulative’ surplus and carry forward of at least 1%



A requirement to deliver an in-year breakeven position



Holding of a contingency reserve of at least 0.5% of the CCG’s total allocation
for 2019/20 (including delegated budgets)



Spending no more than the running cost allowance



Commissioner financial plans must triangulate with activity plans and agreed
contracts, and with provider financial plans



Continue to meet national policy commitments such as the mental health
investment standard (requirement to increase investment into mental health
services at a level which at least matches the CCGs overall programme
allocation increase) and better care fund contributions. In 2019/20 the mental
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health investment standard continues to be subject to an external audit
review.
The financial plans and budgets approved by the Governing Body in March 2018
clearly demonstrated plans to achieve these goals. The level of cumulative surplus
for the CCG was agreed as £16.37m at the start of the year after drawdown of £4.5m
of cumulative surpluses in 2019/20. The Governing Body agreed to deliver a
surplus in excess of the minimum in previous financial years to try and protect the
organisation from required future financial constraints and, support wider financial
sustainability across the health and care system in Sunderland. Any surplus in
excess of the minimum will be available to the CCG in future years to assist in the
management of financial risk.
Throughout the year the CCG has constantly reported to the Governing Body and
Audit and Risk Committee on the delivery against its plans which demonstrated
robust financial planning, control and effective uses of resources. Quality, innovation,
productivity and prevention (QIPP) programmes have been delivered during the year
releasing funds for reinvestment into new services. Savings were made in areas
such as prescribing, out of hospital reforms, reductions in non-recurrent budgets and
re-procurement of services.
The savings above coupled with prudent financial management allowed the CCG to
achieve an additional £3.84m of surplus in year (effectively not needing to utilise the
full £4.5m it drew down in 2019/20 from the cumulative surplus to manage financial
risk). In return for delivering an additional surplus in 2019/20 NHS England has
agreed to allow the CCG to drawdown £9.5m of cumulative surpluses across
2020/21 and 2021/22 which will allow the CCG to support management of financial
risk and transformation of services.
A summary of the CCG’s final cumulative surplus position at the end of the financial
year is as follows:
Table 18: Final cumulative surplus position at end of financial year
£m

Percentage of
Total funding

Surplus brought forward from prior financial years

20.87

3.75%

Drawdown of historical surpluses in 2019/20
(utilisation of surpluses)

(4.50)

-0.81%

Additional surplus delivered in year

3.84

0.69%

Final cumulative surpluses carried forward to
2019/20

20.21

3.64%
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This final surplus balance of £20.21m is not a ‘profit’ or surplus generated during the
financial year. The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried forward from
previous financial years, with an additional £3.84m of surplus generated during
2019/20 as a result of the CCG agreeing to return surplus drawdown for additional
drawdown in future financial years.
CCGs can utilise cumulative surpluses above 1% and it has been agreed with NHS
England that the CCGs cumulative surplus above 1% will be utilised as follows:
Table 19: Utilisation of cumulative surpluses
Utilisation

£m

2020/21 drawdown of cumulative surpluses*

4.50

2021/22 drawdown of cumulative surpluses*

5.00

Additional drawdown of cumulative surplus above 1% requirement **

10.71

* 2020/21 to 2021/22 agreed by NHS England following delivery of additional surplus
in 2018/19 and 2019/20
** Please note that NHS England are yet to inform CCGs how and when they might
be able to access additional future drawdown
AuditOne has undertaken a review during the year of the CCG’s financial planning
and financial systems. The CCG achieved an outcome rating of substantial
assurance for financial planning and substantial assurance for financial systems.
As part of the annual audit the external auditors are required to form an opinion
whether the CCG has proper arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources. Mazars are only required to report where
they conclude that arrangements are not in place. For 2019/20, we are pleased to
confirm that Mazars have not reported any issues to the CCGs Governing Body.
All CCGs in England are subject to a comprehensive annual assessment by NHS
England as part of the NHS Outcomes Framework. This examines key components
and considers the strengths, challenges and areas for improvement before applying
a headline rating of outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate. The
latest available results show the CCG rated as ‘outstanding’ and information on the
assessment process can be found on the following link:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
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Delegation of Functions
NHS Shared Business Services
NHS Shared Business Services provides the Oracle financial system and financial
accounting support to the CCG. NHS England has mandated the use of this service
by all CCGs as it is fundamental in producing NHS England group financial accounts
through the use of an integrated financial ledger system.
For 2019/20 the CCG received an ISA3402 report to provide assurance on the
services provided to the CCG by NHS Shared Business Services. In preparing the
ISA3402 report the auditors were unable to complete all the necessary testing due to
the exceptional circumstances surrounding the COVID19 pandemic and as such
have reported a qualified opinion. It has been confirmed that the CCG had in place
other financial and governance control systems that mitigated the risks associated
with the testing restrictions and subsequent qualified opinion reported for NHS
Shared Business Services. These in-house controls were audited by internal audit as
part of the financial systems audit in 2019/20 gaining substantial assurance.
Primary Care Delegated Functions
NHS England delegated authority to the CCG to exercise primary medical care
commissioning functions from April 2015 (often referred to as ‘level 3 delegated cocommissioning’).
For 2019/20 the following sources of assurances relating to the financial reporting
with the CCG’s accounts are as follows:


ISA3402 report - NHS Digital – this report provides assurance in relation to
this processes used to maintain demographic data on populations used to
calculate GMS / PMS payments for the period 2019/20



ISAE3402 report - NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) ISFE service
auditor report - this report covers financial processes operated by NHS SBS,
including controls on the National Health Applications and Infrastructure
Services (NHAIS) interface between Exeter and the ISFE ledger



ISAE3402 report – Capita service auditor report – this report covers the
services of all primary care support in 2019/20



CCG controls - control mechanisms that are in place to review and approve
recharges posted into the CCG ledger by CCG senior officers



Financial reporting - review of financial reporting against budget by the
Primary Care Commissioning Committee at each formal committee meeting.

NHS England has indicated that the ISAE 3402 Type 2 report for Capita for the
period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 is likely to be delayed due to the COVID-19
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pandemic. This report was qualified in previous and the CCG has ensured it had
compensating controls in place. We understand the scope of the controls is the
same as the prior year. Therefore we are satisfied we have sufficient assurance in
respect of 2019/20 year, despite the delay, due to the aforementioned compensating
controls.
These in-house controls were audited by internal audit as part of the financial
systems audit in 2019/20 gaining substantial assurance.
North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS)
The CCG contracts with NECS for the provision of a number of commissioning
support functions such as human resources, information technology and some
finance services. The CCG has established an internal control system to gain
assurance from NECS on these functions.
Service auditor reports from NECS provided assurance on the internal controls and
control procedures operated by this service organisation to its customers and their
auditors. Finance and payroll services service auditor reports (SAR) have been
received from NECS covering the full year.
A finance reporting and payroll services SAR has been received from NECS
covering the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. NHS England and NECS have
appointed Deloitte LLP to undertake SARs on their behalf.
The SAR has been prepared in accordance with the guidance set out in the
International Standards on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) and 3402 (“ISAE
3000 and 3402”) and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
Technical Release AAF 01/06 (“AAF 01/06”). The SAR provides the CCG with
assurance over the suitability of the design and operating effectiveness of controls to
achieve the related control objectives of the services provided by NECS.
When reporting on the internal controls and control procedures, Deloitte issued a
qualified opinion and noted four control exceptions. Following publication of the SAR,
NECS has reviewed these control exceptions and formulated actions to ensure
compliance in future periods.
Two of the four control exceptions were applicable to the CCG and related to access
controls to the financial ledger system. However following a review by the CCG of
these control exceptions, it has been confirmed that the CCG had in place other
financial and governance control systems that mitigated the control exceptions
identified within NECS. These in-house controls were audited by internal audit as
part of the financial systems audit in 2019/20 gaining substantial assurance.
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Counter Fraud arrangements
The CCG’s counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the
organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed
by the Audit and Risk committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention,
detection and investigation of fraud.
Through the contract with AuditOne, the CCG has counter fraud arrangements in
place that comply with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for
Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption including:
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An accredited counter fraud specialist who is contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks



A report against each of the standards for commissioners received by the
Audit and Risk Committee at least annually



Executive support and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to
address identified risks



The Deputy Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer, as a member of the
Governing Body, is proactively and demonstrably responsible for tackling
fraud, bribery and corruption



Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Counter Fraud Authority
quality assurance recommendations



Sharing of counter fraud days with other CCGs in the North East to enable
economies of scale and gain wider coverage.
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The Head of Internal Audit Opinion
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual
Governance Statement.
My opinion is set out as follows:


Overall opinion.



Basis for the opinion.

In providing this opinion, it is important that to recognise the additional limitations on
our work caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. These limitations include access to
CCG personal and the timely supply of information that would available to us in
normal operating circumstances. However, as your Head of Internal Audit I am
satisfied that we have sufficient evidence, largely based upon the completion of Core
Internal Audit plan and carefully considered professional judgements, to provide the
CCG with a robust Head of Internal Audit Opinion.
Overall Opinion
From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing an opinion
of substantial assurance that the system of internal control, governance and
risk management has been effectively designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are being consistently applied.
Basis of the Opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of
risk;
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses. Work is split between core assurance and
assurance arising from additional advisory and assurance audits, with core
assurance being provided on an annual basis in those areas central to the
operation of the CCG. Additional advisory and assurance audits are carried
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out on a cyclical basis, in line with the CCG’s risk profile and the contents of
the CCG’s Assurance Framework;
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances;
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit
recommendations, and
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS Sunderland CCG for the
co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.
Carl Best
Director of Internal Audit
AuditOne
14 May 2020
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Summary of Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Audit area

Assurance
Level

CORE ASSURANCE
SCCG 2019-20/01: Governance Structures and Risk Management
Arrangements [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/02: Conflicts of Interest [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/03: Data Security and Protection Toolkit [Draft]
SCCG 2019-20/04: Primary Medical Care Commissioning [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/05: Contract and Performance Monitoring [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/06: Financial and Strategic Planning [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/07: Key Financial Controls and QIPP Reporting
[Final]
SCCG 2019-20/08: Continuing Healthcare [Draft]
ADDITIONAL ADVISORY AND ASSURANCE

Substantial

SCCG 2019-20/10: System-wide Transformation [Draft]

Substantial

SCCG 2019-20/11: Quality of Commissioned Services [Final]

Substantial

SCCG 2019-20/12: Safeguarding – Working Together to Safeguard
Children [Draft]
SCCG 2019-20/13: Medicines Optimisation [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/14: Business Continuity and Emergency
Preparedness [Final]

Substantial

Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial

Substantial
Substantial

Definitions of Assurance Levels assigned to individual audit assignments
Assurance Levels
Substantial

Good

Reasonable

Limited
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Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide
substantial assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.
Compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place.
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a
good level of assurance that the risks identified are managed
effectively. A high level of compliance with the control framework was
found to be taking place. Minor remedial action is required
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide
reasonable assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.
Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking
place in a consistent manner. Some moderate remedial action is
required.
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide
limited assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.
Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking
place. Immediate and fundamental remedial action is required.
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Review of Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their reports.
Our Governing Body assurance framework itself provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles have
been reviewed. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by:


The Governing Body,



The Audit and Risk Committee



The Quality and Safety Committee



System of internal control mechanisms



Internal Audit

The Governing Body, Audit and Risk Committee and Quality and Safety Committee
have concluded through their annual review processes that the CCG has effective
governance, risk management and internal control mechanisms in place to ensure
the CCG to meet its statutory duties.
The internal control section earlier in this statement describes in detail the process
that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the CCG’s
system of internal control.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal
control. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion has been included in the previous section.
Conclusion
As Accountable Officer, I have reviewed the governance and risk management
processes within the CCG and am assured the CCG had an effective system of
internal control over the previous year with no significant control issues.
Dr Neil O’Brien
Accountable Officer

** May 2020
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Remuneration and Staff Report
The remuneration and staff report gives details of CCG staff and remuneration. It
sets out the CCG’s remuneration policy for directors and senior managers, reports
on how that policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to
directors and senior managers and where relevant the link between performance
and remuneration.

Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established to advise the Governing Body about
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the chief officer and other senior
staff. The committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make
recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration. Further details of
the membership and roles and responsibilities of this committee can be found in the
corporate governance report of this annual report.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The policy for remuneration of very senior managers within the CCG is in line with
the national Very Senior Managers (VSM) pay framework, taking into account
Sunderland is a medium sized CCG at a level 2.
All senior manager contracts, specifying terms and conditions of service are in line
with the VSM pay framework or Agenda for Change as appropriate. The medical
director terms and conditions of service are in line with the medical consultant
contract. All other senior managers are remunerated in line with Agenda for Change
requirements.
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is
reviewed annually. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health and Social Care.
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG on
VSM are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by
either party.
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme
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Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No payments have been
made during the year (subject to audit).

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
Reporting bodies are required to disclose where the salary of senior managers is in
excess of the prime minister’s salary of £150,000 on a pro rata basis. There were six
senior officers who received a salary in excess of the prime minister’s salary in
2019/20 on a pro rata basis (2018/19: six in excess of the prime minister’s salary of
£150,000). The pro rata basis represents the full time salary for individuals who
work part time. No individual in the CCG earned more in total in 2019/20 (2018/19:
0) than the prime minister’s salary of £150,000. The agreement to reasonable pay
and conditions for very senior managers is considered by the CCG’s Remuneration
Committee, which is chaired by the Lay Member responsible for Audit and Risk.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) (subject to audit)
Table 20: NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances (1 of 2)
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Table 21: NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances (2 of 2)
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Notes
Note 1

E Harrison, F Gunn, D Burnicle, A Sullivan, C Macklin, P Harle, N Weddle, D Cruickshank, I Holliday and S Watson
are not in the NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 2

D Gallagher full pension included for 2019/20. D Gallagher worked 5 days in March 2020 for NHS Sunderland CCG.

Note 3

C Bradford figures for 2018/19 include an element of pay relating to 2017/18.

Expense Payments

Expense payments include lease car allowances and mileage claims.

Please note that the Pension Related Benefits include all benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the
NHS Pensions Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme where annual pension entitlements for retired individuals are
based on their final salary or career average earnings. The disclosed amounts represent the increase in pension
entitlement upon retiring for individuals and do not represent a cash payment made to individuals in the financial year.
Please note that bandings utilised in the table for each area of remuneration differ in line with national guidance
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020 (subject to audit)
Table 22: Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020 (subject to audit)

127

Official

Notes
Note 1
Note 2

128

E Harrison, D Burnicle, C Macklin, P Harle, N Weddle, D Cruickshank, S Watson and I Holliday are not in the NHS
Pension Scheme.
D Gallagher relates to full pension. D Gallagher worked 5 days in March 2020 for NHS Sunderland CCG
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement).
The method used to calculate CETVs has changed to remove the adjustment for
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If an individual was entitled
to a GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV which has been
reported. This is more likely to affect individuals who are members of the 1995
Section and 2008 Section of the NHS Pension Scheme.

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member of Sunderland CCG in
the financial year 2019/20 was £130,000 - £135,000 (2018/19: £125,000 £130,000). This was 3.00 times (2018/19: 2.96 times) the median remuneration of
the workforce, which was £44,189 (2018/19: £43,041).
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In 2019/20, 0 (2018/19: 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the
highest-paid director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £4,436 to £114,123
(2018/19: £4,362 to £118,706).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. It should be noted
that the methodology of this calculation differs from the remuneration reported for
senior managers in Table 24.
Table 23: Total remuneration

Band of Highest Paid Director / Member Total
Remuneration (£000)
Median total Remuneration (£)
Ratio

2019 / 20

2018 / 19

130 - 135

125 - 130

44,189

43,041

3.00

2.96

There has been an increase in the ratio of the median remuneration of the workforce
in comparison to the highest paid director/Member.
2019/20 Highest Paid Director/Member:
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

130 - 135

2018/19 Highest Paid Director/Member:
Chief Officer

125 - 130

In March 2020 Sunderland CCG’s Chief Officer worked part time across a number of
CCGs. As such, the highest paid director in 2019/20 has been reported as the Chief
Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer who worked full time for the full reporting
period.

Staff Report
Number of senior managers
The CCG had a total of 24 senior managers during 2019/20 (2018/19: 24).
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Staff numbers and costs (Subject to audit)
Table 24: Staff numbers and costs 2019/20 (£’000)
Staff Costs 2019/20

Total
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Salaries and wages

5,185

124

5,309

Social security costs

488

-

488

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension
Scheme

766

-

766

7

-

7

6,446

124

6,570

Apprenticeship Levy
Total Employee Benefits Expenditure
Table 25: Staff numbers and costs 2018/19 (£’000)
Staff Costs 2018/19

Total
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Salaries and wages

3,806

44

3,850

Social security costs

430

-

430

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension
Scheme

510

-

510

5

-

5

4,751

44

4,795

Apprenticeship Levy
Total Employee Benefits Expenditure

Table 26: Average number of people employed (Number)
2019/20

Total
Staff

131

2018/19

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

105

3

108

80

2

82

Staff composition
Table 27: Staff composition 2019 / 20
Total number of
staff / members

Number of male
staff / members

Number of
female staff /
members

Governing Body*
members

12

8

4

Senior officers** (VSM
and above)

6

3

3

All other employees

138

29

109

Total employees

156

40
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Category of staff
2019 / 20

*This figure includes substantive voting members and regular attendees as detailed
in the accountability report section of this annual report. The Governing Body figures
are provided as standalone figures, they do not contribute to the total figure for the
whole CCG as some members may also be senior managers and some may not be
on the payroll and not included in the total.
**The CCG’s VSM are employees and are all members of the Governing Body
therefore are included in all the figures shown above
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work
rated as of equal value, being entitled to equal pay.

Sickness absence data
The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures
all staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers
and HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services.
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Table 28: Average of 12 months (2019 calendar year)
FTE days
Average
Average
FTE Days
Lost to
Sick Days
FTE 2019
Available
sickness
per FTE
absence
3.82%

92.81

20,882

796.69

8.58

Table 29: Average of 12 months (2018 calendar year)
FTE days
Average
Average
FTE Days
Lost to
Sick Days
FTE 2018
Available
sickness
per FTE
absence
2.29%

86.11

19375

443

5.1

Estimated
Cost of
Sickness
Absence
£163,444

Estimated
Cost of
Sickness
Absence
£137,960

Staff policies
The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and
consultation with employees, including:


Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern to
them as employees



Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the
views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are
likely to affect their interests



Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance



Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the
part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the
performance of the CCG



Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives
and CCG managers from across the region meet together

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
As set out in the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations
2017, the CCG is required to publish the number of employees who were trade union
officials during this period and any information about paid facility time and trade
union activities.
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The CCG did not have any employees who were trade union representatives during
the year.

Expenditure on consultancy
The CCG has spent a total of £12,275.25 on consultancy during 2019/20 in relation
to the development of the All Together Better Sunderland Alliance (2018/19:
£10,061.60).

Off-payroll engagements
Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Table 30: Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020

6

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

2

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

4

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
All new off-payroll engagements or those that reached six month duration, between 1
April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer
than six months are detailed below:
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Table 31: New off-payroll engagements
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020

6

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

4

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

2

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and
are on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status
following the consistency review

0
4
0

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2019 and 31 March 2020
Table 32: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during
the financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have
been deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year.
This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll
engagements. (2)

0

24

Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
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Table 33: Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

6

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

2

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

4

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
All new off-payroll engagements or those that reached six month duration, between 1
April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer
than six months are detailed below:
Table 34: New off-payroll engagements
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019

6

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

4

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

2

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and
are on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status
following the consistency review

0
4
0

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
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Table 35: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure
should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. (2)

0

24

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
There were no exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments to report
in 2019/20 or in 2018/19.

Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group
Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical
Commissioning Group (‘the CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of
Cash Flows, and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and
adapted by HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 2019/20 as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20, and the
Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning Groups in England.
In our opinion, the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March
2020 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
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have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20; and



have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are
independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:


the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or



the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the
CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
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audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities,
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity
of expenditure and income.
The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and
Social Care Group Accounting Manual and prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis, unless the CCG is informed of the intention for dissolution
without transfer of services or function to another entity. The Accountable Officer is
responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the CCG to
prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
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influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and
income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller
and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:


the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction made under the
National Health Service Act 2006; and



the other information published together with the audited financial statements
in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:


in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the
guidance issued by NHS England; or



we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the
CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or



we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 and schedule 7(1) of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or



we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 and
schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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The CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required
to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice,
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller
and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements
to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve
planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller
and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.

Page 141 of 144

Use of the audit report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS
Sunderland CCG, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS Sunderland CCG in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of
Audit Practice.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Salvus House
Aykley Heads
Durham
DH1 5TS

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Sunderland CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and
fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at
page xxx onwards.
An audit certificate and report is also included in this annual report at page xxx
onwards.
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Dr Neil O’Brien
Accountable Officer

Xx May 2019
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

[To be completed in accordance with the DHSC Group Accounting Manual 2019/20
and NHS England SharePoint Finance Guidance Library]

Dr Neil O`Brien
Accountable Officer
[x] May/June 2020
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GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020
Report Title:

Management Representation Letter

Purpose of report
The purpose of this item is to provide the Governing Body with a copy of the Management Letter of
Representation to be sent by the Accountable Officer, Neil O’Brien to the Director of Mazars,
Cameron Waddell.
Key points
The purpose of the Management Letter of Representation from the Accountable Officer is to
express an opinion as to whether the financial statements for 2019/20 give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual.
Please note that as external audit has not yet concluded all testing the letter includes a reference to
an appendix detailing uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements. Following approval of
the financial statements by Governing Body and conclusion of the audit this section will be
amended as appropriate and the final letter will be shared with members.
Risks and issues
The key issue is to ensure the CCG meets its statutory duties for financial performance and
reporting and the financial statements for 2019/20 give a true and fair view in accordance with the
Group Accounting Manual.
Assurances
Assurances are provided within the letter.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to consider and note the letter to be sent.
Sponsor/approving director

Neil O’Brien, Accountable Officer

Report author

Tarryn Lake, Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties



CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services
CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities
CO6: Develop the CCG localities
CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund
CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
Noted within the letter.
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Equality analysis completed
(please tick)

Yes

No

N/A



Key implications
Are additional resources
required?
Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?
Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

No
N/A
N/A

No

N/A

Pemberton House
Colima Avenue
Sunderland
SR5 3XB
Tel: (0191) 512 8484
www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk

19 May 2020
Dear Cameron
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March
2020
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial
statements of NHS Sunderland CCG for the year ended 31 March 2020 for the purpose
of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view
in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual.
I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of
management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where
appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that I
can properly make each of the following representations to you.
My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information
I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Group Accounting
Manual and relevant legislation and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury.
My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information
I have provided you with:
• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation
of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other material;
•

additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the
audit; and

•

unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was
necessary to contact in order to obtain audit evidence.

I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware
of this information.
As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are
unaware.
Accounting records

I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements
have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements. All other records and related information, including minutes of all Governing
Body and relevant committee meetings, have been made available to you.
Accounting policies
I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in
accordance with Group Accounting Manual and International Accounting Standard 8
and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other
events or conditions on the CCG's financial position, financial performance and cash
flows.
Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value
I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.
Contingencies
There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that
should be accrued where:
• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has
been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the balance sheet date; and
•

the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

Contingencies (continued)
There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either
or both the conditions specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that
a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have been incurred at the balance sheet
date.
There are no contingent gains that should be disclosed.
All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the
CCG have been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and
claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements
have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the
Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs as adapted and adopted
by HM Treasury.
Laws and regulations
I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve
known or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual
or contingent consequences which may arise therefrom. We have complied with all
aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in
the event of non-compliance.
Fraud and error
I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation
and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error. I have
disclosed to you:
• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud; and
•

all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving
•

management and those charged with governance;

•

employees who have significant roles in internal control; andothers where
fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the CCG's financial statements communicated by employees,
former employees, analysts, regulators or others.
Related party transactions
I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances have been
appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the
Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs.
I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party
relationships and transactions of which I am aware.
Future commitments
I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the
carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities.
Subsequent events
I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the
Group Accounting Manual, relevant legislation and IFRSs require adjustment or
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. Should further material events occur after
the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the
financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.
Going concern
To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue
as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular
attention in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than
twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts.
Unadjusted misstatements
I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both
individually and in aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. All uncorrected
misstatements are included as an appendix to this letter

Neil O’Brien
Accountable Officer
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GOVERNING BODY
19 May 2020
Report Title:

Final Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Purpose of report
This paper presents the final version of the HOIA Opinion for NHS Sunderland CCG, which was
prepared for submission to NHSE by 26 May 2020.
Key points
All audit work has now been completed to at least draft report stage, and the final version of the
Opinion has been issued with an overall assurance level of substantial assurance.
Assurances are not yet available for all outsourced services, with the final version of the report
drawing attention to those assurances available as at 14 May 2020 and also identifying those
assurances not yet available at that point that the CCG may wish to consider for the Annual Report
once they have been shared with the CCG.
Risks identified from audit work have been reported in individual internal audit reports, which have
been presented to the Committee throughout the year as they are finalised.
Risks and issues
The audit plan for 2019-20 is now complete, with all reports for the year issued with an assurance
level of substantial. This is reflected in the final overall assurance level for the Head of Internal
Audit Opinion, which is also substantial assurance.
Assurances
Assurances are provided by individual audit reports, which are summarized in Appendix A of the
final Head of Internal Audit Opinion.
Recommendation/Action Required
The Governing Body is asked to note the final Head of Internal Audit Opinion.
Sponsor/approving directors

Carl Best, Director of Internal Audit, AuditOne

Report author

Alyson Williams, Group Audit Manager, AuditOne
Governance and Assurance

Link to CCG corporate objectives (please tick all that apply)
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties





CO2: Maintain financial control and performance targets



CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services
CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming
services



CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities




CO6: Develop the CCG localities



CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund



CO8: Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning
Relevant legal/statutory issues
None identified.
Any potential/actual conflicts
of interest associated with the
paper? (please tick)



Yes

No

N/A

Yes

No

N/A



Yes

No

N/A



If yes, please specify
Equality analysis completed
(please tick)
Quality impact assessment
undertaken
(please tick)

If no, please specify: N/A, please specify
Key implications
Are additional resources
required?

Not applicable. The plan has been delivered within the agreed
audit fee.

Has there been appropriate
clinical engagement?

Not applicable – there has been engagement with individual
clinicians where required on particular audits, but further
engagement is not required to draft the Head of Internal Audit
Opinion.

Has there been/or does there
need to be any patient and
public involvement?
Is there an expected impact on
patient outcomes/experience?
If yes, has a quality impact
assessment been undertaken?
Has there been member
practice and/or other
stakeholder engagement if
needed?

Not applicable.

Not applicable.

Not applicable.

NHS Sunderland CCG
14 May 2020

Final Head of Internal Audit Opinion
for the year ending 31 March 2020
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Freedom of Information Notice
In the event that, pursuant to a request which NHS Sunderland CCG has received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, it is required to disclose any information contained in this report, it will
notify AuditOne promptly and consult with AuditOne prior to disclosing such report. NHS Sunderland CCG agrees to consider any representations which AuditOne may make in connection with such
disclosure and NHS Sunderland CCG shall apply any relevant exemptions which may exist under the Act to such report where it concurs that they are appropriate. If, following consultation with
AuditOne, NHS Sunderland CCG discloses this report or any part thereof, it shall ensure that any disclaimer which Audit One has included or may subsequently wish to include in the information is
reproduced in full in any copies disclosed.
AuditOne is hosted by Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust.
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1. Introduction
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion on
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control.
The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit Committee with the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for the year ending 31 March
2020, which should be used to inform the Annual Governance Statement.
The timeline for submission of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion is as follows:

By 13 March (noon)
By 16 April (noon)
Revised: 27 April (noon)
By 26 May (noon)
Revised: 25 June (5pm)

A full copy of the draft Head of Internal Audit Opinion (to allow regional assurance activity to
commence). To aid thematic analysis, this should include a summary table of all audit reviews
undertaken, and the level of assurance assigned to each review.
A full copy of the draft Head of Internal Audit Opinion (to allow regional assurance activity to
commence). To aid thematic analysis, this should include a summary table of all audit reviews
undertaken, and the level of assurance assigned to each review.
A full copy of the final Head of Internal Audit Opinion statement as issued by the CCG’s internal
auditors. Note this should be submitted a separate document. A summary version should be included
in the CCG Annual Report.

This version has been prepared for the Audit and Risk Committee and the Governing Body meetings on 19 May 2020, and for final
submission by the original 26 May submission date. Previous versions were prepared for submission to NHS England by the draft
submission dates of 13 March and 27 April 2020.
While some amendments have been made to the submission deadlines set by NHS England, and these are reflected in the table
above, we have issued the final Head of Internal Audit Opinion in line with the original submission deadline.
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2. Final Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of the System of Internal
Control at NHS Sunderland CCG for the year ending 31 March 2020
2.1

Roles and responsibilities

The Accountable Officer is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control and is responsible for putting in place
arrangements for gaining assurance about the effectiveness of that overall system.
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accountable Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting
out:


how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged with regard to maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives;



the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the risk management and review processes,
including the Assurance Framework process;



the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control, including any disclosures of
significant control failures together with assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues arising.

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence required to support the Annual Governance
Statement requirements.
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion,
based upon, and limited to, the work performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management,
control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of
work, approved by the Audit Committee, which should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations
described below.
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is
substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As
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such, it is one component that the Accountable Officer takes into account in making the Annual Governance Statement. The
Accountable Officer will need to integrate these results with other sources of assurance when making a rounded assessment of
control for the purposes of the Annual Governance Statement.
2.2

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer
and the Governing Body which underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement.
My opinion is set out as follows:
2.2.1 Overall opinion;
2.2.2 Basis for the opinion;
2.2.3 Commentary.
In providing this opinion, it is important that to recognise the additional limitations on our work caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.
These limitations include access to CCG personal and the timely supply of information that would available to us in normal
operating circumstances. However, as your Head of Internal Audit I am satisfied that we have sufficient evidence, largely based
upon the completion of Core Internal Audit plan and carefully considered professional judgements, to provide the CCG with a
robust Head of Internal Audit Opinion.
2.2.1 Overall Opinion
From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing an opinion of substantial assurance that the system
of internal control, governance and risk management has been effectively designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are being consistently applied.
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2.2.2 Basis of the Opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning
Assurance Framework and supporting processes for governance and
the management of risk;
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of
the relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in
respect of addressing control weaknesses;
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances;
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit
recommendations, and
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit.
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Assurance
Framework and
supporting
processes

Brought forward
Internal Audit
assurances

Response to
Internal Audit
Recommendations

Outturn of
Internal Audit Plan

Significant other
factors

2.2.3 Commentary
The below commentary provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion should be read in its entirety.
Opinion Area
Design and operation of the
Assurance Framework and
supporting processes

Commentary
The Governing Body Assurance Framework has been updated for 2019/20 and presented to
both the Audit and Risk Committee and the Governing Body. The Governing Body Assurance
Framework is presented to the Audit and Risk Committee on a six-monthly basis, being last
presented on 5 November 2019. The Corporate Risk Register, which underpins the Governing
Body Assurance Framework, is discussed at every Audit and Risk Committee, and was last
presented on 7 April 2020.
The Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register were last presented to the Governing
Body on 26 November 2019.
The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register are based on the
CCG’s strategic objectives and an analysis of the principal risks to achieving those objectives.
The key controls that have been put in place to manage the risks have been documented, and
the sources of assurance for individual controls have been identified. The Governing Body
Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register therefore provide the CCG with a
comprehensive mechanism for the management of the principal risks to meeting its strategic
objectives and supports the compilation of the Annual Governance Statement.
The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the organisation.
Oversight of the risk management agenda rests with the Audit and Risk Committee, which
reports into the Governing Body. In this way, the Governing Body received assurances on the
systems and processes by which the organisation leads, directs and controls its functions in
order to achieve its strategic objectives.
We have reviewed the effectiveness of the assurance framework, and the underpinning risk
management processes, in bringing together all of the activities and objectives of the CCG. No
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Opinion Area

Commentary
significant issues were identified.

Outturn of Internal Audit Plan

A table of individual opinions arising from audit assignments reported throughout the year is
contained at Appendix A. Definitions of individual opinions are given at Appendix B. Work is
split between core assurance and assurance arising from additional advisory and assurance
audits, with core assurance being provided on an annual basis in those areas central to the
operation of the CCG. Additional advisory and assurance audits are carried out on a cyclical
basis, in line with the CCG’s risk profile and the contents of the CCG’s Assurance Framework.
To date, we have issued assurance levels in relation to thirteen assurance areas in either draft
or final form. Where reports have been issued in draft, the assurance level has been
communicated to the CCG, although management responses in relation to the action to be
taken to address identified weaknesses have not yet been received.
All reports issued during the year have been issued with an assurance level of substantial. No
significant issues have been identified in our work to date.

Brought forward Internal Audit
assurances

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion given for the year ended 31 March 2019 gave a level of
assurance of ‘substantial’. There were no material issues identified to be brought forward for
consideration in this opinion statement. One audit, on Mental Health Arrangements – S117, was
issued with an assurance level of ‘good’ with two medium priority recommendations raised.
Actions in relation to these recommendations have now been implemented.

Response to Internal Audit
recommendations

There is a formal process in place to follow up on outstanding actions to address risks identified
in internal audit reports. Progress against outstanding actions is reported in regular progress
reports to the Audit Committee, with specific attention drawn to any actions where the target
date has been put back, or where no update has been received from officers within the CCG. As
at 6 March 2020, all actions from final reports that were due for implementation had been
implemented.

Significant factors outside the While the Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides the CCG with assurances in relation to the
work of internal audit
areas covered by the internal audit plan, it is only one of the sources of assurance available to
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Opinion Area

Commentary
the CCG. As the CCG outsources many of its functions, assurances from third parties are
equally as important when the CCG draws up its Annual Governance Statement.
The main ones that we have been made aware of are summarised below, and although we have
reviewed these for any significant items of control, we have not taken account of these in
providing the overall opinion except where indicated:
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-

Payroll services are provided by NHS Payroll Services hosted by Northumbria Healthcare
NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG, through its membership of the Payroll Consortium,
receives an annual assurance letter setting out the results of the internal audit work carried
out during the year. This assurance letter should be available in May 2020.

-

The CCG outsources many of its support services to the North of England Commissioning
Support Unit (NECS), hosted by NHS England, under a signed service level agreement.
Assurance on the operation of certain financial and payroll controls has been provided by
NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via an ISAE 3402 Type II report issued on 30
April 2020 and covering the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. This report
identified some weaknesses in the operation of controls during the period, which were set
out in their ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion’ section of the report, but provided reasonable
assurance in relation to remaining controls that the related control objectives were achieved
throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.

-

Assurance in respect of the operation of the finance and accounting services provided by
NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) is provided by the NHS SBS’ auditors, PwC LLP, via
an ISAE 3402 report issued on 1 May 2020. The report did note that as a consequence of
Covid-19, auditors were unable to access the Service Organisation’s India sites due to lockdown requirements, and therefore were unable to obtain evidence in relation to certain
controls for the months of February and/or March 2020. However, except for these
exceptions, the report provided reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives
would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period from

Opinion Area

Commentary
1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, and that the controls tested, which were those necessary to
provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives stated in the description were
achieved, operated effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.
-

Assurance in respect of the primary care support services provided from Capita Business
Services Limited to NHS England and CCGs is provided by Capita’s auditors, Mazars, on an
annual basis. Reports issued for 2016/17 and 2017/18 identified significant control
weaknesses. Improvements were noted in the two reports issued for 2018/19, although
some control weaknesses remained. The report for 2019/20 is expected to be issued in May
2020.
Given the historic control weaknesses reported, the CCG may wish to consider what
compensating controls it has in place.

Page 10

-

Assurance in respect of the operation of the prescription payments process provided by
NHS Business Service Authority and Capita for 2018/19 is provided by the NHS BSA’s
auditors, PwC LLP, via an ISAE 3402 Type II report on an annual basis. The report for
2019/20 is expected to be issued in May 2020.

-

Assurance in respect of the operation of the NHS GP Payment Service provided by NHS
Digital for 2019/20 was provided by the NHS Digital’s auditors, PwC LLP, via an ISAE 3402
Type II report issued on 30 April 2020. The report gave a qualified opinion that provided
reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the
described controls operated effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March
2020; and the controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively
throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, with the exception of one control
tested. This exception, which resulted in the qualified opinion, related to the authorisation of
system change implementations.

Opinion Area

Commentary
-

Your Local Counter Fraud Specialist is required to submit an annual Self-Review Tool (SRT)
to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) in relation to the CCG’s anti-fraud, bribery
and corruption arrangements, which provides an overview of the CCG’s counter fraud
activity, progress against NHSCFA requirements and assists the CFO and audit committee
in monitoring and managing the counter fraud service. The completed SRT for 2019/2020
will be reviewed and approved by both the audit committee chair and chief finance officer
prior to submission by the deadline of 30 April 2020. The CCG’s overall rating for 2019/20
will be confirmed following SRT approval. The CCG has not been subject to an NHSCFA
quality inspection in 2019/20.

-

The Electronic Staff Record (ESR) service is provided by IBM. An ISAE 3000 Type II report
covering the operation of the national system is issued on an annual basis. The report for
2019/20 is expected to be issued in May 2020.

It is for the CCG to decide what assurance to take from these reports and whether any of the
weaknesses identified should be included within the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement.
Nevertheless, I can advise the Governing Body that the work on the outsourced payroll functions
will have been undertaken in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS Sunderland CCG for the co-operation and assistance provided to my
team during the year.
Carl Best
Director of Internal Audit
AuditOne
14 May 2020
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Appendix A

Summary of work undertaken
Audit area

Priority

Assurance Framework Reference
Substantial

CORE ASSURANCE
SCCG 2019-20/01:
Governance Structures and
Risk Management
Arrangements [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/02: Conflicts
of Interest [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/03: Data
Security and Protection
Toolkit [Draft]
SCCG 2019-20/04: Primary
Medical Care
Commissioning [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/05: Contract
and Performance Monitoring
[Final]

SCCG 2019-20/06:
Financial and Strategic
Planning [Final]
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CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public
accountability duties.


High

High

CO5: Identify And Deliver The CCG's Key
Strategic Priorities
CO1: Ensure that the CCG meets its public
accountability duties.



Medium

CO1: Ensure that the CCG meets its public
accountability duties.



Objective
CO8:
Commissioning.



High

Primary

Care

CO2a: Maintain Financial Control
High

CO2b: Maintain Performance Targets.



CO3a: Maintain and Improve the Quality
and Safety of CCG Commissioned Services
Objective 2: Maintain financial control and
performance targets
High

Objective 5: Identify and Deliver the CCG's
Key Strategic Priorities



Assurance
Good
Reasonable

Limited

Audit area

Priority

Assurance Framework Reference
Substantial

SCCG 2019-20/07: Key
CO2a: Maintain financial control.
Financial Controls and QIPP
High
Reporting [Final]
SCCG 2019-20/08:
CO2a: Maintain financial control
High
Continuing Healthcare
[Draft]
ADDITIONAL ADVISORY AND ASSURANCE
SCCG 2019-20/10: Systemwide Transformation [Draft]
SCCG 2019-20/11: Quality
of Commissioned Services
[Final]
SCCG 2019-20/12:
Safeguarding – Working
Together to Safeguard
Children [Draft]
SCCG 2019-20/13:
Medicines Optimisation
[Final]
SCCG 2019-20/14:
Business Continuity and
Emergency Preparedness
[Final]

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

Corporate Objective: CO2a. Maintain
Financial Control
CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and
safety of CCG commissioned services.

CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and
safety of CCG commissioned services.

CO2a: Maintain financial control,
CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and
safety of CCG commissioned services.
CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its Public
Accountability duties.

Totals

Page 13

Assurance
Good
Reasonable

Limited













13

0

0

0

Appendix B

Definitions of Assurance Levels assigned to individual audit assignments

Assurance Levels
Substantial
Good

Reasonable

Limited
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Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide substantial assurance that the risks
identified are managed effectively. Compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place.
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level of assurance that the risks
identified are managed effectively. A high level of compliance with the control framework was found to be
taking place. Minor remedial action is required
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide reasonable assurance that the risks
identified are managed effectively. Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place in
a consistent manner. Some moderate remedial action is required.
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited assurance that the risks identified
are managed effectively. Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place.
Immediate and fundamental remedial action is required.

